

# Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology

# Annual Report 2014



# **Annual Report**

# 2014

# Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology

# Uppsala University

The Rudbeck Laboratory SE-751 85 Uppsala Sweden Uppsala Biomedical Centre Box 815 751 08 Uppsala Sweden

www.igp.uu.se

Editor: Kerstin Henriksson (kerstin.henriksson@igp.uu.se) Photos: Johanna Andrae, Johan Brännström, Axel Henriksson, Per Holmfeldt, Mikael Wallerstedt

# Introduction

The Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology (IGP) hereby presents its activities during 2014. This has been another successful year for the department. Several new recruitments of excellent scientists were finalized, continuing a very important strategic development for IGP. We are proud that Professor Elisabetta Dejana was awarded a grant for International Recruitment of Leading Researchers from the Swedish Research Council. Prof. Dejana will build a new research group at IGP focused on cerebral vascular malformations while retaining fifty per cent research activity at Milano University. During 2014, Linda Holmfeldt, who was selected as KAW Academy Fellow in 2013, established her new research group focused on hematological malignancies, at IGP. We warmly welcome them both to IGP.

Several of the principal investigators at IGP were successful in attracting prestigious grants and awards. Taija Mäkinen received a Research Grant for Junior Researchers from the Swedish Research Council, and Fredrik Swartling obtained a prestigious ERC starting grant. Warm congratulations to both! Other achievements include the Athena prize to Alex Karlsson-Parra, the grants to Peetra Magnusson and Sara Mangsbo from Bio-X/Uppsala BIO for project commercialization. Sara Mangsbo also received the Göran Gustafsson prize for younger scientists. Moreover, IGPs researchers did very well in the competition for funding from the Swedish Research Council, the Swedish Cancer Society and the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, EU funding and other granting agencies. Here we can only mention a selection of the grants, but each one is important, and will be put in the best of use for research at IGP. We thank everyone for their efforts in applying for external grants, which is absolutely critical for the continued growth and prosperity of the Department.

Another very important development for the Department during 2014 was the decision by the Disciplinary Domain of Medicine and Pharmacy that the Oncology, Biomedical radiation sciences and Medical radiation physics units from the ROS department, would fuse with IGP. The process was initiated during the late fall of 2014 and resulted in a restructuring of the Research programs that will continue during 2015. We know from our previous experience that fusion of units means fusion of cultures, which needs to be given time. Moreover, even though some of these changes are difficult, the positive effects will dominate with time. We wish the new units and their personnel very welcome to IGP. The fusion will be described in more detail in the yearly report for 2015.

In 2014, the Swedish Higher Education Authority evaluated master programs in biomedicine, on a national basis. IGP runs two master programs, in Molecular Medicine and Forensic Science, which were given the excellent grade "Very high quality". We thank Lena Åslund, in charge of the Molecular Medicine program, Marie Allen, in charge of the Forensic Science program, and Nils-Erik Heldin, Head of Education at IGP, for their efforts with the report and successful evaluation, and for their continuous hard work to ensure that education at IGP remains of the highest quality.

In 2014, an almost complete version (85%) of the Human Protein Atlas, an atlas covering all human proteins, was launched. The atlas includes 13 million images that show in which tissue or cell the respective proteins are present. Approximately 25 people at IGP participate in the project, with a focus on determining where and when proteins are present in tissues and cells.

2014 marks the end of the first 5-year period of the Strategic research programs (SFOs). IGP hosts or co-hosts several of the SFOs, including U-CAN, EXODIAB, StemTherapy and

SciLifeLab. IGP researchers are heavily involved with these programs and several are in charge of technical platforms at SciLifeLab. Therefore many of the Department's co-workers have spent time and energy on reporting on the research activities to show that the investment into the SFO programs has been successful. We hope that the efforts will bear fruit and that the programs will continue.

Finally, during 2014, the reconstruction of the Rudbeck Laboratory was initiated and will continue for all of 2015 and part of 2016. It is exciting but also challenging to continue the research and educational activity during the reconstruction phase. We very much look forward to seeing the new lab and office space completed.

The overriding common goal of IGP's research activities is to improve prevention, diagnostics and treatment of diseases, such as cancer and diabetes. Heads of Department, we have strived to support this endeavor to the best of our capacity. We gratefully acknowledge all who assist in these efforts: the IGP administrative staff, project coordinators at the Disciplinary Domain of Medicine and Pharmacy, the Grants Office, the Legal Affairs Division, UU Innovation, and the Central University Administration.

Lena Claemon-Uch

Lena Claesson-Welsh Head of Department until October 31<sup>st</sup>, 2014

Kain Fortegt

Karin Forsberg-Nilsson Head of Department from November 1st, 2014

# Contents

| Contents   |          |
|--|----------|
| Employees during 2014  | 7        |
| Organization of the Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology | 9        |
| Core Facilities  |          |
| Prizes and awards  | 16       |
| Undergraduate Education at IGP                                       | 17       |
| Postgraduate Education at IGP  |          |
| Scientific reports   |          |
| Cancer and Vascular Biology  |          |
| Developmental Genetics   |          |
| Christer Betsholtz   | 19       |
| Regulation of Blood Vessel Formation                                 |          |
| Lena Claesson-Welsh  |          |
| Tumor Vascular Biology   |          |
| Anna Dimberg   |          |
| Neural Stem Cells and Brain Tumors                                   |          |
| Karin Forsberg Nilsson   |          |
| Characterization of Novel Regulators of Blood Vessel Formation       |          |
| Mats Hellström   |          |
| Regulation of lymphatic vasculature                                  |          |
| Taija Mäkinen  |          |
| New strategies to understand and target brain cancer                 |          |
| Sven Nelander  |          |
| Development of Childhood Brain Tumors and Targeting of MYC Proteins  |          |
| Fredrik Swartling  |          |
| A cell of origin-based strategy to decipher glioma biology           |          |
| Lene Uhrbom  |          |
| Human Malignant Glioma – from Oncogenic Mechanisms to Treatment      |          |
| Bengt Westermark   |          |
| Clinical Immunology  |          |
| Gene, Cell and Immunotherapy of Cancer                               |          |
| Magnus Essand  |          |
| Diabetes Research  |          |
|  |          |
| Angelien Lockog  |          |
| Aligence Loskug  | 0/       |
| Diood vessel function after transplantation                          |          |
| Thromboinflammation in Thoronoutia Madicina                          |          |
| Ro Nilsson   |          |
|  | ·····/ T |

| Immune Complexes in Rheumatic Diseases  |                     |
|---|---------------------|
| Johan Rönnelid  |                     |
| Immunotherapy of Cancer   |                     |
| Thomas Tötterman, Sara Mangsbo  |                     |
| Hematology  |                     |
| Molecular Characterization of Acute Leukemia                                  |                     |
| Linda Holmfeldt   |                     |
| The Control of Survival and Apoptosis in Human Multiple Myeloma               |                     |
| Helena Jernberg Wiklund   | 91                  |
| Molecular Hematology - Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia                           |                     |
| Richard Rosenquist Brandell   | 95                  |
| Medical Genetics and Genomics   |                     |
| Improved Forensic DNA Analysis  |                     |
| Marie Allen   |                     |
| Characterisation of Syndromes Associated with Developmental Delay             |                     |
| Marie-Louise Bondeson   |                     |
| Exploring Mendelian traits using next-generation sequencing technologies an   | d iPSC for          |
| disease modeling  |                     |
| Niklas Dahl   |                     |
| Molecular Oncology  |                     |
| Jan Dumanski  |                     |
| Genetic variation and gene expression in human disease                        |                     |
| Lars Feuk   |                     |
| Human Genomics and Molecular Epidemiology                                     |                     |
| Ulf Gyllensten  |                     |
| Interplay between genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors in the pathog | genesis of          |
| human disease   |                     |
| Asa Jonansson   |                     |
| Mechanisms of adenovirus infection.   |                     |
| Un Pettersson   |                     |
| Tobios Sighlom  |                     |
| Conomia Analysis of Cono Regulation   |                     |
| Class Wadalius  |                     |
| Molecular and Morphological Pathology   | 139                 |
| Notecular and Morphological Fathology   |                     |
| Irina Alafuzoff   |                     |
| Translational Tumor Dathalagy   |                     |
| Patrick Micke – Johan Botling   | 147<br>1 <i>1</i> 7 |
| A myloid Desearch   |                     |
| Per Westermark  |                     |
| Clinical and experimental pathology   |                     |
| Chinear and experimental patibility   |                     |

| 160 |
|-----|
|     |
|     |
|     |
|     |
| 172 |
|     |
| 179 |
|     |
|     |
|     |

# Employees during 2014

Abramsson Malin Adler Jeremy Adlerteg Tom Agarwal Prasoon Ahlander Anders Ahlgren Viktoria Ahlstav Suzanne Alafuzoff Irina Ingeborg Al-Amin Abdullah Alemayehu Groom Ali Muhammad Akhtar Allen Marie Al-Walai Somar Alzrigat Mohammad Ameur Adam Anagandula Mahesh Kumar Anand Manivel Vivek Andaloussi Mäe Maarja Andersson Linda Andersson Magdalena Andersson Sandra Andrae Johanna Aronsson Maria Asif Sana Asp Michaela Asplund Anna Backeryd Lindström Anna Banski Piotr Barbu Andreea Baskaran Sathishkumar Berggrund Malin Bergman Julia Bergström Tobias **Betsholtz Christer** Bhoi Sujata Bjerke Mia Björkesten Johan Blokzijl Andries **Bodare Sofia Bolin Sara** Bondeson Marie-Louise Boox Pirkko Borgenvik Anna Broström Ulrika Brännström Johan **Bunikis** Ignas Bus Magdalena Cahill Nicola Cancer Matko Cane Gaëlle Cavalli Marco Chen Dan Chen Lei

Chmielniakova Jana Chugunova Elena Chytraeus Lisa Claesson-Welsh Lena Classon Christina **Clausson Carl-Magnus** Cortese Diego Cui Tao Dahl Niklas Danielsson Louise Davies Hanna Davoodpour Padideh Dimberg Anna Djureinovic Dijana Dohlmar Ulf Dumanski Jan Dührkop-Sisewitsch Claudia Ebai Tonge Brunhilda **Edqvist Per-Henrik** Edvinsson Åsa Ek Weronica Ekberg Elin Ekvall Sara Elfineh Lioudmila Elmén Karin Elshafie Amir Emanuelsson Hanna Enroth Stefan Essand Magnus Falk Sörqvist Elin Ferletta Maria Feuk Lars Flamourakis Georgios Fletcher Erika Fonnaland Karin Forsberg Lars Forsberg Nilsson Karin Fransson Moa Frisk Gun Fristedt Duvefelt Charlotte Fromell Karin Gallant Caroline Galli Joakim Georganaki Maria Grannas Karin Grånemo Joakim Gu Jijuan Gubanova Evgenia Gupta Rajesh Gustafsson Birgitta Gustafsson Karin Gustafsson Wictor Gustavsson Inger

Gyllensten Ulf Gängel Konstantin Hallqvist Osterman Erik Halvardson Jonatan Hamad Osama Hansson Tony Hartman Karin He Ligun Hede Sanna-Maria Hedlund Lindberg Julia Hedlund Marie Heldin Nils-Erik Hellström Ann-Charlotte Hellström Mats Henriksson Kerstin Hermansson Annika Herö Johanna Hikmet Noraddin Feria Hillerdal Viktoria Holmfeldt Linda Hong Jaan Huang Hua Huminiecki Lukasz Häggqvist Susana Höijer Ida Ilbäck Carolina Israelsson Katarina Jeansson Marie Jernberg Wiklund Helena Jin Chuan Johansson Patrik Johansson Sebastian Johansson Swartling Fredrik Johansson Åsa Jonasson Inger Juko-Pecirep Ivana Kalushkova Antonia Kamali-Moghaddam Masood Kampf Caroline Karlsson Hannah Karlsson Marie Karlström Therese Karoutsou Maria Kastemar Marianne Katona Borbala Keller Annika Kermani Shila Kesti Dennis Kiflemariam Sara Klaesson Axel Klar Joakim Koos Björn Korsgren Olle

Kozarcanin Huda Krona Cecilia Kuhnemund Malte Kundu Snehangshu Kundu Soumi Kunze Elene Källström Lillemor La Fleur Linnea Ladenvall Claes Landegren Ulf Langenkamp Elise Larsson Chatarina Larsson Erik Lavina Siemsen Barbara Leja-Jarblad Justyna Li Xiujuan Liljenfeldt Lina Lindahl Erik Lindau Cecilia Lindblom Susanne Lindholm Carlström Eva Lindskog Bergström Cecilia Lindström Anne-Christine Liungström Viktor Ljungström Viktor Loskog Angelica Lundberg Marcus Lundin Erika Löf Liza Lönn Peter Lööf Johan Magnusson Christina Magnusson Kristina Magnusson Peetra Mangsbo Sara Mansouri Larry Marinescu Voichita Marques Souza de Oliveira Martinez-Corral Ines Martinsson Pernilla Mathot Lucy Mattsson Johanna Melin Malin Mickelsen Jansson Annlouise Milennova Yoanna Molnar Matyas Morin Eric Mulder Sara Mäkinen Taija Nelander Sven Niaudet Colin Niklasson Mia Nilsson Berith Nilsson Bo

Nilsson Camilla Nilsson Ekdahl Kristina Nilsson Mats Nitzsche Anja Nong Rachel Nord Helena Nordling Sofia Nordling Torbjörn Nordqvist Marcus **Oelrich** Johan Ohlin Elisabet Olerud Johan Olsson Cecilia Olsson Ingmarie Ortsäter Henrik Oskarsson Linda Oskolkov Nikolay Pacholsky Dirk Pan Gang Pandzic Tatjana Papadaki Evangelia Paul-Wetterberg Gabriella Persson Skare Tor Peterson Pia Petersson Sara Petri Anna Pettersson Ulf Pontén Fredrik Pristovsek Nusa Pääbo Svante Ouarfordt Pernilla Ramachandran Mohanraj Rasi Chiara Raykova Doroteya Reddy Bysani Madhusudhan Rendo Verónica **Roche Francis** Rosén Gabriela Rosenquist Brandell Richard Roy Ananya Rung Johan Russell Camilla Rönnelid Johan Sandberg Charlotta Savov Vasil Schenström Maria Schmidt Linnéa Schuster Jens Simu Tuulikki Singh Umashankar Sjöblom Tobias Sjöstedt Evelina Sjösten Anna Skog Oskar

Smith Ross Sobol Maria Sohrabian Azita Stamatopoulos Konstantino Stanczuk Lukasz Steffen Henrik Steimer Ulla Stenbeck Funke Lillemor Stoimenov Ivaylo Strand Ann-Sofi Stratmann Svea Strid Stina Sun Ren Sutton Lesley Ann Svensson Emma Söderberg Ola Tan E-Jean Taussig Mike Tellgren-Roth Christian Testini Chiara Tibbling Gunilla Birgitta Tötterman Thomas Uhrbom Lene Ullbors Anna-Maria Ullerås Erik Ulvmar Maria Wadelius Claes van Hooren Luuk Weishaupt Holger Wester Kenneth Westermark Ann Westermark Bengt Weström Simone Wicher Grzegorz Wik Lotta Wikner Charlotte Wilbe Maria Williams Nina Vinnere Pettersson Olga Wu Di Xiong Anqi Yaka Cane Yan Junhong Young Emma Yuan Xie Zaghlool Ammar Zhang Lei Zhao Hongxing Zhao Jin Zieba Agata Åslund Lena Öberg Fredrik

# Organization of the Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology



# **Head of Department**

Lena Claesson-Welsh, Karin Forsberg Nilsson

#### Vice Head of Department

Ulf Landegren

#### **Assistant Heads of Department**

Anna Dimberg, postgraduate education Claes Wadelius, postgraduate education Karin Forsberg Nilsson, strategies for positions and recruitments Bo Nilsson, clinical research

# **Department Board**

#### Members during 2014

Lena Claesson-Welsh, Head of Department Karin Forsberg Nilsson, Head of Department/teacher representative Christer Betsholtz, teacher representative Sara Bolin, graduate student representative Niklas Dahl, teacher representative Anna Dimberg, teacher representative Elin Ekberg, representative for technical/administrative staff Emelie Ekstrand, undergraduate student representative Lars Feuk, teacher representative Sarah Galien, undergraduate student representative Birgitta Gustafsson, representative for technical/administrative staff Marie Hedlund, representative for technical/administrative staff, deputy Ellen Hertz, undergraduate student representative Feria Hikmet Noradin, undergraduate student representative Masood Kamali-Moghaddam, teacher representative, deputy Inger Jonasson, representative for technical/administrative staff, deputy Ulf Landegren, teacher representative, deputy Viktor Ljungström, graduate student representative Johan Lööf, undergraduate student representative, deputy Sven Nelander, teacher representative, deputy Sara Nordling, graduate student representative, deputy Fredrik Pontén, teacher representative Fredrik Swartling, teacher representative, deputy Ola Söderberg, teacher representative Lene Uhrbom, teacher representative, deputy Sawin Yousef, undergraduate student representative

# **Teaching organization**

Nils-Erik Heldin, head of education Sofia Bodare, course administrator Lisa Chytraeus, course administrator Viktoria Ahlgren, course administrator Suzanne Ahlstav Hernandez, course administrator Gunilla Tibbling, course administrator

#### Administration

Anna Backeryd Lindström, accounting Pirkko Boox, senior advisor Jenny Djerf, accounting Ulf Dohlmar, accounting Birgitta Gustafsson, financial coordinator Holger Henningsson, personnel Kerstin Henriksson, communication Katarina Israelsson, accounting Therese Karlström, personnel

Shila Kermani, accounting Barbro Nelson, accounting Camilla Nilsson, personnel coordinator Klara Nilsson, personnel Christina Magnusson, administrator of postgraduate education Sara Mulder, personnel Tuulikki Simu, accounting Ulla Steimer, accounting

# **Core Facilities**

#### BioVis

In 2010, the former Cell Analysis Core Facility was reshaped to create BioVis, a national resource for advanced visualization and analysis of biological material. The BioVis Facility is part of Science for Life Lab since 2010.

BioVis provides services and instrumentation for Electron and Light microscopy, flow Cytometry, cell sorting and Image Flow Cytometry. Researchers from Academia as well as non-Academia users are welcome to analyze their own samples on the instruments available in the lab. We provide hands-on training and advice for handling and we offer advice on the use of appropriate methods and experimental setups. For users who wish to have this service provided we can, time permitting, also perform sorting and analysis experiments.

Instrumentation at BioVis includes a FACS Aria III flow sorter and a BD LSR II SORP multilaser flow cytometer as well as a Merck/AMNIS Flowsight Imaging Flow Cytometer. (first in Scandinavia). A ZEISS LSM 700 confocal microscope, a ZEISS 710 NLO multiphoton microscope and ZEISS 710 Superresolution SIM and a ZEISS AxioImager brightfield and fluorescence microscope with an apotome (for optical sectioning) are also installed. BioVis is proud to be first in Scandinavia having a ZEISS Lightsheet Z.1 microscope installed. In addition, users have access to workstations for image analysis and documentation including IMARIS and AMIRA software. BioVis is collaborating with the group of C. Wählby from Centrum for Image Analysis (CBA) for in-depth image analysis.

An FEI Tecnai Biotwin transmission electron microscope has also been added to the facility. This instrument has increased our capacity to provide the services requested by various research groups. A laboratory and staff to prepare samples for imaging on the electron microscope is available.

In 2014 the services offered by the BioVis were regularly used by 94 academic and 7 nonacademic research groups, covering 179 projects, coming from the medical and pharmaceutical faculties, from other Uppsala University faculties, as well as from other universities and research establishments.

The service level is high with a lab manager and experts for microscopy, flow cytometry, electron microscopy and image analysis available to instruct and advise users, to ensure instrument performance, to perform experiments and to administrate instrument service and reservations.

BioVis was proud to host the 5<sup>th</sup> Swedish Bioimaging National meeting, Uppsala, May 2014. In May 2014, BioVis arranged the first Image J workshop in Uppsala (and probably Sweden), again highly appreciated by the participants coming from all over Sweden, and the first Flowsight Seminar. Other workshops included Image Analysis software Huygens (June) and Imaris (December). BioVis staff members were giving lectures on different courses arranged by the Rudbeck Laboratory and SLU Uppsala.

A highly appreciated graduate student course on cell analysis techniques is given annually at the facility. The course contents include fluorescence theory, basic and advanced confocal microscopy and flow cytometry, as well as a substantial amount of hands-on instrument time. BioVis is organizing on a regular basis workshops and symposia covering the techniques available at the Facility.

To meet its standards BioVis started to form a BioVis Advisory Board, which was to be installed in 2015.

#### Staff

Dirk Pacholsky, facility manager (management, flow cytometry, cell sorting, microscopy) Anders Ahlander, research engineer (electron microscopy) Matyas Molnar, research engineer (light, confocal and multiphoton microscopy) Sara Peterson, research engineer Kenneth Wester, researcher

#### **Clinical Sequencing Facility**

In 2013, Uppsala University, Uppsala University Hospital and Science for Life Laboratory together formed a new facility at the department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology: the Clinical Sequencing Facility. The mission of the facility is to provide services for high throughput genomics in real clinical applications, from new genetic tests in routine diagnostics to translational research projects based on next-generation sequencing (NGS). The facility is one of three facilities constituting the national SciLifeLab platform for Clinical Diagnostics.

In the first year of operation, the facility purchased its first Illumina HiSeq 2500 and MiSeq instruments and formed administrative routines for operations, and agreements between the different partners of the facility. Two molecular biologists and three bioinformaticians were recruited to the facility. Development projects and services are divided into three separate work-packages, i.e. solid tumors, hematological malignancies, and inherited diseases. Two additional work packages are dedicated to the development of bioinformatic analysis pipelines and data management, and policies and practises for ethics and reporting. In 2014, we developed new diagnostic gene panel tests for inherited cardiac and connective tissue diseases that are now used in routine practice at Clinical Genetics, Uppsala University Hospital. These tests are also accredited with ISO 15189. We also developed diagnostic gene panel tests for cancer; as a prime example, a panel of 32 genes aimed at several cancer types is now in production at Uppsala University Hospital, Molecular Pathology. This panel is designed for formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded (FFPE) tumor material.

We collaborate actively with the facilities within National Genomics Infrastructure (NGI) on NGS-based tests for clinical diagnostics that use technology other than what is installed in our own facility. In particular, whole-exome sequencing with HiSeq instruments, and long-read sequencing with PacBio, are important parts of this. We also collaborate with UPPMAX, the Uppsala facility for high performance computating, which is part of SNIC, the Swedish National Infrastructure for Computing, and the European Bioinformatics Institute (Hinxton, UK) on sequence data management.

The facility became the Swedish country node for the UNESCO-protected international Human Variome Project in 2014.

#### Staff

Richard Rosenquist Brandell, platform director Johan Rung, facility manager Johan Botling, work-package leader, solid tumors Lucia Cavelier, work-package leader, hematological malignancies Rose-Marie Amini, work package leader, hematological malignancies Marie-Louise Bondeson, work-package leader, inherited diseases Pirkko Boox, senior legal advisor Lotte Moens, molecular geneticist Nicola Cahill, molecular geneticist Britt-Inger Jonsson, BMA Elin Falk Sörqvist, bioinformatician Malin Melin, bioinformatician Claes Ladenvall, bioinformatician Viktor Ljungström, bioinformatician

#### NGI-Uppsala / Uppsala Genome Center

NGI-Uppsala / Uppsala Genome center (UGC) is one of three nodes in the National Genomics Infrastructure (NGI) hosted by Science for Life Laboratory. The facility moved to new localities at the Biomedical Center during January 2014.

The facility is open to academic research groups in Sweden on a non-profit basis and provides a facility for Massively Parallel Sequencing (MPS) and qualified bioinformatics support. The facility can also provide service for companies and customers outside Sweden if labour and instrument capacity is sufficient.

UGC offers a broad range of services for genetic analysis such as

- Massively Parallel Sequencing (MPS) on Ion Torrent (PGM<sup>™</sup>), Ion Proton<sup>™</sup> systems from Life Technologies and on RSII from Pacific Biosciences.
- Sanger Sequencing Service
- Genotyping with STR-markers
- Service for separation of custom prepared samples by capillary electrophoresis on AB3730XL Genetic Analyzer

During 2014 a second RSII instrument from Pacific Biosiences has been installed and taken in use for service projects. This technology is a real-time, single molecule sequencer, which generates ultra long reads up to 60 kb. This technology is a complement to the established short reads instruments at NGI.

The different MPS technologies can be used for *de novo* sequencing, whole genome resequencing and targeted re-sequencing of DNA. RNA sequencing can be performed either as whole transcriptome analysis, gene expression profiling, or as sequencing of small RNA molecules. With the long read technology from Pacific Biosciences UGC have the capacity to offer different technologies for different type of projects, with variation in output of sequencing data from 10 Mbp till 1000 Mbp per run and read length from 200 bp to 60000 bp.

During 2014 UGC has been working in collaboration with Clinical Genetics, Uppsala Akademiska Hospital with different projects on Pacific Biosciences to develop new protocols for detection of low frequency mutations in cancer and genetic diseases. The aim is that Pacific Biosciences will replace current methods and be used as a tool for clinical diagnosis.

UGC is a "Certified Service Provider" for exome sequencing using the Ampliseq Exome Kit from Life Technologies. This PCR-based protocol allows low input of DNA and a rapid workflow with the possibility to fast delivery of data. UGC is also taking part in different programs as "early users" to test and evaluate new chemistries and technologies from Life Technologies.

UGC performs DNA sequencing service using the Sanger method. This is done mainly by preparing the sequencing reactions or by size separation of custom prepared DNA-fragments by capillary electrophoresis. Additional services include genotyping of microsatellite markers and TaqMan® based SNP-typing.

In 2014 UGC provided service for more than 260 projects and more than 2200 samples on the MPS sequencing machinery. 150 researchers are more or less frequent users of the Sanger Sequencing Service and the other types of services that UGC offers.

#### Staff

Ulf Gyllensten, managing director Inger Jonasson, facility manager Adam Ameur, bioinformatician Magdalena Andersson, research engineer Ulrika Broström, research engineer Ignas Bunikis, bioinformatician Nicola Cahill, research engineer Susana Häggqvist, research engineer Ida Höijer, research engineer Carolina Ilbäck, research engineer, Sebastian Johansson, research engineer Cecilia Lindau, research engineer Anne-Christine Lindström, research engineer Anna Petri, research engineer Maria Schenström, research engineer Christian Tellgren-Roth, bioinformatician Olga Vinnere Pettersson, project coordinator Nina Williams, research engineer

#### **PLA Proteomics Facility**

The PLA Proteomics facility that is part of the Affinity Proteomics platform of Science for Life Laboratory (SciLifeLab), was established in 2010 and provides services for the scientific community for sensitive and specific analyses of proteins and their interaction complexes using *in situ* proximity ligation assays (*in situ* PLA). Since 2012 the facility also assists users by establishing solid-phase PLA tests for sensitive and specific detection of proteins in body fluids such as plasma, cerebrospinal fluids, etc. The services further include high-performance PLA-based western blot assays.

The PLA technology was developed at the Department of Immunology, Genetics and Pathology, Division of Molecular Tools, and allows target protein molecules to be sensitively analyzed using sets of antibodies with conjugated oligonucleotides. Upon recognition of target molecules by the antibodies, the attached oligonucleotides can either be ligated to each other (for solution-phase PLA), or guide circularization of two accessory oligonucleotides (for *in situ* PLA). The reporter DNA molecules that form by ligation are amplifiable by real-time PCR for solution-phase measurements or by localized rolling circle amplification for *in situ* detection. The PLA method owes its specificity and sensitivity to the requirement for multiple recognition events and the possibility of translating the detecting signals to amplifiable DNA reporters.

During 2014 the facility offered Swedish scientists both service for fee and also participated in collaborative projects. A large and growing number of *in situ* PLA-based assays are available for analyses of proteins in cells and tissues at single cell and single molecule resolution. The facility can also establish assays for new target molecules or adapt established assay formats for new applications, by mutual agreement with users. The assistance also includes expert advice on design of experiment and for data analyses.

#### Staff

Ulf Landegren, facility director Masood Kamali-Moghaddam, facility manager Christina Classon, research engineer

#### **Tissue Profiling Facility**

The Tissue Profiling Facility was established during 2010 as part of the SciLifeLab effort in Uppsala. In 2013 it became a national facility within the SciLifeLab Affinity Proteomics platform. The expertise of the centre is focused on histopathology with special technical emphasis on tissue microarray (TMA) production, immunohistochemistry (IHC) and image digitalization of stained slides (scanning). As a technical high-throughput platform, the centre aims to provide these services to external research groups. During 2014 the facility performed service for researchers that included the construction of 59 TMAs, over 7.600 cut tissue sections, 5000 slide scannings and 2500 stained slides.

The origin of the facility builds on more than a decade of accumulated experience and know-how from being a central part of the Human Protein Atlas project. This project which is funded by the Knut and Alice Wallenberg research foundation, is set up to map the human proteome by generating and validating antibodies to be used for high throughput protein profiling of normal human tissues, different forms of cancers and multiple cell lines. As part of the Human Protein Atlas effort, the tissue profiling facility have since the start 2003 constructed over 4600 TMAs containing over 273.000 cores from tissues or cell lines, stained over 216.000 slides for immunohistochemistry, scanned over 136.000 slides and cut over 880.000 sections.

Tissue microarrays are constructed using four different systems; a fully automated TMA production system (TMA GrandMaster), an automated system (Beecher ATA-27), a semi-automated system (Pathology Devices) and a manual arrayer (Beecher MTA-1) depending on tissue used and amount of tissue available. Sections are cut using a waterfall microtome (Microm HM355S).

Immunohistochemistry is performed in an automated slide staining system (Lab Vision Autostainer 480) on formalin fixed paraffin embedded material, using a polymer based detection system. Slides are deparaffinized and dehydrated in an automated slide staining system (Leica Autostainer XL) and mounted in an automated glass coverslipper system (Leica CV5030).

By using bright field digital scanners based on line scanning technology (Aperio Scanscope XT and AT), stained glass slides are transformed to digital images. Images are subsequently exported and up-loaded to a server for viewing. Slides are scanned using 20x or 40x magnification. The high-resolution images can be viewed using a freely available software (ImageScope) from Aperio.

#### Staff

Fredrik Pontén, Platform director Per-Henrik Edqvist, Head of Facility Ing-Marie Olsson, Technician Dennis Kesti, Technician Erik Lindahl, Technician

#### Associated staff

Dijana Cerjan, Technician Sofie Gustafsson, Technician Lillemor Källström, Technician Ann-Sofie Strand, Technician

# Prizes and awards

Bengt Westermark was awarded H.M. The King's Medal of the 8th size with the ribbon of the Order of the Seraphim for his valuable contributions in and for cancer research.

Lena Claesson-Welsh received the Olof Rudbeck Prize for 2014 for her important achievements in basic science that have had significant clinical impact.

Carl-Magnus Clausson received the Hwasser Prize for best preclinical PhD thesis.

Alex Karlsson-Parra was awarded the Athena Prize for his work on therapeutic cancer vaccines.

# Undergraduate Education at IGP

The Department participates in the education programs in Medicine, Biomedicine, Biomedical Laboratory Science and Physiotherapy. The master programs in Forensic Science and Molecular Medicine are organized by IGP.

# Medicine

We participated in the courses "Growth and Degeneration" in the second semester, "Attack and Defense" in the fourth semester, and in the integration periods in the fourth, fifth, sixth, seventh and ninth semester of the medicine program. Students on the sixth semester also had a clinical rotation "Clinical Pathology". A two-week course in Cancer Genetics and Tumor Biology was given on the seventh semester. Approximately hundred students attended the different courses, which are given twice a year.

# Biomedicine

In this program we gave a 7.5 credit course in Medical Genetics. This course is given during the fourth semester of the Biomedicine program. About thirty-five students participated in the course. We also teach general pathology in the course "Diseases - Clinical Survey" on the sixth semester of the program.

# **Biomedical Laboratory Science**

During the fall we gave a course in Pathology and Clinical Genetics within the Biomedical laboratory science program. This course is for 11 credits and is given to students in the third semester of their education. We also headed two other courses at the program during the spring semester "Immunology and Transfusion Medicine 12 credits" (fourth semester on the program) as well as "Advanced Course I 7.5 credits" (sixth semester). Approximately fifty students attended each course.

# Physiotherapy

A course in Pathology, within the Physiotherapy program, was given twice during 2014. The course was for 1.5 credits and around forty students were enrolled on each occasion.

# **Single Subject Courses**

We offer a web-based course in Basic Medical Genetics. The course is for 4.5 credits and was given twice during 2014. It was completely web-based, with lectures, study questions and exam available via the PING-PONG platform. Students from all over Sweden, as well as abroad, enroll in this course.

Three courses, "Medical Genetics 7.5 credits", "Immune, Gene and Cell Therapy 7.5 credits" and "Molecular Mechanisms in Cancer 7.5 credits", were given during the fall.

# **Master Programs**

The Department is heading two international master programs. The master program in Forensic Science is based on knowledge from leading international research and is closely linked to research in the field. Courses in Medical Genetics, Forensic Science and Criminalistics, Forensic Genetics and Medicine, Criminology, Forensic Chemistry and Analytical Toxicology are included. In addition to IGP, other departments at Uppsala University and Stockholm University are arranging courses within the program. Approximately twenty students are enrolled on each occasion. The international master program in Molecular Medicine has twenty-five student positions. The program is focused on molecular mechanisms causing diseases and new technologies in genomics, epigenetics and proteomics. The courses in Medical Genetics and Cancer, and Advanced Techniques in Molecular Medicine, are given on the first semester of the program. Courses in Epigenomics, Biomarkers, Bioimaging and Regenerative Medicine are included in the program on the second and third semester.

In 2014 both master programmes organised by IGP received the highest credentials "very high quality" in an evaluation performed by the Swedish Higher Education Authority.

# Postgraduate Education at IGP

In 2014 the Department had 80 students registered for a postgraduate education. Ten PhD students defended their PhD theses and four students obtained licentiate degrees.

Postgraduate education at IGP is performed as main scientific work in research groups under the guidance of at least two supervisors. Postgraduate studies also require participation at postgraduate courses. The Department encourages postgraduate students to attend international courses and has allocated funds from which students can apply for funding to participate in such courses, or to visit research laboratories to learn techniques required for their research projects. In 2014 two students received this type of funding.

At the Rudbeck Laboratory, the BioVis facility organises the postgraduate student course "Methods in Cell Analysis". The course contents include fluorescence theory, basic and advanced confocal microscopy and flow cytometry. The students also have the opportunity to try out suitable methods in their own projects. Another postgraduate course given at the Rudbeck Laboratory is Advanced Molecular Technology and Instrumentation for Proteome Analyses, which is organized by the proteomics platforms at Science for Life Laboratory in Uppsala. Some students also follow "NatiOn" which is a national school for graduate students in clinical cancer research held at Karolinska Institutet in collaboration with Uppsala University, including teachers from IGP.

The Rudbeck Seminar Series, organized by IGP, was given as a course for PhD students in both the spring and fall semesters. PhD students who regularly attend the seminars can account for three credit points per semester in their PhD education. The seminars are held by invited speakers from other Swedish universities as well as from abroad, on topics relevant for the PhD students at the Department. In 2014, 33 seminars were given in the series. Some students working in IGP laboratories at the Biomedial Centre (BMC) also attended the SciLifeLab/The Svedberg seminar series held there. All postgraduate students attend a pedagogical course given at Uppsala University.

The department organized the IGP Day on 16 June 2014, where many students presented their work on posters.

# Cancer and Vascular Biology

A common characteristic of the many different types of cancer is disruption of the normal growth pattern, leading to uncontrolled cell division and growth, invasiveness and distant spread. Several different forms of cancer are studied at the department, with a particular focus on brain tumors and colorectal carcinoma. For example, we study glioma and medulloblastoma, where currently efficient therapies are lacking, resulting in poor prognosis. Our research aims to increase the knowledge about molecular mechanisms in tumor development with the ultimate goal to contribute to better treatment. We work closely together with clinicians to set up noval patient derived call models, and are answed



to set up novel patient-derived cell models, and are engaged in several large efforts to find new therapeutic targets.

The formation of new blood and lymphatic vessels (angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis respectively), is normally a strictly controlled process, which is critical for embryonic development as well as for growth and repair of tissues after birth. Moreover, several diseases, such as cancer, involve exaggerated (lymph)angiogenesis, leading to disorganized and dysfunctional vasculature that helps to propagate the disease. Our research focuses on how (lymph)angiogenesis is regulated in health and disease. We study the role of stimulating growth factors and negatively regulating proteins that control (lymph)angiogenesis during development, inflammation, eye disease and cancer.

#### **Developmental Genetics**

#### **Christer Betsholtz**

Our group studies cellular and molecular mechanisms of angiogenesis, vascular permeability and other vascular functions (vessel tone, molecule transport, cell transmigration across the vessel wall), in embryonic development, adult homeostasis and disease.

A particular focus is placed on the microvascular pericyte. Pericytes are obligatory components of all blood capillaries, yet their functions in health and disease are still poorly understood. Our on-going research addresses pericyte functions in different situations in organs using *in vivo* and *in vitro* techniques.

Other areas of focus concern the mechanisms of angiogenic sprouting, and the specific role of G-protein coupled receptors in this process as well as in other microvascular functions. A large project relates to the blood-brain barrier (BBB), a complex and specific feature of the neurovascular unit, and the role of pericytes in this structure.

Some of our questions go beyond vascular biology. In a broad sense we address the roles of platelet-derived growth factors (PDGFs) and other growth factors and their intracellular signal transducers during embryonic and postnatal development, as well as in pathological processes in the adult organism, such as cancer and brain calcification and neurodegeneration.

#### The Angiopoietin/Tek system in fibrosis

#### **Marie Jeansson**

Angiopoietins are proteins that bind the tyrosin kinase receptor Tek (also called Tie2), expressed on the endothelium of blood vessels. Angiopoietin-1 is an agonist and results in stabilization and quiescence of the vessel whereas Angiopoietin-2 is an antagonist and inhibits the protective Angiopoietin-1/Tek signaling.

Several clinical conditions, including cardiovascular disease, malaria, and sepsis, increase the serum level of Angiopoietin-2, and the increased ratio between Angpiopoietin-2/Angiopoietin-1 has been shown to predict adverse outcomes. One of our objectives is to define the role of the Angiopoietin/Tek system in fibrotic diseases.

# Mechanisms of angiogenesis and vascular permeability: the role of G-protein coupled receptors.

#### Konstantin Gaengel, Colin Niaudet, Barbara Lavina-Siemsen, Marco Castro

We previously identified a core set of 58 gene transcripts expressed specifically (and quite universally) in endothelial cells. This set of genes included some 20 well-established endothelial markers, many of which are known to play critical roles in vasculogenesis and angiogenesis.

Interestingly, however, approximately half of the 58 gene transcripts had not been previously implicated in vascular biology. Many of them are highly interesting as candidate novel regulators of angiogenesis since they 1) are highly endothelial-specific in their expression, and 2) encode proteins predicted to play a role in cell signaling, such as GPCRs. In our current research program, we are investigating cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in angiogenesis, with focus on new regulators and regulatory processes involved in vascular morphogenesis, stabilization and barrier formation.

# Analyses of PDGF signaling during organ development

#### Johanna Andrae, Radiosa Gallini, Leonor Gouveia

The overall aim for this project is to analyze and describe developmental processes where members of the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) family play important roles.

We are focusing on processes that are dependent on proper signaling through the tyrosinekinase receptor PDGFRa. Generally viewed PDGFRa is expressed by mesenchymal and glial cells, whereas adjacent epithelial, muscle or neuronal cells express the ligands PDGF-A and/or PDGF-C. This is true for example in brain, lung, intestine, palate and hair follicles.

Our goal is a detailed understanding of how correct PDGF signaling contributes to different developmental processes. What are the characteristics of the cells that express PDGFRa? Where are they located in relation to the ligand expressing cells? What happens to those cells in the absence of PDGF, or if they are over-stimulated? It is important to know how different cells contribute to a specific tissue organization.

All cell types use specific molecular signals to communicate with each other, and knowing the normal signaling pathways may be crucial for understanding a pathological behaviour.

# Pericyte biology and markers

#### Elisabeth Raschperger, Bongnam Jung, Michael Vanlandewijck

Pericytes are essential for development and stabilization of the vascular networks. These cells also regulate capillary blood flow, and are a component of the neurovascular unit that controls blood-brain permeability. In addition, immune, phagocytic and contractile functions are assigned to pericytes. Genetic mutation and cell-based studies have demonstrated pericyte engagement in physiological functions and in diseases, including vascular/ organ

development, wound healing, scarring, fibrosis and tissue remodeling. For example, PDGF-B or PDGFRb- deficient mice die perinatally exhibiting vascular dysfunction due to a lack of pericyte investment around blood vessels, suggesting the critical role of PDGFB/R signaling in vascular maturation.

Although the biological significance of pericytes is appreciated, a lack of pericyte-specific markers have hampered in-depth study on their origin, presence and function during physiological and pathological processes. To date, existing pericyte markers, such as PDGFR $\beta$ , NG2, desmin and CD13, cannot distinguish pericytes from vascular smooth muscle cells (vSMCs) or other mesenchymal cells. The expression patterns of these markers also vary between species, developmental stages and tissues. Therefore, 1) pioneering a reliable, pericyte-specific marker and 2) characterizing known marker expression in a timely- and organ- specific manner are necessary for proper analysis of pericyte biology in health and disease.

We take advantage of the double fluorescent transgenic mouse model, PDGFRβ-EGFP/NG2-dsRed, to study pericyte expression in embryonic and adult mouse tissues by immunofluorescence staining and imaging. Further, we use these mice to FACS pericytes for deep sequencing-based transcriptional profiling to investigate not only novel and specific pericyte markers but also transcriptional differences in pericytes from various organs. Utilizing the PDGF knock out mice crossed to the NG2-dsRed mouse, we hope to address the precise mechanism of PDGFs in regulation of pericyte function, and differential behavior of pericytes throughout development and in adulthood.

#### Zebrafish models

#### Lwaki Ebarasi

We use the zebrafish as a model organism for the study of angiogenesis, pericyte and mesangial cell biology, glomerular development and function in the context of the developing zebrafish embryo. We exploit the experimental advantages of rapid development, transparency, *ex utero* development, and a rapidly expanding arsenal of genetic tools to explore the cellular interplay and molecular regulators of these cells and processes.

Organogenesis and patterning are complete in the first two days of the developing zebrafish embryo's life. Endothelial, podocyte, erythrocyte, tubular, and astrocyte cell-specific reporter lines are some of the tools we apply in our research. The mechanisms, cell types and molecular regulation of angiogenesis and glomerular development and function in the zebrafish are the same ones at play in the higher vertebrates. We apply both forward and reverse genetic approaches to elucidate the molecular mechanisms important to endothelial cell and glomerular development, homeostasis, and function as well as high-resolution live imaging to study cellular behavior and interactions.

#### Group members during 2014

Christer Betsholtz, professor, group leader Maarja Andaloussi Mäe, researcher Johanna Andrae, researcher Marco Castro, PhD student Jana Chmielniakova, technician Lwaki Ebarasi, post doc Radiosa Gallini, PhD student Maria Leonor Segurado Gouveia, PhD student Rajesh Gupta, researcher Konstantin Gängel, research fellow Ligun He, researcher Jennifer Hofmann, post doc Marie Jeansson, researcher Bongnam Jung, post doc Annika Keller, researcher Barbara Lavina Siemsen, researcher Thibaud Lebouvier, post doc Helene Leksell, biomedical analyst Krishnapriya Loganathan, PhD student Colin Niaudet, researcher Marta Oliveira, student Cecilia Olsson, technician Pia Peterson, technician Elisabeth Raschperger, research fellow Ebtisam Salem Said. student Alexandros Sountoulidis, researcher Michael Vanlandewijck, post doc

# Funding during 2014

European Research Council (advanced grant), 4 500 kSEK Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation (KAW Scholar), 3 000 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 2 000 kSEK Leducq Foundation, 1 200 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 1 350 kSEK (C Betsholtz), 750 kSEK (M Jeansson) Åke Wiberg foundation, 250 kSEK (M Jeansson)

# Publications 2012-2014

(The group came to IGP in 2013 and several papers have therefore not been published with IGP as affiliation)

- 1. Fredriksson L, Nilsson I, Su EJ, Andrae J, Ding H, Betsholtz C, Eriksson U, Lawrence DA. Platelet-derived growth factor C deficiency in C57BL/6 mice leads to abnormal cerebral vascularization, loss of neuroependymal integrity, and ventricular abnormalities. Am J Pathol. 2012, 180(3):1136-44
- 2. Bell RD, Winkler EA, Singh I, Sagare AP, Deane R, Wu Z, Holtzman DM, Betsholtz C, Armulik A, Sallstrom J, Berk BC, Zlokovic BV. Apolipoprotein E controls cerebrovascular integrity via cyclophilin A. Nature. 2012, 485(7399):512-6.
- 3. Sistani L, Rodriguez PQ, Hultenby K, Uhlen M, Betsholtz C, Jalanko H, Tryggvason K, Wernerson A, Patrakka J. Neuronal proteins are novel components of podocyte major processes and their expression in glomerular crescents supports their role in crescent formation. Kidney Int. 2013, 83(1):63-71.
- 4. Perisic L, Lal M, Hulkko J, Hultenby K, Önfelt B, Sun Y, Dunér F, Patrakka J, Betsholtz C, Uhlen M, Brismar H, Tryggvason K, Wernerson A, Pikkarainen T. Plekhh2, a novel podocyte protein downregulated in human focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, is involved in matrix adhesion and actin dynamics. Kidney Int. 2012, 82(10):1071-83.
- 5. Gaengel K, Niaudet C, Hagikura K, Laviña B, Muhl L, Hofmann JJ, Ebarasi L, Nyström S, Rymo S, Chen LL, Pang MF, Jin Y, Raschperger E, Roswall P, Schulte D, Benedito R, Larsson J, Hellström M, Fuxe J, Uhlén P, Adams R, Jakobsson L, Majumdar A,

Vestweber D, Uv A, Betsholtz C. The sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor S1PR1 restricts sprouting angiogenesis by regulating the interplay between VE-cadherin and VEGFR2. Dev Cell. 2012, 23(3):587-99. Erratum in: Dev Cell. 2012, 23(6):1264. Laviña Siemsen, Bàrbara [corrected to Laviña, Bàrbara].

- 6. Pozzi B, Amodio S, Lucano C, Sciullo A, Ronzoni S, Castelletti D, Adler T, Treise I, Betsholtz IH, Rathkolb B, Busch DH, Wolf E, Fuchs H, Gailus-Durner V, de Angelis MH, Betsholtz C, Casola S, Di Fiore PP, Offenhäuser N. The endocytic adaptor Eps15 controls marginal zone B cell numbers. PLoS One. 2012, 7(11):e50818.
- Cai Q, Brissova M, Reinert RB, Pan FC, Brahmachary P, Jeansson M, Shostak A, Radhika A, Poffenberger G, Quaggin SE, Jerome WG, Dumont DJ, Powers AC. Enhanced expression of VEGF-A in β cells increases endothelial cell number but impairs islet morphogenesis and β cell proliferation. Dev Biol. 2012, 367(1):40-54.
- Jin J, Sison K, Li C, Tian R, Wnuk M, Sung HK, Jeansson M, Zhang C, Tucholska M, Jones N, Kerjaschki D, Shibuya M, Fantus IG, Nagy A, Gerber HP, Ferrara N, Pawson T, Quaggin SE. Soluble FLT1 binds lipid microdomains in podocytes to control cell morphology and glomerular barrier function. Cell. 2012, 151(2):384-99.
- Sivaskandarajah GA, Jeansson M, Maezawa Y, Eremina V, Baelde HJ, Quaggin SE. Vegfa protects the glomerular microvasculature in diabetes. Diabetes. 2012, 61(11):2958-66.
- 10. Bisson N, Ruston J, Jeansson M, Vanderlaan R, Hardy WR, Du J, Hussein SM, Coward RJ, Quaggin SE, Pawson T. The adaptor protein Grb2 is not essential for the establishment of the glomerular filtration barrier. PLoS One. 2012;7(11):e50996.
- 11. Gaengel K, Betsholtz C. Endocytosis regulates VEGF signalling during angiogenesis. Nat Cell Biol. 2013, 15(3):233-5.
- Arnold T, Betsholtz C. The importance of microglia in the development of the vasculature in the central nervous system. Vasc Cell. 2013, 5(1):4. Correction: Vasc Cell. 2013, 5(1):12.
- Andrae J, Ehrencrona H, Gallini R, Lal M, Ding H, Betsholtz C. Analysis of mice lacking the heparin-binding splice isoform of platelet-derived growth factor A. Mol Cell Biol. 2013, 33(20):4030-40.
- 14. Keller A, Westenberger A, Sobrido MJ, García-Murias M, Domingo A, Sears RL, Lemos RR, Ordoñez-Ugalde A, Nicolas G, da Cunha JE, Rushing EJ, Hugelshofer M, Wurnig MC, Kaech A, Reimann R, Lohmann K, Dobričić V, Carracedo A, Petrović I, Miyasaki JM, Abakumova I, Mäe MA, Raschperger E, Zatz M, Zschiedrich K, Klepper J, Spiteri E, Prieto JM, Navas I, Preuss M, Dering C, Janković M, Paucar M, Svenningsson P, Saliminejad K, Khorshid HR, Novaković I, Aguzzi A, Boss A, Le Ber I, Defer G, Hannequin D, Kostić VS, Campion D, Geschwind DH, Coppola G, Betsholtz C, Klein C, Oliveira JR. Mutations in the gene encoding PDGF-B cause brain calcifications in humans and mice. Nat Genet. 2013, 45(9):1077-82.
- Neubauer B, Machura K, Rupp V, Tallquist MD, Betsholtz C, Sequeira-Lopez ML, Ariel Gomez R, Wagner C. Development of renal renin-expressing cells does not involve PDGF-B-PDGFR-β signaling. Physiol Rep. 2013, 1(5):e00132.
- 16. Xiao Z, Rodriguez PQ, He L, Betsholtz C, Tryggvason K, Patrakka J. Wtip- and gadd45a-interacting protein dendrin is not crucial for the development or maintenance of the glomerular filtration barrier. PLoS One. 2013, 8(12):e83133.
- 17. Henderson NC, Arnold TD, Katamura Y, Giacomini MM, Rodriguez JD, McCarty JH, Pellicoro A, Raschperger E, Betsholtz C, Ruminski PG, Griggs DW, Prinsen MJ, Maher JJ, Iredale JP, Lacy-Hulbert A, Adams RH, Sheppard D. Targeting of αv integrin

identifies a core molecular pathway that regulates fibrosis in several organs. Nat Med. 2013, 19(12):1617-24.

- Ding M, Coward RJ, Jeansson M, Kim W, Quaggin SE. Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 2-a is essential for integrity of the glomerular barrier. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2013, 304(1):F120-6.
- 19. Hale LJ, Welsh GI, Perks CM, Hurcombe JA, Moore S, Hers I, Saleem MA, Mathieson PW, Murphy AJ, Jeansson M, Holly JM, Hardouin SN, Coward RJ. Insulin-like growth factor-II is produced by, signals to and is an important survival factor for the mature podocyte in man and mouse. J Pathol. 2013, 230(1):95-106.
- 20. Betsholtz C. Physiology: Double function at the blood-brain barrier. Nature. 2014, 509(7501):432-3.
- 21. Rodin S, Antonsson L, Niaudet C, Simonson OE, Salmela E, Hansson EM, Domogatskaya A, Xiao Z, Damdimopoulou P, Sheikhi M, Inzunza J, Nilsson AS, Baker D, Kuiper R, Sun Y, Blennow E, Nordenskjöld M, Grinnemo KH, Kere J, Betsholtz C, Hovatta O, Tryggvason K. Clonal culturing of human embryonic stem cells on laminin-521/E-cadherin matrix in defined and xeno-free environment. Nat Commun. 2014, 5:3195.
- 22. Betsholtz C, Keller A. PDGF, pericytes and the pathogenesis of idiopathic basal ganglia calcification (IBGC). Brain Pathol. 2014, 24(4):387-95.
- 23. Andrae J, Gouveia L, He L, Betsholtz C. Characterization of platelet-derived growth factor-A expression in mouse tissues using a lacZ knock-in approach. PLoS One. 2014, (8):e105477.
- 24. Saeed AA, Genové G, Li T, Lütjohann D, Olin M, Mast N, Pikuleva IA, Crick P, Wang Y, Griffiths W, Betsholtz C, Björkhem I. Effects of a disrupted blood-brain barrier on cholesterol homeostasis in the brain. J Biol Chem. 2014, 289(34):23712-22.
- 25. Shang MM, Talukdar HA, Hofmann JJ, Niaudet C, Asl HF, Jain RK, Rossignoli A, Cedergren C, Silveira A, Gigante B, Leander K, de Faire U, Hamsten A, Ruusalepp A, Melander O, Ivert T, Michoel T, Schadt EE, Betsholtz C, Skogsberg J, Björkegren JL. Lim domain binding 2: a key driver of transendothelial migration of leukocytes and atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014, 34(9):2068-77.
- 26. Lmx1b and FoxC combinatorially regulate podocin expression in podocytes. He B, Ebarasi L, Zhao Z, Guo J, Ojala JR, Hultenby K, De Val S, Betsholtz C, Tryggvason K. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014, 25(12):2764-77.
- 27. Arnold TD, Niaudet C, Pang MF, Siegenthaler J, Gaengel K, Jung B, Ferrero GM, Mukouyama YS, Fuxe J, Akhurst R, Betsholtz C, Sheppard D, Reichardt LF. Excessive vascular sprouting underlies cerebral hemorrhage in mice lacking αVβ8-TGFβ signaling in the brain. Development. 2014, 141(23):4489-99.
- 28. Thomson BR, Heinen S, Jeansson M, Ghosh AK, Fatima A, Sung HK, Onay T, Chen H, Yamaguchi S, Economides AN, Flenniken A, Gale NW, Hong YK, Fawzi A, Liu X, Kume T, Quaggin SE. A lymphatic defect causes ocular hypertension and glaucoma in mice. J Clin Invest. 2014, 124(10):4320-4.
- 29. Maezawa Y, Onay T, Scott RP, Keir LS, Dimke H, Li C, Eremina V, Maezawa Y, Jeansson M, Shan J, Binnie M, Lewin M, Ghosh A, Miner JH, Vainio SJ, Quaggin SE. Loss of the podocyte-expressed transcription factor Tcf21/Pod1 results in podocyte differentiation defects and FSGS. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014, 25(11):2459-70.
- 30. Kok FO, Shin M, Ni CW, Gupta A, Grosse AS, van Impel A, Kirchmaier BC, Peterson-Maduro J, Kourkoulis G, Male I, DeSantis DF, Sheppard-Tindell S, Ebarasi L, Betsholtz

C, Schulte-Merker S, Wolfe SA, Lawson ND. Reverse genetic screening reveals poor correlation between morpholino-induced and mutant phenotypes in zebrafish. Dev Cell. 2015 Jan 12;32(1):97-108. Epub 2014 Dec 18.

 Henshall TL, Keller A, He L, Johansson BR, Wallgard E, Raschperger E, Mäe MA, Jin S, Betsholtz C, Lendahl U. Notch3 is necessary for blood vessel integrity in the central nervous system. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2015 Feb;35(2):409-20. Epub 2014 Dec 4.

# **Regulation of Blood Vessel Formation**

### Lena Claesson-Welsh

Vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGF) are essential regulators of blood vessel formation, angiogenesis, and survival of existing blood vessels. VEGF was originally denoted VPF, vascular permeability factor (VPF), reflecting another essential function of VEGF. Angiogenesis is initiated by binding of VEGF to receptor tyrosine kinases, VEGFR1 and VEGFR2, on endothelial cells. VEGFR2 is the most important receptor for VEGF; activation of VEGFR2 by VEGF is essential for establishment of the vasculature during embryogenesis and for regulation of angiogenesis in physiological and pathological processes.

We employ *in vivo* models to study VEGF signal transduction in healthy organs, in tumors and in other disease models such as retinopathy and myocardial infarction. Our particular interest is to identify signal transduction pathways regulating i) vascular morphogenesis to create functional vessels that lead blood, and ii) vascular permeability, the process where fluid, molecules and cells leave the blood and extravasate into the surrounding tissue. We furthermore study the biology of the heparin-binding plasma protein histidine-rich glycoprotein (HRG), which acts on inflammatory cells and indirectly, on blood vessels. Treatment with HRG normalizes tumor vessels, and decreases metastatic dissemination. One important goal of our research is to exploit our findings for therapeutic applications.

# Regulation of inflammation and angiogenesis by histidine-rich glycoprotein (HRG)

#### Hiroshi Kaito, Oriol Noguer, Frank Roche, Miguel Sainz Jaspeado, Ross Smith

The heparin-binding plasma protein HRG was originally identified as a regulator of tumor angiogenesis (Olsson et al., Can Res 2004, Dixelius et al., Blood 2006). We have shown in a number of models that expression of HRG in tumors results in reduced primary tumor growth and reduced metastatic spread. These effects of HRG depends on polarization of macrophages from an M2 to an M1 phenotype (Rolny et al., Cancer Cell 2011), accompanied by reduced production of angiogenic growth factors and promotion of an anti-tumor immune response. In accordance, peritoneal macrophages in the  $hrg^{-/-}$  mouse are arrested in M2, with 10-fold upregulated M2 markers, and the knockout mice grow larger tumors with increased metastatic spread (Tugues et al., Can Res 2012). Iodinated HRG binds specifically to mononuclear phagocytes and depletion of these cells using neutralizing CSF1R antibodies leads to accumulation of HRG in blood (Tugues et al., PlosOne 2014). Current aims include to identify the HRG-binding molecule, the HRG receptor, on mononuclear phagocytes, and to explore the potential therapeutic benefit of HRG in combinatorial cancer immunotherapy.

#### Regulation of angiogenesis and vascular permeability

#### Daisuke Fukuhara, Emma Gordon, Marie Hedlund, Naoki Honkura, Xiujuan Li, Eric Morin, Elisabet Ohlin, Narendra Padhan, Chiara Testini, Charlotte Wikner

Dysregulation of VEGF and its receptor VEGFR2 in tumors leads to exaggerated formation of leaky and dysfunctional vessels, which in turn promotes tumor invasiveness and metastatic spread. We have identified the in vivo signal transduction n pathway regulating vascular permeability in response to VEGF. The pathway involves a particular phosphotyrosine, Y949 in VEGFR2, which binds the Src Homology 2 (SH2) domain-containing adaptor molecule TSAd (T cell specific adaptor) that in turn couples to the cytoplasmic kinase c-Src. Gene targeting to eliminate expression of TSAd results in a block in VEGF-induced vascular permeability. We study the effects of Tsad targeting and of Y949F VEGFR2 mutation on

vascular permeability and angiogenesis during development. We also study the role of the VEGFR2/TSAd pathway in a number of disease models such as cancer (melanoma, glioblastoma, insulinoma) and myocardial infarction (in collaboration with Prof. Jan Borén, Sahlgrenska Academy). In related project, we examine the biology of other VEGFR2 phosphotyrosine sites such as Y1212. We also work with tamoxifen-regulated floxed in vivo models in order to identify the expression patterns molecules regulating vascular permeability, and to eliminate expression of genes of interest, only in endothelial cells.

We furthermore address the role of VEGF coreceptors (heparan sulfate and neuropilin) in presentation of VEGF to VEGFR2, their ability to regulate VEGFR2 internalization and the subsequent biological response. We have shown that neuropilin-1 expressed on tumor cells can present VEGF to VEGFR2 expressed on endothelial cells (denoted "trans" presentation),l leading to retention of VEGFR2 on the cell surface, reduced signaling and vascular quiescence (Koch et al., Dev Cell 2014).

#### **Cancer signaling signatures**

#### Narendra Padhan

By robotized nanofluidic isoelectric focusing in a ProteinSimple Nanopro 1000 equipment, we determine protein activity using antibody-mediated identification of posttranslationally modified (phosphorylated) signal transducers with unprecedented sensitivity and resolution. The strategy allows the identification of all posttranslationally modified versions of a particular signal transducer with one reagent, which saves time and resources. By combining patterns of signal transduction pathway events into algorithms, we can now predict normal tissue from cancer. The goal is identify human cancer stages with this technique.

#### Group members during 2014

Lena Claesson-Welsh, professor, group leader Jeremy Adler, research engineer Daisuke Fukuhara, post doc Emma Gordon, post doc Marie Hedlund, research engineer Kerstin Henriksson, project coordinator Naoki Honkura, post doc Hiroshi Kaito, post doc Xiujuan Li, researcher Arindam Majumdar, guest researcher Eric Morin, PhD student Oriol Noguer, post doc Elisabet Ohlin, researcher Narendra Padhan, post doc Tor Persson Skare, teaching assistant Frank Roche, post doc Miguel Sainz Jaspeado, post doc Ross Smith, PhD student Chiara Testini, research assistant Simone Weström, post doc Charlotte Wikner, research engineer

# Funding during 2014

Swedish Cancer Foundation, 2 000 kSEK Swedish Research Foundtion, 1 800 kSEK AICR/Worldwide Cancer Research, 650 kSEK

### Publications 2012-2014

- Le Jan S, Hayashi M, Kasza Z, Eriksson I, Bishop JR, Weibrecht I, Heldin J, Holmborn K, Jakobsson L, Söderberg O, Spillmann D, Esko JD, Claesson-Welsh L, Kjellén L, Kreuger J. Functional overlap between chondroitin and heparan sulfate proteoglycans during VEGF-induced sprouting angiogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012, 32(5):1255-63.
- 2. Claesson-Welsh L. Blood vessels as targets in tumor therapy. Ups J Med Sci. 2012, 117(2):178-86.
- Tugues S, Honjo S, König C, Noguer O, Hedlund M, Botling J, Deschoemaeker S, Wenes M, Rolny C, Jahnen-Dechent W, Mazzone M, Claesson-Welsh L. Genetic deficiency in plasma protein HRG enhances tumor growth and metastasis by exacerbating immune escape and vessel abnormalization. Cancer Res. 2012, 72(8):1953-63.
- 4. Sun Z, Li X, Massena S, Kutschera S, Padhan N, Gualandi L, Sundvold-Gjerstad V, Gustafsson K, Choy WW, Zang G, Quach M, Jansson L, Phillipson M, Abid MR, Spurkland A, Claesson-Welsh L. VEGFR2 induces c-Src signaling and vascular permeability in vivo via the adaptor protein TSAd. J Exp Med. 2012, 209(7):1363-77.
- 5. Koch S, Claesson-Welsh L. Signal transduction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012, 2(7):a006502.
- 6. Claesson-Welsh L. Receptor talk and tumor cell walk in glioblastoma. Cancer Cell. 2012, 22(1):1-2.
- 7. Claesson-Welsh L, Welsh M. VEGFA and tumour angiogenesis. J Intern Med. 2013, 273(2):114-27. Review.
- 8. Claesson-Welsh L. Introduction to symposium on vascular biology, metabolism and cancer. J Intern Med. 2013, 273(2):112-3.
- 9. Claesson-Welsh L, Gerhardt H. Introduction to the ECR special angiogenesis issue. Exp Cell Res. 2013 May, 319(9):1239.
- Lanner F, Lee KL, Ortega GC, Sohl M, Li X, Jin S, Hansson EM, Claesson-Welsh L, Poellinger L, Lendahl U, Farnebo F. Hypoxia-induced arterial differentiation requires adrenomedullin and notch signaling. Stem Cells Dev. 2013, 22(9):1360-9.
- Tugues S, Honjo S, König C, Padhan N, Kroon J, Gualandi L, Li X, Barkefors I, Thijssen VL, Griffioen AW, Claesson-Welsh L. Tetraspanin CD63 promotes vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2-β1 integrin complex formation, thereby regulating activation and downstream signaling in endothelial cells in vitro and in vivo. J Biol Chem. 2013, 288(26):19060-71.
- 12. Hayashi M, Majumdar A, Li X, Adler J, Sun Z, Vertuani S, Hellberg C, Mellberg S, Koch S, Dimberg A, Koh GY, Dejana E, Belting HG, Affolter M, Thurston G, Holmgren L, Vestweber D, Claesson-Welsh L. VE-PTP regulates VEGFR2 activity in stalk cells to establish endothelial cell polarity and lumen formation. Nat Commun. 2013, 4:1672.
- 13. Yao LC, Testini C, Tvorogov D, Anisimov A, Vargas SO, Baluk P, Pytowski B, Claesson-Welsh L, Alitalo K, McDonald DM. Pulmonary lymphangiectasia resulting

from vascular endothelial growth factor-C overexpression during a critical period. Circ Res. 2014, 114(5):806-22.

- Koch S, van Meeteren LA, Morin E, Testini C, Weström S, Björkelund H, Le Jan S, Adler J, Berger P, Claesson-Welsh L. NRP1 presented in trans to the endothelium arrests VEGFR2 endocytosis, preventing angiogenic signaling and tumor initiation. Dev Cell. 2014, 28(6):633-46.
- Bentley K, Franco CA, Philippides A, Blanco R, Dierkes M, Gebala V, Stanchi F, Jones M, Aspalter IM, Cagna G, Weström S, Claesson-Welsh L, Vestweber D, Gerhardt H. The role of differential VE-cadherin dynamics in cell rearrangement during angiogenesis. Nat Cell Biol. 2014, 16(4):309-21.
- Tugues S, Roche F, Noguer O, Orlova A, Bhoi S, Padhan N, Akerud P, Honjo S, Selvaraju RK, Mazzone M, Tolmachev V, Claesson-Welsh L. Histidine-rich glycoprotein uptake and turnover is mediated by mononuclear phagocytes. PLoS One. 2014, 9(9):e107483.

# **Tumor Vascular Biology**

#### Anna Dimberg

Blood vessel formation and inflammation are closely linked processes that affect the clinical outcome of several pathological conditions, including cancer. Endothelial cells, lining the inside of vessels, are central players in both these processes. They initiate the formation of new vessels after growth factor stimulation and regulate extravasation of inflammatory cells from the blood stream into the tissue.

Tumor vessels are morphologically and functionally distinct from normal vessels, at least partially as a consequence of ongoing angiogenesis and extensive growth factor stimulation. Proteins specifically expressed in endothelial cells during tumor angiogenesis may constitute new targets for cancer treatment. Importantly, heterogeneous protein expression in tumor endothelium may affect leukocyte recruitment, permeability and establishment of a vascular niche. The focus of our research is to understand how the vasculature affects cancer progression through regulation of the tumor microenvironment.

#### Molecular regulation of vascular abnormalization in glioblastoma

# Lei Zhang, Elise Langenkamp, Hua Huang, Liisi Laaniste, Xavier Catena Parrado, Johan Lööf, and Anna Dimberg

Glioblastoma, the most aggressive type of glioma, are characterized by high mitotic activity, nuclear atypia, microvascular proliferation, hemorrhage and necrosis. The median survival of adult glioblastoma patients is only twelve months. Extensive angiogenesis and markedly abnormal vessels are a hallmark of glioblastoma, leading to enhanced permeability and brain oedema. However, the molecular mechanisms that underlie the extensive morphological and functional changes observed in glioblastoma vasculature are largely unknown.

To identify changes in gene expression in abnormal GBM vessels, we have employed laser capture microdissection to isolate vessels from human GBM, low grade gliomas and normal brain and analyzed gene expression by microarray analysis. We identified 95 genes that are differentially expressed in glioblastoma vessels and found that many of these genes are induced in response to VEGF and/or TGF- $\beta$ , growth factors highly expressed in the tumor microenvironment. We have selected some of the proteins that we found to be highly expressed in glioblastoma vessels and are currently investigating how these contribute to aberrant vascular function and tumor progression in glioblastoma.

Pleiotrophin is a small heparin-binding growth factor that is frequently expressed in human glioblastoma and low grade glioma, but not detectable in normal adult brain tissue. It is considered to be a pro-angiogenic growth factor, but its net effect appears to be context dependent as it can also oppose angiogenesis in some systems. In glioma, pleiotrophin has been shown to affect migration and proliferation of tumor cells that express its receptors. We are currently evaluating the role of pleiotrophin in regulation of tumor angiogenesis in glioblastoma.

#### Cross-talk between pro-angiogenic and pro-inflammatory signalling pathways in the tumor microenvironment and its impact on immunotherapy Hua Huang, Maria Georganaki, Luuk van Hooren, Elise Langenkamp and Anna Dimberg

Tumor growth is significantly affected by recruitment of inflammatory cells. This process is regulated by *endothelial activation*, endothelial up-regulation of adhesion molecules that capture leukocytes and enable slow rolling, firm adhesion and transmigration into the tissue. Pro-angiogenic signalling in the tumor microenvironment affects endothelial activation

through negative crosstalk with pro-inflammatory signalling pathways. Also, the aberrant architecture and blood flow in combination with changes in endothelial gene expression may limit effector lymphocyte recruitment into the tumor.

The success of cancer immunotherapy relies on efficient recruitment of immune cells into the tumor mass. Despite recent breakthroughs, the tumor vasculature still presents a hurdle for infiltrating leukocytes that limits the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy in solid tumors. We are currently investigating how anti-angiogenic therapy affects endothelial gene expression and function, and the possible benefits and pitfalls of combining anti-angiogenic therapy with immunotherapy approaches. The goal is to find new combinatorial therapies for cancer.

#### Group members during 2014

Anna Dimberg, researcher, group leader Xavier Catena Parrado, student Maria Georganaki, PhD student Hua Huang, PhD student Liisi Laaniste, student Elise Langenkamp, post doc Roberta Lugano, post doc Johan Lööf, teaching assistant Luuk van Hooren, PhD student Lei Zhang, PhD student

#### Funding during 2014

Swedish Research Council, 1 000 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 400 kSEK Swedish Childhood Cancer Society, 300 kSEK EU FP7 MC ITN TIMCC, 1 616 kSEK

# Publications 2012-2014

- 1. Dieterich L and Dimberg A. Regulation of angiogenesis by the small heat shock protein  $\alpha$ B-crystallin. Current angiogenesis. 2012, 1:39-45.
- Wallgard E, Nitzsche A, Larsson J, Guo X, Dieterich LC, Dimberg A, Olofsson T, Pontén FC, Mäkinen T, Kalén M, Hellström M. Paladin (X99384) is expressed in the vasculature and shifts from endothelial to vascular smooth muscle cells during mouse development. Dev Dyn. 2012, 241(4):770-86.
- 3. Smits A, Jin Z, Elsir T, Pedder H, Nistér M, Alafuzoff I, Dimberg A, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Aronica E, Birnir B. GABA-A channel subunit expression in human glioma correlates with tumor histology and clinical outcome. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e37041.
- 4. Dimberg LY, Dimberg A, Ivarsson K, Fryknäs M, Rickardson L, Tobin G, Ekman S, Larsson R, Gullberg U, Nilsson K, Öberg F, Wiklund HJ. Stat1 activation attenuates IL-6 induced Stat3 activity but does not alter apoptosis sensitivity in multiple myeloma. BMC Cancer. 2012, 12:318.
- 5. Dieterich LC, Mellberg S, Langenkamp E, Zhang L, Zieba A, Salomäki H, Teichert M, Huang H, Edqvist PH, Kraus T, Augustin HG, Olofsson T, Larsson E, Söderberg O, Molema G, Pontén F, Georgii-Hemming P, Alafuzoff I, Dimberg A. Transcriptional

profiling of human glioblastoma vessels indicates a key role of VEGF-A and TGF $\beta$ 2 in vascular abnormalization. J Pathol. 2012, 228(3):378-90.

- Dieterich LC, Schiller P, Huang H, Wawrousek EF, Loskog A, Wanders A, Moons L, Dimberg A. αB-Crystallin regulates expansion of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>+</sup> immature myeloid cells during tumor progression. FASEB J. 2013, 27(1):151-62.
- Hayashi M, Majumdar A, Li X, Adler J, Sun Z, Vertuani S, Hellberg C, Mellberg S, Koch S, Dimberg A, Koh GY, Dejana E, Belting HG, Affolter M, Thurston G, Holmgren L, Vestweber D, Claesson-Welsh L. VE-PTP regulates VEGFR2 activity in stalk cells to establish endothelial cell polarity and lumen formation. Nat Commun. 2013, 4:1672.
- Dieterich LC, Huang H, Massena S, Golenhofen N, Phillipson M, Dimberg A. αBcrystallin/HspB5 regulates endothelial-leukocyte interactions by enhancing NF-κBinduced up-regulation of adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1 and E-selectin. Angiogenesis. 2013, 16(4):975-83.
- 9. Popova SN, Bergqvist M, Dimberg A, Edqvist PH, Ekman S, Hesselager G, Ponten F, Smits A, Sooman L, Alafuzoff I. Subtyping of gliomas of various WHO grades by the application of immunohistochemistry. Histopathology. 2014, 64(3):365-79.
- Liljenfeldt L, Dieterich LC, Dimberg A, Mangsbo SM, Loskog AS. CD40L gene therapy tilts the myeloid cell profile and promotes infiltration of activated T lymphocytes. Cancer Gene Ther. 2014, 21(3):95-102.
- 11. Dimberg A and Sund M. Cancer angiogenesis and vasculogenesis. Pathobiology of Human Disease: A Dynamic Encyclopedia of Disease Mechanisms 1908. 2014.
- 12. Dimberg A. The glioblastoma vasculature as a target for cancer therapy. Biochem Soc Trans. 2014, 42(6):1647-52.
- Femel J, Huijbers EJ, Saupe F, Cedervall J, Zhang L, Roswall P, Larsson E, Olofsson H, Pietras K, Dimberg A, Hellman L, Olsson AK. Therapeutic vaccination against fibronectin ED-A attenuates progression of metastatic breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2014, 5(23):12418-27.
- Huang H, Langenkamp E, Georganaki M, Loskog A, Fuchs PF, Dieterich LC, Kreuger J, Dimberg A. VEGF suppresses T-lymphocyte infiltration in the tumor microenvironment through inhibition of NF-κB-induced endothelial activation. FASEB J. 2015 Jan;29(1):227-38. Epub 2014 Oct 31.

# **Neural Stem Cells and Brain Tumors**

### Karin Forsberg Nilsson

The overall goal of our research is an improved treatment of malignant brain tumors, in particular glioblastoma and medulloblastoma. In our projects we incorporate experience of neural stem cells with glioma biology, leveraging the close relationship between these two fields. We also investigate the neuro-inflammatory responses to traumatic brain injury and brain tumors. The main aims are:

- To establish how interactions between tumor cells and the extracellular matrix influence glioma development and stem cell differentiation
- Modeling glioma *in vitro* and exploring novel regulators of tumor formation

Some projects in the group focus on the role of mast cells in brain tumors.

# Extracellular matrix interactions of importance for brain tumor formation and neural development

# Soumi Kundu, Anqi Xiong, Grzegorz Wicher, Annika Hermansson, Argyris Spyrou and Lulu Rama Haseeb, Yuyuan Xiong, Misbah Riaz

The focus of this project is the "brain tumor niche" that allows tumor cells to detach from the original site, remodel the extracellular matrix (ECM) and migrate to seed new tumors that ultimately leads to death of the patient. Based on our increased understanding of the biochemical and molecular determinants of brain tumor invasion, new drug targets in the glioma microenvironment could be identified.

Heparan sulfate (HS) proteoglycans are main components of the ECM where they interact with a large number of physiologically important macromolecules, thereby influencing biological processes. HS modulate growth factor activities, and we have shown a vital role for HS in formation of the neural lineage (Forsberg et al., 2012). The major enzymatic activity degrading HS is heparanse. In this project we address HS proteoglycan biosynthesis and degradation in clinical brain tumor samples, human glioma and medulloblastoma cell culture as well as mouse and human models of glioma and medulloblastoma. We found that high heparanase expression is correlated to an enhanced tumor growth, both in teratoma and brain tumors. We aim to clarify the mechanism of heparanase activation in the enhancement of tumor growth. Furthermore, we examine the role for heparanase in neural differentiation.

#### Human glioma cell cultures as a new experimental platform

#### Grzegorz Wicher, Annika Hermansson, Argyris Spyrou, Lulu Rama Haseeb

Basic cancer research, including preclinical tumor models and testing of candidate drugs needs optimized in vitro models that better reflect the patient's disease. There are major challenges in generating model systems at the scale necessary to demonstrate patient tumor heterogeneity. The availability of "tumor stem cell" culture techniques has opened the possibility to create well-characterized human tumor cell cultures. However, to establish these experimental tools requires simultaneous access to the technical know-how of culturing and analyzing cancer cells, and a systematic biobanking pipeline of patient tissue combined with clinical data acquisition. All these parameters are now in place at the Rudbeck Laboratory through a collaborative effort between K. Forsberg Nilsson, L. Uhrbom, B. Westermark, and S. Nelander, clinical collaborators G. Hesselager and I. Alafuzoff, Uppsala University Hospital and the U-CAN project (www.u-can.uu.se). In our recently published study (Kitambi et al, 2014) these cell lines were screened to identify cellular processes amendable for

development of targeted treatments. This is the first example of how the new platform can be used successfully towards novel therapeutic opportunities.

# Investigating regulators for brain tumors and neural stem cells

#### Anqi Xiong

We previously reported that malignant brain tumors and neural stem cells share a common transcriptional signature (Demoulin et al, 2006) and selected the pseudokinase nuclear receptor binding protein 2 (NRBP2), for further study because of the high level of regulation (Larsson et al, 2008). Pseudokinases have high sequence similarity to mechanistically validated enzymes, but are devoid of the catalytic activity (NRBP2 lacks 7 out of 15 residues of the kinase domain) and are now increasingly viewed as components of signaling pathways. We are now working to identify the function of NRBP2 and its role in brain tumor development.

# The role of IL-33 in development, brain injury and brain tumors

# Grzegorz Wicher, Anastasia Magoulopoulou,

IL-33 has important functions in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases (Enoksson et al, 2013). Little is known, however, about IL-33 in brain development, injury and brain tumors. Our data suggest that IL-33 expression is under tight regulation in the normal brain but can be triggered by injury. Its detection during the first three weeks of postnatal life coincides with important parts of the CNS developmental programs, and opens the possibility of IL-33 involvement in normal developmental processes (Wicher et al, 2013). De novo expression of IL-33 after injury suggests involvement of this alarmin in the neuro inflammatory response. A high level of expression in glioma samples implies a role in tumor development and progression.

# The role of mast cells in gliomagenesis

#### Elena Chugunova, Ananya Roy, Anna Sjösten

Human cancers maintain a complex inflammatory program triggering rapid recruitment of inflammatory cells, including mast cells (MCs), to the tumor site. MCs are crucial players in various inflammatory conditions, including cancer. The potential contribution of MCs in glioma has not been addressed previously.

Just recently we have expanded our understanding of the role of inflammation in gliomas by showing, for the first time, that MCs infiltrate mouse and human glioma, and that the extent of MC infiltration, both in mouse and human gliomas, shows a strong positive correlation with the malignancy grade of the tumor.

Considering novel data it becomes increasingly important to thoroughly elucidate new trends in interactions between MCs and glioma. i) The revealing of pro- or antitumorigenic role of MCs upon glioma development and presumably opposing MC functions depending on glioma grade. ii) The determination of conditions at which glioma cells cause the potential functional switch in MCs and iii) To what extent the parallels can be made between the well-defined mouse model and poorly understood human condition.

# Glioma Derived Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) Regulates the Recruitment of LRP1 Positive Mast Cells

# Elena Chugunova, Ananya Roy, Antoine Coum

Here we investigated the role of plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1), previously identified by us as a glioma secreted candidate, to MC recruitment.

PAI-1 is a primary regulator in plasminogen-plasmin or fibrinolytic system. It is capable of forming complex with fibrinolytic system proteins together with low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1). Our study demonstrated the expression of LRP1 in LAD2 cells as well as revealed the presence of LRP1 in MCs in human high-grade glioma tissue. The activation of potential PAI-1/LRP1 axis with purified PAI-1 promoted increased phosphorylation of STAT3 and subsequently exocytosis in MCs.

In conclusion, these findings indicate the important influence of PAI-1/LRP1 axis on the recruitment of MCs in gliomas, suggesting that this information could be used to improve patient stratification in future therapeutic trials.

#### Mast cell contribution to brain metastasis

#### Elena Chugunova, Ananya Roy, Ida Gustavsson

Brain metastases are becoming an important problem because of the progressive neurological disability and the lack of effective treatment due to the unique structure of the blood-brainbarrier (BBB). Recent studies in this field point towards a link between the immune system and metastases pathogenesis but many aspects still need to be investigated. In order to clarify the role of MCs and other immune cells in brain metastasis we aim to understand the mechanisms underlying the MC-brain metastatic cell interactions and identify key factors regulating these interactions.

Our preliminary data, for the first time, demonstrated the abundant accumulation of MCs in human brain metastases originated from different primary tumors (lung, prostate, kidney, ovarian and rectum). We expect MCs to contribute to the expansion of angiogenesis within brain metastases with specific addressing the role for MC proteases in this process. We plan to investigate MC-brain metastases cell interaction (*in vitro* studies), early stages of brain metastasis development (*in vivo* studies), as well as gather clinical data by exploring patient brain metastases samples and corresponding primary tumors. Our final goal is to reveal the correlation in these studies and support it with mechanistic findings.

#### Group members during 2014

Karin Forsberg Nilsson, professor, group leader Annika Hermansson, research engineer Suomi Kundu, Researcher Anastasia Magoulopoulou, student Lulu Rahma Adil Haseeb, PhD student Misbah Riaz, student Argyris Spyrou, PhD student Grzegorz Wicher, Researcher Anqi Xiong, PhD student Yuyuan Xiong, student

#### Group member establishing independent research

<u>Elena Chugunova</u>, researcher Ida Gustavsson, student Ananya Roy, researcher Anna Sjösten, PhD student
## Funding during 2014

Karin Forsberg Nilsson Swedish Research Council, 700 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 500 kSEK Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, 400 kSEK

Elena Chugunova Swedish Research Council, 1 195 kSEK (incl. funding for E Chugunova's position)

- 1. Forsberg M, Holmborn K, Kundu S, Dagälv A, Kjellén L, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Undersulfation of heparan sulfate restricts differentiation potential of mouse embryonic stem cells. J Biol Chem. 2012, 287(14):10853-62.
- 2. Wallenquist U, Holmqvist K, Hånell A, Marklund N, Hillered L, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Ibuprofen attenuates the inflammatory response and allows formation of migratory neuroblasts from grafted stem cells after traumatic brain injury. Restor Neurol Neurosci. 2012, 30(1):9-19.
- 3. Bergström T, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Neural stem cells: brain building blocks and beyond. Ups J Med Sci. 2012, 117(2):132-42.
- 4. Edqvist PH, Niklasson M, Vidal-Sanz M, Hallböök F, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Plateletderived growth factor over-expression in retinal progenitors results in abnormal retinal vessel formation. PLoS One. 2012;7(8):e42488.
- 5. Arthur-Farraj PJ, Latouche M, Wilton DK, Quintes S, Chabrol E, Banerjee A, Woodhoo A, Jenkins B, Rahman M, Turmaine M, Wicher GK, Mitter R, Greensmith L, Behrens A, Raivich G, Mirsky R, Jessen KR. c-Jun Reprograms Schwann Cells of Injured Nerves to Generate a Repair Cell Essential for Regeneration. Neuron. 2012, 75(4):633-47.
- 6. Wicher G., Holmqvist K., Forsberg-Nilsson K., Chapter 17: Common denominators of self-renewal and malignancy in neural stem cells and glioma. Stem Cells and Human Diseases Springer. 2012, 387-418.
- 7. Enoksson M, Möller-Westerberg C, Wicher G, Fallon PG, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Lunderius-Andersson C, Nilsson G. Intraperitoneal influx of neutrophils in response to IL-33 is mast cell-dependent. Blood. 2013, 121(3):530-6.
- Yu D, Jin C, Ramachandran M, Xu J, Nilsson B, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K, Uhrbom L, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Adamson R, Maitland N, Fan X, Essand M. Adenovirus serotype 5 vectors with Tat-PTD modified hexon and serotype 35 fiber show greatly enhanced transduction capacity of primary cell cultures. PLoS One. 2013, 8(1):e54952.
- Schmidt L, Kling T, Monsefi N, Olsson M, Hansson C, Baskaran S, Lundgren B, Martens U, Häggblad M, Westermark B, Forsberg Nilsson K, Uhrbom L, Karlsson-Lindahl L, Gerlee P, Nelander S. Comparative drug pair screening across multiple glioblastoma cell lines reveals novel drug-drug interactions. Neuro Oncol. 2013, 15(11):1469-78.
- Savary K, Caglayan D, Caja L, Tzavlaki K, Bin Nayeem S, Bergström T, Jiang Y, Uhrbom L, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Heldin CH, Ferletta M, Moustakas A. Snail depletes the tumorigenic potential of glioblastoma. Oncogene. 2013, 32(47):5409-20.

- 11. Wicher G, Husic E, Nilsson G, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Developmental expression of IL-33 in the mouse brain. Neurosci Lett. 2013, 555:171-6.
- 12. Grujic M, Calounova G, Eriksson I, Feyerabend T, Rodewald H.-R, Lee DM, Tchougounova E. Kjellen L, Pejler G. Distorted secretory granule composition in mast cells with multiple protease deficiency. J Immunol. 2013, 191, 3931-3938.
- Põlajeva J, Bergström T, Edqvist PH, Lundequist A, Sjösten A, Nilsson G, Smits A, Bergqvist M, Pontén F, Westermark B, Pejler G, Forsberg Nilsson K, Tchougounova E. Glioma-derived macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) promotes mast cell recruitment in a STAT5-dependent manner. Mol Oncol. 2014, 8(1):50-8.
- 14. Vulnerability of glioblastoma cells to catastrophic vacuolization and death induced by a small Kitambi SS, Toledo EM, Usoskin D, Wee S, Harisankar A, Svensson R, Sigmundsson K, Kalderén C, Niklasson M, Kundu S, Aranda S, Westermark B, Uhrbom L, Andäng M, Damberg P, Nelander S, Arenas E, Artursson P, Walfridsson J, Forsberg Nilsson K, Hammarström LG, Ernfors P. molecule. Cell. 2014, 157(2):313-28.
- 15. Bergström T, Holmqvist K, Tararuk T, Johansson S, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Developmentally regulated collagen/integrin interactions confer adhesive properties to early postnatal neural stem cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014, 1840(8):2526-32.
- 16. Carneiro M, Rubin CJ, Di Palma F, Albert FW, Alföldi J, Barrio AM, Pielberg G, Rafati N, Sayyab S, Turner-Maier J, Younis S, Afonso S, Aken B, Alves JM, Barrell D, Bolet G, Boucher S, Burbano HA, Campos R, Chang JL, Duranthon V, Fontanesi L, Garreau H, Heiman D, Johnson J, Mage RG, Peng Z, Queney G, Rogel-Gaillard C, Ruffier M, Searle S, Villafuerte R, Xiong A, Young S, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Good JM, Lander ES, Ferrand N, Lindblad-Toh K, Andersson L. Rabbit genome analysis reveals a polygenic basis for phenotypic change during domestication. Science. 2014, 345(6200):1074-9.
- 17. Xiong A, Kundu S, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Heparan sulfate in the regulation of neural differentiation and glioma development. FEBS J. 2014, 281(22):4993-5008. Review.
- Wee S, Niklasson M, Marinescu VD, Segerman A, Schmidt L, Hermansson A, Dirks P, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Uhrbom L, Linnarsson S, Nelander S, Andäng M. Selective calcium sensitivity in immature glioma cancer stem cells. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e115698.
- Babateen O, Jin Z, Bhandage A, Korol SV, Westermark B, Forsberg Nilsson K, Uhrbom L, Smits A, Birnir B. Etomidate, propofol and diazepam potentiate GABA-evoked GABAA currents in a cell line derived from human glioblastoma. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015 Feb 5;748:101-7. Epub 2014 Dec 12.
- 20. Sooman L, Freyhult E, Jaiswal A, Navani S, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Tchougounova E, Smits A, Elsir T, Gullbo J, Lennartsson J, Bergqvist M, Ekman S. FGF2 as a potential prognostic biomarker for proneural glioma patients. Acta Oncol. 2015 Mar;54(3):385-94. Epub 2014 Sep 29.

### **Characterization of Novel Regulators of Blood Vessel Formation**

#### Mats Hellström

In recent years scientists have clarified how important the formation of new blood vessels is in various diseases. Despite this fact, there is still a lack of knowledge about the signalling pathways that regulate blood vessel formation and only a few blood vessel-specific drugs have been developed.

Our research focuses on finding signalling components that are specific for endothelial cells, the cells that line the inner walls of blood vessels. We have identified several possible candidates and one of these, called paladin, we have analysed in more detail. We have shown that mice that lack paladin have altered blood vessels in the retina, and we are studying the role of paladin in tumour development. Paladin belongs to a group of proteins that are commonly involved in cell signalling. We hope that our results will contribute to an increased understanding of signalling during the formation of new blood vessels in tumours.

#### **Characterization of Novel Regulators of Blood Vessel Formation**

#### Isabel Egana, Anja Nitzsche, Chiara Testini

Although the importance of angiogenesis in pathological conditions is well established few blood vessel-specific drug targets have been identified and information is still limited about endothelial-specific molecular pathways. Hence, there is a great need to better characterize the process in order to provide new ideas for improved and novel therapies.

In the search for endothelial-specific regulators we have used several approaches, including expression profiling of mouse vasculature and other mouse tissues, zebrafish gene knock down, and screening of drug-like compounds in human cellular assays. This led to the identification of several new regulators of angiogenesis, including kiaa1274/x99384/Pald1 (or Paladin), a putative cytoplasmic S/T/Y phosphatase. Paladin is one of the first examples of a cytoplasmic, potential phosphatase with an endothelial-specific expression.

We have generated a mouse knock-out for *Paladin* with a functional  $\beta$ -galactosidase reporter, verifying endothelial specificity in many mouse tissues. We have characterized the expression pattern of mouse and human Paladin during development and in cancer tissue. Paladin is preferentially expressed in the vasculature and shows a dynamic expression pattern changing from expression in capillaries and veins during development, to vascular smooth muscle cells in arteries in the adult organs. The knock-out mice are viable and fertile. Our preliminary data show that Paladin knock-outs display increased vascular density in the postnatal retina. We plan to further study vascularization of normal tissues as well as tumors. We will also perform comprehensive biochemical and signal transduction analyses *in vitro*, including over-expression and siRNA knock down of *Pald1*.

Kinases belong to an important drug target class in oncology, which strongly suggests that our studies on *Pald1* will contribute to the understanding of kinase/phosphatase signaling in general and angiogenesis/tumor angiogenesis in particular.

#### Group members during 2014

Mats Hellström, researcher, group leader Isabel Egaña, post doc Anja Nitzsche, PhD student Chiara Testini, PhD student

## Funding during 2014

Swedish Cancer Society, 800 kSEK

- Wallgard E, Nitzsche A, Larsson J, Guo X, Dieterich LC, Dimberg A, Olofsson T, Pontén FC, Mäkinen T, Kalén M, Hellström M. Paladin (X99384) is expressed in the vasculature and shifts from endothelial to vascular smooth muscle cells during mouse development. Dev Dyn. 2012, 241(4):770-86.
- Gaengel K, Niaudet C, Hagikura K, Laviña B, Muhl L, Hofmann JJ, Ebarasi L, Nyström S, Rymo S, Chen LL, Pang MF, Jin Y, Raschperger E, Roswall P, Schulte D, Benedito R, Larsson J, Hellström M, Fuxe J, Uhlén P, Adams R, Jakobsson L, Majumdar A, Vestweber D, Uv A, Betsholtz C. The sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor S1PR1 restricts sprouting angiogenesis by regulating the interplay between VE-cadherin and VEGFR2. Dev Cell. 2012, 23(3):587-99.
- 3. Benedito R, Hellström M. Notch as a hub for signaling in angiogenesis. Exp Cell Res. 2013, 319(9):1281-8. Review.
- 4. Improving Pancreatic Islet Engraftment after Islet Transplantation through Administration of Gamma-Secretase Inhibitor DAPT. Hjelmqvist D, Hellström M and Lau J. J Endo and Diabetes Mellitus, 2014 July, 2 (2): 65-69
- 5. Endothelial cell spheroids as a versatile tool to study angiogenesis in vitro. Heiss M, Hellström M, Kalén M, May T, Weber H, Hecker M, Augustin HG and Korff T, FASEB J. 2015 Apr 9.

# **Regulation of lymphatic vasculature**

### Taija Mäkinen

Lymphatic vasculature constitutes a network of vessels critical for the maintenance of the body's fluid balance. Failure of the lymphatic vessels can lead to a disabling disease called lymphoedema for which there is no cure or effective treatment. Recent studies have revealed important new roles of lymphatic vasculature in inflammation, immunity, lipid metabolism, blood pressure regulation and cancer metastasis. Understanding mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis may thus enable development of new therapies for common diseases that affect a large number of people worldwide.

Our laboratory aims to understand, at the molecular level but in the context of a living organism, the regulation of lymphatic vascular morphogenesis. We utilise and develop advanced mouse genetic tools to spatially and temporally control expression of genes in specific cell types of interest. By identifying and functionally characterising genes causative of hereditary lymphoedema we additionally aim to uncover mechanisms of vascular development that are directly relevant to human pathology.

# Organ- and vessel-type –specific mechanisms of lymphatic development Lukas Stanczuk, Ines Martinez-Corral, Maria Ulvmar, Yang Zhang, Henrik Ortsäter

The lymphatic system is composed of a hierarchy of vessels with specific features serving their unique functions: the blind-ended lymphatic capillaries that absorb the interstitial fluid and the collecting lymphatic vessels that transport the lymph to the cardiovascular system. Failure of the lymphatic vessels, caused by a genetic defect (primary) or damage following surgery or radiation therapy (secondary) can lead to lymphoedema, which is a progressive and lifelong condition characterised by gross swelling of the affected tissue. Notably, several primary lymphoedemas are characterised by defects that affect specifically either the collecting vessels or the capillaries. In addition, specific area(s) of the body are affected in different types of lymphoedemas. What underlies tissue-specific vessel failure is not understood yet this knowledge is instrumental in designing therapeutic strategies for lymphoedema and other lymphatic disorders that are currently lacking. In this project we will identify genes and mechanisms required for organ-specific lymphatic vascular development by characterising the features of specific lymphatic vascular beds, and by identifying and functionally characterising genes regulating lymphatic development in an organ- and/or vessel-type specific manner using genetic mouse models.

# Functional characterisation of causative genes for human primary lymphoedema

#### Ines Martinez-Corral, Andrea Taddei (London), Maike Frye

Recently gained insights into mechanisms of lymphangiogenesis have been driven by the characterisation of animal models with specific lymphatic defects, and identification of genes causative of human primary lymphoedemas. In collaboration with Steve Jeffery, Peter Mortimer and their teams at St George's Hospital in London, we have recently identified *GATA2* and *KIF11* as two novel causative genes for primary lymphoedema by whole-exome sequencing. We are currently investigating the biological function of *GATA2* and *KIF11* in lymphatic development by combining state-of-the-art mouse genetics with in vitro studies on primary lymphatic endothelial cells. The results from this project are expected to increase our understanding of normal lymphatic development and pathophysiological mechanisms involved in lymphoedema and other lymphatic disorders.

### Group members during 2014

Taija Mäkinen, senior lecturer, group leader Maike Frye, post doc Ines Martinez-Corral, researcher Henrik Ortsäter, research engineer Lukas Stanczuk, researcher Maria Ulvmar, researcher Andrea Taddei (post doc, Cancer Research UK London Research Institute) Yang Zhang, PhD student

#### Funding during 2014

Swdish Research Council, 1 000 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 1 250 kSEK Beijer Foundation, 1 000 kSEK Medical Faculty, 500 kSEK

#### Publications 2012-2014

(The group came to IGP in 2013 and some papers have therefore not been published with IGP as affiliation)

- Ostergaard P, Simpson MA, Mendola A, Vasudevan P, Connell FC, van Impel A, Moore AT, Loeys BL, Ghalamkarpour A, Onoufriadis A, Martinez-Corral I, Devery S, Leroy JG, van Laer L, Singer A, Bialer MG, McEntagart M, Quarrell O, Brice G, Trembath RC, Schulte-Merker S, Makinen T, Vikkula M, Mortimer PS, Mansour S, Jeffery S. Mutations in KIF11 cause autosomal dominant microcephaly variably associated with congenital lymphedema and chorioretinopathy. Am J Hum Gen. 2012, 90:356-62.
- Sabine A, Agalarov Y, Maby-El Hajjami H, Jaquet M, Hägerling R, Pollmann C, Bebber D, Pfenniger A, Miura N, Dormond O, Calmes JM, Adams RH, Mäkinen T, Kiefer F, Kwak BR, Petrova TV. PROX1, FOXC2, and mechanotransduction cooperate to control Connexin37 and Calcineurin during lymphatic-valve formation. Dev Cell. 2012, 22:430-45.
- Wallgard E, Nitzsche A, Larsson J, Guo X, Dietrich LC, Dimberg A, Olofsson T, Ponten FC, Mäkinen T, Kalen M, Hellström M. Paladin (X99384) is expressed in the vasculature and shifts from endothelial to vascular smooth muscle cells during mouse development. Dev Dyn. 2012, 241:770-86.
- 4. Chen CY, Bertozzi C, Zou Z, Yuan L, Lee JS, Lu M, Stachelek SJ, Srinivasa S, Guo L, Vicente A, Mericko P, Levy RJ, Makinen T, Oliver G, Kahn ML. Blood flow reprograms lymphatic vessels to blood vessels. J Clin Invest. 2012, 122:2006-17.
- 5. Lutter S, Xie S, Tatin F, Makinen T. Smooth muscle-endothelial cell communication activates Reelin signaling and regulates lymphatic vessel formation. J Cell Biol. 2012, 197:837-49.
- 6. Nikitenko LL, Shimosawa T, Henderson S, Mäkinen T, Shimosawa H, Qureshi U, Pedley B, Rees MCP, Fujita T and Boshoff C. Adrenomedullin Haploinsufficiency Predisposes to Secondary Lymphedema. J Invest Dermat. 2013, 133:1768-76.
- 7. Tatin F, Taddei A, Weston A, Fuchs E, Devenport D, Tissir F, Makinen T. Planar cell polarity protein Celsr1 regulates endothelial adherens junctions and directed cell rearrangements during lymphatic valve morphogenesis. Dev Cell. 2013. 15:31-44.

- 8. Bazigou E, Makinen T. Flow control in our vessels: vascular valves make sure there is no way back. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2013, 70, 1055-1066.
- Martinez-Corral I, Makinen T. Regulation of lymphatic vascular morphogenesis: Implications for pathological (tumor) lymphangiogenesis. Exp Cell Res. 2013, 319:1618-1625.
- 10. Lutter S, Makinen T. Regulation of lymphatic vasculature by extracellular matrix. Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol. 2014, 214:55-65. Review.
- 11. Hess PR, Rawnsley DR, Jakus Z, Yang Y, Sweet DT, Fu J, Herzog B, Lu M, Nieswandt B, Oliver G, Makinen T, Xia L, Kahn ML. Platelets mediate lymphovenous hemostasis to maintain blood-lymphatic separation throughout life. J Clin Invest. 2014, 124(1):273-84.
- Aspelund A, Tammela T, Antila S, Nurmi H, Leppänen VM, Zarkada G, Stanczuk L, Francois M, Mäkinen T, Saharinen P, Immonen I, Alitalo K. The Schlemm's canal is a VEGF-C/VEGFR-3-responsive lymphatic-like vessel. J Clin Invest. 2014, 124(9):3975-86.
- Park DY, Lee J, Park I, Choi D, Lee S, Song S, Hwang Y, Hong KY, Nakaoka Y, Makinen T, Kim P, Alitalo K, Hong YK, Koh GY. Lymphatic regulator PROX1 determines Schlemm's canal integrity and identity. J Clin Invest. 2014, 124(9):3960-74.

## New strategies to understand and target brain cancer

#### Sven Nelander

The group develops new, systems biology based strategies to chart the molecular networks that cause cancer. The goals are to understand the importance of regulatory changes in cancer cells and to guide the development of new anticancer therapies, tailored to target specific vulnerabilities in the individual patient.

We mainly focus on the brain tumor glioblastoma, which affects more than 10,000 Europeans every year. We are developing a unique platform to study the cancer stem cell (CSC) population of these tumors. CSCs represent a small fraction of cancer cells that play a crucial role in disease progression and recurrence.

Using a Swedish collection of more than 100 patient-specific CSC cultures, we are applying high resolution molecular profiling, computer modeling and cell experiments using microfluidic technology, which enables us to track complex cellular responses to drugs.

We also develop new computational tools and resources for cancer research, such as EPoC and the new resource Cancerlandscapes.

# High resolution molecular mapping and functional biology of brain tumor stem cell lines

#### Linnéa Schmidt, Sathishkumar Baskaran, Santhanam Kulasekara, Voichita Marinescu, Ludmila Elfineh

In this project, we develop systems biology strategies for the targeting of cancer stem cells (CSCs) in individual patients suffering from glioblastoma. CSCs are crucial for the maintenance and progression of these cancers, but the systems-scale characterization of CSCs has so far been limited by the lack of relevant model systems for large-scale functional studies. Our project takes advantage of the Human Glioma Cell Culture—HGCC biobank, a world-unique clinical material that comprises an extensive collection of early-passage glioblastoma CSC cultures derived from more than a hundred consecutive patient cases at Uppsala University Hospital during 2012-2014.

Unlike the classical cell lines used in the field today, the HGCC lines (i) have the defining characteristics of CSCs (expression of neural stem cell markers, sphere formation and tumor initiating capacity), (ii) are collected in a consistent manner in the same institute, and linked to the excellent Swedish clinical registries; and, (iii) are cultured in defined, serum free medium for a short period of time. Our effort involves several coordinated activities:

- Systematic testing of HGCC line vulnerabilities at the SciLifeLab facilities
- Development of computational models to predict the vulnerability of each cell line
- Using state of the art mouse models to evaluate therapeutic strategies

The work is highly inter-disciplinary and involves collaborations with the IGP neurooncology groups (Uhrbom, Forsberg-Nilsson, Westermark), SciLifeLab screening and imaging platforms (Thomas Helleday, Bo Lundgren, Carolina Wählby), as well as international partners (Stella Carro, Freiburg).

# Computational strategies to understand the molecular diversity of human cancers

#### Patrik Johansson, Teresia Kling, José Sanchez, Rebecka Jörnsten

A major challenge in current cancer research is to gain biological insight from large scale molecular data from patient samples. In this project, we invent new mathematical methods to construct regulatory maps of individual cancer diagnoses. Our system uses data from both

public sources and from IGP/SciLifeLab and is implemented on national computing infrastructure (UPPMAX and C3SE). The results are made available on a new web resource, Cancerlandscapes, which will open soon. A unique feature of Cancerlandscapes is that very complex data become available in an intuitive form, which lab biologists can use to design experiments.

## Group members during 2014

Sven Nelander, Associate Professor, group leader Satishkumar Baskaran, PhD student Ludmila Elfineh, research engineer Evgenia Gubanova, post doc Lukasz Huminiecki, researcher Patrik Johansson, PhD student Marianne Kastemar, technician Cecilia Krona, researcher Ingrid Lönnstedt, researcher Torbjörn Nordling, research assistant Linnea Schmidt, researcher

Part of the group is working in Gothenburg Teresia Kling, PhD student

## Funding during 2014

Swedish Cancer Society, 3 000 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 4 500 kSEK Swedish Childhood Cacner Foundation, 1 350 kSEK

- 1. Abenius T, Jörnsten R, Kling T, Schmidt L, Sánchez J, Nelander S. System-scale network modeling of cancer using EPoC. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2012;736:617-43.
- 2. Persson M, Andrén Y, Moskaluk CA, Frierson HF Jr, Cooke SL, Futreal PA, Kling T, Nelander S, Nordkvist A, Persson F, Stenman G. Clinically significant copy number alterations and complex rearrangements of MYB and NFIB in head and neck adenoid cystic carcinoma. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2012, 51(8):805-17.
- 3. Gerlee P, Nelander S. The impact of phenotypic switching on glioblastoma growth and invasion. PLoS Comput Biol. 2012;8(6):e1002556.
- 4. Gerlee P, Schmidt L, Monsefi N, Kling T, Jörnsten R, Nelander S. Searching for synergies: matrix algebraic approaches for efficient pair screening. PLoS One. 2013, 8(7):e68598.
- Schmidt L, Kling T, Monsefi N, Olsson M, Hansson C, Baskaran S, Lundgren B, Martens U, Häggblad M, Westermark B, Forsberg Nilsson K, Uhrbom L, Karlsson-Lindahl L, Gerlee P, Nelander S. Comparative drug pair screening across multiple glioblastoma cell lines reveals novel drug-drug interactions. Neuro Oncol. 2013, 15(11):1469-78
- 6. Weinstein JN, Collisson EA, Mills GB et al. incl. Nelander\* S, Johansson P, Jörnsten R, Kling T, Sanchez J. Weinstein JN, Collisson EA, Mills GB, Shaw KR, Ozenberger BA,

Ellrott K, Shmulevich I, Sander C, Stuart JM. 'The Cancer Genome Atlas Pan-Cancer analysis project.' Nat Genet. 2013, 45(10):1113-20. (\* Published in the role of TCGA collaborator)

- 7. Kitambi SS, Toledo EM, Usoskin D, Wee S, Harisankar A, Svensson R, Sigmundsson K, Kalderén C, Niklasson M, Kundu S, Aranda S, Westermark B, Uhrbom L, Andäng M, Damberg P, Nelander S, Arenas E, Artursson P, Walfridsson J, Forsberg Nilsson K, Hammarström LG, Ernfors P. Vulnerability of glioblastoma cells to catastrophic vacuolization and death induced by a small molecule. Cell. 2014, 157(2):313-28.
- 8. Studham ME, Tjärnberg A, Nordling TE, Nelander S, Sonnhammer EL. Functional association networks as priors for gene regulatory network inference. Bioinformatics. 2014, 30(12):i130-8.
- 9. Cvijovic M, Almquist J, Hagmar J, Hohmann S, Kaltenbach HM, Klipp E, Krantz M, Mendes P, Nelander S, Nielsen J, Pagnani A, Przulj N, Raue A, Stelling J, Stoma S, Tobin F, Wodke JA, Zecchina R, Jirstrand M. Bridging the gaps in systems biology. Mol Genet Genomics. 2014, 289(5):727-34. Review.
- Wee S, Niklasson M, Marinescu VD, Segerman A, Schmidt L, Hermansson A, Dirks P, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Uhrbom L, Linnarsson S, Nelander S, Andäng M. Selective calcium sensitivity in immature glioma cancer stem cells. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e115698.
- Tjärnberg A, Nordling TE, Studham M, Nelander S, Sonnhammer EL. Avoiding pitfalls in L1-regularised inference of gene networks. Mol Biosyst. 2015 Jan;11(1):287-96. Epub 2014 Nov 7.

# **Development of Childhood Brain Tumors and Targeting of MYC Proteins**

### **Fredrik Swartling**

MYC proteins (like MYC or MYCN) are transcription factors and potent mitogens with essential roles in normal brain development. Misexpression of MYC proteins occurs frequently in medulloblastoma, the most common malignant childhood brain tumor of the hindbrain. *MYC* or *MYCN* amplifications in medulloblastoma are strongly correlated with poor prognosis suggesting MYC proteins are clinically relevant targets for brain tumor therapy. MYC proteins are also overexpressed in glioma, adult malignant brain tumors of the forebrain.

Our research group is exploring how MYC proteins are stabilized in malignant brain tumors with a focus on identifying cells of tumor origin as well as understanding critical signaling pathways and new treatments for MYC/MYCN-driven brain tumors. We have generated clinically relevant models for MYCN-driven brain tumors and we also study a large number of primary cell lines obtained from childhood brain tumor patients.

## In search for the cellular origin of MYCN-driven medulloblastoma Sara Bolin, Holger Weishaupt and Fredrik Swartling

We recently showed that MYCN could generate tumors from a glutamate transporter (GLT1) promoter in a transgenic inducible model (GTML) of medulloblastoma (Swartling et al. Genes & Dev., 2010). By mapping cellular fate we found that GLT1-positive neural stem cells (NSCs) represent putative cells of brain tumor origin. GTML mice generate aggressive medulloblastoma after about 3-6 months. Before tumor onset we found significantly more proliferating cells in thalamic forebrain cells and of cerebellar Bergmann glia as compared to controls. Currently we study cellular fate using the promoter for the glial cell marker BLBP as well as retroviral tagging with the RCAS/tv-a system to understand how tumors develop. We are also isolating putative cells of tumor origin using laser-capture microdissection. Detailed bioinformatic analysis of expression profiles of laser-captured cells or distinct brain regions are now being compared in order to reveal the cellular origin for these malignancies.

# FBW7 regulates MYCN protein stabilization during brain tumor formation Sanna-Maria Hede, Vasil Savov and Fredrik Swartling

Medulloblastoma can be divided into four distinct molecular subtypes (WNT, SHH, Group 3 and Group 4). Group 3 and 4 medulloblastoma often show amplifications of MYC and MYCN, respectively, and correlates with the worst prognosis and poor patient survival. MYC proteins are unstable oncoproteins with short half-lifes. We recently found that protein stabilization of MYCN is essential for brain tumor initiation (Swartling et al. Cancer Cell, 2012). MYCN stability is regulated by the ubiquitin ligase FBW7, which normally targets it for proteasomal degradation. FBW7 is a tumor suppressor gene mutated in various types of cancer including medulloblastoma and we study loss of function of FBW7 in our animal models of medulloblastoma. We have crossed FBW7 knock-out mice to GTML mice and currently study how FBW7 loss alters brain tumor formation. Molecular profiles/subtypes of these novel brain tumors will be analyzed using advanced cross-species comparisons.

## A new model for childhood brain tumor recurrence

## Vasil Savov, Gabriela Rosén, Holger Weishaupt and Fredrik Swartling

Tumor recurrence is the main cause of death in children with medulloblastoma. In this project we are studying how MYCN interacts with SOX9, a transcription factor involved in glial fate

determination in the brain. Few scattered SOX9-positive cells are found in GTML tumors that are similar to Group 3 or Group 4 human MB. By using a combination of Tet-ON and Tet-OFF inducible systems we managed to target this rare population of SOX9-positive GTML tumor cells *in vivo* to show how they were capable of initiating recurrence after primary tumor removal. The relapsed medulloblastoma has similar characteristics as the initial one but develops at a distant site in the brain, in line with recent human tumor data. We further showed that isolated metastases in Group 3/4 patients had consistently higher SOX9 levels as compared to corresponding primary tumors. Further characterization of SOX9-positive cell types will help us understand the mechanisms behind metastatic medulloblastoma recurrence.

# **Primary cilia loss in malignant brain tumors driven by stabilized MYCN** Sanna-Maria Hede, Anna Borgenvik and Fredrik Swartling

Primary cilia are tiny organelles that could be described as the cells antenna as they protrude on the surface of cells. This structure is essential for SHH signaling (described above). We are studying primary cilia loss during brain tumor formation and have found a strong correlation with lack of cilia and the most aggressive types of MYCN-driven brain tumors, especially as MYCN is stabilized by certain mutations (at residue T58 of the protein). We are presently investigating how oncogenes downregulate cilia from the surfaces of cultured NSCs and tumor cells. Cilia length and structure are analysed by confocal and electron microscopy. We are also studying how loss of cilia affects brain tumor formation *in vivo*, by crossing our brain tumor models to mice lacking KIF3A, a protein essential for cilia formation. In this project we also study primary cilia loss in primary cultures from patient samples from both medulloblastoma and from adult brain tumors, glioma. Our goal is to understand the role of the primary cilia in tumor initiation and study how these antenna-like structures are lost during brain tumor progression and if we can use this information to prevent disease.

# **Targeting MYCN through Bromodomains and by using CDK2 inhibitors** Sara Bolin, Holger Weishaupt and Fredrik Swartling

We recently showed that MYCN levels and early proliferation of brain tumors could be reduced by specific inhibition of the bromodomain inhibitor JQ1, which targets MYC proteins epigenetically (Bandopadhayay et al. Clin Can Res., 2014). We also found good efficacy controlling MYCN phosphorylation and stabilization by using a CDK2 inhibitor called Milciclib. Both drugs induced tumor cell senescence or apoptosis in our brain tumor models and also in primary human brain tumor cells. As compared to either drug alone, when combining the two drugs we further reduced MYCN levels and completely abolished brain tumor growth after long-term treatment in vitro. We are currently evaluating these treatment effects in our models in vivo. Our goal is to understand the underlying mechanisms of this MYCN inhibition and further evaluate the potential of using these promising drugs in the clinic.

# New models using human hindbrain cells to study medulloblastoma development

#### Matko Čančer, Anna Borgenvik, Sara Bolin, Holger Weishaupt and Fredrik Swartling

In this project we are transforming human hindbrain neural stem cells in order to model the different subgroups of medulloblastoma using lentiviruses carrying clinically relevant cancer driver genes for the distinct tumor subgroups. We will evaluate the ease and relevance in using well-defined human hindbrain stem cells to generate childhood brain tumors and we will compare these to subtype-specific cells similarly cultured from medulloblastoma patients. We hope we will understand what actually drives the initiation of various molecular

subgroups of medulloblastoma and if the various subgroups match certain human hindbrain cell types. Finally, we will use genetic and epigenetic analyses to predict how these cells could be specifically treated or if they would be resistant to targeted therapies.

# Using a forward genetics screen to identify novel cancer-causing genes in brain tumors

**Holger Weishaupt, Matko Čančer, Gabriela Rosén, Sara Bolin and Fredrik Swartling** We use a tumor model to study human glioma development from cell-type specific and retrovirus-driven Platelet-Derived Growth Factor (PDGF)-B overexpression. Virus integration into the host genome presents a risk for insertional mutagenesis, which can alter proximate genes, giving a particular tumor cell an advantage over other cells during tumorigenesis. We have used whole genome sequencing (WGS) to identify genes that, together with clinically relevant cancer drivers like PDGF-B, contribute to tumor development. For this purpose we have developed a streamlined analysis pipeline for integration detection, followed by integration site annotation against functional genes and enhancers from reference genome assemblies. We hope to identify several common integration sites that harbor novel important genes that promote glioma in collaboration with the PDGF pathway.

#### Group members during 2014

Fredrik Swartling, researcher, group leader Sara Bolin, PhD student Anna Borgenvik, PhD student Matko Čančer, PhD student Sanna Hede, researcher Gabriela Rosen, lab technician Vasil Savov, PhD student Holger Weishaupt, post doc

## Funding during 2014

Ragnar Söderbergs Stiftelse, 1 200 kSEK Åke Wibergs Stiftelse, 1 000 kSEK Vetenskapsrådet, 950 kSEK AICR/WCR, 800 kSEK Cancerfonden, 500 kSEK Barncancerfonden, 400 kSEK Svenska Läkaresällskapet, 260 kSEK

- 1. Swartling FJ. Myc proteins in brain tumor development and maintenance. Ups J Med Sci. 2012, 117(2):122-31.
- 2. Swartling FJ, Savov V, Persson AI, Chen J, Hackett CS, Northcott PA, Grimmer MR, Lau J, Chesler L, Perry A, Phillips JJ, Taylor MD, Weiss WA. Distinct neural stem cell populations give rise to disparate brain tumors in response to MYCN. Cancer Cell. 2012, 21(5):601-13.

- 3. Põlajeva J, Swartling FJ, Jiang Y, Singh U, Pietras K, Uhrbom L, Westermark B, Roswall P. miRNA-21 is developmentally regulated in mouse brain and is co-expressed with SOX2 in glioma. BMC Cancer. 2012, 12:378.
- 4. Swartling FJ, Hede SM, Weiss WA. What underlies the diversity of brain tumors? Cancer Metastasis Rev. 2013, 32(1-2):5-24.
- 5. Swartling FJ, Bolin S, Phillips JJ, Persson AI. Signals that regulate the oncogenic fate of neural stem cells and progenitors. Exp Neurol. 2013, 260:56-68.
- 6. Hede SM, Savov V, Weishaupt H, Sangfelt O, Swartling FJ. Oncoprotein stabilization in brain tumors. Oncogene. 2013, 33(39):4709-21
- Bandopadhayay P, Bergthold G, Nguyen B, Schubert S, Gholamin S, Tang Y, Bolin S, Schumacher SE, Zeid R, Masoud S, Yu F, Vue N, Gibson WJ, Paolella BR, Mitra SS, Cheshier SH, Qi J, Liu KW, Wechsler-Reya R, Weiss WA, Swartling FJ, Kieran MW, Bradner JE, Beroukhim R, Cho YJ. BET bromodomain inhibition of MYC-amplified medulloblastoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2014, 20(4):912-25.
- 8. Swartling FJ, Čančer M, Frantz A, Weishaupt H, Persson AI. Deregulated proliferation and differentiation in brain tumors. Cell Tissue Res. 2015 Jan;359(1):225-54. Epub 2014 Nov 23.
- 9. Hill RM, Kuijper S, Lindsey JC, Petrie K, Schwalbe EC, Barker K, Boult JK, Williamson D, Ahmad Z, Hallsworth A, Ryan SL, Poon E, Robinson SP, Ruddle R, Raynaud FI, Howell L, Kwok C, Joshi A, Nicholson SL, Crosier S, Ellison DW, Wharton SB, Robson K, Michalski A, Hargrave D, Jacques TS, Pizer B, Bailey S, Swartling FJ, Weiss WA, Chesler L, Clifford SC. Combined MYC and P53 defects emerge at medulloblastoma relapse and define rapidly progressive, therapeutically targetable disease. Cancer Cell. 2015 Jan 12;27(1):72-84. Epub 2014 Dec 18.

# A cell of origin-based strategy to decipher glioma biology

## Lene Uhrbom

Glioma is a large and heterogenous group of primary CNS tumors comprising astrocytoma, oligodendroglioma and ependymoma of all malignancy grades (I-IV). Glioma can strike at any age but the majority of patients are adult at diagnosis. Only grade I tumors are benign while grade II-IV tumors are malignant. Glioblastoma is a grade IV glioma and the most common form of all primary malignant brain tumors with dismal prognosis and essentially no cure. *In my group we study all types of malignant glioma with a particular interest in glioblastoma*.

Recent large-scale efforts to map the genetic and epigenetic landscape of glioblastoma has led to a comprehensive molecular characterization of a great number of tumors which has provided highly valuable information on the molecular basis of glioblastoma. Notwithstanding, the cell of origin for glioma (including glioblastoma) remains unknown. It is generally presumed to be a neural stem cell or glial progenitor cell but this has not been formally proven. For a complete understanding of glioma biology we believe that it is essential to know from where it originates and how that affects the phenotype of the tumor.

#### My research is focused on understanding how various glioma-relevant genetic alterations affect tumor development, progression and response to treatment depending on which cell type the tumor originated from. The goal is to uncover glioma-specific mechanisms to which directed therapies will be tested in our pre-clinical models.

To perform our studies we have built up an experimental platform consisting of several transgenic mouse models in which different and defined CNS cell types can be targeted to develop glioma (RCAS/tv-a) and many different types and grades of life-like glioma can be modelled. In addition, we have a large biobank of new human glioma cell cultures (HGCC) maintained under stem cell conditions to enrich for glioma stem cells. The HGCC project is performed in collaboration with Karin Forsberg-Nilsson, Sven Nelander and Bengt Westermark. In all, our mouse and human glioma models provide a unique and relevant platform for our basic and pre-clinical glioma research.

## Projects

- Establishment of the HGCC biobank of cultured glioblastoma cells. Yuan Xie, Yiwen Jiang, Smitha Sreedharan, E-Jean Tan, Marianne Kastemar, in collaboration with Karin Forsberg-Nilsson, Bengt Westermark and Sven Nelander
- Cell of origin for glioblastoma as a basis for stratification, target identification and drug screening.

Yiwen Jiang and Yuan Xie, in collaboration with Voichita Marinescu, Sven Nelander, Rolf Larsson, Mårten Fryknäs, Malin Jarvius and Caroline Haglund

- The interplay between cell of origin, oncogenic activation and developmental age in glioma development. Smitha Sreedharan and Yuan Xie
- Role of LGR5 in glioma stem cells. Yuan Xie and Yiwen Jiang, in collaboration with Voichita Marinescu, Sven Nelander, Andries Blokzijl and Ulf Landegren
- Oligodendrocyte precursor cells as origin of both astrocytoma and oligodendroglioma.

*Yiwen Jiang, Yuan Xie and Marianne Kastemar, in collaboration with Nanna Lindberg and Eric Holland, FHCRC, Seattle* 

• Investigations of human glioblastoma cell cultures of the mesenchymal subtype. E-Jean Tan and Yuan Xie

## Group members 2014

Lene Uhrbom, researcher, group leader Ann-Charlotte Hellström, research technician Yiwen Jiang, post doc Marianne Kastemar, research technician Smitha Sreedharan, post doc E-Jean Tan, post doc Yuan Xie, PhD student

## Funding during 2014

Swedish Research Council, 700 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 800 kSEK (project grant), 1 060 kSEK (Senior Investigator Award)

- 1. Jiang, Y., and Uhrbom, L. On the origin of glioma. Ups J of Med Sci. 2012, 117(2):113-121.
- Põlajeva J, Swartling FJ, Jiang Y, Singh U, Pietras K, Uhrbom L, Westermark B, Roswall P. miRNA-21 is developmentally regulated in mouse brain and is co-expressed with SOX2 in glioma. BMC Cancer. 2012, 12:378.
- Yu D, Jin C, Ramachandran M, Xu J, Nilsson B, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K, Uhrbom L, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Adamson R, Maitland N, Fan X, Essand M. Adenovirus serotype 5 vectors with Tat-PTD modified hexon and serotype 35 fiber show greatly enhanced transduction capacity of primary cell cultures. PLoS One. 2013, 8(1):e54952.
- Schmidt L, Kling T, Monsefi N, Olsson M, Hansson C, Baskaran S, Lundgren B, Martens U, Häggblad M, Westermark B, Forsberg Nilsson K, Uhrbom L, Karlsson-Lindahl L, Gerlee P, Nelander S. Comparative drug pair screening across multiple glioblastoma cell lines reveals novel drug-drug interactions. Neuro Oncol. 2013, 15(11):1469-78.
- Savary K, Caglayan D, Caja L, Tzavlaki K, Bin Nayeem S, Bergström T, Jiang Y, Uhrbom L, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Heldin CH, Ferletta M, Moustakas A. Snail depletes the tumorigenic potential of glioblastoma. Oncogene. 2013, 32(47):5409-20.
- 6. Kitambi SS, Toledo EM, Usoskin D, Wee S, Harisankar A, Svensson R, Sigmundsson K, Kalderén C, Niklasson M, Kundu S, Aranda S, Westermark B, Uhrbom L, Andäng M, Damberg P, Nelander S, Arenas E, Artursson P, Walfridsson J, Forsberg Nilsson K, Hammarström LG, Ernfors P. Vulnerability of glioblastoma cells to catastrophic vacuolization and death induced by a small molecule. Cell. 2014, 157(2):313-28.
- Lindberg N, Jiang Y, Xie Y, Bolouri H, Kastemar M, Olofsson T, Holland EC, Uhrbom L. Oncogenic signaling is dominant to cell of origin and dictates astrocytic or oligodendroglial tumor development from oligodendrocyte precursor cells. J Neurosci. 2014, 34(44):14644-51.
- 8. Wee S, Niklasson M, Marinescu VD, Segerman A, Schmidt L, Hermansson A, Dirks P,

Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Uhrbom L, Linnarsson S, Nelander S, Andäng M. Selective calcium sensitivity in immature glioma cancer stem cells. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e115698.

 Etomidate, propofol and diazepam potentiate GABA-evoked GABAA currents in a cell line. Babateen O, Jin Z, Bhandage A, Korol SV, Westermark B, Forsberg Nilsson K, Uhrbom L, Smits A, Birnir B. derived from human glioblastoma. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015 Feb 5;748:101-7. Epub 2014 Dec 12.

# Human Malignant Glioma – from Oncogenic Mechanisms to Treatment

#### **Bengt Westermark**

Our research is focused on glioblastoma, the most common form of malignant brain tumors in adults. Our main goal is to understand the molecular mechanisms of glioblastoma development. This knowledge may increase the possibilities of developing novel treatment modalities.

Human glioblastoma cell lines are established from fresh tumor surgical specimens taken in connection with brain tumor surgery. The aim here is to identify novel lead substances that inhibit tumor cell growth.

# CGGBP1 in cell cycle checkpoint regulation and telomere protection

#### Umashankar Singh, Bengt Westermark

Using a genetic screen in mice, we have identified a number of glioblastoma candidate genes. One of these, NFIX, was used as a bait to find binding partners in a yeast-two-hybrid screen. One of the binding partners, the transcriptional regulator CGGBP1 is involved in DNA damage response, localizes to midbodies, regulates abscission and prevents tetraploidy. A novel role of CGGPB1 as a protector of teleomeres was studied in human diploid fibroblasts. Expression of a mutated form of CGGBP1, in which an ATR phosporylation site (Serine-164) has been mutated, leads to telomere shortening, DNA damage response at telomeres, telomere fusions resulting in chromatin bridges between dividing cells, and cell cycle arrest. The finer mechanistic details of CGGBP1 as a protector of telomeres are being analyzed. Further, we have found by chromatin immunoprecipitation sequencing that CGGBP1 binds to repetitive DNA sequences of the LINE1 and Alu families and regulates Alu expression.

## Search for candidate drugs for the treatment of malignant glioma

#### Anna Segerman, Bo Segerman, Mia Niklasson, Tobias Bergström, Erika Lundin, Bengt Westermark

We aim to identify novel targets and lead substances with the ultimate goal to improve glioblastoma therapy. While taking tumor heterogeneity into account, we will characterize the subgroup of tumor cells with relapse potential (glioma initiating cells, GICs).

Glioma cell lines are continuously established from fresh biopsies and characterized with regard to genotype (structural alterations in known oncogenes and suppressor genes), phenotype (e.g. expression of stem cells and differentiation markers and tumorigenicity in immunocompromized mice) and treatment response using the standard glioma regimen (radiation and temozolomide). Selected cell lines and clonal derivatives are subjected to transcriptome and proteome analysis to define biomarker signatures.

Using growth inhibition as endpoint, we analyze the response of individual glioma cell lines to BMP4. Using CRISP-Cas9 knock out technology, we aim to define BMP4 signaling in growth inhibition. Further, chemical libraries of a total of >20,000 compounds will be used for high throughput screening. After substantial in vitro testing, the efficacy of the identified substances and combinations will be analyzed in vivo (orthotopic xenotransplantation in mice).

## The role of Sox21 as a suppressor gene during glioma progression Maria Ferletta, Erika Lundin, Bengt Westermark

The transcription factor Sox2 is required for maintaining the pluripotency of embryonal stem cells. Sox2 is expressed in neuronal stem cells and down regulation of Sox2 is accompanied

by neuronal differentiation. We have shown that both Sox2 and Sox21 are expressed in adult and pediatric brain tumors and that the expressions of the transcription factors are correlated. Our *in vitro* studies indicate that Sox21 can down regulate Sox2 in glioma cells and the *in vivo* studies show that an up regulation of Sox21 decreases the tumor growth significantly as well as prolong the survival extensively. Sox21 appears to decrease the stem-like cell properties of the tumor cells and induce abnormal differentiation and apoptosis as well as reduce cell proliferation in glioma cell *in vivo*. Further, tumor cells with increased expression of Sox21 demonstrated an improved formation of Sox2:Sox21 complexes. Our studies indicate that Sox21 function as a tumor suppressor during gliomagenesis mediated by a shift in the complex formation of Sox2:Sox21. These results imply that the Sox2/Sox21 axis could be a potential therapeutic component.

So far very little is known about which signaling pathways Sox21 take part in, so to investigate that we have performed cDNA arrays to identify signaling pathways and components important for mediating the suppressor effect of Sox21 in glioma cells. We are at the moment focusing on the TGF- $\beta$ /BMP4 signaling pathways and the JAK/STAT-signaling pathway. In addition we will study if these signaling pathways or if the Sox2/Sox21 axis can be inhibited by low molecular weight inhibitors to prevent brain tumor progression.

# Molecular studies of growth and carcinogenesis in the thyroid gland Nils-Erik Heldin

Undifferentiated (anaplastic) tumors are highly malignant, rapidly growing and invasive, and constitute a major clinical problem. This project focuses on anaplastic thyroid carcinoma (ATC) and our aim is to elucidate the genetic events involved in generating the tumor.

Our laboratory has established several cell lines from human anaplastic thyroid cancer biopsies. Analyses of their karyotypes showed an abundance of double minute chromosomes (DMs) in two of the cell lines. DMs are known to harbour amplified gene sequences. With this in mind, we are currently using "next generation" sequencing technology to identify the amplified sequences.

#### Group members during 2014

Bengt Westermark, professor, group leader Tobias Bergström, post doc Maria Ferletta, researcher Nils-Erik Heldin, associate professor Marianne Kastemar, lab technician Erika Lundin, research engineer Mia Niklasson, researcher Anna Segerman, researcher Bo Segerman, associate professor Umashankar Singh, researcher Jacob Wall, student Ann Westermark, teaching assistant

#### Funding during 2014

Swedish Cancer Society, 1 500 kSEK Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation, 6 000 kSEK

- 10. Westermark B. Glioblastoma--a moving target. Ups J Med Sci. 2012, 117(2):251-6.
- 11. Põlajeva J, Swartling FJ, Jiang Y, Singh U, Pietras K, Uhrbom L, Westermark B, Roswall P. miRNA-21 is developmentally regulated in mouse brain and is co-expressed with SOX2 in glioma. BMC Cancer. 2012, 12:378.
- Friman T, Gustafsson R, Stuhr LB, Chidiac J, Heldin NE, Reed RK, Oldberg A, Rubin K. Increased fibrosis and interstitial fluid pressure in two different types of syngeneic murine carcinoma grown in integrin β3-subunit deficient mice. PLoS One. 2012, 7(3):e34082.
- Yu D, Jin C, Ramachandran M, Xu J, Nilsson B, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K, Uhrbom L, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Adamson R, Maitland N, Fan X, Essand M. Adenovirus serotype 5 vectors with Tat-PTD modified hexon and serotype 35 fiber show greatly enhanced transduction capacity of primary cell cultures. PLoS One. 2013, 8(1):e54952.
- 14. Caglayan D, Lundin E, Kastemar M, Westermark B, Ferletta M. Sox21 inhibits glioma progression in vivo by forming complexes with Sox2 and stimulating aberrant differentiation. Int J Cancer. 2013, 133(6):1345-56.
- 15. Singh U, Maturi V, Westermark B. Evidence for multiple forms and modifications of human POT1. DNA Repair (Amst). 2013, 12(11):876-7.
- Savary K, Caglayan D, Caja L, Tzavlaki K, Bin Nayeem S, Bergström T, Jiang Y, Uhrbom L, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Heldin CH, Ferletta M, Moustakas A. Snail depletes the tumorigenic potential of glioblastoma. Oncogene. 2013, 32(47):5409-20.
- Schmidt L, Kling T, Monsefi N, Olsson M, Hansson C, Baskaran S, Lundgren B, Martens U, Häggblad M, Westermark B, Forsberg Nilsson K, Uhrbom L, Karlsson-Lindahl L, Gerlee P, Nelander S. Comparative drug pair screening across multiple glioblastoma cell lines reveals novel drug-drug interactions. Neuro Oncol. 2013, 15(11):1469-78.
- 18. Singh U, Maturi V, Jones RE, Paulsson Y, Baird DM, Westermark B. CGGBP1 phosphorylation constitutes a telomere-protection signal. Cell Cycle. 2014, 13(1):96-105.
- Põlajeva J, Bergström T, Edqvist PH, Lundequist A, Sjösten A, Nilsson G, Smits A, Bergqvist M, Pontén F, Westermark B, Pejler G, Forsberg Nilsson K, Tchougounova E. Glioma-derived macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) promotes mast cell recruitment in a STAT5-dependent manner. Mol Oncol. 2014, 8(1):50-8.
- 20. Kitambi SS, Toledo EM, Usoskin D, Wee S, Harisankar A, Svensson R, Sigmundsson K, Kalderén C, Niklasson M, Kundu S, Aranda S, Westermark B, Uhrbom L, Andäng M, Damberg P, Nelander S, Arenas E, Artursson P, Walfridsson J, Forsberg Nilsson K, Hammarström LG, Ernfors P. Vulnerability of glioblastoma cells to catastrophic vacuolization and death induced by a small molecule. Cell. 2014, 157(2):313-28.
- Torsvik A, Stieber D, Enger PØ, Golebiewska A, Molven A, Svendsen A, Westermark B, Niclou SP, Olsen TK, Chekenya Enger M, Bjerkvig R. U-251 revisited: genetic drift and phenotypic consequences of long-term cultures of glioblastoma cells. Cancer Med. 2014, 3(4):812-24.
- 22. Jernberg Wiklund H, Westermark B. Taming the cancer cell. J Intern Med. 2014, 276(1):2-4.
- 23. Westermark B. Platelet-derived growth factor in glioblastoma-driver or biomarker? Ups J Med Sci. 2014, 119(4):298-305. 24.

- 24. Wee S, Niklasson M, Marinescu VD, Segerman A, Schmidt L, Hermansson A, Dirks P, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Uhrbom L, Linnarsson S, Nelander S, Andäng M. Selective calcium sensitivity in immature glioma cancer stem cells. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e115698.
- 25. Agarwal P, Enroth S, Teichmann M, Wiklund HJ, Smit A, Westermark B, Singh U. Growth signals employ CGGBP1 to suppress transcription of Alu-SINEs. Cell Cycle. 2014 Nov 21:0. [Epub ahead of print]
- 26. Babateen O, Jin Z, Bhandage A, Korol SV, Westermark B, Forsberg Nilsson K, Uhrbom L, Smits A, Birnir B. Etomidate, propofol and diazepam potentiate GABA-evoked GABAA currents in a cell line derived from human glioblastoma. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015 Feb 5;748:101-7. Epub 2014 Dec 12.

# **Clinical Immunology**

The Clinical Immunology research groups have a strong translational focus. The research projects aim to increase the understanding about immunological mechanisms in patients with cancer or autoimmune disease (diabetes, rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus or multiple sclerosis) and to explain the immune reactions that occur when immune cells or components come in contact with biomaterial or cells or viruses used for therapy.

Within this research area we are developing novel immune, gene and cell therapies and diagnostic/prognostic markers, which are tested in clinical trials in collaboration



with the Uppsala University Hospital, other national and international universities, the immune diagnostic industry, EU networks and the Nordic Network for Langerhans Cell Transplantation.

## Gene, Cell and Immunotherapy of Cancer

#### **Magnus Essand**

Immunotherapy is currently being established as cancer treatment. Immune checkpoint blockade antibodies that fine-tune T cell activity to kill tumor cells can cure 20-25% of patients with refractory melanoma, and adoptive transfer of patient-derived T cells that are engineered *ex vivo* to express a chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) results in complete remission in a majority of patient with refractory B cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Oncolytic vaccines, which are replication-competent viruses engineered to selectively kill tumor cells and deceive the immune system to believe that the tumor is a foreign entity that needs to be eradicated are emerging as the next breakthrough in cancer immunotherapy.

Although successful in part, immunotherapy has so far not delivered for most forms of cancer. It is apparent that the technologies need to be improved and refined further to optimize treatments. We are focusing on translational cancer immunotherapy research specializing on virus, dendritic cell (DC) and T cell modifications to develop new potent anti-cancer agents. Some virus and T cells developed in our laboratory are already in clinical phase I trials and others are about to enter clinical trials.

#### **Oncolytic Virus Therapy**

Viruses are genetically engineered to selectively kill tumor cells and induce a potent and adequate anti-tumor immune response. Virus infectivity is altered through genetic modification of the virus capsid to favor infection of tumors cells. Virus replication is altered by introduction of regulatory elements, such as promoter and/or microRNA target sequences into the virus genome to specifically control viral gene expression to tumor cells. Progeny virus, produced upon virus replication in tumor cells, can infect neighboring tumor cells, thus amplifying the initial inoculums. The lytic cell death induced by virus is not dependent on the ability of the tumor cell to go into apoptosis, thus also drug-resistant cancer stem cells can be killed. Furthermore, the presence of immunogenic virus in the tumor microenvironment can alter the otherwise immunosuppressive milieu in favor of an anti-tumor immune response. To further boost adequate anti-tumor immune responses the virus encodes a transgene, such as

*Helicobacter pylori* neutrophil-activating protein (HP-NAP), for a Th1-type immune activation.

In order to target metastatic sites we are evaluating various cell types as carriers to deliver oncolytic virus at the tumor site. In particular, we are evaluating macrophages as virus carries, in collaboration with Claire Lewis at Sheffield University, as macrophages are attracted to inflammatory cancer environments. We focus our efforts on prostate cancer, neuroendocrine cancer and neuroblastoma and we are primarily working with oncolytic adenovirus but also Semliki Forest virus and Vaccinia virus.

#### T Cell Therapy

T cells are genetically engineered to express novel T cell receptors (TCR) or chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) that recognize antigens that are expressed and presented by u cells. This way the engineered T cells specifically target and kill tumor cells. We have recently cloned a TCR against a prostate tumor-associated antigen called TARP and shown that genetically engineered T cells expressing this TCR can selectively kill prostate and breast cancer cells. We are also developing CAR T cells targeting PSMA on prostate cancer cells, GD2 on neuroblasoma or CD19 on B cell malignancies.

Besides developing new CAR transgenes for T cell therapy we are also developing new viral vectors (lentivirus and adenovirus) for efficient transfer of CAR transgenes to T lymphocytes and other hematologic cells. In addition, we are developing optimized protocols to expand the engineered T cells to make them resistant to oxidative stress and immunosuppressive factor.

#### Allogeneic DC Vaccination

Patient-derived DCs modified with u-associated antigens have been evaluated as therapeutic cancer vaccines with some success. It has however become clear that *ex vivo*-modified DCs are short-lived when re-injected and do not migrate to draining lymph nodes. The therapeutic effect obtained from administration of *ex vivo*-modified DCs, with respect to functionality and maturation characteristics, appears to come from resident tissue (bystander) DCs that take up material from dying injected DCs and bring it to lymph nodes for antigen presentation to naïve T and B cells.

We therefore investigate if allogeneic DCs (DCs from a different individual) or a DC cell line can be used instead of patient-derived DCs. The logistic would be simplified and costs would be significantly reduced. Importantly, the HLA mismatch will most likely act as a strong adjuvant both for NK and T cells. We perform both efficacy studies and mechanistic studies in mice to evaluate which cell types are attracted and activated in response to allogeneic DCs. We use real-time intravital confocal microscopy imaging, in collaboration with Mia Phillipson, Uppsala University to study these events. We also investigate whether the therapeutic effect can be improved if the allogeneic DCs are transduced with an adenoviral vector secreting HP-NAP, IL-1b and other immune modulators.

#### Group members during 2014

Magnus Essand, professor, group leader Grammatiki Fotaki, PhD student Victoria Hillerdal, postdoc Alex Karlsson-Parra, adjunct professor, chief physician Chuan Jin, PhD student Jing Ma, scholarship student Justyna Leja-Jarblad, researcher Berith Nilsson, project leader Mohanraj Ramachandran, PhD student Di Yu, post doc

## **Dissertations during 2014**

Victoria Hillerdal, The Multiple Faces of Genetically-Modified T Cells: Potential Applications in Therapy, November 15, 2014.

## Funding during 2014

Swedish Cancer Society, 800 kSEK Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, 500 kEK Swedish Research Council, 600 kSEK Immunicum, 600, SEK Donations for clinical trial, 1 500 kSEK

- Adamson RE, Frazier AA, Evans H, Chambers KF, Schenk E, Essand M, Birnie R, Mitry RR, Dhawan A, Maitland NJ. In vitro primary cell culture as a physiologically relevant method for preclinical testing of human oncolytic adenovirus. Hum Gene Ther. 2012, 23(2):218-30.
- Forsberg LA, Rasi C, Razzaghian HR, Pakalapati G, Waite L, Thilbeault KS, Ronowicz A, Wineinger NE, Tiwari HK, Boomsma D, Westerman MP, Harris JR, Lyle R, Essand M, Eriksson F, Assimes TL, Iribarren C, Strachan E, O'Hanlon TP, Rider LG, Miller FW, Giedraitis V, Lannfelt L, Ingelsson M, Piotrowski A, Pedersen NL, Absher D, Dumanski JP. Age-related somatic structural changes in the nuclear genome of human blood cells. Am J Hum Genet. 2012, 90(2):217-28.
- 3. Hillerdal V, Nilsson B, Carlsson B, Eriksson F, Essand M. T cells engineered with a T cell receptor against the prostate antigen TARP specifically kill HLA-A2+ prostate and breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012, 109(39):15877-81.
- 4. Fransson M, Piras E, Burman J, Nilsson B, Essand M, Lu B, Harris RA, Magnusson PU, Brittebo E, Loskog AS. CAR/FoxP3-engineered T regulatory cells target the CNS and suppress EAE upon intranasal delivery. J Neuroinflammation. 2012, 9:112.
- 5. Essand M. Virotherapy of neuroendocrine tumors. Neuroendocrinology. 2013, 97(1):26-34.
- 6. Molnár C, Essand M, Wennberg L, Berne C, Larsson E, Tufveson G, Korsgren O. Islet engraftment and revascularization in clinical and experimental transplantation. Cell Transplant. 2013, 22(2)
- Muthana M, Rodrigues S, Chen YY, Welford A, Hughes R, Tazzyman S, Essand M, Morrow F, Lewis CE. Macrophage delivery of an oncolytic virus abolishes tumor regrowth and metastasis after chemotherapy or irradiation. Cancer Res. 2013, 73(2):490-5.
- 8. Essand M, Loskog AS. Genetically engineered T cells for the treatment of cancer. J Intern Med. 2013, 273(2):166-81.

- Yu D, Jin C, Ramachandran M, Xu J, Nilsson B, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K, Uhrbom L, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Adamson R, Maitland N, Fan X, Essand M. Adenovirus serotype 5 vectors with Tat-PTD modified hexon and serotype 35 fiber show greatly enhanced transduction capacity of primary cell cultures. PLoS One. 2013, 8(1):e54952.
- Karlsson H, Lindqvist AC, Fransson M, Paul-Wetterberg G, Nilsson B, Essand M, Nilsson K, Frisk P, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Loskog A. Combining CAR T cells and the Bcl-2 family apoptosis inhibitor ABT-737 for treating B-cell malignancy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2013, 20(7):386-93. Erratum in: Cancer Gene Ther. 2013, 20(12):702.
- 11. Jin C, Yu D, Čančer M, Nilsson B, Leja J, Essand M. Tat-PTD-modified oncolytic adenovirus driven by the SCG3 promoter and ASH1 enhancer for neuroblastoma therapy. Hum Gene Ther. 2013,24(8):766-75.
- 12. Ramachandran M, Yu D, Wanders A, Essand M, Eriksson F. An infection-enhanced oncolytic adenovirus secreting H. pylori neutrophil-activating protein with therapeutic effects on neuroendocrine tumors. Mol Ther. 2013, 21(11):2008-18.
- 13. Hillerdal V, Ramachandran M, Leja J, Essand M. Systemic treatment with CARengineered T cells against PSCA delays subcutaneous tumor growth and prolongs survival of mice. BMC Cancer. 2014, 14:30.
- 14. Schenk E, Essand M, Kraaij R, Adamson R, Maitland NJ, Bangma CH. Preclinical safety assessment of Ad[I/PPT-E1A], a novel oncolytic adenovirus for prostate cancer. Hum Gene Ther Clin Dev. 2014, 25(1):7-15.
- 15. Liljenfeldt L, Yu D, Chen L, Essand M, Mangsbo SM. A hexon and fiber-modified adenovirus expressing CD40L improves the antigen presentation capacity of dendritic cells. J Immunother. 2014, 37(3):155-62.
- Jin C, Yu D, Hillerdal V, Wallgren AC, Karlsson-Parra A, Essand M. Allogeneic lymphocyte-licensed DCs expand T cells with improved antitumor activity and resistance to oxidative stress and immunosuppressive factors Mol Ther - Methods and Clinical Development March 5, doi:10.1038/mtm.2014.1, 2014.
- 17. Ramachandran M, Jin C, Yu D, Eriksson F, Essand M. Vector-encoded Helicobacter pylori neutrophil-activating protein promotes maturation of dendritic cells with Th1 polarization and improved migration. J Immunol. 2014, 193(5):2287-96.
- Vågesjö E, Christoffersson G, Waldén TB, Carlsson PO, Essand M, Korsgren O, Phillipson M. Immunological shielding by induced recruitment of regulatory Tlymphocytes delays rejection of islets transplanted in muscle. Cell Transplant. 2015, 24(2):263-76. Epub 2014 Jan 29.

## **Diabetes Research**

#### **Olle Korsgren**

Our research focuses on the cause of diabetes and on possibilities to prevent and cure the disease. The research has a broad multidisciplinary translational approach, which integrates genetics, bioinformatics, physiology, cell biology, clinical immunology, diabetology and transplantation research.

Diabetes mellitus is a lifelong, incapacitating disease affecting multiple organs. Estimates of worldwide prevalence suggest that 250 million patients have diabetes today and that this number by 2025 will increase by fifty percent. In Sweden, at least 500,000 persons suffer from diabetes today. Diabetes and its complications impose an immense burden on the quality of life of patients and account for more than ten percent of health care costs in Sweden.

Although type 2 diabetes accounts for most of the diabetes epidemic, type 1 diabetes (TID) is in Sweden the most common chronic disorder in children. More than two children per day are diagnosed with T1D, reaching more than 800 patients per year. In Finland one child out of 123 will be diagnosed with T1D before the age of 15 years. The figures are frightening and for unknown reasons the incidence of T1D has doubled during the past twenty years and continues to increase by four to six percent per year.

The aim of our research is to clarify the etiology of TID and to pave the way for development of new strategies for prevention and cure of TID.

The work is organised in five projects with the following objectives:

- a) Unravel the etiology of TID.
- b) Halt or prevent TID in newly diagnosed patients by transplanation of autologous mesenchymal stem cells.
- c) Islet Imaging: Antibody-based proteomics for discovery and exploration of proteins expressed in pancreatic islets
- d) Transplantation of isolated islets to cure patients with the most severe TID, experimental and clinical studies.
- e) Induction of immunological tolerance: Regulatory T cells for treatment of transplantation induced immune reactions

#### Group members during 2014

Olle Korsgren, professor, group leader Mahesh Kumar Anagandula, PhD student David Berglund, researcher Marcus Bergström, PhD student Torsten Eich, PhD student Karin Fonnaland, research engineer Maria Hårdstedt, researcher Sofie Ingvast, research engineer Marie Karlsson, research engineer Enida Kuric, research engineer Marcus Lundberg, PhD student Johan Olerud, researcher Oskar Skog, research engineer Per-Anton Stenwall, PhD student Magnus Ståhle, PhD student Anna-Maria Ullbors, adm. assistant

Anna Wiberg, PhD student

## **Dissertations during 2014**

David Berglund, Preparatory Studies to Introduce Regulatory T Cells in Clinical Transplantation, May 10, 2014.

Maria Hårdstedt, Studies of Innate and Adaptive Immunity in Islet Transplantation, November 7, 2014.

- Berglund D, Korsgren O, Lorant T, Schneider K, Tufveson G, Carlsson B. Isolation, expansion and functional assessment of CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells and Tr1 cells from uremic patients awaiting kidney transplantation. Transpl Immunol. 2012, 26(1):27-33.
- 2. Eriksson O, Carlsson F, Blom E, Sundin A, Långström B, Korsgren O, Velikyan I. Preclinical evaluation of a (68)Ga-labeled biotin analogue for applications in islet transplantation. Nucl Med Biol. 2012, 39(3):415-21.
- 3. Westermark GT, Davalli AM, Secchi A, Folli F, Kin T, Toso C, Shapiro AM, Korsgren O, Tufveson G, Andersson A, Westermark P. Further evidence for amyloid deposition in clinical pancreatic islet grafts. Transplantation. 2012, 93(2):219-23.
- 4. Friberg AS, Lundgren T, Malm H, Felldin M, Nilsson B, Jenssen T, Kyllönen L, Tufveson G, Tibell A, Korsgren O. Transplanted functional islet mass: donor, islet preparation, and recipient factors influence early graft function in islet-after-kidney patients. Transplantation. 2012, 93(6):632-8.
- 5. Banerjee M, Virtanen I, Palgi J, Korsgren O, Otonkoski T. Proliferation and plasticity of human beta cells on physiologically occurring laminin isoforms. Mol Cell Endocrinol. 2012, 355(1):78-86.
- 6. Lindskog C, Korsgren O, Pontén F, Eriksson JW, Johansson L, Danielsson A. Novel pancreatic beta cell-specific proteins: antibody-based proteomics for identification of new biomarker candidates. J Proteomics. 2012, 75(9):2611-20.
- 7. Caballero-Corbalán J, Brandhorst H, Malm H, Felldin M, Foss A, Salmela K, Tibell A, Tufveson G, Korsgren O, Brandhorst D. Using HTK for Prolonged Pancreas Preservation Prior to Human Islet Isolation. J Surg Res. 2012, 175(1):163-8.
- 8. Moll G, Rasmusson-Duprez I, von Bahr L, Connolly-Andersen AM, Elgue G, Funke L, Hamad OA, Lönnies H, Magnusson PU, Sanchez J, Teramura Y, Nilsson-Ekdahl K, Ringdén O, Korsgren O, Nilsson B, Le Blanc K. Are therapeutic human mesenchymal stromal cells compatible with human blood? Stem Cells. 2012, 30(7):1565-74.
- 9. Taneera J, Jin Z, Jin Y, Muhammed SJ, Zhang E, Lang S, Salehi A, Korsgren O, Renström E, Groop L, Birnir B. γ-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) signalling in human pancreatic islets is altered in type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2012, 55(7):1985-94.
- Taneera J, Lang S, Sharma A, Fadista J, Zhou Y, Ahlqvist E, Jonsson A, Lyssenko V, Vikman P, Hansson O, Parikh H, Korsgren O, Soni A, Krus U, Zhang E, Jing XJ, Esguerra JL, Wollheim CB, Salehi A, Rosengren A, Renström E, Groop L. A systems genetics approach identifies genes and pathways for type 2 diabetes in human islets. Cell Metab. 2012, 16(1):122-34.

- 11. von Zur-Mühlen B, Tufveson G, Korsgren O. Insulin independence after conversion from tacrolimus to cyclosporine in islet transplantation. Transpl Int. 2012, 25(10):e108-10.
- 12. Korsgren S, Molin Y, Salmela K, Lundgren T, Melhus A, Korsgren O. On the etiology of type 1 diabetes: a new animal model signifying a decisive role for bacteria eliciting an adverse innate immunity response. Am J Pathol. 2012, 181(5):1735-48.
- Asif S, Sedigh A, Nordström J, Brandhorst H, Jorns C, Lorant T, Larsson E, Magnusson PU, Nowak G, Theisinger S, Hoeger S, Wennberg L, Korsgren O, Brandhorst D. Oxygen-charged HTK-F6H8 emulsion reduces ischemia-reperfusion injury in kidneys from brain-dead pigs. J Surg Res. 2012, 178(2):959-67.
- Ylipaasto P, Smura T, Gopalacharyulu P, Paananen A, Seppänen-Laakso T, Kaijalainen S, Ahlfors H, Korsgren O, Lakey JR, Lahesmaa R, Piemonti L, Oresic M, Galama J, Roivainen M. Enterovirus-induced gene expression profile is critical for human pancreatic islet destruction. Diabetologia. 2012, 55(12):3273-83.
- 15. Molnár C, Essand M, Wennberg L, Berne C, Larsson E, Tufveson G, Korsgren O. Islet engraftment and revascularization in clinical and experimental transplantation. Cell Transplant. 2013, 22(2):243-51.
- Brandhorst H, Iken M, Scott WE 3rd, Papas KK, Theisinger B, Johnson PR, Korsgren O, Brandhorst D. Quality of isolated pig islets is improved using perfluorohexyloctane for pancreas storage in a split lobe model. Cell Transplant. 2013;22(8):1477-83.
- Nano R, Racanicchi L, Melzi R, Mercalli A, Maffi P, Sordi V, Ling Z, Scavini M, Korsgren O, Celona B, Secchi A, Piemonti L. Human Pancreatic Islet Preparations Release HMGB1: (Ir)Relevance For Graft Engraftment. Cell Transplant. 2013, 22(11):2175-86.
- 18. Lidehäll AK, Engman ML, Sund F, Malm G, Lewensohn-Fuchs I, Ewald U, Tötterman TH, Karltorp E, Korsgren O, Eriksson BM. Cytomegalovirus-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in infants and children. Scand J Immunol. 2013, 77(2):135-43.
- 19. Hansson SF, Korsgren S, Pontén F, Korsgren O. Enteroviruses and the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes revisited: cross-reactivity of enterovirus capsid protein (VP1) antibodies with human mitochondrial proteins. J Pathol. 2013, 229(5):719-28.
- 20. Yu D, Jin C, Ramachandran M, Xu J, Nilsson B, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K, Uhrbom L, Forsberg-Nilsson K, Westermark B, Adamson R, Maitland N, Fan X, Essand M. Adenovirus serotype 5 vectors with Tat-PTD modified hexon and serotype 35 fiber show greatly enhanced transduction capacity of primary cell cultures. PLoS One. 2013, 8(1):e54952.
- Skog O, Korsgren S, Melhus A, Korsgren O. Revisiting the notion of type 1 diabetes being a T-cell-mediated autoimmune disease. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes. 2013, 20(2):118-23. Review.
- 22. Friberg AS, Korsgren O, Hellgren M. A vast amount of enzyme activity fails to be absorbed within the human pancreas: implications for cost-effective islet isolation procedures. Transplantation. 2013, 95(6):e36-8.
- 23. Berglund D, Karlsson M, Biglarnia AR, Lorant T, Tufveson G, Korsgren O, Carlsson B. Obtaining regulatory T cells from uraemic patients awaiting kidney transplantation for use in clinical trials. Clin Exp Immunol. 2013, 173(2):310-22.
- 24. Hodik M, Lukinius A, Korsgren O, Frisk G. Tropism Analysis of Two Coxsackie B5 Strains Reveals Virus Growth in Human Primary Pancreatic Islets but not in Exocrine Cell Clusters In Vitro. Open Virol J. 2013, 7:49-56.

- 25. Lind K, Richardson SJ, Leete P, Morgan NG, Korsgren O, Flodström-Tullberg M. Induction of an antiviral state and attenuated coxsackievirus replication in type III interferon-treated primary human pancreatic islets. J Virol. 2013, 87(13):7646-54.
- 26. Westberg S, Sadeghi A, Svensson E, Segall T, Dimopoulou M, Korsgren O, Hemminki A, Loskog AS, Tötterman TH, von Euler H. Treatment efficacy and immune stimulation by AdCD40L gene therapy of spontaneous canine malignant melanoma. J Immunother. 2013, 36(6):350-8.
- 27. Selvaraju RK, Velikyan I, Johansson L, Wu Z, Todorov I, Shively J, Kandeel F, Korsgren O, Eriksson O. In vivo imaging of the glucagonlike peptide 1 receptor in the pancreas with 68Ga-labeled DO3A-exendin-4. J Nucl Med. 2013, 54(8):1458-63.
- Westman G, Lidehall AK, Magnusson P, Ingelsson M, Kilander L, Lannfelt L, Korsgren O, Eriksson BM. Decreased proportion of cytomegalovirus specific CD8 T-cells but no signs of general immunosenescence in Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One. 2013, 8(10):e77921.
- 29. Nyström N, Berg T, Lundin E, Skog O, Hansson I, Frisk G, Juko-Pecirep I, Nilsson M, Gyllensten U, Finkel Y, Fuxe J, Wanders A. Human enterovirus species B in ileocecal Crohn's disease. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2013, 4:e38.
- Campbell-Thompson ML, Atkinson MA, Butler AE, Chapman NM, Frisk G, Gianani R, Giepmans BN, von Herrath MG, Hyöty H, Kay TW, Korsgren O, Morgan NG, Powers AC, Pugliese A, Richardson SJ, Rowe PA, Tracy S, In't Veld PA. The diagnosis of insulitis in human type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2013, 56(11):2541-3.
- 31. Berglund D, Karlsson M, Palanisamy S, Carlsson B, Korsgren O, Eriksson O. Imaging the in vivo fate of human T cells following transplantation in immunoincompetent mice implications for clinical cell therapy trials. Transpl Immunol. 2013, 29(1-4):105-8.
- 32. Ståhle M, Honkanen-Scott M, Ingvast S, Korsgren O, Friberg AS. Human islet isolation processing times shortened by one hour: minimized incubation time between tissue harvest and islet purification. Transplantation. 2013, 96(12):e91-3.
- 33. Sarmiento L, Frisk G, Anagandula M, Cabrera-Rode E, Roivainen M, Cilio CM. Expression of innate immunity genes and damage of primary human pancreatic islets by epidemic strains of Echovirus: implication for post-virus islet autoimmunity. PLoS One. 2013, 8(11):e77850.
- 34. Sahraoui A, Jensen KK, Ueland T, Korsgren O, Foss A, Scholz H. Anakinra and tocilizumab enhance survival and function of human islets during culture: implications for clinical islet transplantation. Cell Transplant. 2014, 23(10):1199-211.
- 35. Hopfgarten J, Stenwall PA, Wiberg A, Anagandula M, Ingvast S, Rosenling T, Korsgren O, Skog O. Gene expression analysis of human islets in a subject at onset of type 1 diabetes. Acta Diabetol. 2014, 51(2):199-204.
- 36. Krogvold L, Edwin B, Buanes T, Ludvigsson J, Korsgren O, Hyöty H, Frisk G, Hanssen KF, Dahl-Jørgensen K. Pancreatic biopsy by minimal tail resection in live adult patients at the onset of type 1 diabetes: experiences from the DiViD study. Diabetologia. 2014, 57(4):841-3.
- 37. Hansson SF, Korsgren S, Pontén F, Korsgren O. Detection of enterovirus in the islet cells of patients with type 1 diabetes: what do we learn from immunohistochemistry? Diabetologia. 2014, 57(3):645-6.
- 38. Rosenling T, Chapman N, Bone AJ; nPOD-V Consortium, Foulis AK, Frisk G, Flodstrom-Tullberg M, Hober D, Hyoty H, Morgan NG. Evaluation of the fidelity of

immunolabelling obtained with clone 5D8/1, a monoclonal antibody directed against the enteroviral capsid protein, VP1, in human pancreas. Diabetologia. 2014, 57(2):392-401.

- 39. Lundberg J, Stone-Elander S, Zhang XM, Korsgren O, Jonsson S, Holmin S. Endovascular method for transplantation of insulin-producing cells to the pancreas parenchyma in swine. Am J Transplant. 2014, 14(3):694-700.
- 40. Eriksson O, Selvaraju RK, Johansson L, Eriksson JW, Sundin A, Antoni G, Sörensen J, Eriksson B, Korsgren O. Quantitative imaging of serotonergic biosynthesis and degradation in the endocrine pancreas. J Nucl Med. 2014, 55(3):460-5.
- Eriksson O, Velikyan I, Selvaraju RK, Kandeel F, Johansson L, Antoni G, Eriksson B, Sörensen J, Korsgren O. Detection of metastatic insulinoma by positron emission tomography with [(68)ga]exendin-4-a case report. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2014, 99(5):1519-24.
- 42. Richardson SJ, Leete P, Dhayal S, Russell MA, Oikarinen M, Laiho JE, Svedin E, Lind K, Anagandula M, Richardson SJ, Oberste MS, Sioofy-Khojine AB, Hyöty H, Morgan NG, Korsgren O, Frisk G. Infection of human islets of langerhans with two strains of coxsackie B virus serotype 1: Assessment of virus replication, degree of cell death and induction of genes involved in the innate immunity pathway. J Med Virol. 2014, 86(8):1402-11.
- 43. Nalin L, Selvaraju RK, Velikyan I, Berglund M, Andréasson S, Wikstrand A, Rydén A, Lubberink M, Kandeel F, Nyman G, Korsgren O, Eriksson O, Jensen-Waern M. Positron emission tomography imaging of the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor in healthy and streptozotocin-induced diabetic pigs. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2014, 41(9):1800-10.
- 44. Cooper DK, Buhler L, Breimer M, Korsgren O, Tibell A, Wennberg L, Cozzi E, d'Apice AJ, Hering B, McKenzie IF, Pierson RN 3rd, Sykes M, Kobayashi T. Tribute to Carl-Gustav Groth (1933-2014), first president of the International Xenotransplantation Association. Xenotransplantation. 2014, 21(2):97-8.
- 45. Westman G, Berglund D, Widén J, Ingelsson M, Korsgren O, Lannfelt L, Sehlin D, Lidehall AK, Eriksson BM. Increased inflammatory response in cytomegalovirus seropositive patients with Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One. 2014, 9(5):e96779.
- 46. Andersén P, Bäckström T, Dahlquist G, Damber JE, Engström-Laurent A, Gustafson Y, Hjemdahl P, Korsgren O, Olsson H, Wiberg M, Widmark A. Swedish medical research does not need more control. Lakartidningen. 2014, 111(22-23):980-1.
- 47. Hulspas R, Villa-Komaroff L, Koksal E, Etienne K, Rogers P, Tuttle M, Korsgren O, Sharpe JC, Berglund D. Purification of regulatory T cells with the use of a fully enclosed high-speed microfluidic system. Cytotherapy. 2014, pii: S1465-3249(14)00634-3.
- 48. Selvaraju RK, Velikyan I, Asplund V, Johansson L, Wu Z, Todorov I, Shively J, Kandeel F, Eriksson B, Korsgren O, Eriksson O. Pre-clinical evaluation of [(68)Ga]Ga-DO3A-VS-Cys(40)-Exendin-4 for imaging of insulinoma. Nucl Med Biol. 2014, 41(6):471-6.
- 49. Biglarnia AR, Bennet W, Nilsson T, Larsson E, Magnusson A, Yamamoto S, Lorant T, Sedigh A, von Zur-Mühlen B, Bäckman L, Korsgren O, Tufveson G. Utilization of small pediatric donors including infants for pancreas and kidney transplantation: exemplification of the surgical technique and the surveillance. Ann Surg. 2014, 260(2):e5-7.
- 50. Eriksson O, Espes D, Selvaraju RK, Jansson E, Antoni G, Sörensen J, Lubberink M, Biglarnia AR, Eriksson JW, Sundin A, Ahlström H, Eriksson B, Johansson L, Carlsson PO, Korsgren O. Positron emission tomography ligand [11C]5-hydroxy-tryptophan can be used as a surrogate marker for the human endocrine pancreas. Diabetes. 2014, 63(10):3428-37.

- 51. Skog O, Ingvast S, Korsgren O. Evaluation of RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry as tools for detection of enterovirus in the human pancreas and islets of Langerhans. J Clin Virol. 2014, 61(2):242-7.
- 52. Hårdstedt M, Lindblom S, Hong J, Nilsson B, Korsgren O, Ronquist G. A novel model for studies of blood-mediated long-term responses to cellular transplants. Ups J Med Sci. 2014 Oct 17:1-12.
- 53. Krogvold L, Edwin B, Buanes T, Frisk G, Skog O, Anagandula M, Korsgren O, Undlien D, Eike M, Richardson SJ, Leete P, Morgan NG, Oikarinen S, Oikarinen M, Laiho JE, Hyöty H, Ludvigsson J, Hanssen KF, Dahl-Jørgensen K. Detection of a low-grade enteroviral infection in the islets of Langerhans of living patients newly diagnosed with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2014, pii: DB\_141370.
- 54. Jahan M, Johnström P, Nag S, Takano A, Korsgren O, Johansson L, Halldin C, Eriksson O. Synthesis and biological evaluation of [11C]AZ12504948; a novel tracer for imaging of glucokinase in pancreas and liver. Nucl Med Biol. 2014, pii: S0969-8051(14)00550-2.
- 55. Danielsson A, Pontén F, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Schwenk JM, Uhlén M, Korsgren O, Lindskog C. The human pancreas proteome defined by transcriptomics and antibodybased profiling. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e115421.
- 56. Skog O, Korsgren S, Wiberg A, Danielsson A, Edwin B, Buanes T, Krogvold L, Korsgren O, Dahl-Jørgensen K. Expression of Human Leukocyte Antigen Class I in Endocrine and Exocrine Pancreatic Tissue at Onset of Type 1 Diabetes. Am J Pathol. 2014, pii: S0002-9440(14)00548-3.
- 57. Vågesjö E, Christoffersson G, Waldén TB, Carlsson PO, Essand M, Korsgren O, Phillipson M. Immunological shielding by induced recruitment of regulatory T-lymphocytes delays rejection of islets transplanted in muscle. Cell Transplant. 2015;24(2):263-76. Epub 2014 Jan 29.
- Carlsson PO, Schwarcz E, Korsgren O, Le Blanc K. Preserved β-Cell Function in Type 1 Diabetes by Mesenchymal Stromal Cells. Diabetes. 2015 Feb;64(2):587-92. Epub 2014 Sep 9.

#### Immunotherapy for Cancer and Autoimmune Diseases

#### Angelica Loskog

Our research group develops new immunotherapies for cancer and autoimmune diseases. The immune system has an important role both in the development and control of these diseases and our research is based on the potential to affect the disease by modifying the immune response.

Tumor cells differ from normal cells both in appearance and growth pattern. They are therefore often recognized and killed by cells of the immune system. However, some tumor cells avoid recognition, for instance by producing immunosuppressive substances. These cells will continue to grow in an uncontrolled way, eventually causing cancer. We use gene technology to enhance anti-tumor immune reactions. For example, we are evaluating gene engineered T cells for the treatment of lymphoma and leukemia and immunostimulating gene therapy for the treatment of solid cancer such as melanoma and pancreatic cancer.

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease where the immune system attacks cells in the nervous system. We are investigating the immunological mechanisms of hematopoetic stem cell transplantation for MS patients.

#### Immunostimulatory gene therapy for cancer

#### Hannah Karlsson, Emma Svensson, Stina Söderlund, Ioanna Milenova, Jessica Wenthe, Wictor Gustafson, Lina Liljenfeldt, Berith Nilsson, Ann-Charlotte Hellström, Angelica Loskog

The immune system has the capacity to destroy tumor cells by the same mechanisms that it clears viral infections. However, tumor cells require skills to turn off, or even kill, immune cells. We are investigating the role of different immune escape mechanisms and how they are affected by conventional or experimental treatment. By genetic engineering it is possible to shift the immunosuppressive milieu and/or to shield the effector immune cells from tumor-induced escape mechanisms. In this project the overall goal is to develop novel biological therapies for cancer focused on gene engineering cells and tumor tissues.

CD40 ligand (CD40L) is an immunostimulatory molecule that can be transferred to the tumor site by adenoviral vectors. CD40L production in the tumor area will enhance immune activation against the tumor resulting in tumor cell destruction, reduce the level of immunosuppressive molecules in the tumor area and drive Th1-mediated cytokine production. Moreover, stimulation of CD40 present on certain tumors such as those of epithelial origin will lead to tumor cell apoptosis which not only lead to decreased tumor mass but as well to increased uptake by antigen-presenting cells. We are evaluating the effects of AdCD40L gene therapy on tumors in both experimental models and in collaboration with other researchers at IGP as well as with Lokon Pharma AB and the Dept of Oncology at Uppsala University Hospital we are performing clinical Phase I/II trials on solid tumors currently with a focus on melanoma and pancreatic cancer.

T-cells are immune effector cells with high capacity to target and kill tumor cells. Adoptive transfer of *ex vivo*-cultured and expanded tumor-reactive T-cells has been investigated extensively. Due to the sensitivity of these cells to tumor-induced immunosuppression novel means are needed to enhance their survival and to restore their killing capacity. Lately, T-cells have been strengthened by gene technology prior to infusion into patients and multiple clinical trials are ongoing worldwide to test their safety and efficacy. In collaboration with Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, Vecura at Karolinska University Hospital and Dept of Oncology at Uppsala University Hospital we have just initiated a clinical trial using CD19-targeting chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells for lymphoma and leukemia and we are also developing novel improved gene technology vectors that are currently evaluated in preclinical models.

## Development of novel therapies for multiple sclerosis (MS)

# Joachim Burman (contact person: joachim.burman@neuro.uu.se), Pooja Vijay Ghopal, Angelica Loskog

MS is an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS) in which the immune system attacks myelin-producing cells. The immune attack results in the destruction of the myelin sheet that covers nerves which leads to deteriorated function and may, in severe forms, cause paralysis. Most patients exhibit relapsing-remitting MS (RRMS) and these patients have shown possible to treat with autologous hematopoetic stem cell transfer (HSCT). Within this project we investigate the role of the immune system during different phases of the disease (relapse and remission) to determine how and why the immune cells are activated against myelin and why the normal tolerance mechanisms fail to prevent immune attacks during relapses. Patients subjected to HSCT stops to relapse and can even recover from previous symptoms to some extent. The major part of our current work is related to these patients and how HSCT has affected the immune system. This project is done in collaboration with the Dept of Neurology at Uppsala University Hospital. In experimental models we have investigated CNS-targeting immunosuppressive cells developed in our lab by genetic engineering. These cells target the CNS and locally suppress unwanted immune reactions without hampering peripheral control of infectious disease.

#### Group members during 2014

Angelica Loskog, professor (adj), group leader Joachim Burman, post doc, specialist in neurology Wictor Gustafsson, research assistant Hannah Karlsson, post doc Lina Liljenfeldt, PhD student Yoanna Milenova, research assistant Berith Nilsson, project coordinator (part time) Emma Svensson, PhD student Stina Söderlund, PhD student, resident in hematology Ann-Charlotte Hellström, technical assistant Jessica Wenthe, student

## **Dissertations during 2014**

Lina Liljenfeldt, CD40L gene therapy of solid tumors, June 3, 2014.

Joachim Burman, Curing multiple sclerosis – how to do it and how to prove it, June 13, 2014. Hannah Karlsson, CD19-targeting CAR T Cells for Treatment of B Cell Malignancies: From Bench to Bedside, November 21, 2014.

## Funding during 2014

AFA Försäkring AB, 1 000 kSEK Cancerfonden, 500 kSEK Barncancerfonden 350 kSEK Lokon Pharma AB 1 500 kSEK (commissioned research)

- 1. Dias JD, Hemminki O, Diaconu I, Hirvinen M, Bonetti A, Guse K, Escutenaire S, Kanerva A, Pesonen S, Löskog A, Cerullo V, Hemminki A. Targeted cancer immunotherapy with oncolytic adenovirus coding for a fully human monoclonal antibody specific for CTLA-4. Gene Ther. 2012, 19(10):988-98.
- 2. Diaconu I, Cerullo V, Hirvinen ML, Escutenaire S, Ugolini M, Pesonen SK, Bramante S, Parviainen S, Kanerva A, Loskog AS, Eliopoulos AG, Pesonen S, Hemminki A. Immune response is an important aspect of the antitumor effect produced by a CD40L-encoding oncolytic adenovirus. Cancer Res. 2012, 72(9):2327-38.
- Fransson, M., Piras, E., Burman, J., Nilsson, B., Essand, M., BinFeng, L., Harris, R.A., Magnusson, P.U., Brittebo, E., Loskog, A.S.I. CAR/FoxP3-engineered T regulatory cells target the CNS and suppress EAE upon intranasal delivery. J Neuroinflammation. 2012, 9:112.
- 4. Ullenhag G, Loskog SIA. AdCD40L crossing the valley of death. Int Rev Immunol. 2012, 4:289-298.
- 5. Lindqvist, C.A. and Loskog, S.I.A. T regulatory cells in B cell malignancy tumor support or kiss of death? Immunology. 2012, 135:255-260.
- Dieterich LC, Schiller P, Huang H, Wawrousek EF, Loskog A, Wanders A, Moons L, Dimberg A. αB-Crystallin regulates expansion of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>+</sup> immature myeloid cells during tumor progression. FASEB J. 2013, 27(1):151-62.
- 7. Essand M, Loskog AS. Genetically engineered T cells for the treatment of cancer. J Intern Med. 2013, 73(2):166-81. Review.
- Christiansson L, Söderlund S, Svensson E, Mustjoki S, Bengtsson M, Simonsson B, Olsson-Strömberg U, Loskog AS. Increased level of myeloid-derived suppressor cells, programmed death receptor ligand 1/programmed death receptor 1, and soluble CD25 in Sokal high risk chronic myeloid leukemia. PLoS One. 2013, 8(1):e55818.
- 9. Burman J, Fransson M, Tötterman TH, Fagius J, Mangsbo SM, Loskog AS. T-cell responses after haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for aggressive relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Immunology. 2013, 140(2):211-9.
- 10. Enblad G, Hagberg H, Loskog A. Genetiskt förstärkta T-celler som behandling av B-cells leukemi och lymfom. Meddelanden från SOF. 2013, 19:15-20. Översiktsartikel.
- Westberg S, Sadeghi A, Svensson E, Segall T, Dimopoulou M, Korsgren O, Hemminki A, Loskog AS, Tötterman TH, von Euler H. Treatment efficacy and immune stimulation by AdCD40L gene therapy of spontaneous canine malignant melanoma. J Immunother. 2013, 36(6):350-8.
- Karlsson H, Lindqvist AC, Fransson M, Paul-Wetterberg G, Nilsson B, Essand M, Nilsson K, Frisk P, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Loskog A. Combining CAR T cells and the Bcl-2 family apoptosis inhibitor ABT-737 for treating B-cell malignancy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2013, 20(7):386-93. Erratum in: Cancer Gene Ther. 2013, 20(12):702.
- Liljenfeldt L, Gkirtzimanaki K, Vyrla D, Svensson E, Loskog AS, Eliopoulos AG. Enhanced therapeutic anti-tumor immunity induced by co-administration of 5fluorouracil and adenovirus expressing CD40 ligand. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2014, 63(3):273-82.
- 14. Sandin LC, Eriksson F, Ellmark P, Loskog AS, Tötterman TH, Mangsbo SM. Local CTLA4 blockade effectively restrains experimental pancreatic adenocarcinoma growth in vivo. Oncoimmunology. 2014, 3(1):e27614.

- 15. Liljenfeldt L, Dieterich LC, Dimberg A, Mangsbo SM, Loskog AS. CD40L gene therapy tilts the myeloid cell profile and promotes infiltration of activated T lymphocytes. Cancer Gene Ther. 2014, 21(3):95-102.
- Fransson M, Piras E, Wang H, Burman J, Duprez I, Harris RA, LeBlanc K, Magnusson PU, Brittebo E, Loskog AS. Intranasal delivery of central nervous system-retargeted human mesenchymal stromal cells prolongs treatment efficacy of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Immunology. 2014, 142(3):431-41.
- 17. Burman J, Zetterberg H, Fransson M, Loskog AS, Raininko R, Fagius J. Assessing tissue damage in multiple sclerosis: a biomarker approach. Acta Neurol Scand. 2014, 130(2):81-9.
- Burman J, Svensson E, Fransson M, Loskog AS, Zetterberg H, Raininko R, Svenningsson A, Fagius J, Mangsbo SM. The cerebrospinal fluid cytokine signature of multiple sclerosis: a homogenous response that does not conform to the Th1/Th2/Th17 convention. J Neuroimmunol. 2014, 277(1-2):153-9.
- Huang H, Langenkamp E, Georganaki M, Loskog A, Fuchs PF, Dieterich LC, Kreuger J, Dimberg A. VEGF suppresses T-lymphocyte infiltration in the tumor microenvironment through inhibition of NF-κB-induced endothelial activation. FASEB J. 2015 Jan;29(1):227-38. Epub 2014 Oct 31.

## Blood vessel function after transplantation

#### Peetra Magnusson

Disturbances in vascular function contribute to the development of several diseases and as a further consequence to human mortality. Diseases such as diabetes, heart failure and ischemia reperfusion injury share many of the same risk factors and consequential damage of the endothelium.

In replacement or regeneration of human cells, tissues or organs there is a need of functional revascularization. To improve recruitment of recipient's vessels to the new tissue utilization of biomaterials or supportive cells is an attractive strategy.

Our research focuses on the endothelium in health and disease. By using cutting edge techniques and our signature methods for endothelial cell interactions with the blood compartment, stem cells and heparin compounds we are investigating different possibilities to protect the endothelium in disease and to improve islet transplantation.

#### Ischemia reperfusion injury

A majority of kidney complications in diabetic patients lead to end-stage renal disease causing a need of kidney replacement. A challenge in organ transplantation is the great risk of ischemia-reperfusion injury occurring when the organ is connected to the vasculature of the recipient that may cause endothelial cell activation, triggering events leading to microvascular thrombosis and severe risk of graft failure.

Strategies to protect the vasculature upon transplantation are crucial. To be able to investigate the effects upon activated endothelial cells on a cellular and molecular level we are using our described blood endothelial cell chamber model where therapies with complement regulators/inhibitors will be investigated.

The strategy to protect the vasculature in transplantation is part of an EU FP7 supported project, DIREKT. The DIREKT project is coordinated from Uppsala by Prof. Bo Nilsson and the consortium has partners in Sweden, Norway, Denmark, The Netherlands, Greece, USA, Germany and Australia.

#### Heparin conjugate for vascular protection

#### In collaboration with Tomas Lorant (UU) and Corline Systems AB, Uppsala.

During a 2-year period the project "Heparin conjugate for vascular protection" will through funding from BIO-X/Vinnova develop the Corline Heparin Conjugate (CHC) into an *ex vivo* tool for repairing ischemia reperfusion injury (IRI) in kidneys prior to transplantation.

The aim of the project is to show that CHC will significantly reduce the vascular reperfusion injury for donated kidneys. The clinical therapy will use CHC to counteract the devastating effects of thrombosis that occurs upon reperfusion of the kidneys. Attenuating reperfusion injury will possibly improve function of the donated kidneys and reduce delayed graft function (DGF) after transplantation. Tasks related to market analysis, market plans and regulatory/toxicology will be addressed during the project period.

The project will fill an important gap by providing proof of concept (POC) data needed for submitting a clinical trial application to the Swedish Medical Product Agency (MPA).

#### Tissue bioengineering utilizing mesenchymal stromal cells

*In collaboration with Katarina LeBlanc (Karolinska Institute), Olle Korsgren, Joey Lau, (UU) and the Science for Life laboratories* 

Mesenchymal stromal stem cells (MSC) are a heterogeneous population of stem cells that originates from the bone marrow and other tissues. Bone marrow derived MSC are currently
used in the clinic in patients with graft vs host disease (GvHD) with promising results and are at present subjects for clinical trials for a variety of diseases.

We have via collaboration with the Karolinska Institute access to human MSC from healthy donors and are currently investigating their role in health and disease. It is well known that MSC migrate to inflamed tissues and we have observed that MSC are communicating with neighboring cells via organelle transfer. By using cutting edge techniques such as CyTOF, Seahorse, FlowSight, 2-photon microscopy, LightSheet and SPIM we are able to define the organelle transfer and the effect it has on the recipient cell. We have established a co-culture protocol of MSC and endothelial cells that allow investigations of cellular mechanisms and function.

In the process of revascularization upon transplantation MSC can support endothelial cells by the production of growth factors and matrix proteins. MSC also produce proteases enabling vessels to migrate into the surrounding tissue during angiogenesis. We have a model system of combining MSC with islets of Langerhans investigating their cellular contributions to the graft. Furthermore, we are investigating their potential in supporting a vascularized site pre transplantation by utilizing biomaterials and surface treatments.

#### Signature methods: Blood endothelial chamber

#### In collaboration with Carolina Wählby and Petter Ranefall (UU)

In many infectious and inflammatory diseases the cells of the endothelium are affected, leading to secondary complications such as nephropathy, retinopathy and coronary artery disease due to endothelial dysfunction. To be able to investigate the interaction between vascular cells and blood cells, we have a system of blood chambers combined with cultured primary cells, a blood endothelial chamber.

The model will symbolize the scenario of patients with inflammatory disease or ischemia reperfusion injury during organ transplantation. This makes it possible to study blood interactions in combination with hypoxia or cytokine stimulated human primary endothelial cells, symbolizing an activated and inflammatory state of disease.

The model will be expanded towards a possibility to perform high throughput screening. The aim is to automate the processing of staining, imaging and image analysis to enable efficient analyses of candidate compounds, especially developed within the EU DIREKT consortium. This model supports the European Parliament Directive 2010/63/EU to reduce and replace the use of research animals.

#### Group members during 2014

Peetra Magnusson, researcher, group leader Johan Brännström, research engineer Fredrik Carlsson, researcher Fredrik Edin, PhD student Moa Fransson, post doc Maria Karoutsou, student Sofia Nordling, PhD student Linus Sanner, student Amir Sedigh, physician Yuk Ting Siu, student

## Funding during 2014

Uppsala BIO/Vinnova, 2 000 kSEK Barndiabetesfonden, 117 kSEK SLS, 100 kSEK

- 1. Fransson M, Piras E, Burman J, Nilsson B, Essand M, Lu B, Harris RA, Magnusson PU, Brittebo E, Loskog AS. CAR/FoxP3-engineered T regulatory cells target the CNS and suppress EAE upon intranasal delivery. J Neuroinflammation. 2012, 9:112.
- 2. Moll G, Rasmusson-Duprez I, von Bahr L, Connolly-Andersen AM, Elgue G, Funke L, Hamad OA, Lönnies H, Magnusson PU, Sanchez J, Teramura Y, Nilsson-Ekdahl K, Ringdén O, Korsgren O, Nilsson B, Le Blanc K. Are therapeutic human mesenchymal stromal cells compatible with human blood? Stem Cells. 2012, 30(7):1565-74.
- 3. Fransson M, Piras E, Burman J, Nilsson B, Essand M, Lu BF, Harris RA, Magnusson PU, Brittebo E and Loskog A. CAR/FoxP3-Engineered T Regulatory Cells Target the CNS and Suppress EAE upon Intranasal Delivery. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2012, 9:112.
- 4. Asif S, Sedigh A, Nordström J, Brandhorst H, Jorns C, Lorant T, Larsson E, Magnusson PU, Nowak G, Theisinger S, Hoeger S, Wennberg L, Korsgren O, Brandhorst D. Oxygen-charged HTK-F6H8 emulsion reduces ischemia-reperfusion injury in kidneys from brain-dead pigs. J Surg Res. 2012, 178(2):959-67.
- 5. Nilsson PH, Ekdahl KN, Magnusson PU, Qu H, Iwata H, Ricklin D, Hong J, Lambris JD, Nilsson B, Teramura Y. Autoregulation of thromboinflammation on biomaterial surfaces by a multicomponent therapeutic coating. Biomaterials. 2013, 34(4):985-94.
- 6. Leijon J, Carlsson F, Brännström J, Sanchez J, Larsson R, Nilsson B, Magnusson PU, Rosenquist M. Attachment of flexible heparin chains to gelatin scaffolds improves endothelial cell infiltration. Tissue Eng Part A. 2013, 19(11-12):1336-48.
- Westman G, Lidehall AK, Magnusson P, Ingelsson M, Kilander L, Lannfelt L, Korsgren O, Eriksson BM. Decreased proportion of cytomegalovirus specific CD8 T-cells but no signs of general immunosenescence in Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One. 2013, 8(10):e77921.
- 8. Edin F, Liu W, Boström M., Magnusson PU and Rask-Andersen H. Differentiation of human neural progenitor cell-derived spiral ganglion-like neurons: a time-lapse video study. Acta Otolaryngol. 2014, 134(5):441-7.
- 9. Fransson M, Piras E, Hao W, Burman J, Duprez I, Harris RA, LeBlanc K, Magnusson PU, Brittebo E and Loskog AS. Intranasal delivery of central nervous system-retargeted human mesenchymal stromal cells prolongs treatment efficacy of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Immunology. 2014, 142(3):431-41.
- Sedigh A. Larsson R, Brännström J, Magnusson P, Larsson E, Tufveson G and Lorant T. The feasibility of modifying the vessel wall with macromolecular heparin during hypothermic machine perfusion. Surgical Research, 2014, 191(2):455-62.
- 11. Nordling S, Nilsson B, Magnusson PU. A novel in vitro model for studying the interactions between human whole blood and endothelium. J Vis Exp. 2014, (93):e52112.
- Edin F, Liu W, Li H, Atturo F, Magnusson PU, Rask-Andersen H. 3-D gel culture and time-lapse video microscopy of the human vestibular nerve. Acta Otolaryngol. 2014, 134(12):1211-8.

# **Thromboinflammation in Therapeutic Medicine**

## **Bo Nilsson**

The cascade systems of the blood consist of the complement, the contact, the coagulation and the fibrinolysis systems. In particular the complement system, but also the other systems, are part of the innate immune system. The primary function of the **complement system** is to act as a purging system of the body to remove foreign substances including microorganisms, apoptotic cell debris, immune complexes and foreign bodies/materials. The primary function of **the fibrinolysis, the coagulation and the contact systems** is in hemostasis. However, all three systems are also engaged in inflammation.

Physiologically, thromboinflammation is an initiator of the healing and repair process of the body and is triggered by the humoral innate immune system, which primarily consists of the cascade systems of the blood. These subsequently activate leukocytes, platelets and endothelial cells, finally resulting in thrombotic and inflammatory reactions.

Thromboinflammation is also an important pathophysiological process involved is several clinical conditions and treatments:

- 1. Cell and cell cluster transplantation and therapies.
- 2. Whole organ transplantation
- 3. Thrombotic events such as cardiac infarction, stroke and other cardiovascular conditions
- 4. Rheumatic conditions (scleroderma, SLE, antiphospholipid syndrome).
- 5. pharmacological delivery systems e.g. lipid miscelles, polymers, virus vectors etc.
- 6. Treatments with biomaterials implants (joint replacements, scaffolds for tissue engineering etc), extracorporeal treatments (hemodialysis, cardiopulmonary bypass)

#### Cross-talk between the cascade systems and activated platelets

#### Osama Hamad Huda Kozarcanin, Kristina Nilsson Ekdahl, Bo Nilsson

Platelet activation during thrombotic events is closely associated with complement and contact system activation, which in turn leads to inflammation. Chondroitin sulfate A (CS-A), released from alpha granules during platelet activation, is a potent mediator of cross-talk between platelets and the complement system. Under physiological conditions, no complement activation seems to occur on the activated platelet surface, but C3 in the form of C3(H2O) is bound to the surfaces of activated platelets. C3(H2O) is a non-proteolytically cleaved but activated form of C3, with C3b-like properties. Platelet-bound C3(H2O) acts as a ligand for leukocyte CD35 and CD11b/CD18, enabling platelet-leukocyte interactions.

Furthermore, we have shown that activated platelets and fibrin elicit activation of the lectin pathway enzymes, MASP-1 and -2 without complement activation. The MASP proteases thereby represent a crossover between the complement and coagulation. Thus, in addition to their traditional role as initiators of secondary hemostasis, platelets also act as mediator and regulator of inflammation in thrombotic events.

# Disarming the intravascular innate immune response to improve treatment modalities for chronic kidney disease

#### Sana Asif, Karin Fromell, Yuji Teramura, Andreea Barbu, Kristina Nilsson Ekdahl, Bo Nilsson

Chronic kidney disease is world wide a major cause of end-stage renal disease (ESRD). 800.000 patients in Europe and in the US, respectively, require long-term treatment initially with peritoneal dialysis, followed by hemodialysis and kidney transplantation. Each ESRD patient on hemodialysis costs  $\approx$  40000 to  $\in$  80000 per year, has extremely poor quality of life and an average life expectancy of only 4 years. Kidney transplantation totally changes life for ESRD patients who can then return to normal life, but this treatment is hampered by the low number of available kidney grafts. All these treatments are, however, associated with adverse reactions that cause damaging thromboinflammation, triggered by the intravascular innate immune system, which may lead to poor results and non-function.

The overall aim of this project is to clarify the innate immune mechanisms that cause thromboinflammation and identify nature's own specific control points of regulation in these adverse reactions. By applying these concepts of regulation in hemodialysis and kidney transplantation, we intend to significantly improve the quality of hemodialysis devices and kidney grafts. We envisage to 1) convey a novel soluble complement inhibitor to the clinical stage via phase 1/2a clinical studies, 2) create of nano-profiled surfaces with low activating properties and 3) generate easy-to-apply one step-coatings for treatment of biomaterials (hemodialysis) and endothelial cell surfaces (kidney grafts) that will significantly improve the treatment modalities of ESRD. We expect that these advances will result in extended periods during which hemodialysis can be applied to patients and that the quality of life will improve. In kidney transplantation attenuation of innate immune reactions is anticipated to protect the grafts against damage thereby making a larger number of kidneys accessible for transplantation. The novel techniques are also likely to be applicable on other types of implantations, extracorporeal treatments and transplantations and in the future to be used in xenotransplantation and stem cell therapies. This project is part of the FP7 grant DIREKT coordinated by our group.

## Thromboinflammation induced by nanoparticles

#### Padideh Davoodpour, Jaan Hong, Bo Nilsson, Kristina Ekdahl

Nanoparticles (NP) and nanostructured materials are used in a growing number of applications and their use is expected to increase dramatically in the future. We have found that NP of different origin induce thromboinflammation, and our aim is to apply the technology that we developed for elucidating the biocompatibility of biomaterials in contact with blood, to characterize the biological responses and toxicity of NP in contact with tissue fluid / blood plasma / whole blood. We have applied this technology to investigate TiO2 NPs. These particles are widely used and applied in a number of applications e.g. sun protection, white paint and toothpaste etc. Our investigations have revealed that they are highly thrombogenic, despite that they have been considered to be mostly inert. The project will help to clarify the mechanisms of toxicity of NPs, and help to develop techniques for evaluating the toxicity of present and future NP materials that are disseminated in the environment. This project is supported by AFA.

## Coatings of liposomes in order to avoid innate immune recognition Claudia Dührkop, Bo Nilsson, Kristina Ekdahl

Drug delivery by liposomes is a technique to contain and neutralize toxic drugs, e.g. various chemotherapies, in order to avoid release of the drug to off-target cells. Liposomes injected into the blood are, however, recognized by the innate immune system, leading to accelerated removal of the particles and to adverse reactions. Attempt to conceal the surface with polyethyleneglycol (PEG) have been partially successful, but also this coat has been shown to be recognized by the innate immune system. The so-called accelerated blood clearance (ABC) phenomenon has been suggested to be triggered by natural IgM antibodies. In this project, which is supported by the FP7 project DECENT AID, we attempt to find alternative coatings to avoid innate immune recognition and ABC.

# Coatings of liposomes in order to avoid innate immune recognition

## Jaan Hong, Bo Nilsson, Kristina Ekdahl

Development of biomaterials intended for applications in tissue engineering is timeconsuming and costly, due to design of the material and repeated testing in animal models. Therefore, there is a need to find screening techniques that at an early stage can be used to predict the biocompatibility of the material. One of the major properties of a biomaterial that determines the fate of the implant is the recognition by the innate immune system. We have developed two different tentative screening techniques that are applicable for this purpose. The first one employs the adsorbed protein profile after exposing the material to blood plasma. We have demonstrated that the proportion of complement and coagulation protein profiles, are closely correlated with the biological response. The second technique is a migration assay that allows blood cells to migrate through a membrane in response activation products generated by the biomaterial in contact with blood plasma. Both assays are at present under evaluation in animal models. This project is supported by FP7 Project BIODESIGN.

## Group members during 2014

Bo Nilsson, professor, group leader Sana Asif, PhD student Andreea Barbu, researcher Padideh Davoodpour, researcher Claudia Dührkop, researcher Karin Fromell, researcher Osama Hamad, researcher Jaan Hong, researcher Huda Kozarcanin, PhD student Susanne Lindblom, research engineer Kristina Nilsson Ekdahl, visiting professor Lillemor Stenbeck-Funke, research engineer Yuji Teramura, visiting researcher Elisabeth Wijkström, research engineer

# Funding during 2014

Swedish Research Council, 1 000 kSEK AFA, 1 300 kSEK EU FP7 DIREKT, 2 400 kSEK EU FP7 Biodesign, 600 kSEK EU FP7 Decent Aid, 900 kSEK STINT/Science Council of Japan, 700 kSEK

- 1. Hamad O, Bäck J, Nilsson P, Nilsson B, Ekdahl K. Platelets, complement, and contact activation: Partners in inflammation and thrombosis. Adv Exp Biol Med 2012, 946:185-205. Review.
- 2. Norda R, Schött U, Berséus O, Akerblom O, Nilsson B, Ekdahl KN, Stegmayr BG, Knutson F. Complement activation products in liquid stored plasma and C3a kinetics after transfusion of autologous plasma. Vox Sang. 2012, 102(2):125-33.

- 3. Sartz L, Olin AI, Kristoffersson AC, Ståhl AL, Johansson ME, Westman K, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Ekdahl, KN, Karpman D. (2012) A novel C3 mutation causing increased formation of the C3 convertase in familial atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. Journal of Immunology 2012, 188(4):2030-2037.
- 4. Biglarnia AR, Nilsson B, Nilsson Ekdahl K, Tufveson G, Nilsson T, Larsson E, Wadström J. Desensitization with antigen-specific immunoadsorption interferes with complement in ABO-incompatible kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2012, 93(1):87-92.
- 5. Friberg AS, Lundgren T, Malm H, Felldin M, Nilsson B, Jenssen T, Kyllönen L, Tufveson G, Tibell A, Korsgren O. Transplanted functional islet mass: donor, islet preparation, and recipient factors influence early graft function in islet-after-kidney patients. Transplantation. 2012, 93(6):632-8.
- Boij, R, Svensson, J, Ekdahl, KN, Sandholm, K, Lindahl, T, Palonek, E, Garle, M, Berg, G, Ernerud, J, Jenmalm, M, Mathiessen, L. Biomarkers of coagulation, inflammation and angiogenesis are independently associated with preeclampsia. Am J Redprod Immunol. 2012, 68(3):258-270.
- 7. Moll G, Rasmusson-Duprez I, von Bahr L, Connolly-Andersen AM, Elgue G, Funke L, Hamad OA, Lönnies H, Magnusson PU, Sanchez J, Teramura Y, Nilsson-Ekdahl K, Ringdén O, Korsgren O, Nilsson B, Le Blanc K. Are therapeutic human mesenchymal stromal cells compatible with human blood? Stem Cells. 2012, 30(7):1565-74.
- 8. Nilsson B, Ekdahl KN. Complement diagnostics: concepts, indications, and practical guidelines. Clin Dev Immunol. 2012, 2012:962702.
- 9. Nilsson, B, Ekdahl, KN. The tick-over theory revisited: Is C3 a contact-activated protein? Immunobiology 2012, 117:1106-1110.
- 10. Bergman, I-M, Sandholm, K, Ekdahl, KN, Okumura, N, Uenishi, H, Essler, SE, Knoll, A, Heergard, PMH, Edfors, I. *MBL-1* genotypes in wild boar and wild boar/Large White crossbreds. Int J immunogenet 2012, 40(2); 131-9.
- 11. Nilsson PH, Ekdahl KN, Magnusson PU, Qu H, Iwata H, Ricklin D, Hong J, Lambris JD, Nilsson B, Teramura Y. Autoregulation of thromboinflammation on biomaterial surfaces by a multicomponent therapeutic coating. Biomaterials. 2013, 34(4):985-94.
- 12. Hong J, Kurt S, Thor A. A Hydrophilic Dental Implant Surface Exhibit Thrombogenic Properties In Vitro. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2013, 15(1):105-12.
- 13. Teramura Y, Oommen OP, Olerud J, Hilborn J, Nilsson B. Microencapsulation of cells, including islets, within stable ultra-thin membranes of maleimide-conjugated PEG-lipid with multifunctional crosslinkers. Biomaterials. 2013, 34(11):2683-93.
- 14. Leijon J, Carlsson F, Brännström J, Sanchez J, Larsson R, Nilsson B, Magnusson PU, Rosenquist M. Attachment of flexible heparin chains to gelatin scaffolds improves endothelial cell infiltration. Tissue Eng Part A. 2013, 19(11-12):1336-48.
- 15. Ekdahl KN, Hong J, Hamad OA, Larsson R, Nilsson B. Evaluation of the blood compatibility of materials, cells, and tissues: basic concepts, test models, and practical guidelines. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2013, 735:257-70. Review.
- 16. Thor AL, Hong J, Kjeller G, Sennerby L, Rasmusson L. Correlation of Platelet Growth Factor Release in Jawbone Defect Repair A Study in the Dog Mandible. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res. 2013, 15(5):759-68.
- 17. Bäck J, Lood C, Bengtsson AA, Ekdahl KN, Nilsson B. Contact activation products are new potential biomarkers to evaluate the risk of thrombotic events in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Res Ther. 2013, 15(6):R206.

- 18. Forsberg U, Jonsson P, Stegmayr C, Jonsson F, Nilsson B, Nilsson Ekdahl K, Stegmayr B. A high blood level in the venous chamber and a wet-stored dialyzer help to reduce exposure for microemboli during hemodialysis. Hemodial Int. 2013, 17(4):612-7.
- 19. Darreh-Shori T, Vijayaraghavan S, Aeinehband S, Piehl F, Lindblom RP, Nilsson B, Ekdahl KN, Långström B, Almkvist O, Nordberg A. Functional variability in butyrylcholinesterase activity regulates intrathecal cytokine and astroglial biomarker profiles in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2013, 34(11):2465-81.
- 20. Bergseth G, Ludviksen JK, Kirschfink M, Giclas PC, Nilsson B, Mollnes TE. An international serum standard for application in assays to detect human complement activation products. Mol Immunol. 2013, 56(3):232-9.
- 21. Vijayaraghavan, S, Karami, A, Aeinehband, S, Behbahani, H, Grandien, A, Nilsson, B, Ekdahl, K N, Lindblom, RPF, Piehl, F, Darreh-Shori, T. Regulated extracellular choline acetyltransferase activity the missing link of the distant action of acetylcholine in the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway, PlosOne 2013, 8 (6) e65936.
- 22. Moll G, Hult A, von Bahr L, Alm JJ, Heldring N, Hamad OA, Stenbeck-Funke L, Larsson S, Teramura Y, Roelofs H, Nilsson B, Fibbe WE, Olsson ML, Le Blanc K. Do ABO blood group antigens hamper the therapeutic efficacy of mesenchymal stromal cells? PLoS One. 2014, 9(1):e85040.
- 23. Klapper Y, Hamad OA, Teramura Y, Leneweit G, Nienhaus GU, Ricklin D, Lambris JD, Ekdahl KN, Nilsson B. Mediation of a non-proteolytic activation of complement component C3 by phospholipid vesicles. Biomaterials. 2014, 35(11):3688-96.
- 24. Nilsson B, Hamad OA, Ahlström H, Kullberg J, Johansson L, Lindhagen L, Haenni A, Ekdahl KN, Lind L. C3 and C4 are strongly related to adipose tissue variables and cardiovascular risk factors. Eur J Clin Invest. 2014, 44(6):587-96.
- 25. Nilsson B, Teramura Y, Ekdahl KN. The role and regulation of complement activation as part of the thromboinflammation elicited in cell therapies. Mol Immunol. 2014, 61(2):185-90. Review.
- 26. Nordling S, Nilsson B, Magnusson PU. A novel in vitro model for studying the interactions between human whole blood and endothelium. J Vis Exp. 2014, (93):e52112.
- 27. Hårdstedt M, Lindblom S, Hong J, Nilsson B, Korsgren O, Ronquist G. A novel model for studies of blood-mediated long-term responses to cellular transplants. Ups J Med Sci. 2014 Oct 17:1-12.
- 28. Engberg AE, Nilsson PH, Huang S, Fromell K, Hamad OA, Mollnes TE, Rosengren-Holmberg JP, Sandholm K, Teramura Y, Nicholls IA, Nilsson B, Ekdahl KN. Prediction of inflammatory responses induced by biomaterials in contact with human blood using protein fingerprint from plasma. Biomaterials. 2015 Jan;36:55-65. Epub 2014 Oct 5.
- 29. 102. Moll, G, von Bahr, L, Alm, JJ, Davies, JC, Stenbeck-Funke, L, Hamad, OA, Hinsch, R, Ignatowicz, L, Locke, M, Lönnies, H, Lambris, JD, Teramura, Y, Ekdahl, K N., Nilsson, B, Le Blanc, K. Do cryopreserved mesenchymal stromal cells display impaired immunomodulatory and therapeutic properties? Stem cells, 2014, 32 (9): 2430-42
- Kumar, J, Lind, MP, Salihovic, S, van Bavel, B, Ekdahl, KN, Nilsson, B, Lind, L, Erik Ingelsson, E. Influence of Persistent Organic Pollutants on the Complement System in a Population-based Human Sample. 2014, Environment International 2014, 71: 94-100
- 31. Sandholm, K, Henningsson, AJ, Jonsson, N, Bergström, S, Ernerudh, J Ekdahl, K N. Complement activation and phagocytosis in vitro of two strains of *Borrelia burgdorferi s.l.* PlosOne, 2014, 9(9) e108013

 Huang, S, Sandholm, K, Jonsson, N, Nilsson, A, Wieslander, A, Grundström, G, Hancock, V, Ekdahl, KN. Low concentrations of citrate reduce complement and granulocyte activation in vitro in human blood. Clinical Kidney Journal 2015; 8: 31-37 Epub 2014 Dec 1.

## Immune Complexes in Rheumatic Diseases

### Johan Rönnelid

Our research focuses on the functional and prognostic impact of immune complexes and immune complex-associated autoantibodies in rheumatic diseases and chronic infections. We study immune complex (IC)-mediated mechanisms in chronic rheumatic diseases, primarily rheumatoid arthritis (RA), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and chronic infections like *Leishmania donovani*. We also study how IC and IC-associated autoantibodies act as prognostic markers for future disease development.

Our research aims to make IC more central in the etiologic perception of chronic diseases from a modernized functional approach. This can lead to definition of new IC-dependent disease phenotypes, as has been the case in RA, as well as to phenotype-based therapies in autoimmune diseases with IC-driven pathology.

## Characterization of immune complexes

#### Vivek Anand Manivel, Azita Sohrabian, Amir Elshafie, Linda Mathsson, Mohammed Mullazehi, Sahwa Elbagir, Johan Rönnelid

The project relies on close collaboration between basic immunological research and clinical research, mostly within rheumatology. The basic research concerns characterization of IC-induced immune/inflammatory reactions and development of new techniques to measure effects of IC and IC-associated autoantibodies. The measurement outcomes are then related to the clinical situation for the individual patients at the time of sampling (pathogenetic issues) or later (prognostic issues).

## The role of IC in disease

# Vivek Anand Manivel, Azita Sohrabian, Amir Elshafie, Linda Mathsson, Mohammed Mullazehi, Johan Rönnelid

At the clinical level we investigate the importance of IC-triggered mechanisms for the development and maintenance of disease activity in RA, SLE and chronic infections. One of our main interests is currently to describe in detail the group of RA patients with high levels of circulating autoantibodies reacting with collagen type II in joint cartilage. We have shown that these antibodies, which show the highest levels very early (at the time of RA diagnosis) are found in patients which also have maximum inflammation and joint destruction at this early time point.

With two *in vitro* models reflecting anti-collagen containing IC in the joints, we have shown that these IC induce the production of inflammation-promoting and joint-degrading substances. Thereby we have explained the link between the early appearance of anti-collagen antibodies and the simultaneously appearing inflammation and joint destruction in anti-collagen antibody positive RA patients.

We purify IC from blood or inflamed joints, whereupon these IC are used to stimulate cells *in vitro*. In other *in vitro* systems we create artificial IC with human components, and use these IC to stimulate different cell types. In these experiments we aim to mimic immune reactions that take place in specific target organs in patients, e.g. RA cartilage or in the soft tissues in close vicinity to bone/cartilage erosion in RA joints. This work is done in close collaboration with researchers from many rheumatology centers in Sweden, Holland, United Kingdom, USA, Iceland and Sudan, as well as tropical medicine specialists in Sudan.

We believe that a greater functional understanding of IC-mediated mechanisms can lead to new principles of treatment in IC-associated diseases like RA, SLE and chronic infections.

Such knowledge will also lead to better understanding and distinguishing of pathogenetically separate subgroups of patients in traditional criterion-based diseases like RA and SLE. Thereby it will be possible to treat each phenotypical patient subgroup in an individually and biologically adequate way.

## **Comparative studies of rheumatic diseases in Sweden and Sudan** Amir Elshafie, Sahwa Elbagir, Johan Rönnelid

Little is today known about the natural history of rheumatoid arthritis in third world countries, and nothig has been published from Sudan. In the first part of the project we investigate Sudanese RA patient and preliminary data show very high disease activity and severe joint destructions.

The worlds' highest rates of stillbirths are found in sub-Saharan Africa. The antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) is characterized by thromboses and severe pregnancy complications. APS is associated with anti-phospholipid antibodies, and often related to systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) a disease with a very strong female preponderance and increased pregnancy risk. The second part of the project will investigate Sudanese pregnancies and SLE patients in an APS context. Sahwa Elbagir is a PhD student within this project. Laboratory analyses of standard APS test, APS tests that have shown bigger impact in Africa than elsewhere and new recently described phospholipid antibodies will be investigated. As control groups we use Swedish SLE and APS patients from Karolinska Hospital and Sudanese women with uncomplicated pregnancies.

## Group members during 2014

Johan Rönnelid, professor, senior consultant in clinical immunology, group leader Vivek Anand Manivel, PhD student Sahwa Elbagir, PhD student Azita Sohrabian, research engineer Barbro Persson, physician Amir Elshafie, affiliated researcher Linda Mathsson, affiliated researcher

## Funding during 2014

Swedish Research Council, 700 kSEK ALF, 444 kSEK Agnes and Mac Rudberg fund, 250 kSEK Swedish Rheumatism Association, 175 kSEK King Gustav Vth 80-year fund, 100 kSEK

- 1. Ärlestig L, Mullazehi M, Kokkonen H, Rocklöv J, Rönnelid J, Dahlqvist SR. Antibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptides of IgG, IgA and IgM isotype and rheumatoid factor of IgM and IgA isotype are increased in unaffected members of multicase rheumatoid arthritis families from northern Sweden. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012, 71(6):825-9.
- Gunnarsson I, Schlumberger W, Rönnelid J. Antibodies to M-Type Phospholipase A2 Receptor (PLA2R) and Membranous Lupus Nephritis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012, 59(4):585-6.

- 3. Ahlin E, Mathsson L, Eloranta ML, Jonsdottir T, Gunnarsson I, Rönnblom L, Rönnelid J. Autoantibodies associated with RNA are more enriched than anti-dsDNA antibodies in circulating immune complexes in SLE. Lupus. 2012, 21(6):586-95.
- 4. Laki J, Lundström E, Snir O, Rönnelid J, Ganji I, Catrina AI, Bengtsson C, Saevarsdottir S, Wick MC, Alfredsson L, Klareskog L, Padyukov L. Very high levels of anticitrullinated protein antibodies are associated with HLA-DRB1\*15 non-shared epitope allele in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2012, 64(7):2078-84.
- 5. Gerlag DM, Raza K, van Baarsen LG, Brouwer E, Buckley CD, Burmester GR, Gabay C, Catrina AI, Cope AP, Cornelis F, Dahlqvist SR, Emery P, Eyre S, Finckh A, Gay S, Hazes JM, van der Helm-van Mil A, Huizinga TW, Klareskog L, Kvien TK, Lewis C, Machold KP, Rönnelid J, van Schaardenburg D, Schett G, Smolen JS, Thomas S, Worthington J, Tak PP. EULAR recommendations for terminology and research in individuals at risk of rheumatoid arthritis: report from the Study Group for Risk Factors for Rheumatoid Arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012, 71(5):638-41.
- 6. Mullazehi M, Wick MC, Klareskog L, van Vollenhoven R, Rönnelid J. Anti-type II collagen antibodies are associated with early radiographic destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012, 14(3):R100.
- 7. Hansson M, Mathsson L, Schlederer T, Israelsson L, Matsson P, Nogueira L, Jakobsson PJ, Lundberg K, Malmström V, Serre G, Holmdahl R, Nystrand M, Klareskog L, Rönnelid J. Validation of a multiplex chip-based assay for the detection of autoantibodies against citrullinated peptides. Arthritis Res Ther. 2012, 14(5):R201.
- 8. Brink M, Hansson M, Mathsson L, Jakobsson PJ, Holmdahl R, Hallmans G, Stenlund H, Rönnelid J, Klareskog L, Rantapää-Dahlqvist S. Multiplex analyses of antibodies against citrullinated peptides in individuals prior to development of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2013, 65(4):899-910.
- 9. Turesson C, Mathsson L, Jacobsson LTH, Sturfelt G, Rönnelid J. Antibodies to modified citrullinated vimentin are associated with severe extra-articular manifestations in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2013, 72(12):2047-8.
- 10. Happonen KE, Saxne T, Jacobsson L, Sturfelt G, Rönnelid J, Mollnes TE, Heinegård D, Turesson C, Blom AM. COMP-C3b complexes in rheumatoid arthritis with severe extraarticular manifestations. J Rheumatol 2013, 40(12):2001-5.
- 11. Agmon-Levin N, Damoiseaux J, Kallenberg C, Sack U, Witte T, Herold M, Bossuyt X, Musset L, Cervera R, Plaza-Lopez A, Dias C, José Sousa M, Radice A, Eriksson C, Hultgren O, Viander M, Khamashta M, Regenass S, Coelho Andrade LE, Wiik A, Tincani A, Rönnelid J, Bloch DB, Fritzler MJ, Chan EK, Garcia-De La Torre I, Konstantinov KN, Lahita R, Wilson M, Vainio O, Fabien N, Sinico RA, Meroni P, Shoenfeld Y. International recommendations for the assessment of autoantibodies to cellular antigens referred to as anti-nuclear antibodies. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014, 73(1):17-23.
- 12. Wang N, Truedsson L, Elvin K, Andersson BA, Rönnelid J, Mincheva-Nilsson L, Lindkvist A, Ludvigsson JF, Hammarström L, Dahle C. Serological assessment for celiac disease in IgA deficient adults. PLoS One. 2014, 9(4):e9318.
- 13. Gustafsson JT, Gunnarsson I, Källberg H, Pettersson S, Zickert A, Vikerfors A, Möller S, Rönnelid J, Elvin K, Svenungsson E. Cigarette smoking, antiphospholipid antibodies and vascular events in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014 Apr 1. [Epub ahead of print].
- 14. Ytterberg AJ, Joshua V, Reynisdottir G, Tarasova NK, Rutishauser D, Ossipova E, Haj Hensvold A, Eklund A, Sköld CM, Grunewald J, Malmström V, Jakobsson PJ, Rönnelid

J, Padyukov L, Zubarev RA, Klareskog L, Catrina AI. Shared immunological targets in the lungs and joints of patients with rheumatoid arthritis: identification and validation. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014 May 9. [Epub ahead of print]

- 15. Melin E, Sohrabian A, Rönnelid J, Borg K. Normal serum levels of immune complexes in postpolio patients. Results Immunol. 2014, 4:54-7.
- 16. Berntson L, Nordal E, Fasth A, Aalto K, Herlin T, Nielsen S, Rygg M, Zak M, Rönnelid J. Anti-type II collagen antibodies, anti-CCP, IgA RF and IgM RF are associated with joint damage, assessed eight years after onset of juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA). Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2014, 12:22.
- 17. Weitoft T, Rönnelid J, Knight A, Lysholm J, Saxne T, Larsson A. Outcome predictors of intra-articular glucocorticoid treatment for knee synovitis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis a prospective cohort study. Arthritis Res Ther. 2014, 16(3):R129.
- 18. Brink M, Hansson M, Rönnelid J, Klareskog L, Rantapää Dahlqvist S. The autoantibody repertoire in periodontitis: a role in the induction of autoimmunity to citrullinated proteins in rheumatoid arthritis? Antibodies against uncitrullinated peptides seem to occur prior to the antibodies to the corresponding citrullinated peptides. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014, 73(7):e46.
- Hafström I, Engvall IL, Rönnelid J, Boonen A, van der Heijde D, Svensson B; BARFOT study group. Rheumatoid factor and anti-CCP do not predict progressive joint damage in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis treated with prednisolone: a randomised study. BMJ Open. 2014, 4(7):e005246.
- 20. Bos WH, van de Stadt LA, Sohrabian A, Rönnelid J, van Schaardenburg D. Development of anti-citrullinated protein antibody and rheumatoid factor isotypes prior to the onset of rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2014;16(2):405.
- 21. Lim CK, Dahle C, Elvin K, Andersson BA, Rönnelid J, Melén E, Bergström A, Truedsson L, Hammarström L. Reversal of Immunoglobulin A Deficiency in Children. J Clin Immunol. 2014 Nov 5. [Epub ahead of print]

## Immunotherapy of Cancer

### Thomas Tötterman, Sara Mangsbo

Growing tumors have the capacity to counteract the attack and control of the immune system by creating an immunosuppressive milieu. This is the result of recruitment of several types of immunosuppressive cells and their cytokines.

We have initiated a series of novel locally applied immunotherapies in which we aim to revert this negative milieu. Therapies include the use of Adenovectors expressing CD40L, monoclonal antibodies and Toll-like receptor agonists. We have pioneered local AdCD40L immunotherapy of bladder cancer and melanoma in man and melanoma in the dog. Our adoptive T cell therapy trial in human melanoma was one of the first. We currently develop novel protein-based agonists/blockers in collaboration with the Biotech industry (See auto-commentary in Oncoimmunology 2014). In addition we are currently developing a novel therapeutic long peptide vaccine for the treatment of prostate cancer. The project is financed by BIO-X/Vinnova and is a collaboration effort between Uppsala University, Leiden University Medical Center and Immuneed AB.

## Immune stimulating gene therapy

#### Tötterman/Mangsbo et al.

Over the past several years, we have developed and characterized Adenoviral vectors expressing immunostimulatory genes in several tumor models, with special focus on bladder cancer. Injection of AdCD40L directly into the tumor area effects tumor regression and specific immunity. A first-in-man clinical phase I/IIa study utilizing this vector in aggressive bladder cancer has been published. Several patients experienced tumor regression or disappearence, with minimal side effects. We have in collaboration with SLU (Swedish Agricultural University) treated 19 dogs with aggressive malignant melanoma, again with very encouraging results. We are currently pursuing a clinical trial with our AdCD40L therapy on melanoma patients. The therapy is given with or without low dose cyclophosphamide and the latter is applied as means to inhibit the function T regulatory cells thereby aiding anti-tumor responses. We have also, together with professor Magnus Essand, validated a second generation vector for gene therapy that can target a wider range of cells allowing us to modulate the whole tumor micro environment including antigen-presenting cells (Liljenfeldt et al JIT 2014).

# Adjuvant therapies in combination a block of inhibitory receptors to target tumors

#### Mangsbo et al.

Immune activation can be hampered by two major immune checkpoint regulators (CTLA-4 and PD-1). In order to ensure proper and sustained T cell activation one can use antibodies that block these two receptors. We have combined the synthetic DNA sequences; CpG ODNs (described in the previous project) with CTLA-4 or PD-1 blockade to examine if the combination strategy could improve therapy.

Single and combination strategies were assessed in an experimental bladder cancer model. CTLA-4 blockade alone prolonged survival of mice. When anti-CTLA-4 or anti-PD-1 antibodies were combined with CpG, survival was enhanced and elevated levels of activated T cells were found in treated mice. We believe that this strategy can be used to further improve on immunotherapy for patients with aggressive bladder cancer or other solid tumors

and we are now investigating novel therapies that can be used in a clinical setting together with our industrial partners.

#### **Cancer Vaccines**

For the last years we have pursued a track of research aiming to improve T cell priming/activation by facilitating the delivery of synthetic long peptides (SLPs) into DCs via Fc receptors (FcR) The SLPs are overlapping ~20-30 long amino acid sequences spanning tumor or pathogen related antigens (Ags) and can be used to trigger T cell responses in conjunction with adjuvants. SLPs have the advantage, over short single peptides, to span a whole tumor associated protein. They include a plethora of CD4 and CD8 T cell epitopes for various HLA alleles. Importantly, they require processing by antigen-presenting cells (APCs) and will therefore not directly interact with MHC class I on non APCs, thus lowering the risk of anergy induction.

SLPs have successfully been assessed by our collaborators in Leiden in a clinical trial for high-grade vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia using long peptides spanning the E6 and E7 oncoproteins but the work demonstrate that improvements are needed to cure larger lesions. Our work to improve SLP vaccination has led to the discovery that a B cell epitope (a hapten/Ag), when coupled to SLPs, can facilitate Ag-SLP uptake. The idea is that circulating antibodies (Abs) will bind the hapten and immune complexes will form that can subsequently interact with Fc receptors which will lead to Ag-SLP uptake, processing and presentation to T cells. The subsequent T cell response will be improved as the DCs are loaded with significantly more Ag-SLP due to immune complex mediated uptake. Additionally DCs are activated by the FcR interaction, enabling upregulation of CD80/CD86 as well as cytokines, crucially important for optimal T cell activation (Schematic illustration in Figure 1).

We are currently investigating this novel vaccine in a human blood loop system to establish how the immune complexes behave in the presence of intact human blood components.

Via funding from Bio-X (Vinnova) we are now preparing a clinical grade batch of a prostate cancer vaccine based on long peptides with the aim to progress to a clinical trial 2017.

#### Myeloid cells in the tumor micro environment

We are collaborating with both industrial and academic partners in the TIMCC network (EU Marie Curie ITN grant to Dr Mangsbo and associate professor Dimberg). Our previous data in this area demonstrate that we can affect myeloid cells by our well know AdCD40L therapy. Herein we are further exploring how this recruitment and modulation of myeloid cells occur in response to immunotherapy and how the vasculature can affect this. This is an exciting new project that will continue until the end of 2016.

#### Group members during 2014

Thomas Tötterman, professor, group leader Sara Mangsbo, researcher, assisting group leader Erika Fletcher, PhD student Luuk van Hooren, PhD student Wictor Gustafsson, research assistant Lina Liljenfeldt, PhD student Gabriella Paul-Wetterberg, engineer Ann-Charlotte Hellström, technician Joachim Burman, PhD student and MD

## **Dissertations during 2014**

Lina Liljenfeldt, CD40L Gene Therapy for Solid Tumors, June 3, 2014.

Joachim Burman, Curing Multiple Sclerosis: How to do it and how to prove it. June 13, 2014

## Funding during 2014

<u>Sara Mangsbo</u> Swedish Research Council, 3R, 700 kSEK Göran Gustafsson stiftelse, 500 kSEK EU, Marie Curie TIMCC (PI Anna Dimberg), 800 kSEK

<u>Thomas Tötterman</u> Swedish Cancer Society, 800 kSEK ALF, 135 kSEK Alligator Bio, 1 400 kSEK (commissioned research)

- 1. Ullenhag GJ, Sadeghi AM, Carlsson B, Ahlström H, Mosavi F, Wagenius G, Tötterman TH. Adoptive T-cell therapy for malignant melanoma patients with TILs obtained by ultrasound-guided needle biopsy. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2012, 61(5):725-32.
- Broos S, Sandin LC, Apel J, Tötterman TH, Akagi T, Akashi M, Borrebaeck CA, Ellmark P, Lindstedt M. Synergistic augmentation of CD40-mediated activation of antigen-presenting cells by amphiphilic poly(γ-glutamic acid) nanoparticles. Biomaterials. 2012, 33(26):6230-9.
- 3. Sharp PE, Martin-Ramirez J, Boross P, Mangsbo SM, Reynolds J, Moss J, Pusey CD, Cook HT, Tarzi RM, Verbeek JS. Increased incidence of anti-GBM disease in Fcgamma receptor 2b deficient mice, but not mice with conditional deletion of Fcgr2b on either B cells or myeloid cells alone. Mol Immunol. 2012, 50(1-2):49-56
- 4. van Montfoort N, Mangsbo SM, Camps MG, van Maren WW, Verhaart IE, Waisman A, Drijfhout JW, Melief CJ, Verbeek JS, Ossendorp F. Circulating specific antibodies enhance systemic cross-priming by delivery of complexed antigen to dendritic cells in vivo. Eur J Immunol. 2012, 42(3):598-606.
- van Montfoort N, 't Hoen PA, Mangsbo SM, Camps MG, Boross P, Melief CJ, Ossendorp F, Verbeek JS. FcY receptor IIb strongly regulates Fcγ receptor-facilitated T cell activation by dendritic cells. J Immunol. 2012, 189(1):92-101
- 6. Sharp PE, Martin-Ramirez J, Mangsbo SM, Boross P, Pusey CD, Touw IP, Cook HT, Verbeek JS, Tarzi RM. FcγRIIb on myeloid cells and intrinsic renal cells rather than B cells protects from nephrotoxic nephritis. J Immunol. 2013, 190(1):340-8.
- 7. Sadeghi A, Ullenhag G, Wagenius G, Tötterman TH, Eriksson F. Rapid expansion of T cells: Effects of culture and cryopreservation and importance of short-term cell recovery. Acta Oncol. 2013, 52(5):978-86.
- 8. Lidehäll AK, Engman ML, Sund F, Malm G, Lewensohn-Fuchs I, Ewald U, Tötterman TH, Karltorp E, Korsgren O, Eriksson BM. Cytomegalovirus-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in infants and children. Scand J Immunol. 2013, 77(2):135-43.
- 9. Eriksson F, Tötterman T, Maltais AK, Pisa P, Yachnin J. DNA vaccine coding for the rhesus prostate specific antigen delivered by intradermal electroporation in patients with relapsed prostate cancer. Vaccine. 2013, 31(37):3843-8.

- Westberg S, Sadeghi A, Svensson E, Segall T, Dimopoulou M, Korsgren O, Hemminki A, Loskog AS, Tötterman TH, von Euler H. Treatment efficacy and immune stimulation by AdCD40L gene therapy of spontaneous canine malignant melanoma. J Immunother. 2013, 36(6):350-8.
- 11. Burman J, Fransson M, Tötterman TH, Fagius J, Mangsbo SM, Loskog AS. T-cell responses after haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for aggressive relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Immunology. 2013, 140(2):211-9.
- 12. Sandin LC, Tötterman TH, Mangsbo SM. Local immunotherapy based on agonistic CD40 antibodies effectively inhibits experimental bladder cancer. Oncoimmunology. 2014, 3(1):e27400.
- 13. Sandin LC, Eriksson F, Ellmark P, Loskog AS, Tötterman TH, Mangsbo SM. Local CTLA4 blockade effectively restrains experimental pancreatic adenocarcinoma growth in vivo. Oncoimmunology. 2014, 3(1):e27614.
- Sandin LC, Orlova A, Gustafsson E, Ellmark P, Tolmachev V, Tötterman TH, Mangsbo SM. Locally delivered CD40 agonist antibody accumulates in secondary lymphoid organs and eradicates experimental disseminated bladder cancer. Cancer Immunol Res. 2014, 2(1):80-90.
- 15. Liljenfeldt L, Dieterich LC, Dimberg A, Mangsbo SM, Loskog AS. CD40L gene therapy tilts the myeloid cell profile and promotes infiltration of activated T lymphocytes. Cancer Gene Ther. 2014, 21(3):95-102.
- 16. Liljenfeldt L, Yu D, Chen L, Essand M, Mangsbo SM. A hexon and fiber-modified adenovirus expressing CD40L improves the antigen presentation capacity of dendritic cells. J Immunother. 2014, 37(3):155-62.
- Yilmaz-Elis AS, Ramirez JM, Asmawidjaja P, van der Kaa J, Mus AM, Brem MD, Claassens JW, Breukel C, Brouwers C, Mangsbo SM, Boross P, Lubberts E, Verbeek JS. FcγRIIb on myeloid cells rather than on B cells protects from collagen-induced arthritis. J Immunol. 2014, 192(12):5540-7.
- Burman J, Svensson E, Fransson M, Loskog AS, Zetterberg H, Raininko R, Svenningsson A, Fagius J, Mangsbo SM. The cerebrospinal fluid cytokine signature of multiple sclerosis: a homogenous response that does not conform to the Th1/Th2/Th17 convention. J Neuroimmunol. 2014, 277(1-2):153-9.
- Mangsbo SM, Broos S, Fletcher E, Veitonmäki N, Furebring C, Dahlén E, Norlén P, Lindstedt M, Tötterman TH, Ellmark P. The Human Agonistic CD40 Antibody ADC-1013 Eradicates Bladder Tumors and Generates T-cell-Dependent Tumor Immunity. Clin Cancer Res. 2015 Mar 1;21(5):1115-26. Epub 2014 Oct 14.

# Hematology

In addition to exhibiting an abnormal growth pattern, tumour cells are also often less sensitive, or even resistant, to signals that regulate cell death, apoptosis. A common objective in our research on hematological malignancies is to understand the mechanisms behind the defective control of growth, differentiation and apoptosis of the tumour cells.

Another common theme is to investigate the role of genetic and epigenetic alterations in disease development, to study how the presence or absence of disease-related mutations and epigenetic patterns can contribute to tumour growth, and how these influence patient outcome.



Ultimately, we aim to identify new prognostic and predictive markers, and to reveal new treatment strategies for hematological malignancies.

The research projects are translational with a close collaboration between our research groups and the clinical departments in Uppsala, as well as with our extensive network of national and international collaborators.

## Molecular Characterization of Acute Leukemia

#### Linda Holmfeldt

Acute leukemia is a blood disorder that is diagnosed in about 400 Swedes annually. Despite the best possible treatment with the drugs available today, a large fraction of the patients do not respond to the treatment or experience a relapse after an initial response. It is not possible to increase the survival by intensifying the treatment, since the cancer medicines available today are toxic themselves. Thus, to find new, more efficient treatment alternatives with fewer side effects, more knowledge about the origin and growth of the cancer cell is needed.

Our research aims to increase the understanding of why many patients do not respond to treatment or suffer from a relapse of the disease. We also want to identify changes in the tumor cells that can be used to develop more efficient treatment alternatives for high-risk leukemia, that today is associated with a very poor outcome.

# What are the underlying causes of initiation and progression of acute myeloid leukemia?

#### Svea Stratmann, Henrik Steffen

To identify which alterations that favour primary treatment failure and/or the outgrowth of resistant relapse clones, we perform unbiased multilevel analyses comparing newly diagnosed and relapse AML specimens.

Complementary high-resolution techniques are used to identify any alterations that may explain treatment failure or the onset of relapse. Techniques included are, amongst others, whole genome and/or exome sequencing, RNA sequencing and various studies of the epigenome. We also study the proteome of the leukemic cells, comparing these to corresponding normal cells. By employing systems biology approaches, data generated from the above mentioned analyses are integrated to generate hypotheses that could explain tumour progression.

To complement the exploratory studies, we functionally evaluate the hypotheses generated using a combination of cellular studies and *in vivo* modelling. Finally, evaluation of novel therapeutic alternatives for AML is performed.

# What are the downstream consequences of aberrant epigenetic regulators in leukemia?

#### Ren Sun, Henrik Steffen

My previous studies of pediatric high-risk and relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia identified a high frequency of alterations of epigenetic modifiers. Among these, alterations in the histone H3K27 methyltransferase Polycomb repressive complex 2 (PRC2) stand out, especially the catalytic subunit EZH2, which has been shown to act as both an oncoprotein and tumor suppressor in different types of malignancies. This suggests that perturbation in epigenetic regulation facilitates a reduced response to therapy and/or the onset of relapse.

We want to answer the question whether specific alterations in epigenetic regulators cause i) stochastic changes at the epigenetic level, or ii) specific and recurrently found epigenetic changes of genes that favour tumorigenesis.

One of the aims in our lab is thus to interrogate the downstream consequences of aberrant PRC2 on leukemogenesis. The approach we take includes everything from biochemical enzymatic assays utilizing purified protein complexes, through analyses at the cellular level to *in vivo* modelling, followed by epigenomic and transcriptomic analyses of manipulated cells.

#### Group members during 2014

Linda Holmfeldt, researcher, group leader Henrik Steffen, research engineer Svea Stratmann, PhD student Ren Sun, post doc

#### Funding during 2014

Knut & Alice Wallenberg's Foundation, Wallenberg Academy Fellow, 1 820 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 1 300 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 500 kSEK Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation, 500 kSEK and funding for L. Holmfeldt's position Kjell and Märta Beijer Foundation, "Beijerforskare", 1 000 kSEK Jeansson's Foundations, 300 kSEK

#### Publications 2012-2014

(The group came to IGP in 2014 and the papers have therefore not been published with IGP as affiliation)

- 1. Zhang J\*, Ding L\*, Holmfeldt L\*, Wu G, Heatley SL, et al. The genetic basis of early T-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Nature. 2012, 481(7380):157-63.
- 2. Holmfeldt L\*, Wei L\*, Diaz-Flores E, Walsh M, Zhang J, et al. The genomic landscape of hypodiploid acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Nat Genet. 2013, 45(3):242-52.
- 3. Hussin J, Sinnett D, Casals F, Idaghdour Y, Bruat V, Saillour V, Healy J, Grenier JC, De Malliard T, Spinella JF, Lariviere M, Busche S, Gibson G, Andersson A, Holmfeldt L, Ma J, Wei L, Zhang J, Andelfinger G, Downing JR, Mullighan CG, Awadalla P. Rare

allelic forms of PRDM9 associated with childhood leukemogenesis. Genome Res. 2013, 23(3):419-30.

 Ntziachristos P, Tsirigos A, Welstead GG, Trimarchi T, Bakogianni S, Xu L, Loizou E, Holmfeldt L, Strikoudis A, King B, Mullenders J, Becksfort J, Nedjic J, Paietta E, Tallman MS, Rowe JM, Tonon G, Satoh T, Kruidenier L, Prinjha R, Akira S, Van Vlierberghe P, Ferrando AA, Jaenisch R, Mullighan CG, and Aifantis I. Contrasting roles of histone 3 lysine 27 demethylases in acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Nature. 2014, 514(7523):513-7.

## The Control of Survival and Apoptosis in Human Multiple Myeloma

#### Helena Jernberg Wiklund

Our research focuses on multiple myeloma (MM). MM is a genetically heterogeneous plasma cell malignancy characterized by the accumulation of well-differentiated tumor cells of B cell origin in the bone marrow. Recent treatment improvements have proven successful in selected subfractions of MM patients. However, due to large intratumoral heterogeneity the identification of common causative alterations for MM has been hampered. Further understanding of the biology of MM is of primary importance in order to be able to tackle the disease complexity. The long-term goal of this research is to identify targets essential for tumor cell survival and explore in models of MM whether their function can be blocked in parallel survival pathways.

To study the molecular mechanisms and therapeutical use of target proteins in survival pathways of MM, a prerequisite has been to select and implement relevant models *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Immunocompetent syngeneic murine models of MM *in vivo* and *in vitro* models, a large well characterized authenticated panel of cell lines representing all common genetic subtypes of MM, primary patient cells and normal age-matched normal counterpart cells now constitutes our highly clinically relevant model of human MM.

Previously accomplished results in our highly relevant model of MM has generated proof-ofprinciple that the IGF-1R is an attractive target for intervention, and that survival circuits act via gene silencing by epigenetic mechanisms. The hypothesis that tumor stemness may lie within a novel tumor-associated epigenetically silenced gene signature by the Polycomb complex (PcG) is an attractive idea since it may be reverted and genes reactivated by pharmacological intervention.

## Novel and combinatorial experimental targeted therapy *in vitro* and *in vivo* Charlotte Fristedt, Prasoon Agarwal, Pernilla Martinsson

We focus predominantly on pairing promising novel anti-tumor agents with agents conventionally used in MM management and demonstrated sensitization to cytotoxic drugs.

Taking into account the predicted development of drug resistance using highly selective targeted drugs, we have selected downstream candidates of the IGF-1R pathway potentially amenable to future combinatorial intervention, one of these agents targeting epigenetic modulators in clinical trials for MM (Kharaziha et al 2012) (Lemaire et al 2012) (Bieghs et al 2014) (Maes, manuscript 2015).

In parallel, we are studying downstream molecules (cIAP2) for drug resistance using lentivirally introduced gene expression. In our present research program a panel of MM cell lines subgrouped to different usage of constitutive NF-kB activation pathways by genetical aberrations have been generated to express potential target genes of importance for altered drug resistance. We are now evaluating novel mechanisms underlying resistance to proteasome inhibitors and are currently performing gene expression signatures following drug exposure. In parallel, clinically relevant drugs to cIAP2 are studied in single and combinatorial regimens in our MM model *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Fristedt, in press 2015).

#### A novel epigenetically regulated gene signature in MM

# Antonia Kalushkova, Mohammad Alzrigat, Alba Atienza, Prasoon Agarwal, Charlotta Sandberg

In our overall aim to dissect the disease-specific global epigenetic pattern of MM, and to evaluate possible links between certain exogenous survival factors/genetic alterations and the epigenome of MM, we have recently taken an integrative genomics approach on dissecting the differences in

gene expression between non-malignant and malignant plasma cells. This novel approach resulted in our seminal findings of a novel common silenced gene profile present in a large cohort of >200 MM patients (Kalushkova et al 2010). The novel signature revealed a significant overlap to the histone methylated and silenced genes previously know to be involved in self-renewal of embryonic stem cells. We could also find the ICSBP/IRF8 gene, the expression of which we have previously reported to be silenced in patient cells and MM cell lines (Tshuikina et al 2008).

The fact that an epigenetic mark maintaining self-renewal is found in well differentiated tumor cells, supports our hypothesis that MM tumor cells by this signature harbor a proliferative potential that may be maintained by additional genetic lesions or environmental factors e.g. IGF-1 and may be unleashed by physiological and pharmacological inhibition (Jernberg Wiklund et al 2012). This is especially important in MM, displaying extensive intraclonal genetic heterogeneity, and where whole-genome sequencing has not substantially contributed to our understanding on the origin of the tumor, or lead to the development of novel therapeutic strategies. Our identification of the Polycomb repressive (PRC2) as a mediator of gene silencing in MM strongly suggests that this profile may be a common feature of myeloma tumor cells, rather than representing features of a specific stemcell subpopulation. Therefore, this gene signature in MM populations is evaluated in relation to clonogenic growth and tumor initiating capacity (Van Valckenborgh et al 2012).

The silenced gene expression in MM may thus be a possible requirement for tumor initiation, progression and survival of the MM tumour initiating clone within the bone marrow niche in vivo. Functional validation including mapping of the global epigenome in MM patients, studies of the tumor initiating capacity in potential tumor stem cell populations of MM, and consequences of gene reactivation by direct and indirect biological and pharmacological inhibition of the Polycomb complex are the current focus of our investigations. Currently, newly developed clinically relevant drugs targeting the silencing complex are evaluated for potential use and therapeutical implications in MM models *in vivo* and *in vitro*.

# Molecular Networks for Transcriptional Regulation and Epigenetic Control of Differentiation

#### Fredrik Öberg, Antonia Kalushkova, Mohammad Alzrigat, Prasoon Agarwal

The project is focused on how epigenetic mechanisms regulate molecular networks with implications for two major disease processes; the pathogenesis of hematopoietic tumors and chronic inflammation. We are specifically interested in the epigenetics of transcription factors and have investigated the possibilities of reprogramming the epigenetic status of the transcription factor network in leukemic cells. The data generated by the project will increase the basic knowledge of how epigenetic mechanisms play a role in disease, and discover new target molecules/pathways, amenable to future therapeutic intervention.

Mechanisms of epigenetic control are often disturbed in cancer, and aberrant DNAmethylation or histone modifications of specific transcription factor genes, with key functions in the differentiation process, are likely to be important for the pathogenesis of leukemia. Although less well understood, epigenetic changes are also observed in chronic inflammation and influences disease activity.

The current aims of the project are (1) To investigate the molecular mechanisms for nuclear receptor mediated epigenetic reprogramming involved in the control of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) cell differentiation, (2) To identify genes required to maintain silencing of tumor suppressor genes, and to discover new compounds with the capacity to relieve epigenetic silencing and reprogram gene expression in leukemia cells, (3) To investigate the epigenetic influence on the gene-regulatory network operating in monocytes during chronic inflammation associated with mood disorders.

The long-term goal is to achieve a better understanding of the role malignancy-associated epigenetic changes play in perturbing differentiation and activation. Thereby we hope to identify

signals or drugs that can re-initiate the blocked differentiation process in leukemia or modulate disease-causing inflammatory activation of monocytes.

## Group members during 2014

Helena Jernberg Wiklund, professor, group leader Prasoon Agarwal, PhD student Mohammad Alzrigat, PhD student Alba Atienza Párraga, PhD student Charlotte Fristedt, PhD student Antonia Kalushkova, PhD student Pernilla Martinsson, research engineer Charlotta Sandberg, research engineer Kenneth Nilsson, professor emeritus Fredrik Öberg, adj associate professor Mårten Fryknäs, associated bioinformatician

## **Dissertations during 2014**

Prasoon Agarwal, Regulation of Gene Expression in Multiple Myeloma Cells and Normal Fibroblasts: Integrative Bioinformatic and Experimental Approaches, November 13, 2014.

## Funding during 2014

Von Kantzow Foundation, 684 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 1 250 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 800 kSEK

- 1. Van Valckenborgh E, Matsui W, Agarwal P, Lub S, Dehui X, De Bruyne E, Menu E, Empsen C, van Grunsven L, Agarwal J, Wang Q, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Vanderkerken K. Tumor-initiating capacity of CD138- and CD138+ tumor cells in the 5T33 multiple myeloma model. Leukemia. 2012, 26(6):1436-9.
- 2. Jernberg-Wiklund H, Nilsson K. Targeting the IGF-1R signaling and mechanisms for epigenetic gene silencing in human multiple myeloma. Ups J Med Sci. 2012, 117(2):166-77.
- Halldórsdóttir AM, Kanduri M, Marincevic M, Mansouri L, Isaksson A, Göransson H, Axelsson T, Agarwal P, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Stamatopoulos K, Sander B, Ehrencrona H, Rosenquist R. Mantle cell lymphoma displays a homogenous methylation profile: a comparative analysis with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Am J Hematol. 2012, 87(4):361-7.
- 4. Lemaire M, Fristedt C, Agarwal P, Menu E, Van Valckenborgh E, De Bruyne E, Österborg A, Atadja P, Larsson O, Axelson M, Van Camp B, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Vanderkerken K. The HDAC inhibitor LBH589 enhances the antimyeloma effects of the IGF-1RTK inhibitor picropodophyllin. Clin Cancer Res. 2012, 18(8):2230-9.
- 5. Kharaziha P, De Raeve H, Fristedt C, Li Q, Gruber A, Johnsson P, Kokaraki G, Panzar M, Laane E, Osterborg A, Zhivotovsky B, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Grandér D, Celsing F, Björkholm M, Vanderkerken K, Panaretakis T. Sorafenib has potent antitumor activity

against multiple myeloma in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo in the 5T33MM mouse model. Cancer Res. 2012, 72(20):5348-62.

- 6. Dimberg LY, Dimberg A, Ivarsson K, Fryknäs M, Rickardson L, Tobin G, Ekman S, Larsson R, Gullberg U, Nilsson K, Öberg F, Wiklund HJ. Stat1 activation attenuates IL-6 induced Stat3 activity but does not alter apoptosis sensitivity in multiple myeloma. BMC Cancer. 2012, 12:318.
- Karlsson H, Lindqvist AC, Fransson M, Paul-Wetterberg G, Nilsson B, Essand M, Nilsson K, Frisk P, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Loskog A. Combining CAR T cells and the Bcl-2 family apoptosis inhibitor ABT-737 for treating B-cell malignancy. Cancer Gene Ther. 2013, 20(7):386-93. Erratum in: Cancer Gene Ther. 2013, 20(12):702.
- De Bruyne E, Maes K, Deleu S, Van Valckenborgh E, Menu E, Vande Broek I, Fraczek J, Van Grunsven L Rogiers V, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Vanderkerken K. Epigenetic Regulation of Myeloma Within its bone marrow microevironment. *In* Advances in Biology and Therapy of Multiple Myeloma; Basic Scienc Springer Science NY. Volume 1: 978, 8-14 (2013).
- 9. Jernberg Wiklund H, Westermark B. Taming the cancer cell. J Intern Med. 2014, 276(1):2-4.
- Bieghs L, Lub S, Fostier K, Maes K, Van Valckenborgh E, Menu E, Johnsen HE, Overgaard MT, Larsson O, Axelson M, Nyegaard M, Schots R, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Vanderkerken K, De Bruyne E. The IGF-1 receptor inhibitor picropodophyllin potentiates the anti-myeloma activity of a BH3-mimetic. Oncotarget. 2014, 5(22):11193-208.
- Agarwal P, Enroth S, Teichmann M, Wiklund HJ, Smit A, Westermark B, Singh U. Growth signals employ CGGBP1 to suppress transcription of Alu-SINEs. Cell Cycle. 2014 Nov 21:0. [Epub ahead of print]

## Molecular Hematology - Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia

#### **Richard Rosenquist Brandell**

The main goals with our translational research program on chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) are to increase our understanding of mechanisms behind disease development, to improve and optimize the diagnostic and prognostic information as well as to reveal new strategies for therapy.

CLL, the most common adult leukemia in Western countries, is a biologically and clinically heterogeneous malignancy with varying disease course. Many patients survive for years or decades even without treatment, whereas others succumb rapidly to the disease despite therapy. Men are more commonly affected than women with a median age at diagnosis of 72 years. At present two staging systems are used in clinical practice (Rai and Binet), however both have a limited ability to predict the clinical course at an early stage. The disease has remained incurable although new treatment strategies, including antibody-based therapy and small molecular inhibitors, appear promising.

In recent years, molecular genetic studies have revealed new prognostic markers, which have significantly improved the subdivision of the disease. Two of the most important molecular predictors are the mutation status of the immunoglobulin heavy variable (*IGHV*) genes and certain recurrent genomic aberrations, which divides CLL into prognostic subgroups.

#### Stereotyped B-cell receptors in CLL

#### Lesley-Ann Sutton, Panagiotis Baliakas, Anastasia Hazidimitriou, Diego Cortese, Sujata Bhoi, Emma Young, Larry Mansouri, Richard Rosenquist

An interesting theory that has emerged is the potential role of antigens in the development of CLL. Many reports, including ours, indicate a very biased *IGHV* gene repertoire in CLL, and virtually identical B-cell receptors (BcRs) have been identified in multiple subsets of CLL. In a large collaborative work, we analyzed the complementarity determining region 3 (CDR3) sequences, the main determinant of antigen specificity, in more than 7400 CLL patients, where up to 30% of CLL patients could be assigned to stereotyped subsets. In this study, we proposed a novel molecular classification of CLL based on BcR stereotypy, since patients expressing certain stereotyped BcR appear to have high intra-subset homogeneity both regarding clinical outcome as well as biological features. As an example of the latter point, we demonstrated that subset #2 (IGHV3-21/IGVL3-21) patients exhibit a remarkable 44% frequency of mutations in the *SF3B1* gene, encoding a core component of the spliceosome, whereas other aggressive subsets had frequencies in the range of 0-10%. This finding alludes to subset-biased acquisition of genomic aberrations, perhaps consistent with particular antigen/antibody interactions.

To further investigate the clinical relevance of this new molecular classification based on stereotypy, we performed a multi-center study comprising 8593 CLL patients where individual stereotyped subsets showed profound differences in e.g. demographics, clinical presentation and presence of cytogenetic aberrations. Importantly, members of the same subset followed a similar clinical course, e.g. subsets #1 (IGHV1/5/7/IGKV1-39) and #2 had very short time to treatment and poor overall survival, similar to patients with *TP53* dysfunction, while subset #4 patients (IGHV4-34/IGKV2-30) followed an indolent disease course and were rarely in need of treatment.

### Novel prognostic markers in CLL

#### Larry Mansouri, Lesley-Ann Sutton, Anastasia Hazidimitriou, Diego Cortese, Emma Young, Sujata Bhoi, Viktor Ljungström, Mattias Mattsson, Panagiotis Baliakas, Richard Rosenquist

Next-generation sequencing (NGS) studies have revealed a number of novel recurrent mutations in e.g. the *NOTCH1*, *SF3B1* and *BIRC3* genes in CLL with higher frequencies in patients with a more aggressive disease. We investigated the presence of these mutations in a large Scandinavian population-based cohort and found a considerably lower frequency of these mutations than in the pivotal studies, probably reflecting the unselected nature of our material. Importantly, *SF3B1* and *NOTCH1* mutations were shown to confer particularly poor prognosis similar to patients with *TP53* aberrations.

In a multi-institutional collaborative effort, coordinated under the auspices of the European Research Initiative on CLL (ERIC), we investigated the presence of mutations within *SF3B1*, *NOTCH1*, *TP53*, *BIRC3* and *MYD88*, in the largest cohort ever studied (based on 3490 cases from ten European institutions). We provide strong evidence that different recurrent mutations are associated with distinct clinico-biological profiles and outcomes. The prime example is the finding of *SF3B1* mutations as an adverse indicator among early stage CLL cases, independently of other factors including *TP53* aberrations. We believe that this type of study will be very relevant for the design of future novel prognostic schemes integrating cytogenetic and molecular findings in CLL.

#### Next-generation sequencing of CLL subgroups

#### Lesley-Ann Sutton, Diego Cortese, Sujata Bhoi, Emma Young, Viktor Ljungström, Larry Mansouri, Richard Rosenquist

Due to recent technical advancements, it is now possible to investigate many genes, including genes with a large number of exons, as well as many patient samples simultaneously, by taking advantage of HaloPlex probes in conjunction with NGS technology. These developments have not only open up the possibility to investigate large genes, such as the *ATM* gene (62 exons), which has been virtually impossible to investigate in routine practice, but also result in a substantially higher sequencing depth compared to Sanger sequencing technology. Recently, we utilized HaloPlex technology and designed a gene panel including nine prognostic genes: *ATM, BIRC3, MYD88, NOTCH1, SF3B1 TP53, KLHL6, POT1* and *XPO1*, and investigated 188 CLL patients with poor-prognostic features. Sanger validation confirmed 93% (144/155) of mutations; notably, all 11 discordant variants had a variant allele frequency between 11-27%, hence at the detection limit of Sanger sequencing. Technical precision was assessed by repeating the procedure for 63 patients; concordance was found for 94% mutations. Considering the increasing number of prognostic genes in CLL, we foresee that this new approach will be applied to include such genes for genetic screening in CLL, eventually as a stand-alone test without the need for confirmation by Sanger sequencing.

## Group members during 2014

Richard Rosenquist Brandell, professor, group leader Panagiotis Baliakas, PhD student Sujata Bhoi, PhD student Diego Cortese, PhD student Anastasia Hazidimitriou, guest researcher Karin Larsson, physician Viktor Ljungström, PhD student (also in Tobias Sjöblom's group) Larry Mansouri, researcher Mattias Mattsson, PhD student Nikolay Oskolkov, researcher Nikos Papakonstantinou, post doc Kostas Stamatopoulos, guest professor Lesley Ann Sutton, post doc Emma Young, PhD student Aliki Xochelli, post doc

## Funding during 2014

Swedish Cancer Society, 1 2500 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 950 kSEK Part of EU Grant "DiaTools" (PI: Ulf Landegren), € 50 000. Part of EU Grant "AEGLE" (PI: Exodus S.A), € 85 000 UU/SciLifeLab Grant, 2 500 kSEK SciLifeLab National Project Grant, 50% deduction for 360 whole-genomes

- Hayat Roshanai A, Lampic C, Ingvoldstad C, Askmalm MS, Bjorvatn C, Rosenquist R, Nordin K. What Information Do Cancer Genetic Counselees Prioritize? J Genet Couns. 2012, 21(4):510-26.
- Kostareli E, Gounari M, Janus A, Murray F, Brochet X, Giudicelli V, Pospisilova S, Oscier D, Foroni L, di Celle PF, Tichy B, Pedersen LB, Jurlander J, Ponzoni M, Kouvatsi A, Anagnostopoulos A, Thompson K, Darzentas N, Lefranc MP, Belessi C, Rosenquist R, Davi F, Ghia P, Stamatopoulos K. Antigen receptor stereotypy across B-cell lymphoproliferations: the case of IGHV4-59/IGKV3-20 receptors with rheumatoid factor activity. Leukemia. 2012, 26(5):1127-31.
- 3. Gréen H, Falk IJ, Lotfi K, Paul E, Hermansson M, Rosenquist R, Paul C, Nahi H. Association of ABCB1 polymorphisms with survival and in vitro cytotoxicty in de novo acute myeloid leukemia with normal karyotype. Pharmacogenomics J. 2012, 12(2):111-8.
- 4. Wahlin BE, Yri OE, Kimby E, Holte H, Delabie J, Smeland EB, Sundström C, Christensson B, Sander B. Clinical significance of the WHO grades of follicular lymphoma in a population-based cohort of 505 patients with long follow-up times. Br J Haematol. 2012 Jan;156(2):225-33.
- 5. Staffas A, Kanduri M, Hovland R, Rosenquist R, Ommen HB, Abrahamsson J, Forestier E, Jahnukainen K, Jónsson OG, Zeller B, Palle J, Lönnerholm G, Hasle H, Ehrencrona H, Palmqvist L. Response to: Presence of high-ERG expression is an independent unfavorable prognostic marker in MLL-rearranged childhood myeloid leukemia [letter]. Blood 2012; 119(4): 1087-8.
- 6. Ibbotson R, Athanasiadou A, Sutton LA, Davis Z, Gardiner A, Baliakas P, Gunnarsson R, Anagnostopoulos A, Juliusson G, Rosenquist R, Oscier D, Stamatopoulos K. Co-existence of trisomies 12 and 19 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia occurs exclusively in the rare IgG-positive variant. Leukemia 2012; 26: 170-2.
- Rosén A, Bergh AC, Gogok P, Evaldsson C, Lanemo Myhrinder A, Hellqvist E, Radul A, Björkholm M, Jansson M, Mansouri L, Liu A, The BT, Rosenquist R, Klein E. Lymphoblastoid cell line with B1 cell characteristics established from a chronic lymphocytic leukemia clone by in vitro EBV infection. OncoImmunology 2012; 1;18-27.

- Antoniou AC, Kuchenbaecker KB, Soucy P, Beesley J, Chen X, McGuffog L, Lee A, Barrowdale D, Healey S, Sinilnikova OM, Caligo MA, Loman N, Harbst K, Lindblom A, Arver B, Rosenquist R, et al. Common variants at 12p11, 12q24, 9p21, 9q31.2 and in ZNF365 are associated with breast cancer risk for BRCA1 and/or BRCA2 mutation carriers. Breast Cancer Res. 2012 Feb 20;14(1):R33.
- 9. Du L, Peng R, Björkman A, Filipe de Miranda N, Rosner C, Kotnis A, Berglund M, Liu C, Rosenquist R, Enblad G, Sundström C, Hojjat-Farsangi M, Rabbani H, Teixeira MR, Revy P, Durandy A, Zeng Y, Gennery AR, de Villartay JP, Pan-Hammarström Q. Cernunnos influences human immunoglobulin class switch recombination and may be associated with B cell lymphomagenesis. J Exp Med. 2012; 209: 291-305.
- Agathangelidis A, Darzentas N, Hadzidimitriou A, Brochet X, Murray F, Yan XJ, Davis Z, van Gastel E, Tresoldi C, Chu C, Cahill N, Giudicelli V, Tichy B, Bredo Pedersen L, Foroni L, Francia di Celle P, Janus A, Smedby K, Anagnostopoulos A, Merle-Beral H, Laoutaris N, Juliusson G, Pospisilova S, Jurlander J, Tsaftaris A, Lefranc MP, Langerak AW, Oscier DG, Chiorazzi N, Belessi C, Davi F, Rosenquist R, Ghia P, Stamatopoulos K. Stereotyped B-cell receptors in one third of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: toward a molecular classification with implications for targeted therapeutic interventions. Blood 2012, 119(19):4467-75.
- 11. Halldórsdóttir AM, Kanduri M, Marincevic M, Mansouri L, Isaksson A, Göransson H, Axelsson T, Agarwal P, Jernberg-Wiklund H, Stamatopoulos K, Sander B, Ehrencrona H, Rosenquist R. Mantle cell lymphoma displays a homogenous methylation profile: A comparative analysis with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Am J Hematol. 2012, 87: 361-7.
- 12. Sevov M, Rosenquist R, Mansouri L. RNA-based markers as prognostic factors in chronic lymphocytic leukemia [review]. Expert Reviews Hematology 2012; 5: 69-79.
- Cahill N, Sutton LA, Jansson M, Murray F, Mansouri L, Gunnarsson R, Ryan F, Smedby KE, Geisler C, Juliusson G, Rosenquist R. IGHV3-21 gene frequency in a Swedish cohort of patients with newly diagnosed chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Clinical Lymphoma, Myeloma and Leukemia 2012, 12:201-6.
- 14. Jakubowska A, Rozkrut D, Antoniou A, Hamann U, Scott RJ, McGuffog L, Healy S, Sinilnikova OM, Rennert G, Lejbkowicz F, Flugelman A, Andrulis IL, Glendon G, Ozcelik H; OCGN, Thomassen M, Paligo M, Aretini P; SWE-BRCA, Kantala J, Aroer B, von Wachenfeldt A, Liljegren A, Loman N, Herbst K, Kristoffersson U, Rosenquist R, et al. Association of PHB 1630 C>T and MTHFR 677 C>T polymorphisms with breast and ovarian cancer risk in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers: results from a multicenter study. Br J Cancer. 2012, 106(12):2016-24.
- Mansouri L, Gunnarsson R, Sutton LA, Ameur A, Hooper SD, Mayrhofer M, Juliusson G, Isaksson A, Gyllensten U, Rosenquist R. Next generation RNA-sequencing in prognostic subsets of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. American Journal of Hematology 2012, 87(7):737-40.
- Norberg M, Lindhagen E, Kanduri M, Rickardson L, Sundström C, Stamatopoulos K, Rosenquist R, Åleskog A. Screening for cytotoxic compounds in poor-prognostic chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Anticancer Research 2012, 32: 3125-36.
- Kanduri M, Marincevic M, Halldórsdóttir AM, Mansouri L, Junevik K, Ntoufa S, Kultima HG, Isaksson A, Juliusson G, Andersson PO, Ehrencrona H, Stamatopoulos K, Rosenquist R. Distinct transcriptional control in major immunogenetic subsets of chronic lymphocytic leukemia exhibiting subset-biased global DNA methylation profiles. Epigenetics. 2012, 7(12):1435-42.

- 18. Rosenquist R, Ehrencrona H, Hasle H, Palle J, Kanduri M. Whole-genome amplified DNA as source for mutational analysis underestimates the frequency of mutations in pediatric acute myeloid leukemia [Letter]. Leukemia. 2013, 27(2):510-2.
- 19. Mansouri L, Cahill N, Gunnarsson R, Smedby KE, Tjönnfjord E, Hjalgrim H, Juliusson G, Geisler C, Rosenquist R. NOTCH1 and SF3B1 mutations can be added to the hierarchical prognostic classification in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2013, 27(2):512-4.
- 20. Cahill N, Rosenquist R. Uncovering the DNA methylome in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Epigenetics. 2013, 8(2):138-48. Review.
- 21. Martinelli S, Kanduri M, Maffei R, Fiorcari S, Bulgarelli J, Marasca R, Rosenquist R. ANGPT2 promoter methylation is strongly associated with gene expression and prognosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Epigenetics. 2013, 8(7):720-9.
- 22. Sava GP, Speedy HE, Di Bernardo MC, Deaglio S, Karabon L, Frydecka I, Woszczyk D, Rossi D, Gaidano G, Mansouri L, Smedby KE, Juliusson G, Rosenquist R, Catovsky D, Houlston RS. rs2072135, a low-penetrance variant for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia? Br J Haematol. 2013, 162(2):221-8.
- 23. Lanemo Myhrinder A, Hellqvist E, Bergh AC, Jansson M, Nilsson K, Hultman P, Jonasson J, Buhl AM, Bredo Pedersen L, Jurlander J, Klein E, Weit N, Herling M, Rosenquist R, Rosén A. Molecular characterization of neoplastic and normal "sister" lymphoblastoid B-cell lines from chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013, 54(8):1769-79.
- 24. Gunnarsson R, Mansouri L, Rosenquist R. Exploring the genetic landscape in chronic lymphocytic leukemia using high-resolution technologies. Leuk Lymphoma. 2013, 54(8):1583-90.
- 25. Couch FJ, Wang X, McGuffog L, et al. Genome-wide association study in BRCA1 mutation carriers identifies novel loci associated with breast and ovarian cancer risk. PLoS Genet. 2013, 9(3):e1003212.
- 26. de Miranda NF, Peng R, Georgiou K, Wu C, Falk Sörqvist E, Berglund M, Chen L, Gao Z, Lagerstedt K, Lisboa S, Roos F, van Wezel T, Teixeira MR, Rosenquist R, Sundström C, Enblad G, Nilsson M, Zeng Y, Kipling D, Pan-Hammarström Q. DNA repair genes are selectively mutated in diffuse large B cell lymphomas. J Exp Med. 2013, 210(9):1729-42.
- 27. Sutton LA, Kostareli E, Stalika E, Tsaftaris A, Anagnostopoulos A, Darzentas N, Rosenquist R, Stamatopoulos K. Temporal dynamics of clonal evolution in chronic lymphocytic leukemia with stereotyped IGHV4-34/IGKV2-30 antigen receptors: longitudinal immunogenetic evidence. Mol Med. 2013, 19:230-6.
- 28. Mansouri L, Grabowski P, Degerman S, Svenson U, Gunnarsson R, Cahill N, Smedby KE, Geisler C, Juliusson G, Roos G, Rosenquist R. Short telomere length is associated with NOTCH1/SF3B1/TP53 aberrations and poor outcome in newly diagnosed chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients. Am J Hematol. 2013, 88(8):647-51.
- 29. Chigrinova E, Rinaldi A, Kwee I, Rossi D, Rancoita PM, Strefford JC, Oscier D, Stamatopoulos K, Papadaki T, Berger F, Young KH, Murray F, Rosenquist R, Greiner TC, Chan WC, Orlandi EM, Lucioni M, Marasca R, Inghirami G, Ladetto M, Forconi F, Cogliatti S, Votavova H, Swerdlow SH, Stilgenbauer S, Piris MA, Matolcsy A, Spagnolo D, Nikitin E, Zamò A, Gattei V, Bhagat G, Ott G, Zucca E, Gaidano G, Bertoni F. Two main genetic pathways lead to the transformation of chronic lymphocytic leukemia to Richter syndrome. Blood. 2013, 122(15):2673-82.

- 30. Strefford JC, Sutton LA, Baliakas P, Agathangelidis A, Malčíková J, Plevova K, Scarfó L, Davis Z, Stalika E, Cortese D, Cahill N, Pedersen LB, di Celle PF, Tzenou T, Geisler C, Panagiotidis P, Langerak AW, Chiorazzi N, Pospisilova S, Oscier D, Davi F, Belessi C, Mansouri L, Ghia P, Stamatopoulos K, Rosenquist R. Distinct patterns of novel gene mutations in poor-prognostic stereotyped subsets of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: the case of SF3B1 and subset #2. Leukemia. 2013, 27(11):2196-9.
- 31. Rosenquist R, Cortese D, Bhoi S, Mansouri L, Gunnarsson R. Prognostic markers and their clinical applicability in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: where do we stand? Leuk Lymphoma. 2013, 54(11):2351-64.
- 32. Sutton LA, Agathangelidis A, Belessi C, Darzentas N, Davi F, Ghia P, Rosenquist R, Stamatopoulos K. Antigen selection in B-cell lymphomas--tracing the evidence. Semin Cancer Biol. 2013, 23(6):399-409.
- 33. Falk IJ, Fyrberg A, Paul E, Nahi H, Hermanson M, Rosenquist R, Höglund M, Palmqvist L, Stockelberg D, Wei Y, Gréen H, Lotfi K. Decreased survival in normal karyotype AML with single-nucleotide polymorphisms in genes encoding the AraC metabolizing enzymes cytidine deaminase and 5'-nucleotidase. Am J Hematol. 2013, 88(12):1001-6.
- 34. Rosenquist R, Davi F, Stamatopoulos K. Antigens in lymphoma development--current knowledge and future directions. Semin Cancer Biol. 2013, 23(6):397-8.
- 35. Kanduri M, Sander B, Ntoufa S, Papakonstantinou N, Sutton LA, Stamatopoulos K, Kanduri C, Rosenquist R. A key role for EZH2 in epigenetic silencing of HOX genes in mantle cell lymphoma. Epigenetics. 2013, 8(12):1280-8.
- 36. Gremel G, Grannas K, Sutton LA, Pontén F, Zieba A. In situ Protein Detection for Companion Diagnostics. Front Oncol. 2013, 3:271.
- 37. Speedy HE, Di Bernardo MC, Sava GP, Dyer MJ, Holroyd A, Wang Y, Sunter NJ, Mansouri L, Juliusson G, Smedby KE, Roos G, Jayne S, Majid A, Dearden C, Hall AG, Mainou-Fowler T, Jackson GH, Summerfield G, Harris RJ, Pettitt AR, Allsup DJ, Bailey JR, Pratt G, Pepper C, Fegan C, Rosenquist R, Catovsky D, Allan JM, Houlston RS. A genome-wide association study identifies multiple susceptibility loci for chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Nat Genet. 2014, 46(1):56-60.
- 38. Vardi A, Agathangelidis A, Sutton LA, Chatzouli M, Scarfò L, Mansouri L, Douka V, Anagnostopoulos A, Darzentas N, Rosenquist R, Ghia P, Belessi C, Stamatopoulos K. IgG-switched CLL has a distinct immunogenetic signature from the common MD variant: ontogenetic implications. Clin Cancer Res. 2014, 20(2):323-30.
- 39. Baecklund E, Smedby KE, Sutton LA, Askling J, Rosenquist R. Lymphoma development in patients with autoimmune and inflammatory disorders--what are the driving forces? Semin Cancer Biol. 2014, 24:61-70.
- 40. Rosenquist R, Davi F, Ghia P. The microenvironment in lymphomas--dissecting the complex crosstalk between tumor cells and 'by-stander' cells. Semin Cancer Biol. 2014, 24:1-2.
- 41. Xochelli A, Kalpadakis C, Gardiner A, Baliakas P, Vassilakopoulos TP, Mould S, Davis Z, Stalika E, Kanellis G, Angelopoulou MK, McIver-Brown N, Ibbotson R, Sachanas S, Korkolopoulou P, Athanasiadou A, Anagnostopoulos A, Papadaki HA, Papadaki T, Stamatopoulos K, Pangalis GA, Oscier D. Clonal B-cell lymphocytosis exhibiting immunophenotypic features consistent with a marginal-zone origin: is this a distinct entity? Blood. 2014, 123(8):1199-206.
- 42. Mansouri L, Sutton LA, Ljungström V, Sörqvist EF, Gunnarsson R, Smedby KE, Juliusson G, Stamatopoulos K, Nilsson M, Rosenquist R. Feasibility of targeted next-

generation sequencing of the TP53 and ATM genes in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2014, 28(3):694-6.

- Cortese D, Sutton LA, Cahill N, Smedby KE, Geisler C, Gunnarsson R, Juliusson G, Mansouri L, Rosenquist R. On the way towards a 'CLL prognostic index': focus on TP53, BIRC3, SF3B1, NOTCH1 and MYD88 in a population-based cohort. Leukemia. 2014, 28(3):710-3.
- 44. Pauly F, Smedby KE, Jerkeman M, Hjalgrim H, Ohlsson M, Rosenquist R, Borrebaeck CA, Wingren C. Identification of B-cell lymphoma subsets by plasma protein profiling using recombinant antibody microarrays. Leuk Res. 2014, 38(6):682-90.
- 45. Deneberg S, Kanduri M, Ali D, Bengtzen S, Karimi M, Qu Y, Kimby E, Mansouri L, Rosenquist R, Lennartsson A, Lehmann S. microRNA-34b/c on chromosome 11q23 is aberrantly methylated in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Epigenetics. 2014, 9(6):910-7.
- 46. Malcikova J, Stalika E, Davis Z, Plevova K, Trbusek M, Mansouri L, Scarfò L, Baliakas P, Gardiner A, Sutton LA, Francova HS, Agathangelidis A, Anagnostopoulos A, Tracy I, Makris A, Smardova J, Ghia P, Belessi C, Gonzalez D, Rosenquist R, Oscier D, Pospisilova S, Stamatopoulos K. The frequency of TP53 gene defects differs between chronic lymphocytic leukaemia subgroups harbouring distinct antigen receptors. Br J Haematol. 2014, 166(4):621-5.
- 47. Benner A, Mansouri L, Rossi D, Majid A, Willander K, Parker A, Bond G, Pavlova S, Nückel H, Merkel O, Ghia P, Montserrat E, Kaderi MA, Rosenquist R, Gaidano G, Dyer MJ, Söderkvist P, Linderholm M, Oscier D, Tvaruzkova Z, Pospisilova S, Dührsen U, Greil R, Döhner H, Stilgenbauer S, Zenz T; European Research Initiative on CLL (ERIC). MDM2 promotor polymorphism and disease characteristics in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: results of an individual patient data-based meta-analysis. Haematologica. 2014, 99(8):1285-91.
- 48. Vardi A, Agathangelidis A, Sutton LA, Ghia P, Rosenquist R, Stamatopoulos K. Immunogenetic studies of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: revelations and speculations about ontogeny and clinical evolution. Cancer Res. 2014, 74(16):4211-6.
- 49. Baecklund F, Foo JN, Bracci P, Darabi H, Karlsson R, Hjalgrim H, Rosenquist R, Adami HO, Glimelius B, Melbye M, Conde L, Liu J, Humphreys K, Skibola CF, Smedby KE. A comprehensive evaluation of the role of genetic variation in follicular lymphoma survival. BMC Med Genet. 2014, 15(1):113.
- 50. Bergh AC, Evaldsson C, Pedersen LB, Geisler C, Stamatopoulos K, Rosenquist R, Rosén A. Silenced B-cell receptor response to autoantigen in a poor-prognostic subset of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Haematologica. 2014, 99(11):1722-30.
- 51. Jakobsen Falk I, Fyrberg A, Paul E, Nahi H, Hermanson M, Rosenquist R, Höglund M, Palmqvist L, Stockelberg D, Wei Y, Gréen H, Lotfi K. Impact of ABCB1 single nucleotide polymorphisms 1236C>T and 2677G>T on overall survival in FLT3 wild-type de novo AML patients with normal karyotype. Br J Haematol. 2014, 167(5):671-80.
- 52. Baliakas P, Hadzidimitriou A, Sutton LA, Minga E, Agathangelidis A, Tsanousa A, Scarfo L, Davis Z, Yan X, Shanafelt T, Plevova K, Sandberg Y, Vojdeman F, Boudjogra M, Tzenou T, Chatzouli M, Chu C, Veronese S, Gardiner A, Mansouri L, Smedby K, Pedersen L, Moreno D, Van Lom K, Giudicelli V, Francova H, Nguyen-Khac F, Panagiotidis P, Juliusson G, Angelis L, Anagnostopoulos A, Lefranc M, Facco M, Trentin L, Catherwood M, Montillo M, Geisler C, Langerak A, Pospisilova S, Chiorazzi N, Oscier D, Jelinek D, Darzentas N, Belessi C, Davi F, Rosenquist R, Ghia P, Stamatopoulos K. Clinical effect of stereotyped B-cell receptor immunoglobulins in

chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: a retrospective multicentre study. Lancet Haematology. 2014;1(2):e74–e84.

- 53. Sutton LA, Papadopoulos G, Hadzidimitriou A, Papadopoulos S, Kostareli E, Rosenquist R, Tzovaras D, Stamatopoulos K. AN ENTITY EVOLVING INTO A COMMUNITY: DEFINING THE COMMON ANCESTOR AND EVOLUTIONARY TRAJECTORY OF CHRONIC LYMPHOCYTIC LEUKEMIA STEREOTYPED SUBSET #4. Mol Med. 2014 Dec 2. Epub ahead of print
- 54. Xochelli A, Agathangelidis A, Kavakiotis I, Minga E, Sutton LA, Baliakas P, Chouvarda I, Giudicelli V, Vlahavas I, Maglaveras N, Bonello L, Trentin L, Tedeschi A, Panagiotidis P, Geisler C, Langerak AW, Pospisilova S, Jelinek DF, Oscier D, Chiorazzi N, Darzentas N, Davi F, Ghia P, Rosenquist R, Hadzidimitriou A, Belessi C, Lefranc MP, Stamatopoulos K. Immunoglobulin heavy variable (IGHV) genes and alleles: new entities, new names and implications for research and prognostication in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Immunogenetics. 2015 Jan;67(1):61-6. Epub 2014 Nov 12.
- 55. Baliakas P, Agathangelidis A, Hadzidimitriou A, Sutton LA, Minga E, Tsanousa A, Scarfò L, Davis Z, Yan XJ, Shanafelt T, Plevova K, Sandberg Y, Vojdeman FJ, Boudjogra M, Tzenou T, Chatzouli M, Chu CC, Veronese S, Gardiner A, Mansouri L, Smedby KE, Pedersen LB, Moreno D, Van Lom K, Giudicelli V, Francova HS, Nguyen-Khac F, Panagiotidis P, Juliusson G, Angelis L, Anagnostopoulos A, Lefranc MP, Facco M, Trentin L, Catherwood M, Montillo M, Geisler CH, Langerak AW, Pospisilova S, Chiorazzi N, Oscier D, Jelinek DF, Darzentas N, Belessi C, Davi F, Ghia P, Rosenquist R, Stamatopoulos K. Not all IGHV3-21 chronic lymphocytic leukemias are equal: prognostic considerations. Blood. 2015 Jan 29;125(5):856-9. Epub 2014 Dec 17.
- Baliakas P1, Strefford JC, Bikos V, Parry M, Stamatopoulos K, Oscier D. Splenic marginal-zone lymphoma: ontogeny and genetics. Leuk Lymphoma. 2015 Feb;56(2):301-10. Epub 2014 Aug 19.
- 57. Sutton LA, Rosenquist R. Clonal evolution in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: impact of subclonality on disease progression. Expert Rev Hematol. 2015 Feb;8(1):71-8. Epub 2014 Oct 27.
- 58. Baliakas P, Hadzidimitriou A, Sutton LA, Rossi D, Minga E, Villamor N, Larrayoz M, Kminkova J, Agathangelidis A, Davis Z, Tausch E, Stalika E, Kantorova B, Mansouri L, Scarfò L, Cortese D, Navrkalova V, Rose-Zerilli MJ, Smedby KE, Juliusson G, Anagnostopoulos A, Makris AM, Navarro A, Delgado J, Oscier D, Belessi C, Stilgenbauer S, Ghia P, Pospisilova S, Gaidano G, Campo E, Strefford JC, Stamatopoulos K, Rosenquist R. Recurrent mutations refine prognosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2015 Feb;29(2):329-36. Epub 2014 Jun 19.
- 59. Sava GP, Speedy HE, Di Bernardo MC, Dyer MJ, Holroyd A, Sunter NJ, Marr H, Mansouri L, Deaglio S, Karabon L, Frydecka I, Jamroziak K, Woszczyk D, Juliusson G, Smedby KE, Jayne S, Majid A, Wang Y, Dearden C, Hall AG, Mainou-Fowler T, Jackson GH, Summerfield G, Harris RJ, Pettitt AR, Allsup DJ, Bailey JR, Pratt G, Pepper C, Fegan C, Rosenquist R, Catovsky D, Allan JM, Houlston RS. Common variation at 12q24.13 (OAS3) influences chronic lymphocytic leukemia risk. Leukemia. 2015 Mar;29(3):748-51. Epub 2014 Nov 3.
- 60. Sutton LA, Ljungström V, Mansouri L, Young E, Cortese D, Navrkalova V, Malcikova J, Muggen AF, Trbusek M, Panagiotidis P, Davi F, Belessi C, Langerak AW, Ghia P, Pospisilova S, Stamatopoulos K, Rosenquist R. Targeted next-generation sequencing in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a high-throughput yet tailored approach will facilitate implementation in a clinical setting. Haematologica. 2015 Mar;100(3):370-6. Epub 2014 Dec 5.

# Medical Genetics and Genomics

The research groups in this program are addressing basic mechanisms in genetics, epigenetics and genomics as well as more applied questions in clinical genetics, genetic epidemiology, cancer genetics and forensic medicine.

We use methods that can identify differences in single genes as well as in our genome as a whole. The aim is to understand the function of our genome and to identify causes of diseases such as cancer, mental retardation and congenital malformations. Studies on the genetic variability of the human genome will also increase our knowledge of our evolutionary origin. New methods for forensic DNA



testing are developed to increase sensitivity and allow smaller amounts of DNA to be analysed.

## Improved Forensic DNA Analysis

#### **Marie Allen**

The general objective of our research is to develop highly sensitive and discriminating assays for forensic DNA analysis of challenging samples. Evidence samples at a crime scene have often been subjected to harsh environments and have therefore commonly degraded DNA that may also be present in very small amounts. Our research involves development of quantification assays and typing systems for analysis of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) as well as autosomal markers. In addition, a Y-chromosome analysis can allow resolution of mixed DNA samples (common for instance in sex offence cases). The use of mtDNA markers will allow a highly sensitive analysis due to a high copy number of mtDNA molecules per cell, while the autosomal markers in very short fragments will give a high discrimination power.

Several new assays based on pyrosequencing, microarrays, real-time quantification or Sanger-sequencing have been developed and used successfully in analysis of challenging evidence material in forensic cases. In a new study, a combination of traditional methods and next generation sequencing (NGS) technologies will be evaluated for DNA analysis of degraded, limited and damaged samples. A target selection and enrichment is performed using Agilent's HaloPlex system for customized panels of a large number of targets that is based on a capture technology with high sensitivity. The MiSeq sequencer will be used for the final sequence analysis. This strategy will allow high throughput analysis of multiple markers in the genome and will allow improved relationship analysis, prediction of visible characteristics and individual identification. In general, new identification assays allow smaller amounts and also degraded DNA to be analysed. As an ultimate test for success with challenging samples, the novel techniques may be used in genetic investigations of historical samples.

Saint Birgitta (Saint Bridget of Sweden) lived between 1303 and 1373 and was appointed one of Europe's six patron saints by the Pope in 1999. According to legend, the skulls of St. Birgitta and her daughter Katarina are maintained in a relic shrine in Vadstena abbey in mid Sweden. The authenticity of the two skulls was assessed first by analysis of mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) that excluded a maternal relationship. Moreover, a radiocarbon dating suggest an age difference of at least 200 years and neither of the dating results coincides with the period St. Birgitta or her daughter Katarina lived. Similarly, we have performed DNA analyses using novel sensitive assays to identify the remains of Nicolaus Copernicus and Carin Göring.

## Group members during 2014

Marie Allen, professor, group leader Magdalena Bus, post doc Mia Bjerke, post doc Joakim Grånemo, research assistant Martina Nilsson, project manager

## Funding during 2014

VINNOVA, 1 000 kSEK Swedish Crime Victim Compensation and Support Authority, 1 100 kSEK

- 1. Ostrowska Dahlgren B, Allen M, Lindström AC, Bjerke M, Blomström-Lundqvist C. A novel variant in plakophilin-2 gene detected in a family with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2012, 34(1):11-8.
- 2. Mathot L, Falk-Sörqvist E, Moens L, Allen M, Sjöblom T, Nilsson M. Automated genotyping of biobank samples by multiplex amplification of insertion/deletion polymorphisms. PLoS One. 2012, 7(12):e52750.
- 3. Nilsson, M., Norlin, S., and Allen, M. Sequencing of mtDNA in Shed Hairs: A Retrospective Analysis of Material from Forensic Cases and a Pre-Screening Method. The Open Forensic Science Journal. 2012, Pp 13-22
- 4. Thiblin I, Wennström B, Allen M. Let the defence have access to forensic expertise, too. Läkartidningen. 2012, 11-17;109(1-2):39.
- 5. Kjellström A, Edlund H, Lembring M, Ahlgren V, Allen M. An analysis of the alleged skeletal remains of Carin Göring. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e44366.
- Norlin S, Nilsson M, Heden P, Allen M. Evaluation of the Impact of Different Visualization Techniques on DNA in Fingerprints. Journal of Forensic Identification, 2013, 63 (2) 189-204.
- 7. Lembring M, van Oven M, Montelius M, Allen M. Mitochondrial DNA analysis of Swedish population samples. Int J Legal Med. 2013, 127(6):1097-9.
- 8. Buś MM, Allen M. Collecting and preserving biological samples from challenging environments for DNA analysis. Biopreserv Biobank. 2014, 12(1):17-22. Review.

# Characterisation of Syndromes Associated with Developmental Delay

## Marie-Louise Bondeson

Developmental delay, with or without malformations, occurs among two to three percent of the population. For approximately half of the patients the reason for the developmental delay is still unknown, despite extensive studies. Knowledge about the genetic causes of the syndromes is important for diagnosis, prognosis, treatment and risk for recurrence. It will also increase our understanding of the molecular processes behind the disorders.

Our research projects concern Down syndrome, characterisation of novel syndromes, intra uterine fetal death (IUFD) and RASopathies, including e.g. Noonan syndrome. We also have a project that focuses on genetically caused hearing loss. The research is performed in collaboration with physicians and researchers at the Uppsala University Hospital.

## Down syndrome: epidemiological, clinical and molecular characterisation: Ulrika Wester-Oxelgren, Göran Annerén,

## In collaboration with Jan Gustafsson, Åsa Myrelid (UU)

Down syndrome (DS) is the most common cause for developmental delay. Patients with DS have, besides developmental delay, an increased risk of being afflicted by several other diseases. DS is a model disease for studies on the relationship between chromosome imbalance and disease. Our research includes epidemiological, clinical, as well as molecular genetic studies of the disorder.

The specific aims of this project are:

- To perform a genotype-phenotype correlation of gene-dosage effects on chromosome 21. The studies have so far been focused on aging and dementia in DS in relation to gene-dosage effects of SOD and APP and autoimmune reactions in relation to the gene-dosage effect of the *AIRE* gene and the mental retardation in relation to the *DYRK1A* gene Studies are also in progress to study the effect of medications on ADHD
- To study the prevalence of ADHD and Autism spectrum disorders in a population of DS and to study the effects of specific treatments of the disorders.
- To study the *DYRK1A* gene on neuronal IPS cells from patients with DS and to study the effect upon those cells from treatment with Harmine.

# Clinical and molecular characterization of Noonan spectrum disorders (RASopathies)

# Sara Ekvall, Berivan Baskin, Cecilia Soussi Zander, Göran Annerén, Marie-Louise Bondeson

Recent advances in molecular genetic research have led to the definition of a new group of genetic syndromes, the RAS/MAPK pathway disorders or "RASopathies". They comprise Noonan syndrome and related disorders (LEOPARD, Cardio-faico-cutaneous and Costello syndromes), as well as Neurofibromatosis type 1. The aim of this study is to enable translational research into disease mechanism and therapies of the RASopathies. The RAS/MAPK pathway, which has been well studied in cancer, is an attractive target for inhibition in the treatment of various malignancies utilizing small molecule therapeutics, which specifically inhibit the pathway. Many of these are in development and several are currently undergoing clinical trials. One of the most exciting issues related to the RASopathies is the idea that causal treatment might become possible in the future to ameliorate disease progression of some manifestations.

The specific aims of the project are:

- To develop rapid, efficient and cost-effective mutation analyses of the RAS/MAPK genes in the clinical setting using next-generation sequencing
- To identify novel causative genes associated with RASopathies using whole-exome sequencing.
- To investigate the functional role of different mutations in the RAS/MAPK pathway to clarify the underlying molecular mechanisms.

The outcome of this study will have a tremendous impact on the diagnosis, treatment and management of the patients with RASopaties.

# Characterisation of novel syndromes using microarray-analysis and next generation sequencing

### Marie-Louise Bondeson, Sara Ekvall, Christian Wentzel, Cecilia Soussi Zander, Göran Annerén, Patrik Georgii-Hemming, Ann-Charlotte Thuresson

Intellectual and developmental disorders (IDD) are one of the main reasons for referral in paediatric, child-neurological and clinical genetic service. We are using array based technologies to screen the genomes of patients for chromosomal aberrations to identify the underlying mechanism to possibly categorise new syndromes and genes associated with IDD. In selected groups of patients, where no chromosomal aberration has been detected, next generation sequencing technologies are used to screen genomes of patients at high resolution to identify new causative genes for IDD.

## Characterisation of genes associated with hearing loss in man

## Sara Ekvall, Carina Frykholm, Marie-Louise Bondeson

Hearing loss is an etiologically heterogeneous trait with many known genetic and environmental causes. Genetic causes account for more than 60 percent of childhood hearing loss in developed countries. Studies are in progress to investigate familial forms of progressive hearing impairment. The investigation includes families with both X-linked nonsyndromic and syndromic hearing loss. The findings of these studies may result in an increased understanding of the underlying molecular mechanisms causing hearing loss.

## Group members during 2014

Marie-Louise Bondeson, professor, clinical molecular geneticist, group leader Göran Annerén, professor, senior staff physician Berivan Baskin, assoc. prof., clinical molecular geneticist Sara Ekvall, researcher Carina Frykholm, staff physican Patrik Georgii Hemming, clinical genetics resident Sanna Gudmundsson, student Cecilia Soussi Zander, staff physican Ann-Charlotte Thuresson, assoc. prof., clinical molecular geneticist Christian Wentzel, staff physican Maria Wilbe, researcher Ulrika Wester-Oxelgren, MD, PhD-student

## Funding during 2014

Stiftelsen Säfstaholm, 350 kSEK Regional Research Council, 500 kSEK ALF, 465 kSEK Borgströms foundation, 100 kSEK Medical Faculty, 264 kSEK

- Molin AM, Andrieux J, Koolen DA, Malan V, Carella M, Colleaux L, Cormier-Daire V, David A, de Leeuw N, Delobel B, Duban-Bedu B, Fischetto R, Flinter F, Kjaergaard S, Kok F, Krepischi AC, Le Caignec C, Ogilvie CM, Maia S, Mathieu-Dramard M, Munnich A, Palumbo O, Papadia F, Pfundt R, Reardon W, Receveur A, Rio M, Ronsbro Darling L, Rosenberg C, Sá J, Vallee L, Vincent-Delorme C, Zelante L, Bondeson ML, Annerén G. A novel microdeletion syndrome at 3q13.31 characterised by developmental delay, postnatal overgrowth, hypoplastic male genitals, and characteristic facial features. J Med Genet. 2012, 49(2):104-9.
- Thierry G, Bénéteau C, Pichon O, Flori E, Isidor B, Popelard F, Delrue MA, Duboscq-Bidot L, Thuresson AC, van Bon BW, Cailley D, Rooryck C, Paubel A, Metay C, Dusser A, Pasquier L, Béri M, Bonnet C, Jaillard S, Dubourg C, Tou B, Quéré MP, Soussi-Zander C, Toutain A, Lacombe D, Arveiler B, de Vries BB, Jonveaux P, David A, Le Caignec C. Molecular characterization of 1q44 microdeletion in 11 patients reveals three candidate genes for intellectual disability and seizures. Am J Med Genet A. 2012, 158A(7):1633-40.
- Becker K, Di Donato N, Holder-Espinasse M, Andrieux J, Cuisset JM, Vallée L, Plessis G, Jean N, Delobel B, Thuresson AC, Annerén G, Ravn K, Tümer Z, Tinschert S, Schrock E, Jønch AE, Hackmann K. De novo microdeletions of chromosome 6q14.1q14.3 and 6q12.1-q14.1 in two patients with intellectual disability - further delineation of the 6q14 microdeletion syndrome and review of the literature. Eur J Med Genet. 2012, 55(8-9):490-7.
- 4. Boudry-Labis E, Demeer B, Le Caignec C, Isidor B, Mathieu-Dramard M, Plessis G, George AM, Taylor J, Aftimos S, Wiemer-Kruel A, Kohlhase J, Annerén G, Firth H, Simonic I, Vermeesch J, Thuresson AC, Copin H, Love DR, Andrieux J. A novel microdeletion syndrome at 9q21.13 characterised by mental retardation, speech delay, epilepsy and characteristic facial features. Eur J Med Genet. 2013, 56(3):163-70.
- 5. Demeer B, Andrieux J, Receveur A, Morin G, Petit F, Julia S, Plessis G, Martin-Coignard D, Delobel B, Firth HV, Thuresson AC, Lanco Dosen S, Sjörs K, Le Caignec C, Devriendt K, Mathieu-Dramard M. Duplication 16p13.3 and the CREBBP gene: confirmation of the phenotype. Eur J Med Genet. 2013, 56(1):26-31.
- 6. Englund A, Jonsson B, Zander CS, Gustafsson J, Annerén G. Changes in mortality and causes of death in the Swedish Down syndrome population. Am J Med Genet A. 2013, 161A(4):642-9.
- Wang P, Carrion P, Qiao Y, Tyson C, Hrynchak M, Calli K, Lopez-Rangel E, Andrieux J, Delobel B, Duban-Bedu B, Thuresson AC, Annerén G, Liu X, Rajcan-Separovic E, Suzanne Lewis ME. Genotype-phenotype analysis of 18q12.1-q12.2 copy number variation in autism. Eur J Med Genet. 2013, 56(8):420-5. Review.
- 8. Béna F, Bruno DL, Eriksson M, van Ravenswaaij-Arts C, Stark Z, Dijkhuizen T, Gerkes E, Gimelli S, Ganesamoorthy D, Thuresson AC, Labalme A, Till M, Bilan F, Pasquier L,
Kitzis A, Dubourgm C, Rossi M, Bottani A, Gagnebin M, Sanlaville D, Gilbert-Dussardier B, Guipponi M, van Haeringen A, Kriek M, Ruivenkamp C, Antonarakis SE, Anderlid BM, Slater HR, Schoumans J. Molecular and clinical characterization of 25 individuals with exonic deletions of NRXN1 and comprehensive review of the literature. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet. 2013, 162B(4):388-403. Review.

- Hoefsloot LH, Roux AF, Bitner-Glindzicz MHardy C, Strena O, Neocleous V, Kahre T, Seeman P, Wuyts W, Stockley T, Bondeson ML, del Castillo I, Admiraal R, Kremer H. EMQN Best Practice guidelines for diagnostic testing of mutations causing nonsyndromic hearing impairment at the DFNB1 locus. Eur J Hum Genet. 2013, 21(11):1325-9.
- Wang P, Carrion P, Tyson C, Hrynchak M, Calli K, Lopez-Rangel E, Liu X, Qiao Y, Andrieux J, Delobel B, Duban-Bedu B, Thuresson A-C, Annerén G, Holden JJA, Rajcan-Separovic E and Lewis MES. Genotype-phenotype analysis of 18q12.1-q12.2 copy number variation in autism. Eur J Med Genet. 2013, 56(8):420-5.
- 11. Winberg J, Gustavsson P, Papadogiannakis N, Sahlin E, Bradley F, Nordenskjöld E, Svensson PJ, Annerén G, Iwarsson E, Nordgren A, Nordenskjöld A. Mutation screening and array comparative genomic hybridization using a 180K oligonucleotide array in VACTERL association. PLoS One. 2014, 9(1):e85313.
- Baskin B, Choufani S, Chen YA, Shuman C, Parkinson N, Lemyre E, Micheil Innes A, Stavropoulos DJ, Ray PN, Weksberg R. High frequency of copy number variations (CNVs) in the chromosome 11p15 region in patients with Beckwith-Wiedemann syndrome. Hum Genet. 2014, 133(3):321-30.
- Helsmoortel C, Vulto-van Silfhout AT, Coe BP, Vandeweyer G, Rooms L, van den Ende J, Schuurs-Hoeijmakers JH, Marcelis CL, Willemsen MH, Vissers LE, Yntema HG, Bakshi M, Wilson M, Witherspoon KT, Malmgren H, Nordgren A, Annerén G, Fichera M, Bosco P, Romano C, de Vries BB, Kleefstra T, Kooy RF, Eichler EE, Van der Aa N. A SWI/SNF-related autism syndrome caused by de novo mutations in ADNP. Nat Genet. 2014, 46(4):380-4.
- Ekvall S, Sjörs K, Jonzon A, Vihinen M, Annerén G, Bondeson ML. Novel association of neurofibromatosis type 1-causing mutations in families with neurofibromatosis-noonan syndrome. Am J Med Genet A. 2014, 164(3):579-87.
- 15. Holmström G, Bondeson ML, Eriksson U, Akerblom H, Larsson E. 'Congenital' nystagmus may hide various ophthalmic diagnoses. Acta Ophthalmol. 2014, 92(5):412-6.
- Wentzel C, Annerén G, Thuresson AC. A maternal de novo non-reciprocal translocation results in a 6q13-q16 deletion in one offspring and a 6q13-q16 duplication in another. Eur J Med Genet. 2014, 57(6):259-63.
- 17. Flex E, Jaiswal M, Pantaleoni F, Martinelli S, Strullu M, Fansa EK, Caye A, De Luca A, Lepri F, Dvorsky R, Pannone L, Paolacci S, Zhang SC, Fodale V, Bocchinfuso G, Rossi C, Burkitt-Wright EM, Farrotti A, Stellacci E, Cecchetti S, Ferese R, Bottero L, Castro S, Fenneteau O, Brethon B, Sanchez M, Roberts AE, Yntema HG, Van Der Burgt I, Cianci P, Bondeson ML, Cristina Digilio M, Zampino G, Kerr B, Aoki Y, Loh ML, Palleschi A, Di Schiavi E, Carè A, Selicorni A, Dallapiccola B, Cirstea IC, Stella L, Zenker M, Gelb BD, Cavé H, Ahmadian MR, Tartaglia M. Activating mutations in RRAS underlie a phenotype within the RASopathy spectrum and contribute to leukaemogenesis. Hum Mol Genet. 2014, 23(16):4315-27.
- Lines MA, Rupar CA, Rip JW, Baskin B, Ray PN, Hegele RA, Grynspan D, Michaud J, Geraghty MT. Infantile Sialic Acid Storage Disease: Two Unrelated Inuit Cases Homozygous for a Common Novel SLC17A5 Mutation. JIMD Rep. 2014,12:79-84.

- Skogberg G, Lundberg V, Lindgren S, Gudmundsdottir J, Sandström K, Kämpe O, Annerén G, Gustafsson J, Sunnegårdh J, van der Post S, Telemo E, Berglund M, Ekwall O. Altered expression of autoimmune regulator in infant down syndrome thymus, a possible contributor to an autoimmune phenotype. J Immunol. 2014,193(5):2187-95.
- 20. Molinski SV, Gonska T, Huan LJ, Baskin B, Janahi IA, Ray PN, Bear CE. Genetic, cell biological, and clinical interrogation of the CFTR mutation c.3700 A>G (p.Ile1234Val) informs strategies for future medical intervention. Genet Med. 2014, 16(8):625-32.
- 21. Laurell T, Nilsson D, Hofmeister W, Lindstrand A, Ahituv N, Vandermeer J, Amilon A, Annerén G, Arner M, Pettersson M, Jäntti N, Rosberg HE, Cattini PA, Nordenskjöld A, Mäkitie O, Grigelioniene G, Nordgren A. Identification of three novel FGF16 mutations in X-linked recessive fusion of the fourth and fifth metacarpals and possible correlation with heart disease. Mol Genet Genomic Med. 2014, 2(5):402-11.
- 22. Popovici C, Busa T, Boute O, Thuresson AC, Perret O, Sigaudy S, Södergren T, Andrieux J, Moncla A, Philip N. Whole ARX gene duplication is compatible with normal intellectual development. Am J Med Genet A. 2014, 164A(9):2324-7.
- 23. Baskin B, Stavropoulos DJ, Rebeiro PA, Orr J, Li M, Steele L, Marshall CR, Lemire EG, Boycott KM, Gibson W, Ray PN. Complex genomic rearrangements in the dystrophin gene due to replication-based mechanisms. Mol Genet Genomic Med. 2014, 2(6):539-47

# Exploring Mendelian traits using next-generation sequencing technologies and iPSC for disease modeling

# Niklas Dahl

Mendelian (monogenic) disorders are extremely heterogeneous and affect approximately 5% of the population in Western societies. The approximately 8,000 Mendelian entities described to date, as well as 50% of cases with intellectual disabilities caused bysingle gene mutations, constitute a major socioeconomic burden worldwide. The identification of causative gene mutations is crucial for our understanding of development and organ function as well as for accurate diagnosis, appropriate follow-up and counseling to patients/families. Furthermore, identification of novel genetic mechanisms may serve as a platform for therapeutic interventions. Our goals are to identify novel genetic variants/genes causing Mendelian traits and to model these phenotypes in different biological systems. Our long-term objectives are to identify pathways and biomarkers that can be used for the development of therapies in these and similar disorders.

# Next generation sequencing for the identification of gene variants associated with (novel) human phenotypes

#### Joakim Klar, Maria Sobol, Doroteya Raykova, Muhammad Jameel, Jens Schuster

Next generation sequencing (NGS) technologies are used in order to identify genes, gene variants and altered expression associated with unique, mainly Mendelian phenotypes. We have characterised a number of unique phenotypes/disorders and additional clinical entities are continuously identified through collaborators. Gene variants and expression profiles are analysed using whole genome sequencing, targeted sequencing, exome-sequencing and transcriptome sequencing (SciLife platforms) on selected patient samples. As an example, we have utilized the Ion Proton sequencing platforms in 50 distinct whole-exome sequencing projects. Twenty-nine of these are finalized showing a success rate of 66% (19/29). A successful outcome is defined as the identification of a disease causing mutation proven by functional analysis in biological systems or, by independent reports on similar genotype-phenotype associations. In one third of projects no candidate gene mutation was identified, possibly due to a combination of biological and technical factors. The sequencing approach as well as data handling and bioinformatic analysis are now constantly developed in order to increase the yield of successful projects.

Different imaging technologies and model systems are used in order study the pathophysiological mechanisms caused by novel genes/gene variants, e.g. zebrafish and iPSC differentiated to neuronal lineages.

### Induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells for disease modeling: Functional analysis of disease mechanisms in neurological disorders

# Maria Sobol, Jens Schuster, Doroteya Raykova, Ayda Khallifa, Laureanne Lorenzo, Feria Hikmet Noraddin

Neurodevelopmental disorders affect approximately 2% of the population. Little is known about the mechanisms leading to early neuronal defects in the central nervous system. Induced pluripotent stem cell (iPSC) technology has the capacity to recapitulate lineage specific development and pathophysiology. Human skin fibroblasts derived from patients with clinically well-defined neurodevelopmental disorders are reprogrammed to iPSC using a non-integrating vector system. The iPSC are differentiated into different neuronal lineages using established protocols.

Populations of iPSC differentiated into neuronal stem cells are analysed for e.g. growth, migration, neurit outgrowth, transcriptome- proteome- and methylome profile, and electrophysiology for the identification of disease-associated alterations. The goal is to identify biological disease markers in early steps of differentiation and to rescue these abnormalities in a screening platform available at Chemical Biology Consortium Sweden. Examples of well-defined neurodevelopmental disorders that are now being analyzed at the "stem-cell levels" are Down syndrome, Dravet disease and Mowat-Wilson syndrome.

#### Group members during 2014

Niklas Dahl, professor, group leader Zafar Ali, guest PhD student Alberto Alvarez, student Angêlica Delgado Vega, physician Sanna Gudmundsson, student Karl-Henrik Gustavson, professor emeritus Feria Hikmet Noraddin, student Muhammed Jameel, PhD student Ayda Khalfallah, post doc Joakim Klar, researcher Loora Laan, student Laureanne Pilar Lorenzo, researcher Doroteya Raykova, PhD student Jens Schuster, researcher Maria Sobol. post-doc Xiaolei Zhou, physician

### Funding during 2014

AstraZeneca 1 100 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 900 kSEK Uppsala University, 200 kSEK Uppsala University Hospital (ALF) 700 kSEK

- 1. Dahlqvist J, Törmä H, Badhai J, Dahl N. siRNA silencing of proteasome maturation protein (POMP) activates the unfolded protein response and constitutes a model for KLICK genodermatosis. PLoS One. 2012, 7(1):e29471.
- 2. Nawaz S, Tariq M, Ahmad I, Malik NA, Baig SM, Dahl N, Klar J. Non-bullous congentital ichthyosiform erythroderma associated with homozygosity for a novel missense mutation in an ATP binding domain of ABCA12. Eur J Dermatol. 2012, 22(2):178-81.
- 3. Tariq M, Azhar A, Baig SM, Dahl N, Klar J. A novel mutation in the Lipase H gene underlies autosomal recessive hypotrichosis and woolly hair. Sci Rep. 2012, 2:730.
- 4. Kvarnung M, Lindstrand A, Malmgren H, Thåström A, Jacobson L, Dahl N, Lundin J, Blennow E. Inherited mosaicism for the supernumerary marker chromosome in cat eye syndrome: inter- and intra-individual variation and correlation to the phenotype. Am J Med Genet A. 2012, 158A(5):1111-7.

- Jakubowska A et al, CIMBA, the Consortium of Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2-Related Cancer incl. Dahl N (2012) Association of PHB 1630 C>T and MTHFR 677 C>T polymorphisms with breast and ovarian cancer risk in BRCA1/2 mutation carriers: results from a multicenter study. Br J Cancer. 2012, 106(12):2016-24.
- 6. Maia AT et al, CIMBA, the Consortium of Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2-Related Cancer incl. Dahl N (2012) Effects of BRCA2 cis-regulation in normal breast and cancer risk amongst BRCA2 mutation carriers. Breast Cancer Res. 2012, 14(2):R63.
- Kirchhoff T et al, CIMBA, the Consortium of Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2-Related Cancer incl. Dahl N (2012) Breast cancer risk and 6q22.33: combined results from Breast Cancer Association Consortium and Consortium of Investigators on Modifiers of BRCA1/2. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e35706.
- Ramus SJ et al, CIMBA, the Consortium of Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2-Related Cancer incl. Dahl N (2012) Ovarian cancer susceptibility alleles and risk of ovarian cancer in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. Hum Mutat. 2012 Apr;33(4):690-702.
- 9. Dahlqvist J, Westermark GT, Vahlquist A, Dahl N. Ichthyin/NIPAL4 localizes to keratins and desmosomes in epidermis and Ichthyin mutations affect epidermal lipid metabolism. Arch Dermatol Res. 2012, 304(5):377-86.
- 10. Khan TN, Klar J, Nawaz S, Jameel M, Tariq M, Malik NA, Baig SM, Dahl N. Novel missense mutation in the RSPO4 gene in congenital hyponychia and evidence for a polymorphic initiation codon (p.M1I). BMC Med Genet. 2012, 13:120.
- 11. Hooper SD, Johansson AC, Tellgren-Roth C, Stattin EL, Dahl N, Cavelier L, Feuk L. Genome-wide sequencing for the identification of rearrangements associated with Tourette syndrome and obsessive-compulsive disorder. BMC Med Genet. 2012, 13:123.
- 12. Stevens KN et al, CIMBA, the Consortium of Investigators of Modifiers of BRCA1/2-Related Cancer incl. Dahl N (2012) Evaluation of chromosome 6p22 as a breast cancer risk modifier locus in a follow-up study of BRCA2 mutation carriers. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012, 136(1):295-302.
- Klar J, Sobol M, Melberg A, Mäbert K, Ameur A, Johansson AC, Feuk L, Entesarian M, Orlén H, Casar-Borota O, Dahl N. Welander distal myopathy caused by an ancient founder mutation in TIA1 associated with perturbed splicing. Hum Mutat. 2013, 34(4):572-7.
- Khan TN, Klar J, Ali Z, Khan F, Baig SM, Dahl N. Cenani-Lenz syndrome restricted to limb and kidney anomalies associated with a novel LRP4 missense mutation. Eur J Med Genet. 2013, 56(7):371-4.
- Cui CY, Klar J, Georgii-Heming P, Fröjmark AS, Baig SM, Schlessinger D, Dahl N. Frizzled6 deficiency disrupts the differentiation process of nail development. J Invest Dermatol. 2013, 133(8):1990-7.
- 16. Giorgio E, Rolyan H, Kropp L, Chakka AB, Yatsenko S, Gregorio ED, Lacerenza D, Vaula G, Talarico F, Mandich P, Toro C, Pierre EE, Labauge P, Capellari S, Cortelli P, Vairo FP, Miguel D, Stubbolo D, Marques LC, Gahl W, Boespflug-Tanguy O, Melberg A, Hassin-Baer S, Cohen OS, Pjontek R, Grau A, Klopstock T, Fogel B, Meijer I, Rouleau G, Bouchard JP, Ganapathiraju M, Vanderver A, Dahl N, Hobson G, Brusco A, Brussino A, Padiath QS. Analysis of LMNB1 duplications in autosomal dominant leukodystrophy provides insights into duplication mechanisms and allele-specific expression. Hum Mutat. 2013, 34(8):1160-71.
- 17. Vlachos A, Dahl N, Dianzani I, Lipton JM. Clinical utility gene card for: Diamond-Blackfan anemia--update 2013. Eur J Hum Genet. 2013, 21(10).

- Arzoo PS, Klar J, Bergendal B, Norderyd J, Dahl N. WNT10A mutations account for <sup>1</sup>/<sub>4</sub> of population-based isolated oligodontia and show phenotypic correlations. Am J Med Genet A. 2014, 164A(2):353-9.
- Raykova D, Klar J, Azhar A, Khan TN, Malik NA, Iqbal M, Tariq M, Baig SM, Dahl N. Autosomal recessive transmission of a rare KRT74 variant causes hair and nail ectodermal dysplasia: allelism with dominant woolly hair/hypotrichosis. PLoS One. 2014, 9(4):e93607.
- Kilander MB, Petersen J, Andressen KW, Ganji RS, Levy FO, Schuster J, Dahl N, Bryja V, Schulte G. Disheveled regulates precoupling of heterotrimeric G proteins to Frizzled 6. FASEB J. 2014, 28(5):2293-305.
- 21. Klar J, Khalfallah A, Arzoo PS, Gazda HT, Dahl N. Recurrent GATA1 mutations in Diamond-Blackfan anaemia. Br J Haematol. 2014, 166(6):949-51.
- 22. Khan TN, Klar J, Tariq M, Anjum Baig S, Malik NA, Yousaf R, Baig SM, Dahl N. Evidence for autosomal recessive inheritance in SPG3A caused by homozygosity for a novel ATL1 missense mutation. Eur J Hum Genet. 2014, 22(10):1180-4.
- 23. Klar J, Hisatsune C, Baig SM, Tariq M, Johansson AC, Rasool M, Malik NA, Ameur A, Sugiura K, Feuk L, Mikoshiba K, Dahl N. Abolished InsP3R2 function inhibits sweat secretion in both humans and mice. J Clin Invest. 2014, 124(11):4773-80.
- 24. Jameel M, Klar J, Tariq M, Moawia A, Altaf Malik N, Seema Waseem S, Abdullah U, Naeem Khan T, Raininko R, Baig SM, Dahl N. A novel AP4M1 mutation in autosomal recessive cerebral palsy syndrome and clinical expansion of AP-4 deficiency. BMC Med Genet. 2014, 15:133.

# **Molecular Oncology**

#### Jan Dumanski

Analysis of post-zygotic or somatic genetic variation (somatic mosaicism) is the overall theme of research in the group. We work with translational disease-related projects and with basic questions addressing somatic variation in normal human cells. An emphasis is on structural genetic variation, which has emerged over the past 10 years as a dominating type of human inter-individual variation.

# Mosaic loss of chromosome Y (LOY) in blood cells is associated with smoking as well as shorter survival and higher risk of cancer in men

#### Lars A. Forsberg, Chiara Rasi, Jan Dumanski

#### LOY and cancer

It is well known that men have an overall shorter life expectancy compared with women. However, it is less well recognized that incidence and mortality for sex-unspecific cancers are higher in men, a fact that is largely unexplained. Age-related loss of chromosome Y (LOY) is frequent in normal hematopoietic cells and it was first described more than 50 years ago, but the phenotypic consequences of LOY have been elusive. Our latest results suggest that LOY could be a key factor to explain the higher mortality of men.

Survival analyzes performed in the Swedish ULSAM-cohort (Uppsala Longitudinal Study of Adult Men) with >1100 participants indicated that LOY in peripheral blood could be associated with risks of all-cause mortality as well as non-hematological cancer mortality. Among the elderly men in this cohort, followed clinically for up to 20 years, at least 8.2% of the subjects were affected by LOY in a significant fraction of blood cells. The median survival time in men affected with LOY was half, i.e. 5.5 years shorter, compared to the men without mosaic LOY in blood cells. The association of LOY with risk of all-cause mortality was validated in the independent PIVUS-cohort (Prospective Investigation of the Vasculature in Uppsala Seniors) in which 20.5% of men showed LOY. Our discovery of a correlation between LOY and all-cause mortality as well as non-hematological cancer mortality will be published in Nature Genetics.

These results illustrate the impact of post-zygotic mosaicism such as loss of chromosome Y (LOY) on disease risk and could explain why males have a higher mortality compared to females and are more frequently affected by cancer. They also suggests that chromosome Y is important in processes beyond sex determination and sperm production. LOY in blood could become a predictive biomarker of male carcinogenesis.

#### LOY and smoking

Smoking is a major preventable environmental risk factor related to human health. Smoking killed about 100 million people during the 20th century and is projected to kill one billion people during this century, assuming that the current frequency of smoking is retained. Lung cancer is the prime cause of cancer associated death in relation to smoking. However, it is less well appreciated that smoking also causes tumors outside the respiratory tract, which is predominant in men and cumulatively roughly as common as lung cancer. Moreover, it is known that males have a higher incidence and mortality from most sex-unspecific cancers, disregarding smoking status, and this fact is largely unexplained by known risk factors.

We have published a paper in *Science* showing that smoking is associated with and LOY in blood cells in three independent cohorts encompassing in total 6014 men. Our data also support a transient and dose-dependent mutagenic effect from smoking on LOY-status (Dumanski et al. 2015 Science, PMID: 25477213). Thus, smoking may induce LOY, linking

the most common acquired human mutation with a severe preventable risk factor. Our results could explain the observed sex differences and why smoking seems a greater risk factor for cancer in men than women.

#### Post-zygotic genetic variation: studies of human aging/longevity and ageassociated aberrations

#### Lars A. Forsberg, Chiara Rasi, Jan Dumanski

In collaboration with: Nancy L. Pedersen (Karolinska Institutet), Dedra Buchwald, Eric Strachan, (Univ. of Washington, USA), Fred Miller (NIH, Bethesda, USA), Devin Absher (HudsonAlpha Institute, USA), and Lars Lannfelt, Martin Ingelsson, Erik Ingelsson, Lars Lind et al. (UU).

Monozygotic (MZ) twins represent an extraordinary resource in genetics; two individuals who can also be treated as a single subject genetically matched at conception and present in two copies. Therefore, it is a powerful model for analysis of *de novo* (post-zygotic or somatic) genetic variation. We have shown in 2008 that MZ twins frequently display disparate patterns of genomic copy number variation (CNV). We hypothesized that structural genetic rearrangements in human somatic cells also vary over time and these might represent a new mechanism contributing to the aging process in humans.

Using age-stratified cohorts of 318 monozygotic (MZ) twins and 296 single-born subjects, we found age-related accumulation of copy-number variation in the nuclear genomes in vivo and frequency changes for both megabase- and kilobase-range variants. Megabase-range aberrations were found in 3.4% (9 of 264) of subjects >60 years old; these subjects included 78 MZ twin pairs and 108 single-born individuals from Uppsala ULSAM-cohort. No such findings were observed in 81 MZ pairs or 180 single-born subjects who were <55 years old. Recurrent region- and gene-specific mutations, mostly deletions, were observed. Longitudinal analyses of 43 subjects whose data were collected 7–19 years apart suggest considerable variation in the rate of accumulation of clones carrying structural changes.

Furthermore, the longitudinal analysis of individuals with structural aberrations suggests that there is a natural self-removal of aberrant cell clones from peripheral blood. In three healthy subjects, we detected somatic aberrations characteristic of patients with myelodysplastic syndrome. The recurrent rearrangements uncovered here are candidates for common age-related defects in human blood cells. We anticipate that extension of these results will allow determination of the genetic age of different somatic-cell lineages and estimation of possible individual differences between genetic and chronological age. Our work might also help to explain the cause of an age-related reduction in the number of cell clones in the blood; such a reduction is one of the hallmarks of immunosenescence.

# Novel bio-markers for breast cancer; disease prediction and progression Lars A. Forsberg, Hamid Razzaghian, Chiara Rasi, Jan Dumanski

In collaboration with: Wojciech Zegarski, (Center of Oncology, Bydgoszcz, Poland), Jaroslaw Skokowski, Arkadiusz Piotrowski (Medical University of Gdansk, Poland), Janusz Rys (Jagiellonian University, Krakow, Poland), Tibor Tot (Central Hospital of Falun, Sweden), and Devin Absher (HudsonAlpha Institute, USA)

There exists a paradox in cancer research: although the high mortality from cancer is caused by metastatic spread of tumors, genetic research of metastases is underdeveloped. Contrary to the numerous transcriptome and genome analyses of primary tumors, there is a lack of comprehensive and high-resolution studies comparing genomic profiles of primary tumors and the metastases from the same patient. We have recently completed pilot breast- and ovarian-cancer projects, testing the hypothesis that, upon high-resolution analysis, there are frequent genetic differences between matched primary tumors and lymph node metastases. We observed aberrations that can be linked to metastatic disease and many of the observed differences were previously linked to poor patient survival, based on extensive analyses of primary tumors. This provides a proof of concept that this approach towards finding new biomarkers for breast cancer progression and patient's prognosis is viable.

The second part of this project deals with search for somatic genetic events in normal breast tissue predisposing to breast cancer. Our previous discoveries of genetic differences between differentiated tissues and in monozygotic twins indicate that the somatic mosaicism for CNVs, between normal cells in the same person is underestimated. This represents a paradigm shift in somatic cell genetics, which has implications for cancer research, as cancer is predominantly a genetic disorder of somatic cells. Hence, this gives an opportunity for analysis of *de novo* somatic aberrations that may predispose normal cells to cancer development, by comparisons of CNV/CpG methylome profiles between an uninvolved margin of histopathologically normal cells surrounding a primary tumor and blood of the same patient.

We compare genomes and epigenomes (CpG methylome) of primary tumors and metastases from patients with breast cancer. We also evaluate genetic and epigenetic (CpG methylation) profiles of normal margin of tissue surrounding primary tumor and blood DNA from the same patient. The objective is to identify patterns suggesting genomic global CNV/epigenetic instability, alternatively aberrations in specific genomic loci that might be coupled to breast cancer progression and predisposition/susceptibility. Our preliminary, unpublished results support the viability of the above hypotheses.

#### Group members during 2014

Jan Dumanski, professor, group leader Lars Forsberg, researcher Hanna Davies, research engineer Dhanu Gupta, student Chiara Rasi, research assistant Edyta Rychlicka, post doc

#### Funding during 2014

Swedish Research Council, 900 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 800 kSEK Borgström foundation, 250 kSEK (to L. Forsberg) Vleugel Foundation and Department funding, 390 kSEK (to L. Forsberg)

- 1. Dumanski JP, Piotrowski A. Structural genetic variation in the context of somatic mosaicism. Methods Mol Biol. 2012, 838:249-72.
- Forsberg LA, Rasi C, Razzaghian HR, Pakalapati G, Waite L, Thilbeault KS, Ronowicz A, Wineinger NE, Tiwari HK, Boomsma D, Westerman MP, Harris JR, Lyle R, Essand M, Eriksson F, Assimes TL, Iribarren C, Strachan E, O'Hanlon TP, Rider LG, Miller FW, Giedraitis V, Lannfelt L, Ingelsson M, Piotrowski A, Pedersen NL, Absher D, Dumanski JP. Age-related somatic structural changes in the nuclear genome of human blood cells. Am J Hum Genet. 2012, 90(2):217-28.

- 3. Lawrie AS, Pizzey A, Trompeter S, Meiselman H, Mohandas N, Dumanski JP, Westerman MP. Procoagulant activity in patients with sickle cell trait. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis. 2012, 23(4):268-70.
- 4. Forsberg LA, Absher D, Dumanski JP. Non-heritable genetics of human disease: spotlight on post-zygotic genetic variation acquired during lifetime. J Med Genet. 2013, 50(1):1-10.
- 5. Cetinkaya C, Martinsson T, Sandgren J, Träger C, Kogner P, Dumanski J, Díaz de Ståhl T, Hedborg F. Age dependence of tumor genetics in unfavorable neuroblastoma: arrayCGH profiles of 34 consecutive cases, using a Swedish 25-year neuroblastoma cohort for validation. BMC Cancer. 2013, 13:231.
- 6. Forsberg LA, Absher D, Dumanski JP. Republished: Non-heritable genetics of human disease: spotlight on post-zygotic genetic variation acquired during lifetime. Postgrad Med J. 2013, 89(1053):417-26.
- Razzaghian HR, Forsberg LA, Prakash KR, Przerada S, Paprocka H, Zywicka A, Westerman MP, Pedersen NL, O'Hanlon TP, Rider LG, Miller FW, Srutek E, Jankowski M, Zegarski W, Piotrowski A, Absher D, Dumanski JP. Post-zygotic and inter-individual structural genetic variation in a presumptive enhancer element of the locus between the IL10Rβ and IFNAR1 genes. PLoS One. 2013, 8(9):e67752.
- Forsberg LA, Rasi C, Malmqvist N, Davies H, Pasupulati S, Pakalapati G, Sandgren J, Diaz de Ståhl T, Zaghlool A, Giedraitis V, Lannfelt L, Score J, Cross NC, Absher D, Janson ET, Lindgren CM, Morris AP, Ingelsson E, Lind L, Dumanski JP. Mosaic loss of chromosome Y in peripheral blood is associated with shorter survival and higher risk of cancer. Nat Genet. 2014, 46(6):624-8.
- Dumanski JP, Rasi C, Lönn M, Davies H, Ingelsson M, Giedraitis V, Lannfelt L, Magnusson PK, Lindgren CM, Morris AP, Cesarini D, Johannesson M, Tiensuu Janson E, Lind L, Pedersen NL, Ingelsson E, Forsberg LA. Mutagenesis. Smoking is associated with mosaic loss of chromosome Y. Science. 2015 Jan 2;347(6217):81-3. Epub 2014 Dec 4.

# Genetic variation and gene expression in human disease

#### Lars Feuk

The aim of our research is to understand the importance of genetic variation in the human genome and its role in disease and evolution. We are using high throughput sequencing combined with bioinformatic analyses to characterize genetic variation and its correlation with functional data and disease outcomes. The research ranges from very basic studies of genetic variation and transcription to disease specific analysis.

Studies of human disease are mainly focused on neurodevelopmental disorders, including intellectual disability and schizophrenia. We aim to capitalize on the development of the latest sequencing technologies to identify new causative mutations. Our samples include both large pedigrees and parent-offspring trios, and we are using different analysis strategies to mine the sequencing data for potential causative mutations.

We are also interested in better understanding the process of transcription and RNA processing in human cells. Using data from RNA sequencing, we are aiming characterize splicing mechanisms and investigate the subcellular localization of different transcripts. We also develop new strategies for RNA extraction and enrichment to increase the resolution in our analyses.

# Exome and whole genome sequencing of patients with neurodevelopmental disorders

#### Jonatan Halvardson, Eva Carlström, Lars Feuk

To sequence all the coding regions of a genome in a single experiment is a powerful tool to discover disease genes. In this project, we are mainly focusing on two groups of patients to identify causative mutations. First, in collaboration with the clinical genetics unit, we are investigating patients with severe intellectual disability and epilepsy for de novo mutations by sequencing the exomes of both parents and the patient. The second approach is to use pedigrees with multiple affected individuals to identify mutations in regions of linkage or shared homozygosity. Significant work has been invested in establishing a bioinformatics pipeline for analysis of exome and whole genome sequence data.

#### Functional characterization of mutations causing intellectual disability Ammar Zaghlool, Jin Zhao, Mitra Etemadikhah, Lars Feuk

Our exome sequencing projects have led to the discovery of several mutations in genes not previously linked to disease. The most interesting genes have been selected for functional follow-up in order to clarify the role of the gene and the specific mutation in disease. Classic molecular biology (cloning, transfection, RNAi) approaches are combined with high throughput genomics such as RNA-seq and CHiP-seq to characterize the role of the genes and mutations.

### Transcriptome analysis

#### Ammar Zaghlool, Jonatan Halvardson, Lars Feuk

Transcriptome sequencing is providing novel insights into the transcriptional landscape of cells and tissues. In this collaborative project (Lucia Cavelier and Adam Ameur at IGP), we use RNA sequencing to study transcription in human tissue samples. We are also investigating evidence for splicing in human tissues using both computational and lab based approaches. New approaches are developed to extract specific types or subcellular fractions of RNA in order to increase biological insight.

### Group members during 2014

Lars Feuk, associate professor, group leader Mitra Etemadikhah, scholarship holder Eva Lindholm Carlström, researcher Jonatan Halvardson, PhD student Ammar Zaghlool, post doc Jin Zhao, PhD student

### Funding during 2014

European Research Council Starting Grant, 2 556 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 1 500 kSEK (Medicine and Health), 800 kSEK (Natural and Engineering Sciences

- 1. Johansson AC, Feuk L. Characterizing and interpreting genetic variation from personal genome sequencing. Methods Mol Biol. 2012, 838:343-67.
- 2. de Leeuw N, Dijkhuizen T, Hehir-Kwa JY, Carter NP, Feuk L, Firth HV, Kuhn RM, Ledbetter DH, Martin CL, van Ravenswaaij-Arts CM, Scherer SW, Shams S, Van Vooren S, Sijmons R, Swertz M, Hastings R. Diagnostic interpretation of array data using public databases and internet sources. Hum Mutat. 2012, 33(6):930-940.
- 3. Spiegel R, Pines O, Ta-Shma A, Burak E, Shaag A, Halvardson J, Edvardson S, Mahajna M, Zenvirt S, Saada A, Shalev S, Feuk L, Elpeleg O. Infantile cerebellar-retinal degeneration associated with a mutation in mitochondrial aconitase, ACO2. Am J Hum Genet. 2012, 90(3):518-23.
- 4. Ameur A, Enroth S, Johansson A, Zaboli G, Igl W, Johansson AC, Rivas MA, Daly MJ, Schmitz G, Hicks AA, Meitinger T, Feuk L, van Duijn C, Oostra B, Pramstaller PP, Rudan I, Wright AF, Wilson JF, Campbell H, Gyllensten U. Genetic adaptation of fattyacid metabolism: a human-specific haplotype increasing the biosynthesis of long-chain omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. Am J Hum Genet. 2012, 90(5):809-20.
- 5. Berger I, Dor T, Halvardson J, Edvardson S, Shaag A, Feuk L, Elpeleg O. Intractable epilepsy of infancy due to homozygous mutation in the EFHC1 gene. Epilepsia. 2012, 53(8):1436-40.
- 6. Hooper SD, Johansson AC, Tellgren-Roth C, Stattin EL, Dahl N, Cavelier L, Feuk L. Genome-wide sequencing for the identification of rearrangements associated with Tourette syndrome and obsessive-compulsive disorder. BMC Med Genet. 2012, 13:123.
- 7. Halvardson J, Zaghlool A, Feuk L. Exome RNA sequencing reveals rare and novel alternative transcripts. Nucleic Acids Res. 2013, 41(1):e6
- 8. Pang AW, Migita O, Macdonald JR, Feuk L, Scherer SW. Mechanisms of formation of structural variation in a fully sequenced human genome. Hum Mutat. 2013, 34(2):345-54.
- 9. Radomska KJ, Halvardson J, Reinius B, Lindholm Carlström E, Emilsson L, Feuk L, Jazin E. RNA-binding protein QKI regulates Glial fibrillary acidic protein expression in human astrocytes. Hum Mol Genet. 2013, 22(7):1373-82.
- 10. Klar J, Sobol M, Melberg A, Mäbert K, Ameur A, Johansson AC, Feuk L, Entesarian M, Orlén H, Casar-Borota O, Dahl N. Welander distal myopathy caused by an ancient

founder mutation in TIA1 associated with perturbed splicing. Hum Mutat. 2013, 34(4):572-7.

- 11. Chen D, Juko-Pecirep I, Hammer J, Ivansson E, Enroth S, Gustavsson I, Feuk L, Magnusson PK, McKay JD, Wilander E, Gyllensten U. Genome-wide association study of susceptibility loci for cervical cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013, 105(9):624-33.
- 12. Zaghlool A, Ameur A, Nyberg L, Halvardson J, Grabherr M, Cavelier L, Feuk L. Efficient cellular fractionation improves RNA sequencing analysis of mature and nascent transcripts from human tissues. BMC Biotechnol. 2013, 13:99.
- 13. MacDonald JR, Ziman R, Yuen RK, Feuk L, Scherer SW. The Database of Genomic Variants: a curated collection of structural variation in the human genome. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014, 42 (Database issue):D986-92.
- Spiegel R, Saada A, Halvardson J, Soiferman D, Shaag A, Edvardson S, Horovitz Y, Khayat M, Shalev SA, Feuk L, Elpeleg O. Deleterious mutation in FDX1L gene is associated with a novel mitochondrial muscle myopathy. Eur J Hum Genet. 2014, 22(7):902-6.
- 15. Zaghlool A, Ameur A, Cavelier L, Feuk L. Splicing in the human brain. Int Rev Neurobiol. 2014, 116:95-125.
- 16. Klar J, Hisatsune C, Baig SM, Tariq M, Johansson AC, Rasool M, Malik NA, Ameur A, Sugiura K, Feuk L, Mikoshiba K, Dahl N. Abolished InsP3R2 function inhibits sweat secretion in both humans and mice. J Clin Invest. 2014, 124(11):4773-80.

# Human Genomics and Molecular Epidemiology

#### **Ulf Gyllensten**

The research of the group is divided into two parts. The first project uses a systems biology approach to study human physiology and we will determine the biological variation in human populations at different levels. We are interested in how the genetic, epigenetic and exposure (medical history, diet, lifestyle) effects can be modelled on the proteome, glycome and lipidome?

Our second project concerns the genetics and clinical epidemiology of cervical cancer. This is the second most common cancer among women worldwide and is caused by persistent infection of oncogenic types of human papilloma virus (HPV). The research focus on the epidemiology of HPV, the identification of genetic factors contributing to the susceptibility and on the interactions between the virus and host susceptibility factors. We also have a large randomised study ongoing to compare cytology (PAP smear) and self-sampling for HPV testing in the primary screening to detect women at risk of developing cervical cancer.

#### Systems biology approach to human physiology

#### Stefan Enroth, Åsa Johansson, Ulf Gyllensten

We will determine the biological variation in human populations at the level of the genome, transcriptome, epigenome, and proteome. The variation is studied in pedigree-based population cohorts, with unique genetic backgrounds and life style, from the European Special Population Research Network (EUROSPAN). The information includes full exome sequences of selected individuals and imputed exome structure for the complete population, genome-wide analyses of epigenomic state (methylation), high-resolution studies of the plasma proteome, the glycome (glycans), the lipidome, and exposure variables such as medical history, lifestyle and diet.

These multidisciplinary data is used to model the interaction between different types of biological information and address questions that have been beyond the reach for a single discipline. What is the impact of genetic and genomic variation on the plasma proteome? How can genetic, epigenetic, medical history, diet and lifestyle effects be modelled on the proteome, and lipidome? This is the first study based on complete exome sequences for a population to address the impact of genetic factors on other levels of biological variation. It also represents the first study to integrate data from these multiple layers of biological information and model their interactions and effect on human physiology.

# Identification of genetic risk factors for cervical cancer

#### Dan Chen, Ivana Juko, Tao Cui, Stefan Enroth, Ulf Gyllensten

#### In collaboration with Emma Ivansson (UU)

Cervical cancer is caused by human papillomavirus (HPV) and both genetic and environmental risk factors contribute to persistence of an HPV infection and progression to cervical carcinoma. The disease shows a strong familial clustering restricted to biological relatives, indicating that host genetic factors are important for disease development. We have established population-based affected sib-pair (ASP) and case-control cohorts, including over 2,800 cases with cervical carcinoma and 2,000 controls to be used in the identification of genetic risk factors for cervical cancer. This represent the largest set of families with cervical carcinoma identified in the world and among the largest materials for case-control studies.

We have recently performed the first genome-wide association study (GWAS) for this disease, and this has lead to the identification of pathways and individual genes associated

with susceptibility to cervical cancer. We will now perform detailed genetic and functional studies of the identified pathways and genes. This project will increase our understanding of the etiology of cervical carcinoma and provide new means for development of diagnostic and therapeutic measures.

# Development of rapid and high-resolution methods for HPV typing, and their application to clinical screening of pre-stages for cervical cancer

#### Inger Gustavsson, Ulf Gyllensten

#### In collaboration with Karin Sanner, Matts Olovsson (UU)

We have developed techniques for collection of cervical smear samples (using FTA cards) and detection and quantification of HPV using real-time PCR. These methods allow for detection of individual HPV types and estimation of their titer. The method is economical, easily scalable and amendable to automation, making it suitable for use in primary and secondary screening for cervical cancer pre-stages. We are conducting studies using self-sampling and repeat-HPV typing to determine if this could be used as a strategy in the primary screening for cervical cancer as an alternative to cytology-based strategies.

# Evaluation of the use of self-sampling and repeated HPV testing in primary screening for cervical cancer: a randomised study

# Inger Gustavsson, Julia Hedlund-Lindberg, Pernilla Quarfordt, Ulf Gyllensten

# In collaboration with Karin Sanner, Matts Olovsson, Ingrid Wikström, Erik Wilander Riina Aarnio (UU)

The organised gynaecological screening program in Sweden has reduced the incidence of cervical cancer by 50%. To further reduce the incidence of cervical cancer, the sensitivity of the diagnostic test and coverage of screening must be improved. This can be achieved by introducing human papillomavirus (HPV) typing as the primary diagnostic test and implementing a screening system where women take the samples at their own convenience (by themselves and at home) and send it in to the lab for analysis. The aim is this project is to study: A. The feasibility of using self-sampling at home for HPV testing, as an alternative to collection of samples at a mid-wife's clinic. B. The use of repeated testing for oncogenic forms of HPV as the primary screening test for early detection of cervical cancer. C. The health-economic benefits of using self-sampling and repeated HPV testing as a basis for cervical cancer screening.

#### Group members during 2014

Ulf Gyllensten, professor, group leader Malin Berggrund, PhD student Dan Chen, post doc Tao Cui, post doc Victoria Engström, research assistant Stefan Enroth, researcher Inger Gustavsson, research engineer Julia Hedlund Lindberg, research engineer Åsa Johansson, researcher Ivana Juko, PhD student Pernilla Quarfordt, research engineer Ann-Sofi Strand, lab technician

# Funding during 2014

Swedish Cancer Society, 1 500 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 2 200 kSEK SSF, Foundation for Strategic Research, 2 600 kSEK Borgström Foundation, 300 kSEK Linnéstiftelsen, 200 kSEK

- 1. Jacobsson JA, Rask-Andersen M, Risérus U, Moschonis G, Koumpitski A, Chrousos GP, Lannfelt L, Marcus C, Gyllensten U, Schiöth HB, Fredriksson R. Genetic variants near the MGAT1 gene are associated with body weight, BMI and fatty acid metabolism among adults and children. Int J Obes (Lond). 2012, 36(1):119-29.
- 2. Castro FA, Ivansson EL, Schmitt M, Juko-Pecirep I, Kjellberg L, Hildesheim A, Gyllensten UB, Pawlita M. Contribution of TMC6 and TMC8 (EVER1 and EVER2) variants to cervical cancer susceptibility. Int J Cancer. 2012, 130(2):349-55.
- Zaboli G, Ameur A, Igl W, Johansson Å, Hayward C, Vitart V, Campbell S, Zgaga L, Polasek O, Schmitz G, van Duijn C, Oostra B, Pramstaller P, Hicks A, Meitinger T, Rudan I, Wright A, Wilson JF, Campbell H, Gyllensten U; EUROSPAN Consortium. Sequencing of high-complexity DNA pools for identification of nucleotide and structural variants in regions associated with complex traits. Eur J Hum Genet. 2012, 20(1):77-83. doi: 10.1038/ejhg.2011.138.
- 4. Marquez M, Huyvaert M, Perry JR, et al., DIAGRAM Consortium. Low-frequency variants in HMGA1 are not associated with type 2 diabetes risk. Diabetes. 2012, 61(2):524-30.
- 5. Palmer ND, McDonough CW, Hicks PJ, et al. A genome-wide association search for type 2 diabetes genes in African Americans. PLoS One. 2012, 7(1):e29202.
- 6. Gyllensten U, Gustavsson I, Lindell M, Wilander E. Primary high-risk HPV screening for cervical cancer in post-menopausal women. Gynecol Oncol. 2012, 125(2):343-5.
- 7. Demirkan A, van Duijn CM, Ugocsai P, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies novel loci associated with circulating phospho- and sphingolipid concentrations. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(2):e1002490.
- 8. Pattaro C, Köttgen A, Teumer A, et al. Genome-wide association and functional followup reveals new loci for kidney function. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(3):e1002584.
- 9. Dastani Z, Hivert MF, Timpson N, et al. Novel loci for adiponectin levels and their influence on type 2 diabetes and metabolic traits: a multi-ethnic meta-analysis of 45,891 individuals. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(3):e1002607.
- 10. Ameur A, Enroth S, Johansson A, Zaboli G, Igl W, Johansson AC, Rivas MA, Daly MJ, Schmitz G, Hicks AA, Meitinger T, Feuk L, van Duijn C, Oostra B, Pramstaller PP, Rudan I, Wright AF, Wilson JF, Campbell H, Gyllensten U. Genetic adaptation of fattyacid metabolism: a human-specific haplotype increasing the biosynthesis of long-chain omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. Am J Hum Genet. 2012, 90(5):809-20.
- Edlund K, Larsson O, Ameur A, Bunikis I, Gyllensten U, Leroy B, Sundström M, Micke P, Botling J, Soussi T. Data-driven unbiased curation of the TP53 tumor suppressor gene mutation database and validation by ultradeep sequencing of human tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012, 109(24):9551-6.

- 12. Mansouri L, Gunnarsson R, Sutton LA, Ameur A, Hooper SD, Mayrhofer M, Juliusson G, Isaksson A, Gyllensten U, Rosenquist R. Next generation RNA-sequencing in prognostic subsets of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Am J Hematol. 2012, 87(7):737-40.
- Mohammad F, Pandey GK, Mondal T, Enroth S, Redrup L, Gyllensten U, Kanduri C. Long noncoding RNA-mediated maintenance of DNA methylation and transcriptional gene silencing. Development. 2012, 139(15):2792-803.
- Marincevic-Zuniga Y, Gustavsson I, Gyllensten U. Multiply-primed rolling circle amplification of human papillomavirus using sequence-specific primers. Virology. 2012, 432(1):57-62.
- 15. McQuillan R, Eklund N, Pirastu N, et al. Evidence of inbreeding depression on human height. PLoS Genet. 2012;8(7):e1002655.
- Phongsavan K, Gustavsson I, Marions L, Phengsavanh A, Wahlström R, Gyllensten U. Detection of human papillomavirus among women in Laos: feasibility of using filter paper card and prevalence of high-risk types. Int J Gynecol Cancer. 2012, 22(8):1398-406.
- 17. Västermark Å, Jacobsson JA, Johansson Å, Fredriksson R, Gyllensten U, Schiöth HB. Polymorphisms in sh2b1 and spns1 loci are associated with triglyceride levels in a healthy population in northern Sweden. J Genet. 2012, 91(2):237-40.
- 18. Chasman DI, Fuchsberger C, Pattaro C, et al. Integration of genome-wide association studies with biological knowledge identifies six novel genes related to kidney function. Hum Mol Genet. 2012, 21(24):5329-43.
- 19. Sällman Almén M, Rask-Andersen M, Jacobsson JA, Ameur A, Kalnina I, Moschonis G, Juhlin S, Bringeland N, Hedberg LA, Ignatovica V, Chrousos GP, Manios Y, Klovins J, Marcus C, Gyllensten U, Fredriksson R, Schiöth HB. Determination of the obesity-associated gene variants within the entire FTO gene by ultra-deep targeted sequencing in obese and lean children. Int J Obes (Lond). 2013, 37(3):424-31.
- Pichler I, Schwienbacher C, Zanon A, Fuchsberger C, Serafin A, Facheris MF, Marroni F, Pattaro C, Shen Y, Tellgren-Roth C, Gyllensten U, Gusella JF, Hicks AA, Pramstaller PP. Fine-mapping of restless legs locus 4 (RLS4) identifies a haplotype over the SPATS2L and KCTD18 genes. J Mol Neurosci. 2013, 49(3):600-5.
- 21. Demirkan A, Isaacs A, Ugocsai P, Liebisch G, Struchalin M, Rudan I, Wilson JF, Pramstaller PP, Gyllensten U, Campbell H, Schmitz G, Oostra BA, van Duijn CM. Plasma phosphatidylcholine and sphingomyelin concentrations are associated with depression and anxiety symptoms in a Dutch family-based lipidomics study. J Psychiatr Res. 2013, 47(3):357-62.
- 22. Köttgen A, Albrecht E, Teumer A, et al. Genome-wide association analyses identify 18 new loci associated with serum urate concentrations. Nat Genet. 2013, 45(2):145-54.
- 23. Thanabalasingham G, Huffman JE, Kattla JJ, Novokmet M, Rudan I, Gloyn AL, Hayward C, Adamczyk B, Reynolds RM, Muzinic A, Hassanali N, Pucic M, Bennett AJ, Essafi A, Polasek O, Mughal SA, Redzic I, Primorac D, Zgaga L, Kolcic I, Hansen T, Gasperikova D, Tjora E, Strachan MW, Nielsen T, Stanik J, Klimes I, Pedersen OB, Njølstad PR, Wild SH, Gyllensten U, Gornik O, Wilson JF, Hastie ND, Campbell H, McCarthy MI, Rudd PM, Owen KR, Lauc G, Wright AF. Mutations in HNF1A Result in Marked Alterations of Plasma Glycan Profile. Diabetes. 2013, 62(4):1329-37.
- 24. Lauc G, Huffman JE, Pučić M, Zgaga L, Adamczyk B, Mužinić A, Novokmet M, Polašek O, Gornik O, Krištić J, Keser T, Vitart V, Scheijen B, Uh HW, Molokhia M, Patrick AL, McKeigue P, Kolčić I, Lukić IK, Swann O, van Leeuwen FN, Ruhaak LR, Houwing-Duistermaat JJ, Slagboom PE, Beekman M, de Craen AJ, Deelder AM, Zeng

Q, Wang W, Hastie ND, Gyllensten U, Wilson JF, Wuhrer M, Wright AF, Rudd PM, Hayward C, Aulchenko Y, Campbell H, Rudan I. Loci associated with N-glycosylation of human immunoglobulin G show pleiotropy with autoimmune diseases and haematological cancers. PLoS Genet. 2013, 9(1):e1003225.

- 25. Östensson E, Hellström AC, Hellman K, Gustavsson I, Gyllensten U, Wilander E, Zethraeus N, Andersson S. Projected cost-effectiveness of repeat high-risk human papillomavirus testing using self-collected vaginal samples in the Swedish cervical cancer screening program. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2013, 92(7):830-40. Erratum in: Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2013, 92(8):994.
- 26. Johansson Å, Enroth S, Palmblad M, Deelder AM, Bergquist J, Gyllensten U. Identification of genetic variants influencing the human plasma proteome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013, 110(12):4673-8.
- 27. Chen D, Juko-Pecirep I, Hammer J, Ivansson E, Enroth S, Gustavsson I, Feuk L, Magnusson PK, McKay JD, Wilander E, Gyllensten U. Genome-wide association study of susceptibility loci for cervical cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2013, 105(9):624-33.
- 28. Berndt SI, Gustafsson S, Mägi R, et al. Genome-wide meta-analysis identifies 11 new loci for anthropometric traits and provides insights into genetic architecture. Nat Genet. 2013, 45(5):501-12.
- 29. den Hoed M, Eijgelsheim M, Esko T, et al. Identification of heart rate-associated loci and their effects on cardiac conduction and rhythm disorders. Nat Genet. 2013, 45(6):621-31.
- 30. Randall JC, Winkler TW, Kutalik Z, et al. Sex-stratified genome-wide association studies including 270,000 individuals show sexual dimorphism in genetic loci for anthropometric traits. PLoS Genet. 2013, 9(6):e1003500.
- 31. Johansson A, Enroth S, Gyllensten U. Continuous Aging of the Human DNA Methylome Throughout the Human Lifespan. PLoS One. 2013, 8(6):e67378.
- 32. Nyström N, Berg T, Lundin E, Skog O, Hansson I, Frisk G, Juko-Pecirep I, Nilsson M, Gyllensten U, Finkel Y, Fuxe J, Wanders A. Human enterovirus species B in ileocecal Crohn's disease. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2013, 4:e38.
- 33. Thun GA, Imboden M, Ferrarotti I, Kumar A, Obeidat M, Zorzetto M, Haun M, Curjuric I, Couto Alves A, Jackson VE, Albrecht E, Ried JS, Teumer A, Lopez LM, Huffman JE, Enroth S, Bossé Y, Hao K, Timens W, Gyllensten U, Polasek O, Wilson JF, Rudan I, Hayward C, Sandford AJ, Deary IJ, Koch B, Reischl E, Schulz H, Hui J, James AL, Rochat T, Russi EW, Jarvelin MR, Strachan DP, Hall IP, Tobin MD, Dahl M, Fallgaard Nielsen S, Nordestgaard BG, Kronenberg F, Luisetti M, Probst-Hensch NM. Causal and synthetic associations of variants in the SERPINA gene cluster with alpha1-antitrypsin serum levels. PLoS Genet. 2013, 9(8):e1003585.
- 34. Enroth S, Dahlbom I, Hansson T, Johansson Å, Gyllensten U. Prevalence and sensitization of atopic allergy and coeliac disease in the Northern Sweden Population Health Study. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2013, 72.
- 35. Igl W, Kamal-Eldin A, Johansson A, Liebisch G, Gnewuch C, Schmitz G, Gyllensten U. Animal source food intake and association with blood cholesterol, glycerophospholipids and sphingolipids in a northern Swedish population. Int J Circumpolar Health. 2013, 72.
- 36. Parsa A, Fuchsberger C, Köttgen A, et al. Common variants in Mendelian kidney disease genes and their association with renal function. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2013, 24(12):2105-17.
- 37. Global Lipids Genetics Consortium, Willer CJ, Schmidt EM, et al. Discovery and refinement of loci associated with lipid levels. Nat Genet. 2013, 45(11):1274-83.

- 38. Do R, Willer CJ, Schmidt EM, et al. Common variants associated with plasma triglycerides and risk for coronary artery disease. Nat Genet. 2013, 45(11):1345-52.
- 39. Claussnitzer M, Dankel SN, Klocke B, Grallert H, Glunk V, Berulava T, Lee H, Oskolkov N, Fadista J, Ehlers K, Wahl S, Hoffmann C, Qian K, Rönn T, Riess H, Müller-Nurasyid M, Bretschneider N, Schroeder T, Skurk T, Horsthemke B; DIAGRAM+Consortium, Spieler D, Klingenspor M, Seifert M, Kern MJ, Mejhert N, Dahlman I, Hansson O, Hauck SM, Blüher M, Arner P, Groop L, Illig T, Suhre K, Hsu YH, Mellgren G, Hauner H, Laumen H. Leveraging cross-species transcription factor binding site patterns: from diabetes risk loci to disease mechanisms. Cell. 2014, 156(1-2):343-58.
- 40. Mbulawa ZZ, Johnson LF, Marais DJ, Gustavsson I, Moodley JR, Coetzee D, Gyllensten U, Williamson AL. Increased alpha-9 human papillomavirus species viral load in human immunodeficiency virus positive women. BMC Infect Dis. 2014, 14:51.
- 41. Chen D, Hammer J, Lindquist D, Idahl A, Gyllensten U. A variant upstream of HLA-DRB1 and multiple variants in MICA influence susceptibility to cervical cancer in a Swedish population. Cancer Med. 2014, 3(1):190-8.
- 42. Ameur A, Meiring TL, Bunikis I, Häggqvist S, Lindau C, Lindberg JH, Gustavsson I, Mbulawa ZZ, Williamson AL, Gyllensten U. Comprehensive profiling of the vaginal microbiome in HIV positive women using massive parallel semiconductor sequencing. Sci Rep. 2014, 4:4398.
- 43. Chen D, Gyllensten U. A cis-eQTL of HLA-DRB1 and a frameshift mutation of MICA contribute to the pattern of association of HLA alleles with cervical cancer. Cancer Med. 2014, 3(2):445-52.
- 44. Winkler TW, Day FR, Croteau-Chonka DC, Wood AR, Locke AE, Mägi R, Ferreira T, Fall T, Graff M, Justice AE, Luan J, Gustafsson S, Randall JC, Vedantam S, Workalemahu T, Kilpeläinen TO, Scherag A, Esko T, Kutalik Z, Heid IM, Loos RJ; Genetic Investigation of Anthropometric Traits (GIANT) Consortium. Quality control and conduct of genome-wide association meta-analyses. Nat Protoc. 2014, 9(5):1192-212.
- 45. Moayyeri A, Hsu YH, Karasik D, et al. Inkl. Gyllensten U. Genetic determinants of heel bone properties: genome-wide association meta-analysis and replication in the GEFOS/GENOMOS consortium. Hum Mol Genet. 2014 Jun 1;23(11):3054-68.
- 46. Loth DW, Artigas MS, Gharib SA, et al, incl Gyllensten U. Genome-wide association analysis identifies six new loci associated with forced vital capacity. Nat Genet. 2014, 46(7):669-77.
- 47. Hoggart CJ, Venturini G, Mangino M, et al. incl. Generation Scotland Consortium; LifeLines Cohort study; GIANT Consortium. Novel approach identifies SNPs in SLC2A10 and KCNK9 with evidence for parent-of-origin effect on body mass index. PLoS Genet. 2014, 10(7):e1004508.
- 48. Ng MC, Shriner D, Chen BH, et al, incl. FIND Consortium, eMERGE Consortium; DIAGRAM Consortium, MuTHER Consortium, MEta-analysis of type 2 DIabetes in African Americans Consortium. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies in African Americans provides insights into the genetic architecture of type 2 diabetes. PLoS Genet. 201, ;10(8):e1004517.
- 49. Chen D, Gyllensten U. Systematic investigation of contribution of genetic variation in the HLA-DP region to cervical cancer susceptibility. Carcinogenesis. 2014, 35(8):1765-9.

- 50. Enroth S, Johansson A, Enroth SB, Gyllensten U. Strong effects of genetic and lifestyle factors on biomarker variation and use of personalized cutoffs. Nat Commun. 2014, 5:4684.
- 51. Liu CT, Buchkovich ML, Winkler TW, Heid IM; African Ancestry Anthropometry Genetics Consortium; GIANT Consortium, Borecki IB, Fox CS, Mohlke KL, North KE, Adrienne Cupples L. Multi-ethnic fine-mapping of 14 central adiposity loci. Hum Mol Genet. 2014, 23(17):4738-44.
- 52. Johanneson B, Chen D, Enroth S, Cui T, Gyllensten U. Systematic validation of hypothesis-driven candidate genes for cervical cancer in a genome-wide association study. Carcinogenesis. 2014, 35(9):2084-8.
- 53. Andersson S, Mints M, Gyllensten U, Lindell M, Gustavsson I, Lambe M, Wilander E. Uneven distribution of human papillomavirus 16 in cervical carcinoma in situ and squamous cell carcinoma in older females: A retrospective database study. Oncol Lett. 2014, 8(4):1528-1532.
- 54. Ameur A, Bunikis I, Enroth S, Gyllensten U. CanvasDB: a local database infrastructure for analysis of targeted- and whole genome re-sequencing projects. Database (Oxford). 2014, 2014. pii: bau098.
- 55. Chen D, Enroth S, Ivansson E, Gyllensten U. Pathway analysis of cervical cancer genome-wide association study highlights the MHC region and pathways involved in response to infection. Hum Mol Genet. 2014, 23(22):6047-60.
- Wood AR, Esko T, Yang J, et al, incl. Gyllensten U. Defining the role of common variation in the genomic and biological architecture of adult human height. Nat Genet. 2014, 46(11):1173-86.
- Levovitz C, Chen D, Ivansson E, Gyllensten U, Finnigan JP, Alshawish S, Zhang W, Schadt EE, Posner MR, Genden EM, Boffetta P, Sikora AG. TGFβ receptor 1: an immune susceptibility gene in HPV-associated cancer. Cancer Res. 2014, 74(23):6833-44.
- 58. Chen D, Gyllensten U. MICA polymorphism: biology and importance in cancer. Carcinogenesis. 2014, 35(12):2633-42.
- Chen D, Gyllensten U. Lessons and implications from association studies and post-GWAS analyses of cervical cancer. Trends Genet. 2015 Jan;31(1):41-54. Epub 2014 Nov 18.

# Interplay between genetic, epigenetic and environmental factors in the pathogenesis of human disease

# Åsa Johansson

In my research I use genome-wide approaches to study how epigenetic and genetic factors interact with the environment in the development of complex diseases. Through large-scale epidemiological and genome-wide association studies we have previously contributed to the identification of many dietary, lifestyle and genetic factors that influence our health and risk for disease.

Recently, we have also shown that various factors, such as genetic variants, chronological age and smoking, affect our genes through epigenetic alterations. Epigenetic changes are heritable from cell to cell, and can therefore persist in the body throughout a lifetime and influence the risk of disease later in life. However, to what extent it can be transmitted through the germ cells and thereby affect our next generation is still an area for debate.

The aim of my research is to determine how genetic and epigenetic factors influence human phenotypes, clinical variables and risk of disease. I also study how environmental factors introduce epigenetic alterations, with subsequent long-term health related effects.

# Effects of diet and lifestyle on the epigenome

### Weronica Ek, Åsa Johansson

We are investigating the effect of food items, diet and lifestyle on DNA methylation. We are using food frequency questionnaire data together with self-reported lifestyle and clinical variables, which enable us to study epigenetic alterations due to a diet high in e.g. carbohydrates, proteins, or fat, or due to lifestyle factors such as smoking, coffee and alcohol consumption.

# Relative contribution of genetic and epigenetic factors in regulating gene expression of disease-related protein biomarker

#### Muhammad Ahsan, Allan Lind-Thomsen, Weronica Ek, Åsa Johansson

We have recently measured over 150 disease-related protein biomarkers in over 1000 participants of a population based study cohort. By performing genome-wide association study (GWAS) and epigenome-wide association study (EWAS) for each biomarker, we have identified SNPs and CpG methylation that are associated with gene regulation. Integrating GWAS and EWAS data gives a unique possibility to study their respective roles in regulating protein expression. This knowledge is important in order to better understand the role of protein biomarkers in the pathogenesis of human disease.

# Infer the causal relation between epigenetic alterations, protein biomarkers and risk of disease.

#### Muhammad Ahsan, Allan Lind-Thomsen, Åsa Johansson

Protein and epigenetic biomarkers have been identified for many human diseases. A biomarker is increased in patients with a disease, but the direct causal effect of increased levels of most biomarkers has not been widely investigated. Mendelian randomization can be used to evaluate the causal effect of the biomarkers on disease risk and progress. In a Mendelian randomization study, a genetic variant, that increases the levels of a biomarker, is used to divide a population into genotypic subgroups, in an analogous way to how participants are divided into arms in a randomized clinical trial. The aim of this project is to

use Mendelian randomization to evaluate the causal effect of biomarkers on risk of disease, and on disease progress.

# Genetic determinants of complex phenotypes

### Anna-Maria Denes, Åsa Johansson

In later years we have been involved in the identification of hundreds of genetic variants influencing the risk of common diseases through GWASs. Despite this success, only a small fraction of the genetic contribution to disease has been identified, and most of the genetic factors remain unknown. This "missing heritability" might be explained by the contribution of rare and population specific single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), which are underrepresented in GWAS. In this project we study the distribution of rare and population specific SNPs in non-cosmopolitan populations and the contribution of rare and population specific SNPs to the etiology of human traits.

# Identify epigenetic changes in relation to cardiovascular diseases

### David Martinsson, Muhammad Ahsan, Åsa Johansson

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is among the leading causes of death worldwide. There are several known genetic and lifestyle risk factors, but association between epigenetics and CVD is poorly understood. We are investigating the link between DNA methylation and CVD. We have performed a genome-wide DNA methylation study in a population-based cohort. Participants were not ascertained upon disease background, but some had a history of CVD, including 48 participants with a previous myocardial infarction. The genes identified are good candidates for additional studies to further understand the pathogenesis of CVD

# Group members during 2014

Åsa Johnsson, researcher, group leader Muhammad Ashan, post doc Weronica Ek, post doc Allan Lind-Thomsen, post doc Anna-Maria Dénes, student David Martisson, student Azadeh Chizarifard, student

### Funding during 2014

Swedish Research Council, 550 kSEK Beijer Foundation, 1 000 kSEK Vleugel foundation, 390 kSEK Göran Gustafsson stiftelse, 500 kSEK Borgström Foundation, 300 kSEK

### Publications 2012-2014

 Ameur, A., Enroth, S., Johansson, Å., Zaboli, G., Igl, W. et al. Genetic Adaptation of Fatty-Acid Metabolism: A Human-Specific Haplotype Increasing the Biosynthesis of Long-Chain Omega-3 and Omega-6 Fatty Acids. American Journal of Human Genetics. 2012, 90:809-820

- 2. Chasman, D., Fuchsberger, C., Pattaro, C., Teumer, A., Boeger, C. et al. Integration of genome-wide association studies with biological knowledge identifies six novel genes related to kidney function. Human Molecular Genetics. 2012, 21: 5329-5343.
- 3. Demirkan, A., van Duijn, C., Ugocsai, P., Isaacs, A., Pramstaller, P. et al. Genome-Wide Association Study Identifies Novel Loci Associated with Circulating Phospho- and Sphingolipid Concentrations. PLoS Genetics, 2012: 8:e1002490-.
- 4. McQuillan, R., Eklund, N., Pirastu, N., Kuningas, M., McEvoy, B. et al. Evidence of Inbreeding Depression on Human Height. PLOS Genetics. 2012, 8,:e1002655-.
- 5. Pattaro, C., Koettgen, A., Teumer, A., Garnaas, M., Boeger, C. et al. Genome-Wide Association and Functional Follow-Up Reveals New Loci for Kidney Function. PLoS Genetics. 2012, 8:e1002584-.
- 6. Västermark, Å., Jacobsson, J., Johansson, Å., Fredriksson, R., Gyllensten, U. et al. Polymorphisms in sh2b1 and spns1 loci are associated with triglyceride levels in a healthy population in northern Sweden. Journal of Genetics. 2012, 91:237-240.
- 7. Zaboli, G., Ameur, A., Igl, W., Johansson, Å., Hayward, C. et al. Sequencing of highcomplexity DNA pools for identification of nucleotide and structural variants in regions associated with complex traits. European Journal of Human Genetics. 2012, 20:77-83.
- 8. Berndt, S., Gustafsson, S., Maegi, R., Ganna, A., Wheeler, E. et al. Genome-wide metaanalysis identifies 11 new loci for anthropometric traits and provides insights into genetic architecture. Nature Genetics, 2013, 45:501-U69.
- 9. Deloukas, P., Kanoni, S., Willenborg, C., Farrall, M., Assimes, T. et al. Large-scale association analysis identifies new risk loci for coronary artery disease. Nature Genetics, 2013, 45:25-33.
- 10. den Hoed, M., Eijgelsheim, M., Esko, T., Brundel, B., Peal, D. et al. Identification of heart rate-associated loci and their effects on cardiac conduction and rhythm disorders. Nature Genetics, 2013, 45:621-.
- 11. Do, R., Willer, C., Schmidt, E., Sengupta, S., Gao, C. et al. Common variants associated with plasma triglycerides and risk for coronary artery disease. Nature Genetics, 2013, 45:1345-.
- 12. Enroth, S., Ameur, A., Johansson, Å., Gyllensten, U. Omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids are more efficiently synthesized in populations having a high frequency of the derived FADS-haplotype. International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 2013, 72:511-512.
- 13. Enroth, S., Dahlbom, I., Hansson, T., Johansson, Å., Gyllensten, U. Prevalence and sensitization of atopic allergy and coeliac disease in the Northern Sweden Population Health Study. International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 2013, 72:21403-.
- Gyllensten, U., Johansson, Å., Enroth, S., Jonasson, I. (). Assessing The Effects Of Climate Change On Health And Lifestyle In Sub-Arctic Areas In Sweden - The Northern Sweden Population Health Study. International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 2013, 72:516-517.
- Hagström, E., Eriksson, N., Johansson, Å., Bertilsson, M., Axelsson, T. et al. Are There Any Causal Relations Between Growth Differentiation Factor 15 and Outcomes in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome?: - A Report From the Plato Gwas Study. Circulation, 2013, 128.
- Igl, W., Kamal-Eldin, A., Johansson, A., Liebisch, G., Gnewuch, C. et al. Animal source food intake and association with blood cholesterol, glycerophospholipids and sphingolipids in a northern Swedish population. International Journal of Circumpolar Health, 2013, 72:421-427.

- 17. Johansson, Å., Enroth, S., Gyllensten, U. Continuous Aging of the Human DNA Methylome Throughout the Human Lifespan. PLoS ONE, 2013, 8:e67378-.
- 18. Johansson, Å., Enroth, S., Palmblad, M., Deelder, A., Bergquist, J. et al. Identification of genetic variants influencing the human plasma proteome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2013, 110:4673-4678.
- Lian, I., Langaas, M., Moses, E., Johansson, Å. Differential Gene Expression at the Maternal-Fetal Interface in Preeclampsia Is Influenced by Gestational Age. PLoS ONE, 2013, 8:e69848-.
- 20. Parsa, A., Fuchsberger, C., Koettgen, A., O'Seaghdha, C., Pattaro, C. et al. Common Variants in Mendelian Kidney Disease Genes and Their Association with Renal Function. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2013, 24:2105-2117.
- 21. Randall, J., Winkler, T., Kutalik, Z., Berndt, S., Jackson, A. et al. Sex-stratified Genomewide Association Studies Including 270,000 Individuals Show Sexual Dimorphism in Genetic Loci for Anthropometric Traits. PLOS Genetics, 2013, 9:e1003500-.
- Siegbahn, A., Johansson, Å., Eriksson, N., Hagström, E., Varenhorst, C. et al. Evaluation of the Effect of Interleukin 18 Associated Genetic Polymorphisms on Risk of Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome. Circulation, 2013, 128.
- 23. Willer, C., Schmidt, E., Sengupta, S., Peloso, G., Gustafsson, S. et al. Discovery and refinement of loci associated with lipid levels. Nature Genetics, 2013, 45:1274-1283.
- 24. Åkerblom, A., Wallentin, L., Siegbahn, A., Becker, R., Budaj, A. et al. Genetic Polymorphism and Relationship to Cystatin C Concentrations and Outcome - Results From the Platelet Inhibition and Patient Outcomes Study. Circulation, 2013, 128.
- 25. Besingi W1, Johansson A. Smoke-related DNA methylation changes in the etiology of human disease. Hum Mol Genet. 2014, 23(9):2290-7.
- Loth DW, Artigas MS, Gharib SA, et al., incl. Johansson Å. Genome-wide association analysis identifies six new loci associated with forced vital capacity. Nat Genet. 2014, 46(7):669-77.
- 27. Wood AR, Esko T, Yang J, Vedantam S, et al., incl Johansson Å. Defining the role of common variation in the genomic and biological architecture of adult human height. Nat Genet. 2014, 46(11):1173-86.
- 28. Enroth S, Johansson A, Enroth SB, Gyllensten U. Strong effects of genetic and lifestyle factors on biomarker variation and use of personalized cutoffs. Nat Commun. 2014, 5:4684.
- 29. Åkerblom, A., Eriksson, N., Wallentin, L., Siegbahn, A., Becker, R. et al. Polymorphism of the cystatin C gene in patients with acute coronary syndromes: Results from the PLATelet Inhibition and Patient Outcomes (PLATO) Study. American Heart Journal, 2014, 168:96-102.

# Mechanisms of adenovirus infection

#### **Ulf Pettersson**

Many important discoveries have been made using human adenovirus as an experimental model for control of gene expression. Adenoviruses have moreover become of great interest as gene delivery vectors in gene therapy and as oncolytic viruses in cancer treatment.

# How adenoviruses take over the control of host gene expression in infected cells

#### **Ulf Pettersson and Hongxing Zhao**

The aim of our project is a detailed characterization of the transcriptome of the virus and that of the infected cell. For these studies we are using state-of-the-art cDNA sequencing technologies.

Our results demonstrate that the adenovirus transcriptome is immensely more complex than hitherto believed with many novel splice sites. An adenovirus landmark map, showing splice and polyadenylation sites, has been constructed. The cellular genes that are up- and down regulated during the course of infection have been identified. In addition, we have identified a set of micro RNAs, which are dysregulated during an adenovirus infection. Our studies of changes in expression of so called long noncoding RNAs have resulted in some unexpected finding. Gradually we are building up a map of the regulatory networks that operate during the different phases of the adenovirus infection.

# Epigenetic mechanisms in the human parasite Trypanosoma cruzi

#### Lena Åslund

Some of the major human parasitic diseases are caused by trypanosomes, against which no vaccine and only a few drugs are available. The *Trypanosoma cruzi* genome project has increased our understanding of the genetic make-up of the parasite causing Chagas' disease and will reveal new drug targets, however, several fundamental cellular processes such as transcription and DNA replication are still rather unexplored in these ancient pathogens. We have recently shown that epigenetic signatures, such as acetylated histones H3/H4 and H3K4me3 are associated with transcription start sites in *T. cruzi*, demonstrating for the first time that the 'histone code' is conserved in these protozoan parasites and in polycistronic transcription. We are further investigating the histone modifications during development of the parasite, *i.e.* the replicative insect stage and the non-replicative blood stage in mammalian hosts. DNA methylation is important in several epigenetic regulations such as gene silencing. cellular differentiation and DNA replication. We have determined the genome-wide distribution of DNA methylation in the T. cruzi genome by deep parallel sequencing of immunoprecipitated methylated DNA (MeDIP-Seq). In addition, some of the enzymes involved in this modification are investigated. Further investigations of the function of DNA methylation in trypanosomes will reveal its possible role in the parasite. Elucidating epigenetic mechanisms in the parasite will reveal new approaches to therapies against trypanosomiasis.

### Group members during 2014

Ulf Pettersson, professor, group leader Hongxing Zhao, researcher Lena Åslund, senior lecturer

- 1. Lind SB, Artemenko KA, Pettersson U. A strategy for identification of protein tyrosine phosphorylation. Methods. 2012, 56(2):275-83.
- 2. Lindén M, Lind SB, Mayrhofer C, Segersten U, Wester K, Lyutvinskiy Y, Zubarev R, Malmström PU, Pettersson U. Proteomic analysis of urinary biomarker candidates for nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer. Proteomics. 2012, 12(1):135-44.
- 3. Zhao H, Dahlö M, Isaksson A, Syvänen AC, Pettersson U. The transcriptome of the adenovirus infected cell. Virology. 2012, 424(2):115-28.
- 4. Nordquist N, Luthman H, Pettersson U, Eriksson UJ. Linkage study of embryopathypolygenic inheritance of diabetes-induced skeletal malformations in the rat. Reprod Toxicol. 2012, 33(3):297-307.
- 5. Bergström Lind S, Artemenko KA, Elfineh L, Zhao Y, Bergquist J, Pettersson U. The phosphoproteome of the adenovirus type 2 virion. Virology. 2012, 433(1):253-61.
- 6. Zhao H, Chen M, Pettersson U. Identification of adenovirus-encoded small RNAs by deep RNA sequencing. Virology. 2013, 442(2):148-55.
- Lindén M, Segersten U, Runeson M, Wester K, Busch C, Pettersson U, Lind SB, Malmström PU. Tumour expression of bladder cancer-associated urinary proteins. BJU Int. 2013, 112(3):407-15.
- 8. Bergström Lind S, Artemenko KA, Elfineh L, Zhao Y, Bergquist J, Pettersson U. Post translational modifications in adenovirus type 2. Virology. 2013, 447(1-2):104-11.
- 9. Zhao H, Chen M, Pettersson U. A new look at adenovirus splicing. Virology. 2014, 456-457:329-41.
- Elfineh L, Classon C, Asplund A, Pettersson U, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Lind SB. Tyrosine phosphorylation profiling via in situ proximity ligation assay. BMC Cancer. 2014, 14:435.

# Identifying and understanding mutations causing colorectal cancers

# Tobias Sjöblom

We aim at finding and understanding somatic mutations that cause common human cancers, particularly colorectal cancers (CRC) (Sjöblom *et al*, *Science* 2006). By studying these mutated genes using forward and reverse genetic approaches in human cancer cells, we want to understand their contribution to tumor development. The findings may aid in development of methods for early tumor detection, improved diagnosis, and targeted cancer chemotherapy.

### Integrated data and sample collection in clinical cancer care

#### Tony Hansson, Lucy Mathot, Sara Kiflemariam, Maria Karoutsou, Evangelia Papadaki

Identification of mutated genes that cause cancer or resistance to cancer therapies requires systematic sample collection from cancer patients. With support from the Swedish Government, we coordinate an open access longitudinal collection of patient data, tissues, and imaging before, during, and after cancer therapy at Uppsala Academic Hospital and Umeå University Hospital (www.u-can.uu.se). At the end of 2014, more than 7.000 patients with cancers of the colorectum, brain, prostate, ovaries, neuroendocrine tissues, breast, lung, lymphoma or haematological malignancies had been included in U-CAN since 2010 (Tobias Sjöblom, Program Director; Tony Hansson, Administrative Director; and U-CAN clinical partners). Currently, ~200 tumors from patients in U-CAN are undergoing whole genome sequencing and several biomarker studies have been initiated by different research groups. U-CAN has recently received a positive review in the ongoing external evaluation of Strategic Research Areas (SFO/SRAs) and will gradually re-focus to support research based on the collected materials if continued support is granted.

Major constraints on cancer genomics include obtaining DNA from the large patient cohorts required to gain knowledge about infrequently mutated genes, and the need for improved extraction technologies in diagnostic molecular pathology. We have therefore developed, patented and automated a technology for scalable serial extraction of DNA and RNA from tissue samples (Mathot *et al*, 2011; Mathot *et al*, 2013). The spin-out company ExScale Biospecimen Solutions AB, founded in 2012, has now completed development and CE/IVD labelling of a reagent system for automated serial extraction of DNA and RNA from FFPE samples in clinical diagnostics aiming at market launch in 2015.

#### Mutational studies of candidate cancer genes

#### Tom Adlerteg, Lucy Mathot, Viktor Ljungström, Veronica Rendo

By comparing DNA sequences in cancer genomes to sequences in the constitutional genome of the same patient we can derive somatic mutations that have been acquired during tumor evolution. Such somatic mutations are the basis for modern cancer diagnostics and therapeutics development. We have determined the nucleotide sequences of 37 candidate breast cancer genes previously discovered by us, and identified novel mutations in 12 genes of which *DIP2C* is subject to further functional studies (Jiao *et al*, 2012; Larsson *et al*, manuscript). To visualize mutations in tumors, we adapted *in situ* padlock probes for use in FFPE tissues (Grundberg *et al*, 2013) and applied the technology for the first *in situ* mutational analyses of *TMPRSS-ERG* rearrangements in human prostate cancer tissues (Kiflemariam *et al*, 2014). Further, we have developed software tools for rapid and accurate mutational analysis of deep sequencing data from solid tumors with significant content of normal cells. These tools have superior indel calling capabilities, a major challenge in mutational analysis, as compared to state of the art (Adlerteg *et al*, manuscript).

Using these tools, we have completed deep mutational analyses of 676 genes in cancer pathways in 107 colorectal cancers (Mathot, Ljungström *et al*, manuscript). While the expected frequencies and types of mutations were observed in known CRC genes such as *APC*, *KRAS*, and *TP53*, we noted an enrichment of mutations in the Ephrin receptor tyrosine kinase gene family in tumors giving rise to metastasis. Ephrin receptors have previously been associated with metastatic disease development due to their role in tumor growth, invasiveness, angiogenesis and metastasis *in vivo*. However, no mutational evidence has yet been presented to explain the downregulation of Eph proteins associated with metastasis of CRCs.

The use of targeted deep sequencing in this study meant that we could uncover low frequency variants that would otherwise be overlooked (Mathot *et al*, manuscript). These findings are potentially of great clinical importance to identify patients that require close monitoring to detect recurrence and to stratify CRC patients that would benefit most from adjuvant treatments. Current efforts include whole genome sequencing of CRC cases in U-CAN where longitudinal blood samples are available.

#### Functional studies of novel candidate cancer genes

# Muhammad Akhtar Ali, Tatjana Pandzik, Snehangshu Kundu, Chatarina Larsson, Ivaylo Stoimenov, Veronica Rendo

Gene mutation prevalence is a strong indicator of selection during tumor development, but does not suffice to prove cancer gene status - functional and phenotypic studies comparing mutant and wild-type alleles in relevant model systems are required for ultimate proof. One approach to perform such analyses is through genome editing in human cancer cells. We have developed scalable experimental and computational tools for designing rAAV gene targeting constructs to all genes in the human genome (Stoimenov, Akhtar Ali *et al*, *NAR*, 2015). This technology was used to knock out the putative breast cancer gene *DIP2C* and obtained evidence for a phenotype linked to gene inactivation, and identified more than 700 genes with altered expression, many of which affect cell proliferation (Larsson *et al*, manuscript). We have targeted the transcriptional modulator *ZBED6* in colorectal cancer cells and demonstrated effects on cell growth rate and regulation of genes in CRC pathways (Akhtar Ali *et al*, *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, in revision). We have also generated knock-ins of colorectal cancer genes (*PRDM2*, *MLL3*, and *KRAS*) that are currently being characterized by us and used by collaborators in drug discovery efforts (Larsson *et al*, Akhtar Ali *et al*, Pandzic *et al*, manuscripts).

While many low frequency cancer genes (mutated in 1-5% of patient cases) have been discovered by large scale sequencing efforts, their involvement in cancer pathways and phenotypes is often less clear. To better understand which genes belong to the Ras pathway in human CRC, we have adapted technology for forward genetics by transposon mutagenesis in human cells to map the RAS pathway in human colorectal cancers by a phenotypic screen. This resulted in assignment of 163 recurringly targeted genes to the Ras pathway. After comparing with mutational analyses of human colorectal cancer genomes and performing mutual exclusivity analysis with *KRAS/BRAF*, 15 genes were selected for further validation. Of these, 3 genes showed changes in GLUT1 expression after knock-down and differential growth in low glucose, phenotypes associated with Ras pathway activation in CRC. Two of the three genes controlled the level of pERK in CRC cells, providing independent evidence of them being components of the Ras pathway (Kundu *et al*, manuscript).

The tissue expression patterns of cancer genes may yield insights into the anatomy of cancer pathways and the expression profiles of cancer drug targets. *In situ* hybridization (ISH) offers a scalable and specific approach to mapping gene expression in tissues, and we have therefore established and automated large scale ISH on FFPE tissue arrays. We have

evaluated the expression patterns of the tyrosine kinome and the tyrosine phosphatome in  $\sim 40$  normal tissues and 6 common tumor types, totalling 37 000 tissue specimens, leading to the discovery of novel tumor specific stromal and vessel biomarkers in human cancers (Kiflemariam *et al*, *Am J Pathol*, in press).

# Exploiting loss of heterozygosity for a novel anti-cancer therapy

#### Veronica Rendo, Ivaylo Stoimenov

The success of any anti-cancer therapy is based on finding conditions resulting in selective killing of cancer cells, while the normal tissues of the patient are spared. As an alternative to the existing strategies we propose a conceptually different therapy, which exploits the genetic variation (SNPs) naturally occurring in the human population and the cancer specific phenomenon loss of heterozygosity (LOH). For example, if the patient is constitutionally heterozygous for a high efficiency allele and a low efficiency allele, and the tumour loses the high efficiency allele through LOH, it is conceivable that the tumor is sensitized to certain drugs relative to the normal tissues.

Using 1000 Genomes data, we identified human enzymes having variant amino acids in their active sites as result of SNPs and ranked the 20 putative targets according to the prevalence of SNPs and LOH in common human cancers. For the top candidate, a known drug metabolic enzyme, we estimate that >3% of patients with CRC could benefit from a tailored drug therapy, which translates to >35.000 cases worldwide per year. We therefore constructed and validated CRC cell model systems for cell based drug screens for the most promising candidate in two independent genetic backgrounds. Currently, we are screening for chemical compounds, and several promising hits that have demonstrated differential cytotoxicity after LOH are undergoing further validation.

### Group members during 2014

Tobias Sjöblom, researcher, group leader Tom Adlerteg, research engineer Mohammad Akhtar Ali, PhD student Tatiana Pandzik, researcher Erik Hallqvist Osterman, teaching assistant Tony Hansson, project coordinator Karin Hartman, research assistant Maria Karoutsou, research engineer Sara Kiflemariam, researcher Snehangshu Kundu, researcher Chatarina Larsson, researcher Viktor Ljungström, PhD student Lucy Mathot, PhD student Evangelia Papadaki, research engineer Veronica Rendo, PhD student Ivaylo Stoimenov, post doc

# **Dissertations during 2014**

Lucy Mathot, From Tissue to Mutations: Genetic Profiling of Colorectal Cancer, November 7, 2014.

Muhammad Akhtar Ali, Understanding Cancer Mutations by Genome Editing, December 19, 2014.

### Funding during 2014

SSF, *FFL*, 850 kSEK SSF, *CanCure*, 350 kSEK UU/KoF, 300 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 1 137 kSEK (incl. 637 kSEK for Chatarina Larsson's position) SciLifeLab, *Identifying acquired resistance genes in CLL/CRC* (Consortium), 1 938 kSEK SciLifeLab, *Whole Genome Sequencing of colorectal cancers in U-CAN*, 2 600 kSEK

### Support for U-CAN at Uppsala University/Akademiska Hospital

U-CAN (SRA, Uppsala part), 10 909 kSEK UU (Regionalized sample collection in U-CAN), 2 000 kSEK ALF (New diagnoses in U-CAN), 800 kSEK

### **Contract research**

ExScale Biospecimen Solutions AB, 194 kSEK

- 1. Hernlund E, Olofsson MH, Fayad W, Fryknäs M, Lesiak-Mieczkowska K, Zhang X, Brnjic S, Schmidt V, D'Arcy P, Sjöblom T, Milito AD, Larsson R, Linder S. The phosphoinositide 3-kinase/mammalian target of rapamycin inhibitor NVP-BEZ235 is effective in inhibiting regrowth of tumour cells after cytotoxic therapy. Eur J Cancer. 2012, 48(3):396-406.
- 2. Jiao X, Wood LD, Lindman M, Jones S, Buckhaults P, Polyak K, Sukumar S, Carter H, Kim D, Karchin R, Sjöblom T. Somatic mutations in the Notch, NF-KB, PIK3CA, and Hedgehog pathways in human breast cancers. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2012, 51(5):480-9.
- 3. Kiflemariam S, Andersson S, Asplund A, Pontén F, Sjöblom T. Scalable in situ hybridization on tissue arrays for validation of novel cancer and tissue-specific biomarkers. PLoS One. 2012, 7(3):e32927.
- 4. Willard MD, Lajiness ME, Wulur IH, Feng B, Swearingen ML, Uhlik MT, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE, Sjöblom T, Markowitz SD, Powell SM, Vogelstein B, Barber TD. Somatic mutations in CCK2R alter receptor activity that promote oncogenic phenotypes. Mol Cancer Res. 2012, 10(6):739-49.
- Hooper SD, Jiao X, Sundström E, Rehman FL, Tellgren-Roth C, Sjöblom T, Cavelier L. Sequence based analysis of U-2973, a cell line established from a double-hit B-cell lymphoma with concurrent MYC and BCL2 rearrangements. BMC Res Notes. 2012, 5:648.
- 6. Mathot L, Falk-Sörqvist E, Moens L, Allen M, Sjöblom T, Nilsson M. Automated genotyping of biobank samples by multiplex amplification of insertion/deletion polymorphisms. PLoS One. 2012, 7(12):e52750.

- Peña C, Céspedes MV, Lindh MB, Kiflemariam S, Mezheyeuski A, Edqvist PH, Hägglöf C, Birgisson H, Bojmar L, Jirström K, Sandström P, Olsson E, Veerla S, Gallardo A, Sjöblom T, Chang AC, Reddel RR, Mangues R, Augsten M, Ostman A. STC1 expression by cancer-associated fibroblasts drives metastasis of colorectal cancer. Cancer Res. 2013, 73(4):1287-97.
- 8. Jiao X, Hooper SD, Djureinovic T, Larsson C, Wärnberg F, Tellgren-Roth C, Botling J, Sjöblom T. Gene rearrangements in hormone receptor negative breast cancers revealed by mate pair sequencing. BMC Genomics. 2013, 12;14:165.
- 9. Mathot L, Wallin M, Sjöblom T. Automated serial extraction of DNA and RNA from biobanked tissue specimens. BMC Biotechnol. 2013, 13:66.
- Grundberg I, Kiflemariam S, Mignardi M, Imgenberg-Kreuz J, Edlund K, Micke P, Sundström M, Sjöblom T, Botling J, Nilsson M. In situ mutation detection and visualization of intratumor heterogeneity for cancer research and diagnostics. Oncotarget. 2013, 4(12):2407-18.
- Iggo R, Rudewicz J, Monceau E, Sevenet N, Bergh J, Sjoblom T, Bonnefoi H. Validation of a yeast functional assay for p53 mutations using clonal sequencing. J Pathol. 2013, 231(4):441-8.
- 12. Kashif M, Andersson C, Åberg M, Nygren P, Sjöblom T, Hammerling U, Larsson R, Gustafsson MG. A pragmatic definition of therapeutic synergy suitable for clinically relevant in vitro multicompound analyses. Mol Cancer Ther. 2014, 13(7):1964-76.
- Bruzzese F, Hägglöf C, Leone A, Sjöberg E, Roca MS, Kiflemariam S, Sjöblom T, Hammarsten P, Egevad L, Bergh A, Ostman A, Budillon A, Augsten M. Local and systemic protumorigenic effects of cancer-associated fibroblast-derived GDF15. Cancer Res. 2014, 74(13):3408-17.
- 14. Kiflemariam S, Mignardi M, Ali MA, Bergh A, Nilsson M, Sjöblom T. In situ sequencing identifies TMPRSS2-ERG fusion transcripts, somatic point mutations and gene expression levels in prostate cancers. J Pathol. 2014, 234(2):253-61.
- Mayrhofer M, Kultima HG, Birgisson H, Sundström M, Mathot L, Edlund K, Viklund B, Sjöblom T, Botling J, Micke P, Påhlman L, Glimelius B, Isaksson A. 1p36 deletion is a marker for tumour dissemination in microsatellite stable stage II-III colon cancer. BMC Cancer. 2014, 14:872.
- Stoimenov I, Ali MA, Pandzic T, Sjöblom T. Computational and molecular tools for scalable rAAV-mediated genome editing. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014 Dec 8. pii: gku1286. [Epub ahead of print]

# **Genomic Analysis of Gene Regulation**

#### **Claes Wadelius**

The principles for how genes are activated and inactivated are known but from a genomic perspective our knowledge is very limited. Each cell type has a unique set of active genes that are regulated by the action of a collection of the 2000 transcription factors and other nuclear proteins that bind the DNA molecule. Until recently this could only be studied *in vitro* and for parts of genes. We use chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) to study this *in vivo*. For detection we have developed efficient massive parallel sequencing (ChIP-seq) techniques, which allows us to interrogate the whole genome.

The traditional view of a gene, with a single beginning and end, has been challenged and in addition to the previously known enhancers and other distant regulatory elements, multiple promoters and complex alternative splicing has been found. We therefore annotate all identified DNA-protein interactions relative to everything that is known about the genome. These studies generate massive amounts of data and in order to fully explore the information we develop new informatics strategies and collaborate with specialists in the field. The methods can be used to reveal the mechanisms for common diseases and cancer. We have started to explore this in liver cells and immune cells and have found hundreds of regulatory variants that likely explain association to common metabolic and autoimmune diseases. We have also characterized a large collection of regulatory variants that are excellent candidates to contribute to cancer.

# Gene regulatory variants in metabolic and autoimmune diseases and in cancer Gang Pan, Marco Cavalli, Helena Nord, Madhusudhan Reddy Bysani, Emelie Wallén Arzt

#### In collaboration with Kerstin Lindblad Toh, Lars Rönnblom and their groups, (UU).

At promoters, enhancers and other gene regulatory elements, nucleosomes are replaced by transcription factors and other regulatory proteins. We map transcription factors to the bases they interact with DNA and in case the cell differs in genetic make up at one base pair, we can tell a difference between what happens at one variant and the other.

Some genetic variants predispose to common diseases and we have started a process to translate this information to molecular mechanisms of disease, primarily for metabolic and autoimmune diseases. We read chromatin signals in relevant tissues to find candidate regulatory elements and test polymorphic variants in cell-based expression systems. The regulatory elements are activated by over-expression of transcription factors that bind to them or by stimulation of primary human cells.

By layering additional large-scale in-house information we have detected thousands of SNPs that are likely to be functional. So far we have detected >100 functional SNPs that are associated to common diseases and intermediary phenotypes and in some cases the molecules that bind differentially between alleles. We have started to assay them using a newly developed high-throughput system.

#### In collaboration with Susanne Bornelöv, Umer Husen, Klev Diamanti, Jan Komorowski (UU)

In the cell histone molecules and 147 base pairs of DNA form nucleosomes and many of them have defined positions over genes and around gene regulatory elements. Some histones have epigenetic marks reflecting the function of the specific genomic region and we map these features at the theoretical resolution. We have found that nucleosomes are positioned over exons and have epigenetic marks that are associated to splicing. Other nucleosomes flank

gene regulatory elements and carry other epigenetic marks. We have found that nucleosomes at promoters carry specific modifications if they are located in transcribed sequences.

Cancer develops when cells acquire mutations that were not present in the person at birth. In a new project we have started to search for mutations in regulatory elements that contribute to cancer and have a large collection of candidates. The initial experimental validation has shown the expected results. This project is likely to add a new dimension to cancer etiology.

#### Group members during 2014

Claes Wadelius, professor, group leader Marco Cavalli, researcher Helena Nord, post doc Gan Pan, post doc Madhusudhan Reddy Bysani, postdoc Emelie Wallén Arzt, master student

### Funding during 2014

Swedish Research Council, 850 kSEK AstraZeneca, 950 kSEK

- 1. Enroth S, Bornelöv S, Wadelius C, Komorowski J. Combinations of histone modifications mark exon inclusion levels. PLoS One. 2012;7(1):e29911.
- 2. Enroth S, Andersson CR, Andersson R, Wadelius C, Gustafsson MG, Komorowski J. A strand specific high resolution normalization method for chip-sequencing data employing multiple experimental control measurements. Algorithms Mol Biol. 2012, 7(1):2.
- 3. Paré G, Eriksson N, Lehr T, Connolly S, Eikelboom J, Ezekowitz MD, Axelsson T, Haertter S, Oldgren J, Reilly P, Siegbahn A, Syvanen AC, Wadelius C, Wadelius M, Zimdahl-Gelling H, Yusuf S, Wallentin L. Genetic determinants of dabigatran plasma levels and their relation to bleeding. Circulation. 2013, 127(13):1404-12.
- 4. Bysani M, Wallerman O, Bornelöv S, Zatloukal K, Komorowski J, Wadelius C. ChIP-seq in steatohepatitis and normal liver tissue identifies candidate disease mechanisms related to progression to cancer. BMC Med Genomics. 2013, 6:50.
- 5. Frennesson CI, Wadelius C, Nilsson SE. Best vitelliform macular dystrophy in a Swedish family: genetic analysis and a seven-year follow-up of photodynamic treatment of a young boy with choroidal neovascularization. Acta Ophthalmol. 2014, 92(3):238-42.
- Enroth S, Andersson R, Bysani M, Wallerman O, Termén S, Tuch BB, De La Vega FM, Heldin CH, Moustakas A, Komorowski J, Wadelius C. Nucleosome regulatory dynamics in response to TGFβ. Nucleic Acids Res. 2014, 42(11):6921-34.
- Kruczyk M, Przanowski P, Dabrowski M, Swiatek-Machado K, Mieczkowski J, Wallerman O, Ronowicz A, Piotrowski A, Wadelius C, Kaminska B, Komorowski J. Integration of genome-wide of Stat3 binding and epigenetic modification mapping with transcriptome reveals novel Stat3 target genes in glioma cells. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014, 1839(11):1341-50.

# Molecular and Morphological Pathology

Research projects the programme Molecular and morphological pathology focus on disease related alterations in tissues. Our main objectives are to improve diagnostics and to identify potential targets that can be used for development of new therapies. We study both morphological changes and molecular alterations. e.g. in protein expression or on the DNA or RNA level. On-going projects include studies on neurodegenerative diseases and cancer, for instance tumours in the lung, brain, skin or blood.



# Neuropathology

### Irina Alafuzoff

Our research focuses primarily on various degenerative processes and diseases of the human brain. The material that we study is human tissue, brain or other organs, obtained post-mortem (neurodegeneration and vascular pathology) or during surgical procedure (primary brain tumours). The methods applied include among others histology, immunohistochemistry and *in situ* hybridization.

### Neurodegenerative diseases

#### Svetlana Popova, Maria Leino, Adila Elobeid, Tuomas Rauramaa

One of the major events in neurodegeneration is misfolding of proteins that tend to accumulate in the cells or matrix. Misfolding of proteins increases with aging. Accumulation of misfolded proteins leads to functional disturbances seen as various movement disorders or cognitive impairment/dementia.

Based on current knowledge the most common form of neuronal degeneration is the hypephosphorylation of the tau (HPtau) protein followed by alteration of beta-amyloid and alpha-synuclein.

The questions addressed by the research team during 2014 are briefly the following; initiation site of neuronal degeneration, incidence of certain neuronal degeneration, progression pattern, associated alterations such as astrogliosis, microgliosis, seeding of misfolding of proteins.

Research projects have been summarised and published (see publ list) involving PhD student Adila Elobeid, in collaboration with iNPH group in Kuopio, University of Eastern Finland (UEF); international PART consortium and in collaboration with Brain Net Europe. Manuscripts are under preparation involving Post Doc Svetlana Popova and UEF PhD student Tuomas Rauramaa.

### Primary brain tumours of glial origin

#### Sylwia Libard

The most devastating brain tumour is glioma that can be of various grades ranging from I to IV. Currently there is no cure for these tumours and the most malignant glioma of grade IV is lethal. Treatment strategies include surgery, radiotherapy and chemotherapy. The main focus today is to identify new treatment strategies. For this approach detailed assessment of

tumours, i.e., morphology, protein expression and molecular data are required. In addition to facilitate assessment of a huge number of cases in a unified manner tissue microarray approach (TMA) is implemented.

The question addressed by the research team are briefly the following; alteration in protein expression in relation to grade, neuroanatomical region, recurrence and treatment.

Research projects have been summarised and published (see publication list) involving PhD student Sylwia Libard and in collaboration with UU/IGP research groups in the field brain tumours. Manuscripts are under preparation in collaboration with neurosurgeons at Uppsala University Hospital (Maria Zetterling), in collaboration with UU/IGP research groups in the field brain tumours and in collaboration with the national GLIOGENE group.

#### Vascular brain pathology

#### Tuomas Rauramaa, Yasmin Lundström, Patrik Lundström,

With aging the cardiac function as well as the vessels display age related changes that ultimately lead to various extent of circulatory failure. Brain tissue alterations related to insufficient circulation are common but poorly investigated. A brain infarct can be seen as a defined lesion. Assessing brain tissue with diffuse neuronal loss, loss of oligodendrocytes or activation of astrocytes or microglia that is initiated by various severity of ischemia/anoxia is more difficult.

The question addressed by the research team are briefly the following; primary protein alteration to be seen in neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes or microglia at hypoxia/anoxia.

A research project has been published (see publ list) involving UEF PhD student Tuomas Rauramaa. Pilot studies have been carried out involving the Sofosko students Yasmin Lundström and Patrik Lundström.

#### Group members during 2014

Irina Alafuzoff, professor, group leader Adila Elobeid, PhD student Maria Leino, researcher Sylwia Libard, PhD student Patrik Lundström, student Yasmin Lundström, student Svetlana Popova, researcher Tuomas Rauramaa, PhD student

### Funding during 2014

ALF, 600 kSEK Hans-Gabriel och Alice Trolle-Wachtmeisters stiftelse för medicinsk forskning, 500 kSEK

- 1. Hartikainen PH, Pikkarainen M, Hänninen T, Soininen H, Alafuzoff I. Unusual clinical presentation and neuropathology in two subjects with fused-in sarcoma (FUS) positive inclusions. Neuropathology. 2012, 32(1):60-8.
- 2. Elobeid A, Soininen H, Alafuzoff I. Hyperphosphorylated tau in young and middle-aged subjects. Acta Neuropathol. 2012, 123(1):97-104.

- 3. Salminen A, Kaarniranta K, Haapasalo A, Hiltunen M, Soininen H, Alafuzoff I. Emerging role of p62/sequestosome-1 in the pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Prog Neurobiol. 2012, 96(1):87-95.
- 4. Nord H, Pfeifer S, Nilsson P, Sandgren J, Popova S, Strömberg B, Alafuzoff I, Nistér M, Díaz de Ståhl T. Novel amplifications in pediatric medulloblastoma identified by genome-wide copy number profiling. J Neurooncol. 2012, 107(1):37-49.
- 5. Leinonen V, Koivisto AM, Savolainen S, Rummukainen J, Sutela A, Vanninen R, Jääskeläinen JE, Soininen H, Alafuzoff I. Post-mortem findings in 10 patients with presumed normal-pressure hydrocephalus and review of the literature. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2012, 38(1):72-86.
- 6. Leinonen V, Koivisto AM, Alafuzoff I, Pyykkö OT, Rummukainen J, von Und Zu Fraunberg M, Jääskeläinen JE, Soininen H, Rinne J, Savolainen S. Cortical brain biopsy in long-term prognostication of 468 patients with possible normal pressure hydrocephalus. Neurodegener Dis. 2012;10(1-4):166-9.
- Kovacs GG, Wagner U, Dumont B, Pikkarainen M, Osman AA, Streichenberger N, Leisser I, Verchère J, Baron T, Alafuzoff I, Budka H, Perret-Liaudet A, Lachmann I. An antibody with high reactivity for disease-associated α-synuclein reveals extensive brain pathology. Acta Neuropathol. 2012, 124(1):37-50.
- Nelson PT, Alafuzoff I, Bigio EH, Bouras C, Braak H, Cairns NJ, Castellani RJ, Crain BJ, Davies P, Del Tredici K, Duyckaerts C, Frosch MP, Haroutunian V, Hof PR, Hulette CM, Hyman BT, Iwatsubo T, Jellinger KA, Jicha GA, Kövari E, Kukull WA, Leverenz JB, Love S, Mackenzie IR, Mann DM, Masliah E, McKee AC, Montine TJ, Morris JC, Schneider JA, Sonnen JA, Thal DR, Trojanowski JQ, Troncoso JC, Wisniewski T, Woltjer RL, Beach TG. Correlation of Alzheimer disease neuropathologic changes with cognitive status: a review of the literature. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2012, 71(5):362-81. Review.
- 9. Seppälä TT, Nerg O, Koivisto AM, Rummukainen J, Puli L, Zetterberg H, Pyykkö OT, Helisalmi S, Alafuzoff I, Hiltunen M, Jääskeläinen JE, Rinne J, Soininen H, Leinonen V, Herukka SK. CSF biomarkers for Alzheimer disease correlate with cortical brain biopsy findings. Neurology. 2012, 78(20):1568-75.
- 10. Smits A, Jin Z, Elsir T, Pedder H, Nistér M, Alafuzoff I, Dimberg A, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Aronica E, Birnir B. GABA-A channel subunit expression in human glioma correlates with tumor histology and clinical outcome. PLoS One. 2012, 7(5):e37041.
- 11. Alafuzoff I, Gelpi E, Al-Sarraj S, Arzberger T, Attems J, Bodi I, Bogdanovic N, Budka H, Bugiani O, Englund E, Ferrer I, Gentleman S, Giaccone G, Graeber MB, Hortobagyi T, Höftberger R, Ironside JW, Jellinger K, Kavantzas N, King A, Korkolopoulou P, Kovács GG, Meyronet D, Monoranu C, Parchi P, Patsouris E, Roggendorf W, Rozemuller A, Seilhean D, Streichenberger N, Thal DR, Wharton SB, Kretzschmar H. The need to unify neuropathological assessments of vascular alterations in the ageing brain: multicentre survey by the BrainNet Europe consortium. Exp Gerontol. 2012, 47(11):825-33.
- 12. Popova SN, Tarvainen I, Capellari S, Parchi P, Hannikainen P, Pirinen E, Haapasalo H, Alafuzoff I. Divergent clinical and neuropathological phenotype in a Gerstmann-Sträussler-Scheinker P102L family. Acta Neurol Scand. 2012, 126(5):315-23.
- 13. Dieterich LC, Mellberg S, Langenkamp E, Zhang L, Zieba A, Salomäki H, Teichert M, Huang H, Edqvist PH, Kraus T, Augustin HG, Olofsson T, Larsson E, Söderberg O, Molema G, Pontén F, Georgii-Hemming P, Alafuzoff I, Dimberg A. Transcriptional
profiling of human glioblastoma vessels indicates a key role of VEGF-A and TGF $\beta$ 2 in vascular abnormalization. J Pathol. 2012, 228(3):378-90.

- 14. Pyykkö OT, Helisalmi S, Koivisto AM, Mölsä JA, Rummukainen J, Nerg O, Alafuzoff I, Savolainen S, Soininen H, Jääskeläinen JE, Rinne J, Leinonen V, Hiltunen M. APOE4 predicts amyloid-β in cortical brain biopsy but not idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012, 83(11):1119-24.
- 15. Kovacs GG, Rozemuller AJ, van Swieten JC, Gelpi E, Majtenyi K, Al-Sarraj S, Troakes C, Bódi I, King A, Hortobágyi T, Esiri MM, Ansorge O, Giaccone G, Ferrer I, Arzberger T, Bogdanovic N, Nilsson T, Leisser I, Alafuzoff I, Ironside JW, Kretzschmar H, Budka H. Neuropathology of the hippocampus in FTLD-Tau with Pick bodies: A study of the BrainNet Europe Consortium. Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol. 2012 Apr 4. [Epub ahead of print]
- Koivisto AM, Alafuzoff I, Savolainen S, Sutela A, Rummukainen J, Kurki M, Jääskeläinen JE, Soininen H, Rinne J, Leinonen V; Kuopio NPH Registry (www.uef.finph). Poor cognitive outcome in shunt-responsive idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. Neurosurgery. 2013, 72(1):1-8;discussion 8.
- 17. Rauramaa T, Pikkarainen M, Englund E, Ince PG, Jellinger K, Paetau A, Alafuzoff I. Consensus recommendations on pathologic changes in the hippocampus: a postmortem multicenter inter-rater study. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol. 2013, 72(6):452-61.
- 18. Kämäläinen A, Viswanathan J, Natunen T, Helisalmi S, Kauppinen T, Pikkarainen M, Pursiheimo JP, Alafuzoff I, Kivipelto M, Haapasalo A, Soininen H, Herukka SK, Hiltunen M. GRN variant rs5848 reduces plasma and brain levels of granulin in Alzheimer's disease patients. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013, 33(1):23-7.
- Berntsson SG, Falk A, Savitcheva I, Godau A, Zetterling M, Hesselager G, Alafuzoff I, Larsson EM, Smits A. Perfusion and diffusion MRI combined with <sup>11</sup>C-methionine PET in the preoperative evaluation of suspected adult low-grade gliomas. J Neurooncol. 2013, 114(2):241-9. Epub 2013 Jun 16.
- 20. Sooman L, Lennartsson J, Gullbo J, Bergqvist M, Tsakonas G, Johansson F, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Jaiswal A, Navani S, Alafuzoff I, Popova S, Blomquist E, Ekman S. Vandetanib combined with a p38 MAPK inhibitor synergistically reduces glioblastoma cell survival. Med Oncol. 2013, 30(3):638.
- 21. Popova SN, Alafuzoff I. Distribution of SLC10A4, a synaptic vesicle protein in the human brain, and the association of this protein with Alzheimer's disease-related neuronal degeneration. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013, 37(3):603-10.
- 22. Natunen T, Parrado AR, Helisalmi S, Pursiheimo JP, Sarajärvi T, Mäkinen P, Kurkinen KM, Mullin K, Alafuzoff I, Haapasalo A, Bertram L, Soininen H, Tanzi RE, Hiltunen M. Elucidation of the BACE1 regulating factor GGA3 in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013, 37(1):217-32.
- 23. Alafuzoff I. Alzheimer's disease-related lesions. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013;33 Suppl 1:S173-9. Review.
- 24. Natunen T, Martiskainen H, Sarajärvi T, Helisalmi S, Pursiheimo JP, Viswanathan J, Laitinen M, Mäkinen P, Kauppinen T, Rauramaa T, Leinonen V, Alafuzoff I, Haapasalo A, Soininen H, Hiltunen M. Effects of NR1H3 genetic variation on the expression of liver X receptor α and the progression of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One. 2013 Nov 20;8(11):e80700.
- 25. Casar-Borota O, Heck A, Schulz S, Nesland JM, Ramm-Pettersen J, Lekva T, Alafuzoff I, Bollerslev J. Expression of SSTR2a, but not of SSTRs 1, 3, or 5 in somatotroph adenomas assessed by monoclonal antibodies was reduced by octreotide and correlated

with the acute and long-term effects of octreotide. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013, 98(11):E1730-9.

- 26. Alafuzoff I, Parkkinen L. Staged pathology in Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 2014, 20 Suppl 1:S57-61.
- 27. Popova SN, Bergqvist M, Dimberg A, Edqvist PH, Ekman S, Hesselager G, Ponten F, Smits A, Sooman L, Alafuzoff I. Subtyping of gliomas of various WHO grades by the application of immunohistochemistry. Histopathology. 2014, 64(3):365-79.
- Elsir T, Edqvist PH, Carlson J, Ribom D, Bergqvist M, Ekman S, Popova SN, Alafuzoff I, Ponten F, Nistér M, Smits A. A study of embryonic stem cell-related proteins in human astrocytomas: identification of Nanog as a predictor of survival. Int J Cancer. 2014, 134(5):1123-31.
- 29. Pyykkö OT, Lumela M, Rummukainen J, Nerg O, Seppälä TT, Herukka SK, Koivisto AM, Alafuzoff I, Puli L, Savolainen S, Soininen H, Jääskeläinen JE, Hiltunen M, Zetterberg H, Leinonen V. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarker and brain biopsy findings in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus. PLoS One. 2014, 9(3):e91974.
- 30. Gallagher MD, Suh E, Grossman M, Elman L, McCluskey L, Van Swieten JC, Al-Sarraj S, Neumann M, Gelpi E, Ghetti B, Rohrer JD, Halliday G, Van Broeckhoven C, Seilhean D, Shaw PJ, Frosch MP, Alafuzoff I, Antonell A, Bogdanovic N, Brooks W, Cairns NJ, Cooper-Knock J, Cotman C, Cras P, Cruts M, De Deyn PP, DeCarli C, Dobson-Stone C, Engelborghs S, Fox N, Galasko D, Gearing M, Gijselinck I, Grafman J, Hartikainen P, Hatanpaa KJ, Highley JR, Hodges J, Hulette C, Ince PG, Jin LW, Kirby J, Kofler J, Kril J, Kwok JB, Levey A, Lieberman A, Llado A, Martin JJ, Masliah E, McDermott CJ, McKee A, McLean C, Mead S, Miller CA, Miller J, Munoz DG, Murrell J, Paulson H, Piguet O, Rossor M, Sanchez-Valle R, Sano M, Schneider J, Silbert LC, Spina S, van der Zee J, Van Langenhove T, Warren J, Wharton SB, White CL 3rd, Woltjer RL, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VM, Van Deerlin V, Chen-Plotkin AS. TMEM106B is a genetic modifier of frontotemporal lobar degeneration with C9orf72 hexanucleotide repeat expansions. Acta Neuropathol. 2014, 127(3):407-18.
- 31. Laiterä T, Sarajärvi T, Haapasalo A, Puli L, Kauppinen T, Mäkinen P, Rauramaa T, Tanila H, Jääskeläinen JE, Alafuzoff I, Soininen H, Leinonen V, Hiltunen M. Increased γ-secretase activity in idiopathic normal pressure hydrocephalus patients with β-amyloid pathology. PLoS One. 2014, 9(4):e93717.
- Sutinen EM, Korolainen MA, Häyrinen J, Alafuzoff I, Petratos S, Salminen A, Soininen H, Pirttilä T, Ojala JO. Interleukin-18 alters protein expressions of neurodegenerative diseases-linked proteins in human SH-SY5Y neuron-like cells. Front Cell Neurosci. 2014, 8:214.
- 33. Alafuzoff I, Pikkarainen M, Neumann M, Arzberger T, Al-Sarraj S, Bodi I, Bogdanovic N, Bugiani O, Ferrer I, Gelpi E, Gentleman S, Giaccone G, Graeber MB, Hortobagyi T, Ince PG, Ironside JW, Kavantzas N, King A, Korkolopoulou P, Kovács GG, Meyronet D, Monoranu C, Nilsson T, Parchi P, Patsouris E, Revesz T, Roggendorf W, Rozemuller A, Seilhean D, Streichenberger N, Thal DR, Wharton SB, Kretzschmar H. Neuropathological assessments of the pathology in frontotemporal lobar degeneration with TDP43-positive inclusions: an inter-laboratory study by the BrainNet Europe consortium. J Neural Transm. 2014 Sep 20. [Epub ahead of print]
- 34. Jutila L, Aikiä M, Immonen A, Mervaala E, Alafuzoff I, Kälviäinen R. Long-term memory performance after surgical treatment of unilateral temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE). Epilepsy Res. 2014, 108(7):1228-37.

- 35. Elobeid A, Rantakömi S, Soininen H, Alafuzoff I. Alzheimer's disease-related plaques in nondemented subjects. Alzheimers Dement. 2014, 10(5):522-9.
- 36. Libard S, Popova SN, Amini RM, Kärjä V, Pietiläinen T, Hämäläinen KM, Sundström C, Hesselager G, Bergqvist M, Ekman S, Zetterling M, Smits A, Nilsson P, Pfeifer S, de Ståhl TD, Enblad G, Ponten F, Alafuzoff I. Human cytomegalovirus tegument protein pp65 is detected in all intra- and extra-axial brain tumours independent of the tumour type or grade. PLoS One. 2014, 9(9):e108861.
- 37. Alafuzoff I, Pikkarainen M, Neumann M, Arzberger T, Al-Sarraj S, Bodi I, Bogdanovic N, Bugiani O, Ferrer I, Gelpi E, Gentleman S, Giaccone G, Graeber MB, Hortobagyi T, Ince PG, Ironside JW, Kavantzas N, King A, Korkolopoulou P, Kovács GG, Meyronet D, Monoranu C, Nilsson T, Parchi P, Patsouris E, Revesz T, Roggendorf W, Rozemuller A, Seilhean D, Streichenberger N, Thal DR, Wharton SB, Kretzschmar H. Erratum to: Neuropathological assessments of the pathology in frontotemporal lobar degeneration with TDP43-positive inclusions: an inter-laboratory study by the BrainNet Europe consortium. J Neural Transm. 2014 Nov 25. [Epub ahead of print]
- 38. Crary JF, Trojanowski JQ, Schneider JA, Abisambra JF, Abner EL, Alafuzoff I, Arnold SE, Attems J, Beach TG, Bigio EH, Cairns NJ, Dickson DW, Gearing M, Grinberg LT, Hof PR, Hyman BT, Jellinger K, Jicha GA, Kovacs GG, Knopman DS, Kofler J, Kukull WA, Mackenzie IR, Masliah E, McKee A, Montine TJ, Murray ME, Neltner JH, Santa-Maria I, Seeley WW, Serrano-Pozo A, Shelanski ML, Stein T, Takao M, Thal DR, Toledo JB, Troncoso JC, Vonsattel JP, White CL 3rd, Wisniewski T, Woltjer RL, Yamada M, Nelson PT. Primary age-related tauopathy (PART): a common pathology associated with human aging. Acta Neuropathol. 2014, 128(6):755-66.
- 39. Martiskainen H, Viswanathan J, Nykänen NP, Kurki M, Helisalmi S, Natunen T, Sarajärvi T, Kurkinen KM, Pursiheimo JP, Rauramaa T, Alafuzoff I, Jääskeläinen JE, Leinonen V, Soininen H, Haapasalo A, Huttunen HJ, Hiltunen M. Transcriptomics and mechanistic elucidation of Alzheimer's disease risk genes in the brain and in vitro models. Neurobiol Aging. 2015 Feb;36(2):1221.e15-28. Epub 2014 Sep 6.

# **Translational Tumor Pathology**

#### Patrick Micke – Johan Botling

#### The Molecular Pathology of Non-small Cell Lung Cancer

Non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) represents a histologically mixed group of highly aggressive tumors. In subsets of patients, distinct genetic aberrations have been identified that are now successfully exploited for therapeutic intervention. However, for the vast majority of patients, treatment options are scant and overall prognosis poor. The molecular characterisation of NSCLC is challenging because of its notorious heterogeneity and its apparent genetic instability. Therefore, it is difficult to separate "driver" mutations from irrelevant genetic events in experimental model systems. Instead, correlation of molecular alterations in the tumor tissues of individual patients to actual clinical outcome is essential in order to understand the basic tumor biology, and necessary for the development of diagnostic biomarkers and new treatment strategies.

In an explorative phase we have investigated fresh frozen tissue samples of consecutively operated NSCLC patients and obtained comprehensive molecular landscapes by the use of array technology, sequencing methods, tissue microarrays and immunohistochemistry. The combined clinical, histopathologic and molecular data set represents the largest single institute cohort of this kind worldwide and forms the vantage point for translational studies. We have identified specific aberrations on genomic and transcriptomic levels that are strongly associated with clinical outcome. Using immunohistochemistry these molecular changes were confirmed on the protein level in independent cohorts, thus, have potential for use in clinical diagnostics (Micke et al., 2011; Botling et al., 2013).

In addition to epithelial tumor cell characteristics, stromal components were identified and correlated to relevant patient characteristics and survival (Edlund et al., 2012). Immunoglobulin light chain expression and plasma cell infiltration were demonstrated as powerful prognostic markers in NSCLC and other human solid tumors (Lohr et al., 2013; Schmidt et al., 2012). The results highlight the impact of the host's immune response in tumorigenesis. To identify potential immunogenic targets we applied RNA sequencing technology on 204 NSCLC tumor samples. This analysis provided unexcelled resolution of gene expression, including splice variants and mutations. The combination of our NSCLC data set with 32 different normal tissues (Lindskog et al., 2014) allowed characterization of lung cancer specific gene expression. Based on this data we were able to define the landscape of cancer testis antigens in NSCLC on the transcriptomic and proteomic level, hopefully, providing new cancer specific targets for immunotherapeutic intervention (Micke et al., 2014).

Over the last years the lung cancer genome has been characterized by whole genome and exome sequencing on fresh-frozen tumor tissue. Based on this knowledge we have established and optimized an 82-gene panel for characterization of "real life" NSCLC samples, i.e. small formalin-fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE) biopsies, by next generation sequencing. The data will be used to define the genetic characteristics of our established surgical patient cohorts in relation to biomarker profiles, as well as for selection of prospective patients for targeted treatment.

#### Translation to diagnostic molecular pathology

A key effort of our group is to translate knowledge and established technology into routine diagnostics. To this end, mutation assays of KRAS, NRAS, BRAF, EGFR and PIK3CA in lung cancer, colon cancer and melanoma have been set up at the clinical Department of Pathology. Our group now leads the Solid Tumor Work Package in the national Clinical

Sequencing Platform (Science for Life Laboratory). An important milestone was met during 2014 as we were able to launch, as the first laboratory in Sweden, a multiplex mutation assay (targeted NGS) for targeted treatment prediction in cancer patients in routine health care.

# Group members during 2014

Patrick Micke, associate professor, group leader Dijana Djureinovic, PhD student Millaray Marincevic, researcher Johanna Mattsson, PhD student

<u>Johan Botling</u>, associate professor, group leader Linnea LaFleur, PhD student Lotte Moens, PhD, project leader, ClinSeq platform Elin Falk-Sörqvist, bioinformatician, ClinSeq platform Magnus Sundström, researcher Vincent Lönngren, pathology resident

# Funding 2014

<u>Patrick Micke</u> Regional Research Council (Uppsala-Örebro region), 750 kSEK Swedish Cancer Society, 500 kSEK Central ALF Uppsala, 600 kSEK

Johan Botling Swedish Cancer Society, 500 kSEK ALF, 400 kSEK Vinnova, 500 kSEK (together with P. Micke)

# Publications 2012-2014

- Schmidt M, Hellwig B, Hammad S, Othman A, Lohr M, Chen Z, Boehm D, Gebhard S, Petry I, Lebrecht A, Cadenas C, Marchan R, Stewart JD, Solbach C, Holmberg L, Edlund K, Kultima HG, Rody A, Berglund A, Lambe M, Isaksson A, Botling J, Karn T, Müller V, Gerhold-Ay A, Cotarelo C, Sebastian M, Kronenwett R, Bojar H, Lehr HA, Sahin U, Koelbl H, Gehrmann M, Micke P, Rahnenführer J, Hengstler JG. A comprehensive analysis of human gene expression profiles identifies stromal immunoglobulin κ C as a compatible prognostic marker in human solid tumors. Clin Cancer Res. 2012, 18:2695-703.
- 2. Tugues S, Honjo S, König C, Noguer O, Hedlund M, Botling J, Deschoemaeker S, Wenes M, Rolny C, Jahnen-Dechent W, Mazzone M, Claesson-Welsh L. Genetic deficiency in plasma protein HRG enhances tumor growth and metastasis by exacerbating immune escape and vessel abnormalization. Cancer Res. 2012 8:1953-63.
- Edlund K, Larsson O, Ameur A, Bunikis I, Gyllensten U, Leroy B, Sundström M, Micke P, Botling J, Soussi T. Data-driven unbiased curation of the TP53 tumor suppressor gene mutation database and validation by ultradeep sequencing of human tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012 109:9551-6.
- 4. Edlund K, Lindskog C, Saito A, Berglund A, Pontén F, Göransson-Kultima H, Isaksson A, Jirström K, Planck M, Johansson L, Lambe M, Holmberg L, Nyberg F, Ekman S,

Bergqvist M, Landelius P, Lamberg K, Botling J, Ostman A, Micke P. CD99 is a novel prognostic stromal marker in non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Cancer. 2012 131:2264-73.

- 5. Åkerström T, Crona J, Delgado Verdugo A, Starker LF, Cupisti K, Willenberg HS, Knoefel WT, Saeger W, Feller A, Ip J, Soon P, Anlauf M, Alesina PF, Schmid KW, Decaussin M, Levillain P, Wängberg B, Peix JL, Robinson B, Zedenius J, Bäckdahl M, Caramuta S, Iwen KA, Botling J, Stålberg P, Kraimps JL, Dralle H, Hellman P, Sidhu S, Westin G, Lehnert H, Walz MK, Åkerström G, Carling T, Choi M, Lifton RP, Björklund P. Comprehensive re-sequencing of adrenal aldosterone producing lesions reveal three somatic mutations near the KCNJ5 potassium channel selectivity filter. PLoS One. 2012;7:e41926.
- Hall H, Velikyan I, Blom E, Ulin J, Monazzam A, Påhlman L, Micke P, Wanders A, McBride W, Goldenberg DM, Långström B. In vitro autoradiography of carcinoembryonic antigen in tissue from patients with colorectal cancer using multifunctional antibody TF2 and (67/68Ga)-labeled haptens by pretargeting. Am J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2012 2:141-50.
- 7. Schmidt M, Micke P, Gehrmann M, Hengstler JG. Immunoglobulin kappa chain as an immunologic biomarker of prognosis and chemotherapy response in solid tumors. Oncoimmunology. 2012 1:1156-1158.
- 8. Mattsson JS, Imgenberg-Kreuz J, Edlund K, Botling J, Micke P. Consistent mutation status within histologically heterogeneous lung cancer lesions. Histopathology. 2012 61:744-748.
- 9. Botling J, Edlund K, Lohr M, Hellwig B, Holmberg L, Lambe M, Berglund A, Ekman S, Bergqvist M, Pontén F, König A, Fernandes O, Karlsson M, Helenius G, Karlsson C, Rahnenführer J, Hengstler JG, Micke P. Biomarker discovery in non-small cell lung cancer: integrating gene expression profiling, meta-analysis, and tissue microarray validation. Clin Cancer Res. 2013 19:194-204.
- Staaf J, Isaksson S, Karlsson A, Jönsson M, Johansson L, Jönsson P, Botling J, Micke P, Baldetorp B, Planck M. Landscape of somatic allelic imbalances and copy number alterations in human lung carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2013 132:2020-31.
- 11. Schmidt M, Micke P, Hengstler JG. IGKC and prognosis in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2013 19:304.
- 12. Jiao X, Hooper SD, Djureinovic T, Larsson C, Wärnberg F, Tellgren-Roth C, Botling J, Sjöblom T. Gene rearrangements in hormone receptor negative breast cancers revealed by mate pair sequencing. BMC Genomics. 2013 14:165.
- 13. Leuchowius KJ, Clausson CM, Grannas K, Erbilgin Y, Botling J, Zieba A, Landegren U, Söderberg O. Parallel visualization of multiple protein complexes in individual cells in tumor tissue. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2013, 12:1563-71.
- 14. Lohr M, Edlund K, Botling J, Hammad S, Hellwig B, Othman A, Berglund A, Lambe M, Holmberg L, Ekman S, Bergqvist M, Pontén F, Cadenas C, Marchan R, Hengstler JG, Rahnenführer J, Micke P. The prognostic relevance of tumour-infiltrating plasma cells and immunoglobulin kappa C indicates an important role of the humoral immune response in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Lett. 2013, 333:222-8.
- Ke R, Mignardi M, Pacureanu A, Svedlund J, Botling J, Wählby C, Nilsson M. In situ sequencing for RNA analysis in preserved tissue and cells. Nat Methods. 2013, 10:857-60.
- 16. Planck M, Edlund K, Botling J, Micke P, Isaksson S, Staaf J. Genomic and transcriptional alterations in lung adenocarcinoma in relation to EGFR and KRAS mutation status. PLoS One. 2013 8:e78614.

- 17. Grundberg I, Kiflemariam S, Mignardi M, Imgenberg-Kreuz J, Edlund K, Micke P, Sundström M, Sjöblom T, Botling J, Nilsson M. In situ mutation detection and visualization of intratumor heterogeneity for cancer research and diagnostics. Oncotarget. 2013 4:2407-18.
- Gremel G, Bergman J, Djureinovic D, Edqvist PH, Maindad V, Bharambe BM, Khan WA, Navani S, Elebro J, Jirström K, Hellberg D, Uhlén M, Micke P, Pontén F. A systematic analysis of commonly used antibodies in cancer diagnostics. Histopathology. 2014 64:293-305.
- 19. Paulsson J, Micke P. Prognostic relevance of cancer-associated fibroblasts in human cancer. Semin Cancer Biol. 2014 25:61-8.
- 20. Karlsson A, Ringnér M, Lauss M, Botling J, Micke P, Planck M, Staaf J. Genomic and transcriptional alterations in lung adenocarcinoma in relation to smoking history. Clin Cancer Res. 2014 20:4912-24.
- 21. Noguchi S, Saito A, Horie M, Mikami Y, Suzuki HI, Morishita Y, Ohshima M, Abiko Y, Mattsson JS, König H, Lohr M, Edlund K, Botling J, Micke P, Nagase T. An integrative analysis of the tumorigenic role of TAZ in human non-small cell lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2014 20:4660-72.
- 22. Mayrhofer M, Kultima HG, Birgisson H, Sundström M, Mathot L, Edlund K, Viklund B, Sjöblom T, Botling J, Micke P, Påhlman L, Glimelius B, Isaksson A. 1p36 deletion is a marker for tumour dissemination in microsatellite stable stage II-III colon cancer. BMC Cancer. 2014 14:872.
- 23. Micke P, Mattsson JS, Edlund K, Lohr M, Jirström K, Berglund A, Botling J, Rahnenfuehrer J, Marincevic M, Pontén F, Ekman S, Hengstler J, Wöll S, Sahin U, Türeci O. Aberrantly activated claudin 6 and 18.2 as potential therapy targets in nonsmall-cell lung cancer. Int J Cancer. 2014 135:2206-14.
- 24. Lindskog C, Fagerberg L, Hallström B, Edlund K, Hellwig B, Rahnenführer J, Kampf C, Uhlén M, Pontén F, Micke P. The lung-specific proteome defined by integration of transcriptomics and antibody-based profiling. FASEB J. 2014 28:5184-96.
- 25. Mattsson JS, Bergman B, Grinberg M, Edlund K, Marincevic M, Jirström K, Pontén F, Hengstler JG, Rahnenführer J, Karlsson MG, Karlsson C, Helenius G, Botling J, Micke P, Gulyas M. Prognostic impact of COX-2 in non-small cell lung cancer: a comprehensive compartment-specific evaluation of tumor and stromal cell expression. Cancer Lett. 2015 Jan 28;356(2 Pt B):837-45. Epub 2014 Oct 31.

# **Amyloid Research**

#### **Per Westermark**

The assembly of proteins into amyloid fibrils as cause of disease is attracting increasing attention, not only in systemic disorders and in connection with neurodegenerative conditions but also associated with other diseases such as type 2 diabetes. We have a broad interest in the nature, pathogenesis and impact of a number of amyloid diseases, both systemic and localized.

Together with researchers in Umeå we have found that there are two distinct phenotypes in Swedish familial transthyretin (TTR)-derived amyloidosis and that these are characterized by differences in posttranslational processing of the protein. We can distinguish between the two with the aid of a simple subcutaneous adipose tissue biopsy. This is important since one of the phenotypes carries a big risk of progressive cardiomyopathy also after liver transplantation, which is the main treatment today. While the Swedish type of mutation (V30M) is characterized by the two different phenotypes, most other TTR mutations are associated with a risk for cardiomyopathy. We have recently shown that spinal stenosis may be a manifestation of TTR-amyloidosis, both of wildtype and of mutation-associated type.

The possible transmission of amyloid diseases by a prion-like mechanism is one of our main interests. We are, in collaboration with researchers at SVL and SLU, Uppsala, performing studies on the possibility that AA-amyloid may be present in our environment and act a putative risk factor for development of the disease in animals and human. Together with G.T. Westermark, Department of Medical Cell Biology, we have found that seeding, cross-seeding and transmission of localized amyloidoses are possible, such as those consisting of A $\beta$  and IAPP.

Localized amyloid has been identified as important actors in Alzheimer's disease and type 2 diabetes. We are currently investigating the possibility that amyloid deposits also are important in some other major diseases, particularly aortic aneurysm and atherosclerosis. Amyloid in atherosclerotic plaques is an overlooked phenomenon and our hypothesis is that toxic protein aggregates are mechanistic in the pathogenesis of atherosclerotic lesions. We are evaluating a candidate protein for the atherosclerotic amyloid fibril.

Our laboratory is also working in association with the University Hospital and is performing amyloid diagnostic work within the hospital. As systemic amyloidoses are increasingly identified as clinical problems particularly in elderly, we are receiving an increasing number of biopsies each year. Our laboratory is devoted to development of existing methods to determine type of systemic amyloidosis. For this, we are also developing new antibodies for clinical use and are planning to introduce mass spectrometry.

#### Group members during 2014

Per Westermark, professor em., group leader Ellahe Charkhkar, lab technician

#### Publications 2012-2014

 Willander H, Askarieh G, Landreh M, Westermark P, Nordling K, Keränen H, Hermansson E, Hamvas A, Nogee LM, Bergman T, Saenz A, Casals C, Åqvistg J, Jörnvall H, Berglund H, Presto J, Knight SD, Johansson J. High-resolution structure of a BRICHOS domain and its implications for anti-amyloid chaperone activity on lung surfactant protein C. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012, 109(7):2325-9.

- 2. Westermark P. Localized AL amyloidosis: a suicidal neoplasm? Ups J Med Sci. 2012, 117(2):244-50.
- 3. Gustafsson S, Ihse E, Henein MY, Westermark P, Lindqvist P, Suhr OB. Amyloid fibril composition as a predictor of development of cardiomyopathy after liver transplantation for hereditary transthyretin amyloidosis. Transplantation. 2012, 93(10):1017-23.
- 4. Westermark P. Subcutaneous adipose tissue biopsy for amyloid protein studies. Methods Mol Biol. 2012, 849:363-71.
- 5. Sipe JD, Benson MD, Buxbaum JN, Ikeda S, Merlini G, Saraiva MJ, Westermark P. Amyloid fibril protein nomenclature: 2012 recommendations from the Nomenclature Committee of the International Society of Amyloidosis. Amyloid. 2012, 19(4):167-70.
- Antoni G, Lubberink M, Estrada S, Axelsson J, Carlson K, Lindsjö L, Kero T, Långström B, Granstam SO, Rosengren S, Vedin O, Wassberg C, Wikström G, Westermark P, Sörensen J. In vivo visualization of amyloid deposits in the heart with 11C-PIB and PET. J Nucl Med. 2013, 54(2):213-20.
- 7. Westermark GT, Westermark P. Islet amyloid polypeptide and diabetes. Curr Protein Pept Sci. 2013, 14(4):330-7. Review.
- 8. Ihse E, Rapezzi C, Merlini G, Benson MD, Ando Y, Suhr OB, Ikeda S, Lavatelli F, Obici L, Quarta CC, Leone O, Jono H, Ueda M, Lorenzini M, Liepnieks J, Ohshima T, Tasaki M, Yamashita T, Westermark P. Amyloid fibrils containing fragmented ATTR may be the standard fibril composition in ATTR amyloidosis. Amyloid. 2013, 20(3):142-50.
- 9. Hellström-Lindahl E, Westermark P, Antoni G, Estrada S. In vitro binding of [<sup>3</sup>H]PIB to human amyloid deposits of different types. Amyloid. 2014, 21(1):21-7.
- 10. Oshima T, Kawahara S, Ueda M, Kawakami Y, Tanaka R, Okazaki T, Misumi Y, Obayashi K, Yamashita T, Ohya Y, Ihse E, Shinriki S, Tasaki M, Jono H, Asonuma K, Inomata Y, Westermark P, Ando Y. Changes in pathological and biochemical findings of systemic tissue sites in familial amyloid polyneuropathy more than 10 years after liver transplantation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2014, 85(7):740-6.
- 11. Westermark P, Westermark GT, Suhr OB, Berg S. Transthyretin-derived amyloidosis: probably a common cause of lumbar spinal stenosis. Ups J Med Sci. 2014, 119(3):223-8.
- Andersson M, Chen G, Otikovs M, Landreh M, Nordling K, Kronqvist N, Westermark P, Jörnvall H, Knight S, Ridderstråle Y, Holm L, Meng Q, Jaudzems K, Chesler M, Johansson J, Rising A. Carbonic anhydrase generates CO2 and H+ that drive spider silk formation via opposite effects on the terminal domains. PLoS Biol. 2014, 12(8):e1001921.
- 13. Rowczenio DM, Noor I, Gillmore JD, Lachmann HJ, Whelan C, Hawkins PN, Obici L, Westermark P, Grateau G, Wechalekar AD. Online registry for mutations in hereditary amyloidosis including nomenclature recommendations. Hum Mutat. 2014, 35(9):E2403-12.
- Sipe JD, Benson MD, Buxbaum JN, Ikeda S, Merlini G, Saraiva MJ, Westermark P. Nomenclature 2014: Amyloid fibril proteins and clinical classification of the amyloidosis. Amyloid. 2014, 21(4):221-4.
- 15. Westermark GT, Fändrich M, Westermark P. AA Amyloidosis: Pathogenesis and Targeted Therapy. Annu Rev Pathol. 2015 Jan 24;10:321-44. Epub 2014 Oct 29.
- 16. Yanagisawa A, Ueda M, Sueyoshi T, Okada T, Fujimoto T, Ogi Y, Kitagawa K, Tasaki M, Misumi Y, Oshima T, Jono H, Obayashi K, Hirakawa K, Uchida H, Westermark P, Ando Y, Mizuta H. Amyloid deposits derived from transthyretin in the ligamentum flavum as related to lumbar spinal canal stenosis. Mod Pathol. 2015 Feb;28(2):201-7. Epub 2014 Sep 5.

# **Clinical and experimental pathology**

The objectives in different research projects carried out within the field of clinical pathology or cytology is to increase knowledge regarding disease related alterations observed in tissue. One goal is to improve diagnostics to make it more informative, another is to identify potential targets to be used for the development of new treatment strategies. The alterations to be looked for can be seen as morphological changes, changes in protein expression or on the DNA or RNA level.

The assessed tissues are obtained from humans, i.e., biopsies, surgical specimens or autopsy specimens and the methods implemented are numerous. All studies on human tissue are carried out following the current legislation in Sweden; <u>The Act</u> (2003:460) and the statute (2003:615) concerning the Ethical Review of Research Involving Humans; <u>the statute</u> (2007:1069) with instructions for Regional Ethical Review Boards; the statute (2007:1068) for the Central Ethical Review Board. The translations of the Act (2003:460) and the Statute (2003:615) are updated with changes that came in to force 2008).

#### Inflammation, transplantation and cardiovascular pathology

#### Erik Larsson, Anna-Carin Wallgren

These projects are aiming at a better understanding of the mechanisms involved in acceptance of transplanted organs, mainly kidneys. We focus on changes in blood vessels and in the insterstitium. The techniques used are different immunological and molecular biological methods and our goal is to prolong the lifetime of a well functioning graft. The work is performed in collaboration with the departments of transplantation, nephrology, microbiology and immunology.

Human endogenous retroviruses (HERVs) are estimated to make up roughly 9 per cent of the human DNA. Many of these sequences are inactivated and can't be expressed. However several have conserved parts of their genome and can be expressed also on protein level. There is growing evidence that HERVs have made a significant contribution to human evolution, development and physiology as well as playing possible role in initiation and progression of human diseases.

We aim to create a map of different expressed HERV encoded proteins in both normal and neoplastic tissues by using antibody based proteomics. This work is performed in collaboration with the human protein atlas project (HPA).

#### Hematopathology

#### Rose-Marie Amini, Christer Sundström, Maysaa Abdulla

Inflammatory cells are in close proximity to all kinds of malignant tumours, where the innate immunity (myeloid) acts as the first line of defence. The innate immunity includes macrophages, granulocytes (neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils), mast cells, dendritic cells and NK cells. The adaptive immunity (lymphoid) is the acquired immunity consisting of B-and T-cells.

An increasing interest in the "tumour microenvironment" has been shown lately since new treatment modalities like "targeted therapy" with cytotoxic T-cells and against tumour associated macrophages have been developed. Prediction of survival in follicular lymphoma was recently shown to be based on molecular features of the tumour infiltrating immune cells.

Our group studies the microenvironment in malignant lymphomas with a special focus on the inflammatory cells in Hodgkin lymphoma and diffuse large B-cell lymphomas. The presence and function of the surrounding immune cells are correlated in large populationbased patient cohorts to clinical data like patient characteristics, treatment outcome and survival.

We also focus on the pathogenetic mechanisms in B-cell lymphomas affecting the spleen (splenic marginal zone lymphomas) and lymphomas primarily affecting the central nervous system. We and others have observed an increase in the incidence of primary CNS lymphomas (PCNSL) and these lymphomas may differ regarding tumour characteristics compared to those primarily affecting lymphoid tissue only.

Tissue arrays for the identification and validation of new diagnostic and prognostic tumour markers in histopathological thyroid tumour diagnosis.

#### Malignant melanoma

#### Margrét Agnarsdóttir

The incidence of cutaneous malignant melanoma has increased dramatically in Caucasians in the last few decades, an increase that is partly explained by altered sun exposure habits. For the individual patient, with a localized disease, the tumour thickness of the excised lesion is the most important prognostic factor. However, there is a need to identify characteristics, especially for patients with thin melanomas (< 1mm) that can place patients into certain risk groups.

The protein expression of multiple proteins in malignant melanoma tumours was studied, with the aim of identifying potential new candidate biomarkers. Representative samples from melanoma tissues were assembled in a tissue microarray format and protein expression was detected using immunohistochemistry. Two cohorts were used and for a subset of proteins the expression was also analysed in melanocytes in normal skin and in benign nevi. Furthermore the cohorts were employed to develop an automated algorithm to identify melanoma cells in the tissue samples. The immunohistochemical staining was evaluated manually and for the majority of proteins also with the automated algorithm. It has been difficult to identify new single prognostic protein markers that have a stronger predictive value than the thickness but some of the markers were described for the first time in melanomas. However, combining results for a few markers employing the automated algorithm has revealed interesting combination of markers that we are still working with.

# Pituitary adenomas – predictive and potentially therapeutic biomarkers

#### **Olivera Casar-Borota**

Pituitary adenomas comprise about 10 to 15% of all intracranial neoplasms in adults. They cause serious symptoms related to hormonal hypersecretion from the adenoma tissue and/or related to the effects of the intracranial tumour mass. The cornerstones of the treatment of pituitary adenomas are surgery for non-functioning pituitary adenomas (NFPAs), growth hormone (GH)-producing and adrenocorticotroph hormone (ACTH)-producing adenomas, medical treatment with dopamine receptor agonists for prolactinomas and with somatostatin analogues and GH-receptor antagonist for GH-producing adenomas, and radiotherapy (gamma-knife or conventional) for postoperative residual tumours, aggressively growing adenomas or histologically atypical adenomas.

Unfortunately, a considerable proportion of the patients are not cured even following combined surgical/medical/radiotherapy. This indicates a need for defining tumour biomarkers that can predict the clinical response to the established medical treatment, as well as biomarkers that could indicate new, potentially effective medical therapeutic options, especially in patients with NFPAs and ACTH-producing adenomas.

Objectives: We have focused on protein biomarkers such as somatostatin receptors and Ecadherin as the predictors of GH-producing pituitary adenomas biological behaviour and

clinical response to medical treatment with somatostatin analogues. We have demonstrated that immunohistochemical analysis of somatostatin receptors in GH-adenoma tissue may be an important tool in the selection of the optimal and individualised pharmacological treatment of the patients with acromegaly. Further, we have demonstrated that reduced level of E-cadherin correlates with more aggressive clinical behaviour in ACTH-producing adenomas.

We have also studied how different morphological patterns in GH-producing adenomas (sparsely vs. densely granulated adenomas) determined by expression of cytokeratin Cam 5.2 in the tumour cells correlate with clinical features of the adenomas and with the response to the medical treatment. In addition, we have demonstrated correlation between the granulation pattern and radiological features of GH adenomas, which could be helpful in predicting the clinical behaviour of the adenomas before the surgery and histological examination.

On the gene level, we have examined how mutational status of the *gsp* gene influences the biological behaviour and response to medical treatment with somatostatin analogues in GH-producing adenomas, and how mutational status of the E-cadherin gene and HDAC-2 gene correlates with clinical behaviour of ACTH-producing adenomas. Regarding new potentially therapeutic biomarkers, we have focused on research of KIT protein and KIT gene in pituitary adenomas of different hormonal types.

#### Publications 2012-2014

- Biglarnia AR, Emanuelsson C, Quach M, Clausen F, Larsson E, Schneider MK, Tufveson G, Lorant T. The free radical scavenger S-PBN significantly prolongs DSGmediated graft survival in experimental xenotransplantation. Xenotransplantation. 2012, 19(3):166-76.
- 2. Biglarnia AR, Nilsson B, Nilsson Ekdahl K, Tufveson G, Nilsson T, Larsson E, Wadström J. Desensitization with antigen-specific immunoadsorption interferes with complement in ABO-incompatible kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2012 Jan 15;93(1):87-92.
- Dieterich LC, Mellberg S, Langenkamp E, Zhang L, Zieba A, Salomäki H, Teichert M, Huang H, Edqvist PH, Kraus T, Augustin HG, Olofsson T, Larsson E, Söderberg O, Molema G, Pontén F, Georgii-Hemming P, Alafuzoff I, Dimberg A. Transcriptional profiling of human glioblastoma vessels indicates a key role of VEGF-A and TGFβ2 in vascular abnormalization. J Pathol. 2012, 228(3):378-90.
- Hall H, Velikyan I, Blom E, Ulin J, Monazzam A, Påhlman L, Micke P, Wanders A, McBride W, Goldenberg DM, Långström B. In vitro autoradiography of carcinoembryonic antigen in tissue from patients with colorectal cancer using multifunctional antibody TF2 and (67/68Ga)-labeled haptens by pretargeting. Am J Nucl Med Mol Imaging. 2012, 2(2):141-50.
- 5. Andréasson H, Wanders A, Sun XF, Willén R, Graf W, Nygren P, Glimelius B, Zhang ZY, Mahteme H. Histopathological classification of pseudomyxoma peritonei and the prognostic importance of PINCH protein. Anticancer Res. 2012, 32(4):1443-8.
- 6. Urdzik J, Bjerner T, Wanders A, Weis J, Duraj F, Haglund U, Norén A. The value of preoperative magnetic resonance spectroscopy in the assessment of steatohepatitis in patients with colorectal liver metastasis. J Hepatol. 2012, 56(3):640-6.
- Casar-Borota O, Fougner SL, Bollerslev J, Nesland JM. KIT protein expression and mutational status of KIT gene in pituitary adenomas. Virchows Arch. 2012, 460(2):171-81.

- 8. Fougner SL, Casar-Borota O, Heck A, Berg JP, Bollerslev J. Adenoma granulation pattern correlates with clinical variables and effect of somatostatin analogue treatment in a large series of patients with acromegaly. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2012, 76(1):96-102.
- 9. Heck A, Ringstad G, Fougner SL, Casar-Borota O, Nome T, Ramm-Pettersen J, Bollerslev J. Intensity of pituitary adenoma on T2-weighted magnetic resonance imaging predicts the response to octreotide treatment in newly diagnosed acromegaly. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2012, 77(1):72-8.
- Agnarsdóttir M, Ponten F, Garmo H, Wagenius G, Mucci L, Magnusson K, Holmberg L, Eaker-Fält S: *MITF Expression in Cutaneous Malignant Melanoma*. 2012 J Mol Biomark Diagn 3:129.
- Molnár C, Essand M, Wennberg L, Berne C, Larsson E, Tufveson G, Korsgren O. Islet engraftment and revascularization in clinical and experimental transplantation. Cell Transplant. 2013, 22(2):243-51.
- Casar-Borota O, Heck A, Schulz S, Nesland JM, Ramm-Pettersen J, Lekva T, Alafuzoff I, Bollerslev J. Expression of SSTR2a, but not of SSTRs 1, 3, or 5 in somatotroph adenomas assessed by monoclonal antibodies was reduced by octreotide and correlated with the acute and long-term effects of octreotide. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2013, 98(11):E1730-9.
- 13. Urdzik J, Bjerner T, Wanders A, Duraj F, Haglund U, Norén A. Magnetic resonance imaging flowmetry demonstrates portal vein dilatation subsequent to oxaliplatin therapy in patients with colorectal liver metastasis. HPB (Oxford). 2013, 15(4):265-72.
- Thörn M, Sjöberg D, Ekbom A, Holmström T, Larsson M, Nielsen AL, Holmquist L, Thelander U, Wanders A, Rönnblom A. Microscopic colitis in Uppsala health region, a population-based prospective study 2005-2009. Scand J Gastroenterol. 2013, 48(7):825-30.
- 15. Nyström N, Berg T, Lundin E, Skog O, Hansson I, Frisk G, Juko-Pecirep I, Nilsson M, Gyllensten U, Finkel Y, Fuxe J, Wanders A. Human enterovirus species B in ileocecal Crohn's disease. Clin Transl Gastroenterol. 2013, 4:e38.
- 16. Ramachandran M, Yu D, Wanders A, Essand M, Eriksson F. An infection-enhanced oncolytic adenovirus secreting H. pylori neutrophil-activating protein with therapeutic effects on neuroendocrine tumors. Mol Ther. 2013, 21(11):2008-18.
- 17. Högberg N, Stenbäck A, Carlsson PO, Wanders A, Lilja HE. Genes regulating tight junctions and cell adhesion are altered in early experimental necrotizing enterocolitis. J Pediatr Surg. 2013, 48(11):2308-12.
- Berglund M, Hedström G, Amini RM, Enblad G, Thunberg U. High expression of microRNA-200c predicts poor clinical outcome in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Oncol Rep. 2013, 29(2):720-4.
- 19. Caramuta S, Lee L, Ozata DM, Akçakaya P, Georgii-Hemming P, Xie H, Amini RM, Lawrie CH, Enblad G, Larsson C, Berglund M, Lui WO. Role of microRNAs and microRNA machinery in the pathogenesis of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Blood Cancer J. 2013, 3:e152.
- 20. Hedström G, Thunberg U, Berglund M, Simonsson M, Amini RM, Enblad G. Low expression of microRNA-129-5p predicts poor clinical outcome in diffuse large B cell lymphoma (DLBCL). Int J Hematol. 2013, 97(4):465-71.
- 21. Quentmeier H, Amini RM, Berglund M, Dirks WG, Ehrentraut S, Geffers R, Macleod RA, Nagel S, Romani J, Scherr M, Zaborski M, Drexler HG. U-2932: two clones in one cell line, a tool for the study of clonal evolution. Leukemia. 2013, 27(5):1155-64.

- 22. Zhou W, Johansson C, Jirström K, Ringberg A, Blomqvist C, Amini RM, Fjallskog ML, Wärnberg F. A Comparison of Tumor Biology in Primary Ductal Carcinoma In Situ Recurring as Invasive Carcinoma versus a New In Situ. Int J Breast Cancer. 2013, 2013, 582134.
- 23. Zhou W, Jirström K, Amini RM, Fjällskog ML, Sollie T, Lindman H, Sørlie T, Blomqvist C, Wärnberg F. Molecular subtypes in ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast and their relation to prognosis: a population-based cohort study. BMC Cancer. 2013, 13:512.
- 24. Holte H, Leppä S, Björkholm M, Fluge O, Jyrkkiö S, Delabie J, Sundström C, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Erlanson M, Kolstad A, Fosså A, Ostenstad B, Löfvenberg E, Nordström M, Janes R, Pedersen LM, Anderson H, Jerkeman M, Eriksson M. Dosedensified chemoimmunotherapy followed by systemic central nervous system prophylaxis for younger high-risk diffuse large B-cell/follicular grade 3 lymphoma patients: results of a phase II Nordic Lymphoma Group study. Ann Oncol. 2013, 24(5):1385-92.
- 25. de Miranda NF, Peng R, Georgiou K, Wu C, Falk Sörqvist E, Berglund M, Chen L, Gao Z, Lagerstedt K, Lisboa S, Roos F, van Wezel T, Teixeira MR, Rosenquist R, Sundström C, Enblad G, Nilsson M, Zeng Y, Kipling D, Pan-Hammarström Q. DNA repair genes are selectively mutated in diffuse large B cell lymphomas. J Exp Med. 2013, 210(9):1729-42.
- 26. Rexhepaj E, Agnarsdóttir M, Bergman J, Edqvist PH, Bergqvist M, Uhlén M, Gallagher WM, Lundberg E, Ponten F. A texture based pattern recognition approach to distinguish melanoma from non-melanoma cells in histopathological tissue microarray sections. PLoS One. 2013, 8(5):e62070.
- Klar J, Sobol M, Melberg A, Mäbert K, Ameur A, Johansson AC, Feuk L, Entesarian M, Orlén H, Casar-Borota O, Dahl N. Welander distal myopathy caused by an ancient founder mutation in TIA1 associated with perturbed splicing. Hum Mutat. 2013, 34(4):572-7.
- 28. Lekva T, Berg JP, Lyle R, Heck A, Ringstad G, Olstad OK, Michelsen AE, Casar-Borota O, Bollerslev J, Ueland T. Epithelial splicing regulator protein 1 and alternative splicing in somatotroph adenomas. Endocrinology. 2013, 154(9):3331-43.
- 29. Evang JA, Bollerslev J, Casar-Borota O, Lekva T, Ramm-Pettersen J, Berg JP. Different levels of various glucocorticoid-regulated genes in corticotroph adenomas. Endocrine. 2013, 44(1):220-7.
- Sällström J, Peuckert C, Gao X, Larsson E, Nilsson A, Jensen BL, Onozato ML, Persson AE, Kullander K, Carlström M. Impaired EphA4 signaling leads to congenital hydronephrosis, renal injury, and hypertension. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2013, 305(1):F71-9.
- 31. Fei C, Atterby C, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Zhang WW, Larsson E, Ryan FP. Detection of the human endogenous retrovirus ERV3-encoded Env-protein in human tissues using antibody-based proteomics. J R Soc Med. 2014, 107(1):22-9.
- Sherwood V, Chaurasiya SK, Ekström EJ, Guilmain W, Liu Q, Koeck T, Brown K, Hansson K, Agnarsdóttir M, Bergqvist M, Jirström K, Ponten F, James P, Andersson T. WNT5A-mediated β-catenin-independent signalling is a novel regulator of cancer cell metabolism. Carcinogenesis. 2014, 35(4):784-794.
- 33. Kinch A, Baecklund E, Backlin C, Ekman T, Molin D, Tufveson G, Fernberg P, Sundström C, Pauksens K, Enblad G. A population-based study of 135 lymphomas after solid organ transplantation: The role of Epstein-Barr virus, hepatitis C and diffuse large

B-cell lymphoma subtype in clinical presentation and survival. Acta Oncol. 2014, 53(5):669-79.

- 34. Wahlin BE, Sundström C, Sander B, Christensson B, Jeppsson-Ahlberg Å, Hjalmarsson E, Holte H, Østenstad B, Brown PD, Smeland EB, Kimby E. Higher World Health Organization grades of follicular lymphoma correlate with better outcome in two Nordic Lymphoma Group trials of rituximab without chemotherapy. Leuk Lymphoma. 2014, 55(2):288-95.
- 35. Hellgren K, Smedby KE, Backlin C, Sundstrom C, Feltelius N, Eriksson JK, Baecklund E, Askling J. Ankylosing spondylitis, psoriatic arthritis, and risk of malignant lymphoma: a cohort study based on nationwide prospectively recorded data from Sweden. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014, 66(5):1282-90.
- 36. Kolstad A, Laurell A, Jerkeman M, Grønbæk K, Elonen E, Räty R, Pedersen LB, Loft A, Bogsrud TV, Kimby E, Hansen PB, Fagerli UM, Nilsson-Ehle H, Lauritzsen GF, Lehmann AK, Sundstrom C, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Ralfkiaer E, Ehinger M, Delabie J, Bentzen H, Schildt J, Kostova-Aherdan K, Frederiksen H, Brown Pde N, Geisler CH; Nordic Lymphoma Group. Nordic MCL3 study: 90Y-ibritumomab-tiuxetan added to BEAM/C in non-CR patients before transplant in mantle cell lymphoma. Blood. 2014, 123(19):2953-9.
- 37. Nordström L, Sernbo S, Eden P, Grønbaek K, Kolstad A, Räty R, Karjalainen ML, Geisler C, Ralfkiaer E, Sundström C, Laurell A, Delabie J, Ehinger M, Jerkeman M, Ek S. SOX11 and TP53 add prognostic information to MIPI in a homogenously treated cohort of mantle cell lymphoma--a Nordic Lymphoma Group study. Br J Haematol. 2014, 166(1):98-108.
- 38. Butt S, Butt T, Jirström K, Hartman L, Amini RM, Zhou W, Wärnberg F, Borgquist S. The target for statins, HMG-CoA reductase, is expressed in ductal carcinoma-in situ and may predict patient response to radiotherapy. Ann Surg Oncol. 2014, 21(9):2911-9.
- 39. Berglund D, Kinch A, Edman E, Backlin C, Enblad G, Larsson E, Molin D, Pauksens K, Sundström C, Baecklund E. Expression of Intratumoral Forkhead Box Protein 3 in Posttransplant Lymphoproliferative Disorders: Clinical Features and Survival Outcomes. Transplantation. 2014 Sep 10. [Epub ahead of print]
- 40. Libard S, Popova SN, Amini RM, Kärjä V, Pietiläinen T, Hämäläinen KM, Sundström C, Hesselager G, Bergqvist M, Ekman S, Zetterling M, Smits A, Nilsson P, Pfeifer S, de Ståhl TD, Enblad G, Ponten F, Alafuzoff I. Human cytomegalovirus tegument protein pp65 is detected in all intra- and extra-axial brain tumours independent of the tumour type or grade. PLoS One. 2014, 9(9):e108861.
- 41. Hallén K, Sangfelt P, Nilsson T, Nordgren H, Wanders A, Molin D. Vanishing bile ductlike syndrome in a patient with Hodgkin lymphoma - pathological development and restitution. Acta Oncol. 2014, 53(9):1271-5.
- 42. Sedigh A, Larsson R, Brännström J, Magnusson P, Larsson E, Tufveson G, Lorant T. Modifying the vessel walls in porcine kidneys during machine perfusion. J Surg Res. 2014, 191(2):455-62.
- 43. Lundgren C, Ahlin C, Holmberg L, Amini RM, Fjällskog ML, Blomqvist C. Cyclin E1 is a strong prognostic marker for death from lymph node negative breast cancer. A population-based case-control study. Acta Oncol. 2014, 18:1-7.
- 44. Hedström G, Thunberg U, Amini RM, Zainuddin N, Enblad G, Berglund M. The MDM2 polymorphism SNP309 is associated with clinical characteristics and outcome in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Eur J Haematol. 2014, 93(6):500-8.
- 45. Zhou W, Sollie T, Tot T, Pinder SE, Amini RM, Blomqvist C, Fjällskog ML, Christensson G, Abdsaleh S, Wärnberg F. Breast cancer with neoductgenesis:

histopathological criteria and its correlation with mammographic and tumour features. Int J Breast Cancer. 2014, 2014:581706.

- 46. Kinch A, Cavelier L, Bengtsson M, Baecklund E, Enblad G, Backlin C, Thunberg U, Sundström C, Pauksens K. Donor or recipient origin of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders following solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2014 Dec;14(12):2838-45.
- 47. Sangfelt P, Sundin A, Wanders A, Rasmussen I, Karlson BM, Bergquist A, Rorsman F. Monitoring dominant strictures in primary sclerosing cholangitis with brush cytology and FDG-PET. J Hepatol. 2014, 61(6):1352-7.
- 48. Andersson S, Nilsson K, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Sundström C, Danielsson A, Edlund K, Uhlen M, Asplund A. The transcriptomic and proteomic landscapes of bone marrow and secondary lymphoid tissues. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e115911.
- 49. Gremel G, Wanders A, Cedernaes J, Fagerberg L, Hallström B, Edlund K, Sjöstedt E, Uhlén M, Pontén F. The human gastrointestinal tract-specific transcriptome and proteome as defined by RNA sequencing and antibody-based profiling. J Gastroenterol. 2015 Jan;50(1):46-57. Epub 2014 May 1.

# The Human Protein Atlas

The aim of the Swedish Human Protein Atlas is to systematically determine the distribution and relative abundance of all human proteins in defined tissues, cells and sub-cellular compartments. In addition to generating a map of protein expression patterns, the Human Protein Atlas provides a starting point for the discovery and identification of biomarkers.



# The Human Protein Atlas

#### Fredrik Pontén, Mathias Uhlén

The Swedish Human Protein Atlas project has been set up to allow for a systematic exploration of the human proteome using an antibody-based proteomics strategy. This mapping effort can be viewed as an ambition to generate an additional "layer" of information on top of the human genome sequence data. By determining the localization and relative abundance of proteins in specific tissues, cells or subcellular compartments our general knowledge will increase. There is also a demand for new biomarkers, particularly in the field of cancer diagnostics where markers are needed to determine cellular differentiation, grade of malignancy and stratification of tumors with respect to prognosis and response to therapy.

Analysis of protein expression patterns is performed using immunohistochemistry on tissue and cell microarrays. These contain more than seven hundred spots of normal and cancer tissues as well as *in vitro* cultured cells. Immunohistochemically stained tissue microarray sections are scanned to obtain high-resolution images. Each image is manually annotated by pathologists to determine expression and localization profiles. Cells are annotated using an image analysis-based system.

In addition to generating antibody-based protein profiling data, the Human Protein Atlas has also preformed transcriptomic (RNA-seq) analyses for the majority of tissues and celllines used in the project. This transcriptomic data is integrated to the atlas to provide an additional layer of information of gene/protein expression in our tissues, and furthermore serves as a tool to validate the proteomic data generated by antibodies.

All protein and RNA profiling data, including the underlying high-resolution images is presented in an anatomically comprehensive, publicly available protein atlas (<u>www.proteinatlas.org</u>). New data and more features are released in annual updates of the database. The current version 13 of the Human Protein Atlas includes protein profiles from close to 24.000 antibodies generated towards 17.000 unique proteins (corresponding to over 80% of the human protein encoding genes). All antibodies are used for protein profiling in normal human tissues from 144 individuals, where a defined set of normal cell types are annotated for each tissue, and in 216 different tumors representing the 20 most common forms of human cancer. In addition to the high throughput protein profiling core project, several projects with more specific objectives are run based on the resources gene-rated within the Human Protein Atlas. Below is a short description of such selected projects, in which the work of the technical staff headed by Ing-Marie Olsson (TMA- and IHC-groups), Evelina Sjöstedt (Microscopy-group) and Cecilia Lindskog-Bergström (Protein profiling) should also be acknowledged.

# **Cancer biomarkers**

#### Per-Henrik Edqvist, Kristina Magnusson, Anna Asplund, Caroline Kampf, Piotr Banski, Cecilia Lindskog, Julia Bergman-Larsson, Fredrik Pontén

In collaboration with Karin Jirström (MAS), Patrik Micke, Johan Botling, Irina Alafuzoff, Michael Bergqvist, Anja Smiths, Anca Dragomir, Bengt Glimelius (UAS), Dan Hellberg (Falu lasarett), Lars Holmberg (ROC), Monica Nistér, Georg Klein (KI), Jutta Huvila, Olli Carpén (Turku University), Irma Fredriksson (KI/KS), Anna Dimberg (UU), Liam Gallagher (UCD, Dublin), Gabriella Gremel (Manchester University, UK), Gillian O'Hurley (Oncomark, Dublin), Halfdan Sörbye (Bergen University Hospital, Norway), Camilla Qvortrup, Per Pfeifer (Syddansk universitet, Denmark), Gerrit Meijer, Meike de Wit (VUMC, Amsterdam), Mathias Uhlén (SciLifeLab).

In several projects the aim is to further analyze the role of proteins identified as potential cancer biomarkers in the screening effort performed within the Human Protein Atlas project. Tumor material from well-defined patient cohorts with tumors representing all major forms of human cancer are being collected and assembled into tissue microarrays. In addition to tumor material, clinical data is also collected to create databases allowing for testing and validation of protein expression patterns of importance for diagnostics, prognostics and functional tumor biology studies. There are special emphasis on i) colorectal cancer for the identification of markers that can stratify patients into groups of high or low risk for recurrent disease, ii) breast cancer in young women based on a large national cohort and extensive clinical database of >1000 patients where the focus is to understand why this patient group has such poor prognosis, and iii) gynecologic cancers for evaluation of novel prognostic biomarkers. Other collaborative biomarker projects include lung cancer, melanoma, high and low grade gliomas, cervical cancer and prostate cancer.

# Tissue specific proteomes defined by RNA-seq and antibody-based protein profiling

#### Cecilia Lindskog-Bergström, Sandra Andersson, Dijana Djureinovic, Linda Oskarsson, Evelina Sjöstedt, Angelika Danielsson, Per-Henrik Edqvist, Anna Asplund, Agata Zieba, Caroline Kampf, Julia Bergman-Larsson, Fredrik Pontén

In collaboration with Uppsala Akademiska Hospital, Dept. of Clinical Pathology, Linn Fagerberg, Björn Hallström, Jan Mulder (SciLifeLab), Åsa Sivertsson (KTH), Gabriella Gremel (Manchester University, UK), Karolina Edlund (Ifado, Tyskland), Mathias Uhlén (SciLifeLab)

The large-scale RNA-seq effort of multiple human normal tissues undertaken by the Protein Atlas project has facilitated the systematic comparison among tissues with the aim of defining the "tissue-specific proteome" for each tissue. The project is focused on identifying the highest abundant tissue-enriched or group-enriched transcripts (for highly similar tissues) and comparing these across all other tissues or tissue-groups. The antibody-based IHC protein profiling data is included in these analyses to provide a spatial resolution of where the gene is expressed on the protein level with respect to different cell types/ sub-compartment/layers, etc. On a global scale, over 20 such tissue- or tissue-group specific proteomes have been defined to date.

# Protein signatures related to pancreatic islet cell biology

# Angelika Danielsson, Cecilia Lindskog, Fredrik Pontén

In collaboration with Olle Korsgren, Lars Johansson (UU), Mathias Uhlén (SciLifeLab) This project aims to develop tools for *in vivo* imaging of beta-cells by the identification of new surface cell markers specifically expressed on beta-cells. Specific tissue microarrays are generated and following searches in the Human Protein Atlas database, candidates showing selective expression patterns in Langerhans islets are further validated and characterizedCandidate proteins showing surface expression and availability of epitopes in vivo are used as templates to generate small molecules, affibodies and/or diabodies that can further be utilized in the development of PET tracers for *in vivo* use in humans. The overall goal is to develop a system for measuring beta cell mass in humans as a tool to study anti-diabetic drugs and development of diabetes.

# Antibody validation, performance and characterization.

# Anna Asplund, Sandra Andersson, Agata Zieba, Caroline Kampf, Per-Henrik Edqvist, Fredrik Pontén

#### In collaboration with Ulf Landegren, Karl Andersson/Lars Gedda, Tobias Sjöblom (UU), Cecilia Williams (University of Houston), Mathias Uhlén (SciLifeLab)

The objective of this technical development project is to develop assays and strategies that can validate and verify protein expression data obtained using antibodies in cells and tissues, i.e. immunohistochemistry. For instance, methods for simultaneous detection of multiple epitopes on a common antigen are developed. Primarily, enzyme based, light microscopical immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence is used, but also proximity ligation. In addition, in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry on consecutive sections are also explored as a tool for antibody validation. For technical antibody validation transient knockdown of expression, real-time measurements of antibody binding as well as simultaneous stainings using multiple antibodies are employed.

# Correlation studies on global RNA transcript and protein expression levels in cell-lines

# Anna Asplund, Karolina Edlund, Per-Henrik Edqvist, Caroline Kampf, Fredrik Pontén

In collaboration with Uppsala Akademiska Hospital, Dept. of Clinical Pathology, Emma Lundberg, Linn Fagerberg, Björn Hallström (SciLifeLab), Åsa Sivertsson (KTH), Mathias Uhlén (SciLifeLab)

The enormous amount of IHC data available within the HPA project enables large-scale comparative studies of RNA and corresponding protein levels on a global level. Data from 17 cell lines, analyzed with RNAseq as well as with IHC using approximately 10 000 antibodies, revealed that 18% of the antibodies generated IHC staining patterns correlating with RNA with a Pearson correlation coefficient of >0,5. This antibody-based proteomics approach also aims to elucidate the protein signatures inflicted by *in vitro* growth conditions and map cell type specific protein signatures to understand how different cell lines can be utilized as model systems to study different tumor types.

# Novel diagnostic tools for determining the origin of cancer metastases Julia Bergman, Dijana Djureinovic, Per-Henrik Edqvist, Fredrik Pontén

# In collaboration with Karin Jirström (MAS), Patrick Micke (UAS), Gabriella Gremel (Manchester University, UK), Mathias Uhlén (SciLifeLab)

The use of antibodies that target proteins that are tissue- or cell type specific are crucial diagnostic tools in clinical pathology where they are used in immunohistochemistry-applications for the characterization of cancer. Such specific diagnostic antibodies can be used to determine from which original tissue the cancer has developed and to sub-classify the tumor type. The vast amount of data in the Human Protein Atlas is screened for cell and tissue specific proteins. Identified candidates are further validated and characterized for sensitivity and selectivity of specific target binding. Selected antibodies are used to analyze the

expression pattern in a large TMA (over 900 cases) containing mainly metastases and primary tumor tissue from tumor types where additional diagnostic markers are needed. The aim is to find and define panels of diagnostic markers to be used in clinical pathology.

# Protein profiling using highly characterized antibodies towards cancer proteins Caroline Kampf, Fredrik Pontén

# In collaboration with Gordon Whitely, Stephen Hewitt (NCI-CPTC program), Mathias Uhlén (SciLifeLab)

In an effort to generate highly characterized monoclonal antibodies towards proteins suggested to be involved in cancer growth and spread, the NCI initiated the CPTC program to drive the development of a central community core that would help accelerate biomarker discovery and validation, cancer diagnostics development, and therapeutics monitoring. As part of this effort CPTC antibodies are tested and used for protein profiling using Human Protein Atlas strategies including immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence.

# Building up tissue-specific genome-scale metabolic models based on RNAseq and immunohistochemical data

#### Caroline Kampf, Anna Asplund, Fredrik Pontén

#### In collaboration with Adil Mardinoglu, Jens Nielsen (Chalmers University)

The work constitutes a reciprocal collaboration, in which the HPA provides prof. Jens Nielsens group with transcript and protein data for build-up and validation of their in-house generated tissue-specific metabolic models, and the models in return enable us to biologically interpret the massive amount of data generated within the HPA project. The metabolic models also makes it possible to identify potential drug targets, which can be validated using immunohistochemstry in tissue cohorts or functional assays in cell lines. This ongoing collaboration has so far rendered nine publications, where six are in high impact journals.

#### Group members during 2014

Fredrik Pontén, professor, group leader Groom Alemayehu, research engineer Sandra Andersson, PhD student Maria Aronsson, research engineer Anna Asplund, researcher Piotr Banski, post doc Julia Bergman-Larsson, PhD student Cecilia Lindskog Bergström, PhD student Dijana Cerjan, lab technician Dijana Djureinovic, research engineer Per-Henrik Edqvist, project coordinator Åsa Edvinsson, research engineer Hanna Emmanuelsson, research engineer Sofie Gustafsson, lab technician Caroline Kampf, assoc. prof., site director Dennis Kesti, research assistant Eléne Kunze, research engineer Lillemor Källström, lab technician Jerker Linné, research engineer Kristina Magnusson, PhD student IngMarie Olsson, research engineer Linda Oskarsson, research engineer Marcus Runeson, research engineer Urban Ryberg, research engineer Evelina Sjöstedt, research engineer Ann-Sofi Strand, lab technician Eva Wahlund, lab technician Lisa Wolff, student Agata Zieba, post doc

# Funding during 2014

Knut och Alice Wallenbergs stiftelse, 13 800 kSEK ALF, 600 kSEK

Swedish Cancer Society, 500 kSEK EU (Fast-Path), 380 kSEK SSF, 300 kSEK EU (Affinomics), 150 kSEK Vinnova, 130 kSEK Erik, Karin och Gösta Selanders stiftelse, 100 kSEK

# Publications 2012-2014

- 1. de Wit M, Jimenez CR, Carvalho B, Belien JA, Delis-van Diemen PM, Mongera S, Piersma SR, Vikas M, Navani S, Pontén F, Meijer GA, Fijneman RJ. Cell surface proteomics identifies glucose transporter type 1 and prion protein as candidate biomarkers for colorectal adenoma-to-carcinoma progression. Gut. 2012, 61(6):855-64 Gut.
- 2. Li A, Ponten F, dos Remedios CG. The interactome of LIM domain proteins: the contributions of LIM domain proteins to heart failure and heart development. Proteomics. 2012, 12(2):203-25
- 3. Uhlén M, Oksvold P, Algenäs C, Hamsten C, Fagerberg L, Klevebring D, Lundberg E, Odeberg J, Pontén F, Kondo T, Sivertsson A. Antibody-based Protein Profiling of the Human Chromosome 21. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2012, 11(3):M111.013458.
- 4. Sillars-Hardebol AH, Carvalho B, Beliën JA, de Wit M, Delis-van Diemen PM, Tijssen M, van de Wiel MA, Pontén F, Fijneman RJ, Meijer GA. BCL2L1 has a functional role in colorectal cancer and its protein expression is associated with chromosome 20q gain. J Pathol. 2012, 226(3):442-50.
- 5. Lindén M, Lind SB, Mayrhofer C, Segersten U, Wester K, Lyutvinskiy Y, Zubarev R, Malmström PU, Pettersson U. Proteomic analysis of urinary biomarker candidates for nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer. Proteomics. 2012, 12(1):135-44.
- 6. Sillars-Hardebol AH, Carvalho B, Tijssen M, Beliën JA, de Wit M, Delis-van Diemen PM, Pontén F, van de Wiel MA, Fijneman RJ, Meijer GA. TPX2 and AURKA promote 20q amplicon-driven colorectal adenoma to carcinoma progression. Gut. 2012, 61(11):1568-75.
- 7. Wallgard E, Nitzsche A, Larsson J, Guo X, Dieterich LC, Dimberg A, Olofsson T, Pontén FC, Mäkinen T, Kalén M, Hellström M. Paladin (X99384) is expressed in the vasculature and shifts from endothelial to vascular smooth muscle cells during mouse development. Dev Dyn. 2012, 241(4):770-86.
- Edlund K, Lindskog C, Saito A, Berglund A, Pontén F, Göransson-Kultima H, Isaksson A, Jirström K, Planck M, Johansson L, Lambe M, Holmberg L, Nyberg F, Ekman S, Bergqvist M, Landelius P, Lamberg K, Botling J, Ostman A, Micke P. CD99 is a novel prognostic stromal marker in non-small cell lung cancer. Int J Cancer. 2012, 131(10):2264-73.
- 9. Lindskog C, Korsgren O, Pontén F, Eriksson JW, Johansson L, Danielsson A. Novel pancreatic beta cell-specific proteins: antibody-based proteomics for identification of new biomarker candidates. J Proteomics. 2012, 75(9):2611-20.
- Smits A, Jin Z, Elsir T, Pedder H, Nistér M, Alafuzoff I, Dimberg A, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Aronica E, Birnir B. GABA-A channel subunit expression in human glioma correlates with tumor histology and clinical outcome. PLoS One. 2012;7(5):e37041.

- 11. Asplund A, Edqvist PH, Schwenk JM, Pontén F. Antibodies for profiling the human proteome-The Human Protein Atlas as a resource for cancer research. Proteomics. 2012, 12(13):2067-77.
- 12. Kampf C, Olsson I, Ryberg U, Sjöstedt E, Pontén F. Production of tissue microarrays, immunohistochemistry staining and digitalization within the human protein atlas. J Vis Exp. 2012. (63).
- 13. Medrek C, Pontén F, Jirström K, Leandersson K. The presence of tumor associated macrophages in tumor stroma as a prognostic marker for breast cancer patients. BMC Cancer. 2012, 12:306.
- 14. Sillars-Hardebol AH, Carvalho B, Beliën JA, de Wit M, Delis-van Diemen PM, Tijssen M, van de Wiel MA, Pontén F, Meijer GA, Fijneman RJ. CSE1L, DIDO1 and RBM39 in colorectal adenoma to carcinoma progression. Cell Oncol (Dordr). 2012, 35(4):293-300.
- 15. Kampf C, Bergman J, Oksvold P, Asplund A, Navani S, Wiking M, Lundberg E, Uhlén M, Ponten F. A tool to facilitate clinical biomarker studies--a tissue dictionary based on the Human Protein Atlas. BMC Med. 2012, 10:103.
- 16. Dieterich LC, Mellberg S, Langenkamp E, Zhang L, Zieba A, Salomäki H, Teichert M, Huang H, Edqvist PH, Kraus T, Augustin HG, Olofsson T, Larsson E, Söderberg O, Molema G, Pontén F, Georgii-Hemming P, Alafuzoff I, Dimberg A. Transcriptional profiling of human glioblastoma vessels indicates a key role of VEGF-A and TGFβ2 in vascular abnormalization. J Pathol. 2012, 228(3):378-90.
- 17. Kiflemariam S, Andersson S, Asplund A, Pontén F, Sjöblom T. Scalable in situ hybridization on tissue arrays for validation of novel cancer and tissue-specific biomarkers. PLoS One. 2012, 7(3):e32927.
- 18. Edqvist PHD, Niklasson M, Vidal-Sanz M, Hallböök F, Forsberg-Nilsson K. Plateletderived growth factor over-expression in retinal progenitors results in abnormal retinal vessel formation. PLoS ONE, 2012, 7(8):e42488.
- 19. Samir R, Asplund A, Tot T, Pekar G, Hellberg D. Oral contraceptive and progestin-only use correlates to tissue tumor marker expression in women with cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Contraception, 2012, 85(3):288-93.
- 20. Mattsson JS, Imgenberg-Kreuz J, Edlund K, Botling J, Micke P. Consistent mutation status within histologically heterogeneous lung cancer lesions Histopathology. 2012. 61(4):744-748
- Edlund K, Larsson O, Ameur A, Bunikis I, Gyllensten U, Leroy B, Sundstrom M, Micke P, Botling J, Soussi T Data-driven unbiased curation of the TP53 tumor suppressor gene mutation database and validation by ultradeep sequencing of human tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012. 109(24):9551-9556
- 22. Staaf J, Isaksson S, Karlsson A, Jönsson M, Johansson L, Jönsson P, Botling J, Micke P, Baldetorp B, Planck M. Landscape of somatic allelic imbalances and copy number alterations in human lung carcinoma. Int J Cancer. 2012. 41548:ePub
- 23. Agnarsdóttir M, Pontén F, Garmo H, Wagenius G, Mucci L, Magnusson K, Holmberg L, Eaker-Fält S MITF Expression in Cutaneous Malignant Melanoma. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. 2012. in press
- 24. Drott CJ, Olerud J, Emanuelsson H, Christoffersson G, Carlsson PO. Sustained beta-cell dysfunction but normalized islet mass in aged thrombospondin-1 deficient mice. PLoS One. 2012. 7(10):e47451
- 25. Botling J, Edlund K, Lohr M, Hellwig B, Holmberg L, Lambe M, Berglund A, Ekman S, Bergqvist M, Pontén F, König A, Fernandes O, Karlsson M, Helenius G, Karlsson C,

Rahnenführer J, Hengstler JG, Micke P. Biomarker discovery in non-small cell lung cancer: integrating gene expression profiling, meta-analysis, and tissue microarray validation. Clin Cancer Res. 2013, 19(1):194-204.

- 26. Osterholm C, Folkersen L, Lengquist M, Pontén F, Renné T, Li J, Hedin U. Increased expression of heparanase in symptomatic carotid atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis., 226(1):67-73.
- 27. Fagerberg L, Oksvold P, Skogs M, Algenäs C, Lundberg E, Pontén F, Sivertsson A, Odeberg J, Klevebring D, Kampf C, Asplund A, Sjöstedt E, Al-Khalili Szigyarto C, Edqvist PH, Olsson I, Rydberg U, Hudson P, Ottosson Takanen J, Berling H, Björling L, Tegel H, Rockberg J, Nilsson P, Navani S, Jirström K, Mulder J, Schwenk JM, Zwahlen M, Hober S, Forsberg M, von Feilitzen K, Uhlén M. Contribution of Antibody-based Protein Profiling to the Human Chromosome-centric Proteome Project (C-HPP). J Proteome Res. 2013, 12(6):2439-48.
- 28. Bozóky B, Savchenko A, Csermely P, Korcsmáros T, Dúl Z, Pontén F, Székely L, Klein G. Novel signatures of cancer-associated fibroblasts. Int J Cancer. 2013, 133(2):286-93.
- 29. Hansson SF, Korsgren S, Pontén F, Korsgren O. Enteroviruses and the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes revisited: cross-reactivity of enterovirus capsid protein (VP1) antibodies with human mitochondrial proteins. J Pathol. 2013, 229(5):719-28.
- 30. Lohr M, Edlund K, Botling J, Hammad S, Hellwig B, Othman A, Berglund A, Lambe M, Holmberg L, Ekman S, Bergqvist M, Pontén F, Cadenas C, Marchan R, Hengstler JG, Rahnenführer J, Micke P.The prognostic relevance of tumour-infiltrating plasma cells and immunoglobulin kappa C indicates an important role of the humoral immune response in non-small cell lung cancer. Cancer Lett. 2013, 333(2):222-8.
- Nik AM, Reyahi A, Pontén F, Carlsson P. Foxf2 in intestinal fibroblasts reduces numbers of Lgr5(+) stem cells and adenoma formation by inhibiting Wnt signaling. Gastroenterology. 2013, 144(5):1001-11.
- 32. Edvardsson K, Nguyen-Vu T, Kalasekar SM, Pontén F, Gustafsson JÅ, Williams C. Estrogen receptor β expression induces changes in the microRNA pool in human colon cancer cells. Carcinogenesis. 2013, 34(7):1431-41.
- 33. Giandomenico V, Modlin IM, Pontén F, Nilsson M, Landegren U, Bergqvist J, Khan MS, Millar RP, Långström B, Borlak J, Eriksson B, Nielsen B, Baltzer L, Waterton JC, Ahlström H, Öberg K. Improving the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: utilizing new advances in biomarker and molecular imaging science. Neuroendocrinology. 2013, 98(1):16-30.
- 34. O Leary PC, Penny SA, Dolan RT, Kelly CM, Madden SF, Rexhepaj E, Brennan DJ, McCann AH, Pontén F, Uhlén M, Zagozdzon R, Duffy MJ, Kell MR, Jirström K, Gallagher WM. Systematic antibody generation and validation via tissue microarray technology leading to identification of a novel protein prognostic panel in breast cancer. BMC Cancer. 2013, 2;13:175.
- 35. Danielsson F, Skogs M, Huss M, Rexhepaj E, O'Hurley G, Klevebring D, Pontén F, Gad AK, Uhlén M, Lundberg E. Majority of differentially expressed genes are down-regulated during malignant transformation in a four-stage model. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013, 23;110(17):6853-8.
- Lindskog C, Ellström P, Olsen B, Pontén F, van Riel D, Munster VJ, González-Acuña D, Kuiken T, Jourdain E. European H16N3 gull influenza virus attaches to the human respiratory tract and eye. PLoS One. 2013, 8(4):e60757.
- 37. Rexhepaj E, Agnarsdóttir M, Bergman J, Edqvist PH, Bergqvist M, Uhlén M, Gallagher WM, Lundberg E, Ponten F. A texture based pattern recognition approach to distinguish

melanoma from non-melanoma cells in histopathological tissue microarray sections. PLoS One. 2013, 8(5):e62070.

- 38. Cepeda D, Ng HF, Sharifi HR, Mahmoudi S, Cerrato VS, Fredlund E, Magnusson K, Nilsson H, Malyukova A, Rantala J, Klevebring D, Viñals F, Bhaskaran N, Zakaria SM, Rahmanto AS, Grotegut S, Nielsen ML, Szigyarto CA, Sun D, Lerner M, Navani S, Widschwendter M, Uhlén M, Jirström K, Pontén F, Wohlschlegel J, Grandér D, Spruck C, Larsson LG, Sangfelt O. CDK-mediated activation of the SCF(FBXO) (28) ubiquitin ligase promotes MYC-driven transcription and tumourigenesis and predicts poor survival in breast cancer. EMBO Mol Med. 2013, 5(7):999-1018.
- 39. Huvila J, Talve L, Carpén O, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Grénman S, Auranen A. Progesterone receptor negativity is an independent risk factor for relapse in patients with early stage endometrioid endometrial adenocarcinoma. Gynecol Oncol. 2013, 130(3):463-9.
- 40. Sooman L, Lennartsson J, Gullbo J, Bergqvist M, Tsakonas G, Johansson F, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Jaiswal A, Navani S, Alafuzoff I, Popova S, Blomquist E, Ekman S. Vandetanib combined with a p38 MAPK inhibitor synergistically reduces glioblastoma cell survival. Med Oncol. 2013, 30(3):638.
- 41. Li A, Estigoy C, Raftery M, Cameron D, Odeberg J, Pontén F, Lal S, Dos Remedios CG. Heart research advances using database search engines, Human Protein Atlas and the Sydney Heart Bank. Heart Lung Circ. 2013, 22(10):819-26.
- 42. Perisic L, Hedin E, Razuvaev A, Lengquist M, Osterholm C, Folkersen L, Gillgren P, Paulsson-Berne G, Ponten F, Odeberg J, Hedin U. Profiling of atherosclerotic lesions by gene and tissue microarrays reveals PCSK6 as a novel protease in unstable carotid atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2013, 33(10):2432-43.
- 43. Andersson S, Konrad A, Ashok N, Pontén F, Hober S, Asplund A. Antibodies biotinylated using a synthetic Z-domain from protein A provide stringent in situ protein detection. J Histochem Cytochem. 2013, 61(11):773-84.
- 44. Gremel G, Grannas K, Sutton LA, Pontén F, Zieba A. In situ Protein Detection for Companion Diagnostics. Front Oncol. 2013, 3:271. eCollection 2013. Review.
- 45. Peña C, Céspedes MV, Lindh MB, Kiflemariam S, Mezheyeuski A, Edqvist PH, Hägglöf C, Birgisson H, Bojmar L, Jirström K, Sandström P, Olsson E, Veerla S, Gallardo A, Sjöblom T, Chang AC, Reddel RR, Mangues R, Augsten M, Ostman A. STC1 Expression By Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Drives Metastasis of Colorectal Cancer Cancer Res. 2013, 73(4):1287-97
- 46. Geiger T, Velic A, Macek B, Lundberg E, Kampf C, Nagaraj N, Uhlen M, Cox J, Mann M. Initial quantitative proteomic map of twenty-eight mouse tissues using the SILAC mouse. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2013, 12(6):1709-22
- 47. Gedda L, Björkelund H, Lebel L, Asplund A, Dubois L, Wester K, Penagos N, Malmqvist M, Andersson K. Evaluation of Real-Time Immunohistochemistry and Interaction Map as an Alternative Objective Assessment of HER2 Expression in Human Breast Cancer Tissue. Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. 2013, Feb(28)
- Lindén M, Segersten U, Runeson M, Wester K, Busch C, Pettersson U, Lind SB, Malmström PU. Tumour expression of bladder cancer-associated urinary proteins. BJU. 2013, 112(3):407-15.
- 49. Mardinoglu A, Agren R, Kampf C, Asplund A, Nookaew I, Jacobson P, Walley AJ, Froguel P, Carlsson LM, Uhlen M, Nielsen J. Integration of clinical data with a genomescale metabolic model of the human adipocyte. Mol Syst Biol. 2013, (9):649.

- 50. Billström E, Sundström-Poromaa I, Stålberg K, Asplund A, Hellberg D. Socioeconomic characteristics, housing conditions and criminal offences among women with cervical neoplasia. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2013, 92(8):888-94.
- 51. Swamidoss IN, Kårsnäs A, Uhlmann V, Ponnusamy P, Kampf C, Simonsson M, Wählby C, Strand R. Automated classification of immunostaining patterns in breast tissue from the human protein atlas. J Pathol Inform. 2013, 30(4):S14.
- Jansson L, Kampf C, Källskog O. Functional stimulation of graft nerves has minor effects on insulin release from transplanted rat pancreatic islets. Ups J Med Sci. 2013, 118(4):209-16.
- 53. Gardberg M., Kaipio K., Lehtinen L., Mikkonen P., Heuser V., Talvinen K., Iljin K., Kampf C., Uhlen M., Grenman R., Koivisto M., Carpen O. FHOD1, a Formin Upregulated in Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition, Participates in Cancer Cell Migration and Invasion PLOS ONE. 2013. 8(9):e74923.
- 54. Fei C, Atterby C, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Zhang WW, Larsson E, Ryan FP. Detection of the human endogenous retrovirus ERV3-encoded Env-protein in human tissues using antibody-based proteomics. J R Soc Med. 2014, 107(1):22-9.
- 55. Gremel G, Bergman J, Djureinovic D, Edqvist PH, Maindad V, Bharambe BM, Khan WA, Navani S, Elebro J, Jirström K, Hellberg D, Uhlén M, Micke P, Pontén F. A systematic analysis of commonly used antibodies in cancer diagnostics. Histopathology. 2014, 64(2):293-305.
- 56. Põlajeva J, Bergström T, Edqvist PH, Lundequist A, Sjösten A, Nilsson G, Smits A, Bergqvist M, Pontén F, Westermark B, Pejler G, Forsberg Nilsson K, Tchougounova E. Glioma-derived macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF) promotes mast cell recruitment in a STAT5-dependent manner. Mol Oncol. 2014, 8(1):50-8.
- 57. Popova SN, Bergqvist M, Dimberg A, Edqvist PH, Ekman S, Hesselager G, Ponten F, Smits A, Sooman L, Alafuzoff I. Subtyping of gliomas of various WHO grades by the application of immunohistochemistry. Histopathology. 2014, 64(3):365-79.
- 58. Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Oksvold P, Kampf C, Djureinovic D, Odeberg J, Habuka M, Tahmasebpoor S, Danielsson A, Edlund K, Asplund A, Sjöstedt E, Lundberg E, Szigyarto CA, Skogs M, Takanen JO, Berling H, Tegel H, Mulder J, Nilsson P, Schwenk JM, Lindskog C, Danielsson F, Mardinoglu A, Sivertsson A, von Feilitzen K, Forsberg M, Zwahlen M, Olsson I, Navani S, Huss M, Nielsen J, Ponten F, Uhlén M. Analysis of the human tissue-specific expression by genome-wide integration of transcriptomics and antibody-based proteomics. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2014, 13(2):397-406.
- 59. Hansson J, Hultenby K, Cramnert C, Pontén F, Jansson H, Lindgren D, Axelson H, Johansson ME. Evidence for a morphologically distinct and functionally robust cell type in the proximal tubules of human kidney. Hum Pathol. 2014, 45(2):382-93.
- 60. Elsir T, Edqvist PH, Carlson J, Ribom D, Bergqvist M, Ekman S, Popova SN, Alafuzoff I, Ponten F, Nistér M, Smits A. A study of embryonic stem cell-related proteins in human astrocytomas: identification of Nanog as a predictor of survival. Int J Cancer. 2014, 134(5):1123-31.
- 61. Hansson SF, Korsgren S, Pontén F, Korsgren O. Detection of enterovirus in the islet cells of patients with type 1 diabetes: what do we learn from immunohistochemistry? Diabetologia. 2014, 57(3):645-6.
- 62. Algenäs C, Agaton C, Fagerberg L, Asplund A, Björling L, Björling E, Kampf C, Lundberg E, Nilsson P, Persson A, Wester K, Pontén F, Wernérus H, Uhlén M, Ottosson Takanen J, Hober S. Antibody performance in western blot applications is contextdependent. Biotechnol J. 2014, 9(3):435-45.

- 63. de Wit M, Kant H, Piersma SR, Pham TV, Mongera S, van Berkel MP, Boven E, Pontén F, Meijer GA, Jimenez CR, Fijneman RJ. Colorectal cancer candidate biomarkers identified by tissue secretome proteome profiling. J Proteomics. 2014, 99:26-39.
- 64. Liem DA, Nsair A, Setty SP, Cadeiras M, Wang D, Maclellan R, Lotz C, Lin AJ, Tabaraki J, Li H, Ge J, Odeberg J, Ponten F, Larson E, Mulder J, Lundberg E, Weiss JN, Uhlen M, Ping P, Deng MC. Molecular- and organelle-based predictive paradigm underlying recovery by left ventricular assist device support. Circ Heart Fail. 2014 Mar 1;7(2):359-66. Review.
- 65. Agren R, Mardinoglu A, Asplund A, Kampf C, Uhlen M, Nielsen J. Identification of anticancer drugs for hepatocellular carcinoma through personalized genome-scale metabolic modeling. Mol Syst Biol. 2014, 10:721.
- Gardberg M, Heuser VD, Iljin K, Kampf C, Uhlen M, Carpén O. Characterization of Leukocyte Formin FMNL1 Expression in Human Tissues. J Histochem Cytochem. 2014, 62(6):460-470.
- 67. Bachmann J, Burté F, Pramana S, Conte I, Brown BJ, Orimadegun AE, Ajetunmobi WA, Afolabi NK, Akinkunmi F, Omokhodion S, Akinbami FO, Shokunbi WA, Kampf C, Pawitan Y, Uhlén M, Sodeinde O, Schwenk JM, Wahlgren M, Fernandez-Reyes D, Nilsson P. Affinity proteomics reveals elevated muscle proteins in plasma of children with cerebral malaria. PLoS Pathog. 2014, 10(4):e1004038.
- 68. O'Hurley G, Daly E, O'Grady A, Cummins R, Quinn C, Flanagan L, Pierce A, Fan Y, Lynn MA, Rafferty M, Fitzgerald D, Pontén F, Duffy MJ, Jirström K, Kay EW, Gallagher WM. Investigation of molecular alterations of AKT-3 in triple-negative breast cancer. Histopathology. 2014, 64(5):660-70.
- Sherwood V, Chaurasiya SK, Ekström EJ, Guilmain W, Liu Q, Koeck T, Brown K, Hansson K, Agnarsdóttir M, Bergqvist M, Jirström K, Ponten F, James P, Andersson T. WNT5A-mediated β-catenin-independent signalling is a novel regulator of cancer cell metabolism. Carcinogenesis. 2014, 35(4):784-94.
- 70. Sooman L, Ekman S, Tsakonas G, Jaiswal A, Navani S, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Bergström S, Johansson M, Wu X, Blomquist E, Bergqvist M, Gullbo J, Lennartsson J. PTPN6 expression is epigenetically regulated and influences survival and response to chemotherapy in high-grade gliomas. Tumour Biol. 2014, 35(5):4479-88.
- 71. Bozoky B, Savchenko A, Guven H, Ponten F, Klein G, Szekely L. Decreased decorin expression in the tumor microenvironment. Cancer Med. 2014 Jun;3(3):485-91.
- 72. Djureinovic D, Fagerberg L, Hallström B, Danielsson A, Lindskog C, Uhlén M, Pontén F. The human testis-specific proteome defined by transcriptomics and antibody-based profiling. Mol Hum Reprod. 2014, 20(6):476-88.
- 73. O'Hurley G, Sjöstedt E, Rahman A, Li B, Kampf C, Pontén F, Gallagher WM, Lindskog C. Garbage in, garbage out: a critical evaluation of strategies used for validation of immunohistochemical biomarkers. Mol Oncol. 2014 Jun;8(4):783-98.
- 74. Dragomir A, de Wit M, Johansson C, Uhlen M, Pontén F. The role of SATB2 as a diagnostic marker for tumors of colorectal origin: Results of a pathology-based clinical prospective study. Am J Clin Pathol. 2014, 141(5):630-8.
- 75. Kampf C, Mardinoglu A, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Edlund K, Lundberg E, Pontén F, Nielsen J, Uhlen M. The human liver-specific proteome defined by transcriptomics and antibody-based profiling. FASEB J. 2014, 28(7):2901-14.
- 76. Ayoglu B, Chaouch A, Lochmüller H, Politano L, Bertini E, Spitali P, Hiller M, Niks EH, Gualandi F, Pontén F, Bushby K, Aartsma-Rus A, Schwartz E, Le Priol Y, Straub V,

Uhlén M, Cirak S, 't Hoen PA, Muntoni F, Ferlini A, Schwenk JM, Nilsson P, Al-Khalili Szigyarto C. Affinity proteomics within rare diseases: a BIO-NMD study for blood biomarkers of muscular dystrophies. EMBO Mol Med. 2014, 6(7):918-36.

- Elfineh L, Classon C, Asplund A, Pettersson U, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Lind SB. Tyrosine phosphorylation profiling via in situ proximity ligation assay. BMC Cancer. 2014, 14:435.
- 78. O'Leary PC, Terrile M, Bajor M, Gaj P, Hennessy BT, Mills GB, Zagozdzon A, O'Connor DP, Brennan DJ, Connor K, Li J, Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Sun HD, Pu JX, Pontén F, Uhlén M, Jirström K, Nowis DA, Crown JP, Zagozdzon R, Gallagher WM. Peroxiredoxin-1 protects estrogen receptor α from oxidative stress-induced suppression and is a protein biomarker of favorable prognosis in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2014, 16(4):R79.
- 79. Lindskog C, Kuhlwilm M, Davierwala A, Fu N, Hegde G, Uhlén M, Navani S, Pääbo S, Pontén F. Analysis of candidate genes for lineage-specific expression changes in humans and primates. J Proteome Res. 2014, 13(8):3596-606.
- 80. Libard S, Popova SN, Amini RM, Kärjä V, Pietiläinen T, Hämäläinen KM, Sundström C, Hesselager G, Bergqvist M, Ekman S, Zetterling M, Smits A, Nilsson P, Pfeifer S, de Ståhl TD, Enblad G, Ponten F, Alafuzoff I. Human cytomegalovirus tegument protein pp65 is detected in all intra- and extra-axial brain tumours independent of the tumour type or grade. PLoS One. 2014, 9(9):e108861.
- 81. Hemdan T, Lindén M, Lind SB, Namuduri AV, Sjöstedt E, de Ståhl TD, Asplund A, Malmström PU, Segersten U. The prognostic value and therapeutic target role of stathmin-1 in urinary bladder cancer. Br J Cancer. 2014, 111(6):1180-7.
- Pinnick KE, Nicholson G, Manolopoulos KN, McQuaid SE, Valet P, Frayn KN, Denton N, Min JL, Zondervan KT, Fleckner J; MolPAGE Consortium, McCarthy MI, Holmes CC, Karpe F. Distinct developmental profile of lower-body adipose tissue defines resistance against obesity-associated metabolic complications. Diabetes. 2014, 63(11):3785-97.
- 83. Micke P, Mattsson JS, Edlund K, Lohr M, Jirström K, Berglund A, Botling J, Rahnenfuehrer J, Marincevic M, Pontén F, Ekman S, Hengstler J, Wöll S, Sahin U, Türeci O. Aberrantly activated claudin 6 and 18.2 as potential therapy targets in nonsmall-cell lung cancer. Int J Cancer. 2014, 135(9):2206-14.
- 84. Howat WJ, Lewis A, Jones P, Kampf C, Pontén F, van der Loos CM, Gray N, Womack C, Warford A. Antibody validation of immunohistochemistry for biomarker discovery: recommendations of a consortium of academic and pharmaceutical based histopathology researchers. Methods. 2014, 70(1):34-8.
- 85. Mardinoglu A, Kampf C, Asplund A, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Edlund K, Blüher M, Pontén F, Uhlen M, Nielsen J. Defining the human adipose tissue proteome to reveal metabolic alterations in obesity. J Proteome Res. 2014, 13(11):5106-19.
- Kampf C, Mardinoglu A, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Danielsson A, Nielsen J, Pontén F, Uhlen M. Defining the human gallbladder proteome by transcriptomics and affinity proteomics. Proteomics. 2014, 14(21-22):2498-507.
- 87. Andersson S, Nilsson K, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Sundström C, Danielsson A, Edlund K, Uhlen M, Asplund A. The transcriptomic and proteomic landscapes of bone marrow and secondary lymphoid tissues. PLoS One. 2014 Dec 26;9(12):e115911.
- 88. Lindskog C, Fagerberg L, Hallström B, Edlund K, Hellwig B, Rahnenführer J, Kampf C, Uhlén M, Pontén F, Micke P. The lung-specific proteome defined by integration of transcriptomics and antibody-based profiling. FASEB J. 2014, 28(12):5184-96.

- 89. Habuka M, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Kampf C, Edlund K, Sivertsson Å, Yamamoto T, Pontén F, Uhlén M, Odeberg J. The kidney transcriptome and proteome defined by transcriptomics and antibody-based profiling. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e116125.
- 90. Mardinoglu A, Agren R, Kampf C, Asplund A, Uhlen M, Nielsen J. Genome-scale metabolic modelling of hepatocytes reveals serine deficiency in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Nat Commun. 2014, 5:3083.
- 91. Nilsson R, Jain M, Madhusudhan N, Sheppard NG, Strittmatter L, Kampf C, Huang J, Asplund A, Mootha VK. Metabolic enzyme expression highlights a key role for MTHFD2 and the mitochondrial folate pathway in cancer. Nat Commun. 2014, 5:3128.
- 92. Danielsson A, Pontén F, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Schwenk JM, Uhlén M, Korsgren O, Lindskog C. The human pancreas proteome defined by transcriptomics and antibodybased profiling. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e115421.
- 93. Mattsson JS, Bergman B, Grinberg M, Edlund K, Marincevic M, Jirström K, Pontén F, Hengstler JG, Rahnenführer J, Karlsson MG, Karlsson C, Helenius G, Botling J, Micke P, Gulyas M. Prognostic impact of COX-2 in non-small cell lung cancer: a comprehensive compartment-specific evaluation of tumor and stromal cell expression. Cancer Lett. 2015 Jan 28;356(2 Pt B):837-45. Epub 2014 Oct 31.
- 94. Gremel G, Wanders A, Cedernaes J, Fagerberg L, Hallström B, Edlund K, Sjöstedt E, Uhlén M, Pontén F. The human gastrointestinal tract-specific transcriptome and proteome as defined by RNA sequencing and antibody-based profiling. J Gastroenterol. 2015 Jan;50(1):46-57. Epub 2014 May 1.
- 95. Edqvist PH, Fagerberg L, Hallström BM, Danielsson A, Edlund K, Uhlén M, Pontén F. Expression of human skin-specific genes defined by transcriptomics and antibody-based profiling. J Histochem Cytochem. 2015 Feb;63(2):129-41. Epub 2014 Nov 19.
- 96. Sooman L, Freyhult E, Jaiswal A, Navani S, Edqvist PH, Pontén F, Tchougounova E, Smits A, Elsir T, Gullbo J, Lennartsson J, Bergqvist M, Ekman S. FGF2 as a potential prognostic biomarker for proneural glioma patients. Acta Oncol. 2015 Mar;54(3):385-94. Epub 2014 Sep 29.
- 97. Gremel G, Liew M, Hamzei F, Hardell E, Selling J, Ghaderi M, Stemme S, Pontén F, Carlson JW. A prognosis based classification of undifferentiated uterine sarcomas: Identification of mitotic index, hormone receptors and YWHAE-FAM22 translocation status as predictors of survival. Int J Cancer. 2015 Apr;136(7):1608-18. Epub 2014 Aug 27.

# Molecular Tools

The development of new molecular detection strategies is fundamental to progress in biomedical research and diagnostics. The Molecular Tools research program has pioneered a broad range of technologies for measuring and characterizing DNA, RNA and protein molecules in solution phase or in situ. Examples of techniques that we have developed in the past include oligonucleotide ligation assays, padlock and selector probes, and circle to circle amplification for nucleic acid analyses; and proximity ligation assays in solution phase or in situ for investigating proteins or protein complexes. We apply our methods,



often in collaboration with colleagues, to gain new biomedical insights and to identify diagnostic opportunities in a broad range of diseases including cancer, neurodegeneration, and infectious and cardiovascular disease.

We also very actively seek to make our techniques generally available as services from SciLifeLab, and through licenses to leading biotech companies, or by spinning out companies that can further develop these technologies. In addition, there is a steady stream of new, powerful technologies currently being developed in our research program, including UnFold and ExCirc probes, proxHCR, super rolling circle amplification (sRCA), and RCA reporters. Finally, we note that our lab has been a good breeding ground for young scientists, launching strong careers in academia or in the biotech industry.

# Advanced Molecular Techniques in Genomics, Proteomics and Medicine

#### **Ulf Landegren**

Molecular medicine in research and clinical practice crucially depends on tools to accurately and comprehensively measure molecules. Such methods can provide entirely new biological insights, reveal disease processes, and serve to monitor responses to therapy. Our group has a very strong tradition of developing molecular tools for measuring and imaging DNA, RNA, protein molecules in biological samples such as blood and tissues. Methods we have pioneered include the oligonucleotide ligation assays, padlock, and proximity probes, as well as the novel nFold and ExCirc probes and super rolling circle amplification, currently under development in our lab. We apply these methods together with collaborating partners in a wide range of biomedical analyses with some focus on malignancies, neurodegeneration, cardiovascular disease, autoimmunity and infectious disease.

The probes we use typically include elements with affinity for specific nucleic acid or protein molecules, along with unique identifier DNA sequence elements that serve as a code for the recognized target molecules. The information content of the DNA strands that form in detection reactions is recorded after amplification by PCR, rolling circle amplification, or via next generation sequencing to identify the recognized target molecules. These very general procedures permit highly specific solution-phase or localized analyses of large sets of target molecules, extending even to the single-copy level to evaluate the molecular heterogeneity in cells and tissues, and the techniques are promising for a new generation of high-performance point of care analyses. Some of our ongoing projects are highlighted below.

# New generation probing technologies to chart the molecular composition of cells

#### **Rachel Nong**

In this project we aim to construct a new class of probes to simultaneously detect or image most or all kinds of molecular events at improved kinetics, sensitivity, and specificity.

We have demonstrated the performance of these so called nFold probes and ExCirc probes in proof-of-concept experiments, and we currently investigate possibilities of applying them for simultaneously imaging large numbers of mRNA and miRNA molecules and their interactions with other molecules in tissue sections. In this context, we are establishing a new approach for molecular engineering of advanced molecular probes via directed evolution using parallel massive array DNA synthesis and next generation sequencing technologies in collaboration with Dr. Tarjei Mikkelsen at the Broad Institute.

# Development of super rolling circle amplification

#### Lei Chen

The aim is to produce rolling circle amplification products at several micrometers in size on solid support or in solution and apply this technique on biological samples for efficient and rapid detection. We have successfully generated rolling circle products on the solid support with diameter in several micrometers. These new approaches for signal amplification will be important both for localized and digital detection and they may also enable rapid analyses at the point of care.

# Development of specific and sensitive drug-protein interaction detection methods

#### Abdullah Al-Amin

Structural similarities in active sites lead to lack of selectivity and unwanted side effects in rational drug design. Methods are needed to study direct, more selective binding and correct localization of candidate drug and its target interaction in relevant clinical specimen during important steps in drug development in preclinical study. In a first phase of the study, we have described very sensitive and specific *in situ* drug-target interaction detection methods, where DNA-linked kinase inhibitors interaction were visualized by rolling-circle amplification (RCA) and via proximity ligation assays (PLA) within breast cancer tissue sections, cancer cell lines and in chronic myeloid leukemia (CML) patient samples. Another on going strategy is to combind thermal shift assay with multiplex proximity extension assays (PEA) for a quantitative drug proteins physical interaction measurement in cell extracts.

# A platform for sensitive protein detection

# Tonge Ebai

There is a great need for protein detection at improved sensitivity. We are developing assay formats that can improve specificity of detection, reduce nonspecific background, and permit strongly amplified detection signals while using standard assay formats. In one approach, proteins are captured from biological samples via antibodies immobilized in microtiter wells. The proteins are then detected via two more antibodies that have been modified with oligonucleotides, such that they can template the formation of a circular reporter DNA strand for amplified detection via rolling circle amplification. This assay offers increased specificity of detection while ignoring some sources of nonspecific detection and permitting enhanced detection signals.

#### Single cell proteomics

#### **Caroline Gallant**

The ability to investigate biological phenomena at the level of single cells is attracting increasing interest as a means to characterize cellular heterogeneity and explain biological responses by individual cells. We are developing miniaturized protein assays from single cell lysates for parallel, sensitive protein detection via proximity extension assays. The assays are used to characterize differences among, and responses by neural cells at the level of single cells.

#### Precise mapping of cell signaling pathways

#### Peter Lönn

In this project we are combining new molecular tools with classical biochemical methods to map dynamics of cell signaling pathways. We are especially interested in the multifunctional signaling cytokine TGF- $\beta$  and are investigating the roles this pathway plays during carcinogenesis.

One part of the project is to optimize *in situ* PLA and PEA to enable high-throughput readout of specific post-translational modifications and protein-protein interactions. The purpose is to use such assays to screen libraries of small molecular inhibitors, siRNAs, or bioactive peptides. The goal is to bring new insights about how post-translational modifications and interactions are regulated during carcinogenesis and furthermore to identify putative biomarkers and therapeutic targets/molecules/peptides.

# RCA reporters - increasing the size of regular RCA products and potentially a new method for rapid point of care diagnostics

#### Johan Björkesten

In this project we aim to add pre-prepared protected circles to the sample together with RCA mix (including e.g. Phi29 polymerase and dNTPs). The circles are protected in such a way that they will only be amenable for RCA upon recognition of a certain target molecule which can be single stranded DNA or RNA. The circle together with a protection forms the RCA reporter. If the RCA reporters are designed to recognize an RCA product they can be used for a next generation of RCA growing blobs in a similar way as sRCA (developed in the group by Lei Chen). RCA reporters will be a very easy way to achieve micrometer sized blobs although it will probably not include the great specificity of SNP detection compared to sRCA. If RCA reporters are designed directly to e.g. viral RNA present in the blood they can potentially be used for rapid point of care diagnostics.

We have demonstrated in a synthetic model that RCA reporters can recognize a single stranded DNA target and upon recognition initiate RCA. The balance between protecting the circles from spontaneous RCA initiation and efficient activation upon target recognition has to be established. This will probably be done via directed evolution using parallel massive array DNA synthesis and next generation sequencing technologies.

# PLA for protein analyses and biomarker validation

#### Masood Kamali-Moghaddam et al.

In the proximity ligation assay, specific proteins as well as their interactions and modifications, can be analyzed by translating detection reactions to DNA sequences. In this method protein binding reagents are modified by conjugation to DNA oligonucleotides. When two or more of these modified binders recognize a target molecule or a pair of interacting

proteins, the free ends of the attached oligonucleotides are brought in proximity and can be joined by DNA ligation. The ligation products are then amplified by PCR. The PLA technique can be carried out in solution – requiring very small amounts of materials to be tested – or on a solid phase whereby the target molecules to be detected can be first immobilized via affinity probes, while other materials are removed by washes. In a yet another format of PLA (*in situ* PLA) that can be used for protein analyses in cells and tissues the oligonucleotides are designed to guide circularization of two accessory linear DNA molecules. The DNA molecules that form by ligation are amplifiable by rolling circle amplification and visualized using epi-fluorescence or confocal microscopes.

The combination of the use of two or more binding reagents and efficient DNA amplification provides high sensitivity and specificity of detection, surpassing conventional protein detection methods. PLA can therefore provide a powerful molecular tool for protein measurements at extremely low concentrations.

We continuously improve methods for sensitive proteome analyses, aiming for further improved sensitivity of detection and for simultaneous detection of proteins in highly multiplexed formats. In addition to sensitive detection of soluble proteins, different variants of the technology has been used to establish assays for detection of immune complexes, aggregated proteins, fusion proteins and micro vesicles. For instance, in the field of neurodegenerative disorders we have developed a sensitive assay for specific detection of protein oligomers that plays a central role in diseases such as Alzheimer, prion and Parkinson diseases. Using the *in situ* PLA, we have established extremely specific and sensitive assays to study protein interactions and posttranslational modifications such as phosphorylation of Tau protein, which plays a central role in development of Alzheimer's disease. In addition, we have developed a multiplex PLA in which up to 47 proteins are analyzed simultaneously using very small amount of patient samples. The Multiplex PLA has, for instance, been used to screen blood samples from patients with chronic pain, and cerebrospinal fluid samples from patients with amyotorophic lateral sclerosis, and we have identified several biomarker candidates in the latter disease.

We have also developed a new form of PLA (4PLA) that requires binding by five different antibodies for specific detection of more complex target molecules. Using this sensitive assay form we have for the first time been able to detect prostasomes in blood plasma – establishing these as a member of a new class of biomarkers generally refered to as microvesicles/exosomes. 4PLA-based detection of prostasomes revealed elevated levels of these microvesicles in samples from prostate cancer patients, and the analysis also demonstrated that the concentration of prostasomes better reflects disease aggressiveness than the currently used PSA test.

Currently, we utilize varies multiplex proximity assays to identify and characterize a large number of microvesicles originated from different organs – such as prostate, lung and breast – in order to establish new sensitive and reliable diagnostic and prognostic tests using this novel class of biomarker candidates.

#### Group members during 2014

Ulf Landegren, professor, group leader Abdullah Al-Amin, PhD student Andries Blokzijl, researcher Johan Björkesten, PhD student Lei Chen, PhD student Christina Classon, research engineer Tonge Ebai, PhD student Elin Ekberg, administrative assistant Caroline Gallant, post doc Joakim Galli, project coordinator Johanna Herö, research engineer Peter Lönn, researcher Johan Oelrich, systems developer Lisa Steidle, student Mike Taussig, researcher Erik Ullerås, project coordinator Rachel Yuan Nong, post doc

#### Member establishing independent research group

<u>Masood Kamali Moghaddam</u>, researcher Liza Löf, PhD student Felipe de Oliviera, PhD student Anne-Li Lind, PhD student Lotta Wik, post doc Di Wu, PhD student Junhong Yan, PhD student Agata Zieba Wicher, researcher

#### **Dissertations during 2014**

Di Wu, Proximity Ligation and Barcoding Assays: Tools for analysis of proteins and protein complexes, April 25, 2014.

# Funding during 2014

Swedish Research Council (Medicine and Health), 1 100 kSEK; 2 500 kSEK Swedish Research Council (Science and Engineering), 980 kSEK Swedish Research Council (Infrastructure, PI: J. Dillner), 1 200 kSEK Swedish Research Council, 430 kSEK (to Peter Lönn) SSF, 1 650 kSEK EU FP7, DiaTools, 2 000 kSEK EU FP7, Affinomics (PI: M. Taussig), 700 kSEK EU FP7, BBMRI-LPC (PI: M. Perola), 850 kSEK EU FP7 Marie Curie ITN, BioMaX (PI: J. Lammertyn), 1 100 kSEK EU FP7 Marie Curie ITN, GastricGlycoExplorer (PI: N. Karlsson), 400 kSEK ERC, ProteinSeq, 4 500 kSEK IMI OncoTrack (PI: Hans Lerach), 3 000 kSEK

# Publications 2012-2014

- Weibrecht I, Gavrilovic M, Lindbom L, Landegren U, Wählby C, Söderberg O. Visualising individual sequence-specific protein-DNA interactions in situ. N Biotechnol. 2012, 29(5):589-98.
- Landegren U, Vänelid J, Hammond M, Nong RY, Wu D, Ullerås E, Kamali-Moghaddam M. Opportunities for sensitive plasma proteome analysis. Anal Chem. 2012, 84(4):1824-30.

- 3. Nong RY, Gu J, Darmanis S, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Landegren U. DNA-assisted protein detection technologies. Expert Rev Proteomics. 2012;9(1):21-32. Review.
- Zieba A, Pardali K, Söderberg O, Lindbom L, Nyström E, Moustakas A, Heldin CH, Landegren U. Intercellular variation in signaling through the TGF-β pathway and its relation to cell density and cell cycle phase. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2012, 11(7):M111.013482.
- Teranishi Y, Hur JY, Gu GJ, Kihara T, Ishikawa T, Nishimura T, Winblad B, Behbahani H, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Frykman S, Tjernberg LO. Erlin-2 is associated with active γsecretase in brain and affects amyloid β-peptide production. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2012, 424(3):476-81.
- 6. Hammond M, Nong RY, Ericsson O, Pardali K, Landegren U. Profiling cellular protein complexes by proximity ligation with dual tag microarray readout. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e40405.
- 7. Zieba A, Grannas K, Söderberg O, Gullberg M, Nilsson M, Landegren U. Molecular tools for companion diagnostics. N Biotechnol. 2012, 29(6):634-40.
- 8. Darmanis S, Gallant C, Landegren U. PCR-based multiparametric assays in single cells. Clin Chem. 2012, 58(12):1618-9.
- 9. Gu GJ, Friedman M, Jost C, Johnsson K, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Plückthun A, Landegren U, Söderberg O. Protein tag-mediated conjugation of oligonucleotides to recombinant affinity binders for proximity ligation. N Biotechnol. 2013, 30(2):144-52.
- Klingström T, Soldatova L, Stevens R, Roos TE, Swertz MA, Müller KM, Kalaš M, Lambrix P, Taussig MJ, Litton JE, Landegren U, Bongcam-Rudloff E. Workshop on laboratory protocol standards for the Molecular Methods Database. N Biotechnol. 2013, 30(2):109-13.
- Sundqvist A, Zieba A, Vasilaki E, Herrera Hidalgo C, Söderberg O, Koinuma D, Miyazono K, Heldin CH, Landegren U, Ten Dijke P, van Dam H. Specific interactions between Smad proteins and AP-1 components determine TGFβ-induced breast cancer cell invasion. Oncogene. Oncogene. 2013, 32(31):3606-15.
- 12. Flanigon J, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Burbulis I, Annink C, Steffen M, Oeth P, Brent R, van den Boom D, Landegren U, Cantor C. Multiplex protein detection with DNA readout via mass spectrometry. N Biotechnol. 2013, 30(2):153-8.
- 13. Gu GJ, Wu D, Lund H, Sunnemark D, Kvist AJ, Milner R, Eckersley S, Nilsson LN, Agerman K, Landegren U, Kamali-Moghaddam M. Elevated MARK2-dependent phosphorylation of Tau in Alzheimer's disease. J Alzheimers Dis. 2013, 33(3):699-713.
- 14. Landegren U. Offshoots of the ESF functional genomics programme. N Biotechnol. 2013, 30(3):296-8.
- Leuchowius KJ, Clausson CM, Grannas K, Erbilgin Y, Botling J, Zieba A, Landegren U, Söderberg O. Parallel visualization of multiple protein complexes in individual cells in tumor tissue. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2013, 12(6):1563-71.
- 16. Giandomenico V, Modlin IM, Pontén F, Nilsson M, Landegren U, Bergqvist J, Khan MS, Millar RP, Långström B, Borlak J, Eriksson B, Nielsen B, Baltzer L, Waterton JC, Ahlström H, Öberg K. Improving the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: utilizing new advances in biomarker and molecular imaging science. Neuroendocrinology. 2013, 98(1):16-30.
- Gu GJ, Lund H, Wu D, Blokzijl A, Classon C, von Euler G, Landegren U, Sunnemark D, Kamali-Moghaddam M. Role of individual MARK isoforms in phosphorylation of tau at Ser<sup>262</sup> in Alzheimer's disease. Neuromolecular Med. 2013, 15(3):458-69.

- 18. Nong RY, Wu D, Yan J, Hammond M, Gu GJ, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Landegren U, Darmanis S. Solid-phase proximity ligation assays for individual or parallel protein analyses with readout via real-time PCR or sequencing. Nat Protoc. 2013, 8(6):1234-4.
- 19. Ke R, Nong RY, Fredriksson S, Landegren U, Nilsson M. Improving precision of proximity ligation assay by amplified single molecule detection. PLoS One. 2013, 8(7):e69813.
- 20. Blokzijl A, Nong R, Darmanis S, Hertz E, Landegren U, Kamali-Moghaddam M. Protein biomarker validation via proximity ligation assays. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2013, pii: S1570-9639(13)00288-4.
- 21. Fuchino K, Bagchi S, Cantlay S, Sandblad L, Wu D, Bergman J, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Flärdh K, Ausmees N. Dynamic gradients of an intermediate filament-like cytoskeleton are recruited by a polarity landmark during apical growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013, 110(21):E1889-97
- 22. Yan J, Horák D, Lenfeld J, Hammond M, Kamali-Moghaddam M. A tosyl-activated magnetic bead cellulose as solid support for sensitive protein detection. J Biotechnol. 2013, 167(3):235-40.
- 23. Zatloukal B, Kufferath I, Thueringer A, Landegren U, Zatloukal K, Haybaeck J. Sensitivity and specificity of in situ proximity ligation for protein interaction analysis in a model of steatohepatitis with Mallory-Denk bodies. PLoS One. 2014, 9(5):e96690.
- 24. Blokzijl A, Nong R, Darmanis S, Hertz E, Landegren U, Kamali-Moghaddam M. Protein biomarker validation via proximity ligation assays. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014 May;1844(5):933-9.
- 25. Elfineh L, Classon C, Asplund A, Pettersson U, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Lind SB. Tyrosine phosphorylation profiling via in situ proximity ligation assay. BMC Cancer. 2014, 14:435.
- 26. Yan J, Gu GJ, Jost C, Hammond M, Plückthun A, Landegren U, Kamali-Moghaddam M. A universal approach to prepare reagents for DNA-assisted protein analysis. PLoS One. 2014, 9(9):e108061.
- 27. Henderson D, Ogilvie LA, Hoyle N, Keilholz U, Lange B, Lehrach H; OncoTrack Consortium. Personalized medicine approaches for colon cancer driven by genomics and systems biology: OncoTrack. Biotechnol J. 2014, 9(9):1104-14.
- Hammond M, Wik L, Deslys JP, Comoy E, Linné T, Landegren U, Kamali-Moghaddam M. Sensitive detection of aggregated prion protein via proximity ligation. Prion. 2014, 8(3):261-5.
- 29. van Ommen GJ, Törnwall O, Bréchot C, Dagher G, Galli J, Hveem K, Landegren U, Luchinat C, Metspalu A, Nilsson C, Solesvik OV, Perola M, Litton JE, Zatloukal K. BBMRI-ERIC as a resource for pharmaceutical and life science industries: the development of biobank-based Expert Centres. Eur J Hum Genet. 2014 Nov 19. [Epub ahead of print]
- Galli J, Oelrich J, Taussig MJ, Andreasson U, Ortega-Paino E, Landegren U. The Biobanking Analysis Resource Catalogue (BARCdb): a new research tool for the analysis of biobank samples. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015 Jan;43(Database issue):D1158-62. Epub 2014 Oct 21.

# **Molecular Diagnostics**

#### Mats Nilsson

The main aim of our research is to develop improved techniques for molecular analyses. We aim to develop techniques that enable determination of quantities and location of specific nucleic acids in situ; amplified single-molecule detection in solution; and sequence composition of DNA samples.

The basic molecular devices that are used are the padlock- and selector probes, that are both acting through a strictly target dependent ligase-mediated DNA circularization reaction. These reagents have a specificity matching that of PCR, but can unlike PCR be deployed in highly multiplex analyses.

An important objective is to apply these techniques in collaborative projects to solve fundamental research questions and to serve unmet clinical diagnostic needs. In a multidisciplinary approach, dedicated micro and nano devices employing the molecular detection techniques will be developed, to enable rapid, sensitive and cost-effective point-ofcare diagnostics.

Mats Nilsson is currently visiting professor at IGP and has since the second half of 2012 his main laboratory at Science for Life Laboratory in Stockholm, being professor at the Department of Biochemistry and Biophysics, Stockholm University

(<u>http://www.dbb.su.se/en/?p=researchgroup&id=237</u>). His current group at IGP is mainly engaged in two projects, but he is also engaged in numerous collaborations with other groups at IGP.

#### Amplified single-molecule detection and biosensors

#### David Herthnek, Camilla Russell, Malte Kühnemund

An ideal diagnostic analysis device should be able to detect specific biomarkers with singlemolecule sensitivity, exquisite specificity, a wide linear quantitative range, high quantitative precision, in a multiplex format, cost effectively and user-friendly. Depending on the purpose, different requirements will apply for such devices, e.g. cheap and simple devices for use in the field in developing countries, simple devices for consumer self diagnostics, rapid and accurate point-of-care devices, and high-throughput - high performance central laboratory devices.

Examples of applications that require extreme sensitivity include the detection of biomarkers leaking from an affected organ into the circulation for early diagnosis of disease, and infectious diagnostics where a single pathogen may be sufficient to cause disease. Moreover, both these applications typically require parallel analyses of large sets of biomarkers.

Sensitive biomolecular analysis requires a highly selective identification reaction coupled to signal amplification that does not introduce background signal noise. Present biosensor and diagnostic devices are limited in one or more of the desired analytic properties. For protein biomarkers, multiplexing and sensitivity are typically limited, while for nucleic acid biomarkers, sensitivity has to be sacrificed to gain multiplexing and the analysis devices are expensive and not very user friendly. We now aim to develop diagnostics concepts by deploying our molecular tools in biosensor devices by utilizing nano- and micro engineering.

We are collaborating with M Strömme and P Svedlindh at the Ångström Lab, Uppsala University, to develop a simple magnetic sensor that could be integrated in a hand-held device to detect amplified molecules labeled with iron nanobeads. The basic concept has been shown to work and promising sensitivity has been achieved. We are further exploring a simple and
sensitive electric read-out within the Berzelii Technology Center for Neurodiagnostics, where we published a proof-of-concept paper recently (see list of publications).

## Targeted multiplex genome analysis

#### Elin Falk-Sörqvist, Lotte Moens, Lucy Mathot

We have developed the selector probe technique, for targeted re-sequencing applications. Our aim is to enable high-performance selective target enrichment as a sample preparation step for next-generation sequencing instruments.

By focusing the sequencing power to the genes and chromosomal regions that are most likely to be relevant for a particular disease, a lot more DNA samples can be sequenced for a certain amount of research funding. In addition, the quality of the sequence can be improved since greater sequencing depth can be afforded, and the data analysis is greatly facilitated compared to sequencing whole genomes. Our main focus is to develop the technology for applications in clinical diagnostics.

#### Group members during 2014

Mats Nilsson, professor, group leader

*Group in Uppsala* Megha Biradar, student Elin Falk Sörqvist, bioinformatician David Herthnek, postdoc Malte Kühnemund, PhD student Lucy Mathot, PhD student Camilla Russel, PhD student Group in Stockholm Annika Ahlford, postdoc Anna Engström, postdoc Thomas Hauling, postdoc Ivan Hernandez, PhD student Ronqin Ke, postdoc Tomasz Kryzkowski, PhD student Elin Lundin, PhD student Anja Mezger, PhD student Marco Mignardi, PhD student Pavankumar Ramachand, postdoc Tagrid Salih, research assistant Jessica Svedlund, postdoc

#### **Dissertations during 2014**

Lucy Mathot, From Tissue to Mutations: Genetic Profiling of Colorectal Cancer, November 7, 2014.

#### Funding during 2014

VINNOVA, 627 kSEK EU/IMI, (PI H. Lerach), 400 kSEK VINNOVA/VR: Berzelii centre, 537 kSEK EU, Marie Curie ITN: BioMax (PI U. Landegren), 1 100 kSEK

#### Publications 2012-2014

1. Zieba A, Grannas K, Söderberg O, Gullberg M, Nilsson M, Landegren U. Molecular tools for companion diagnostics. N Biotechnol. 2012, 29(6):634-40.

- 2. Gómez de la Torre TZ, Ke R, Mezger A, Svedlindh P, Strømme M, Nilsson M. Sensitive detection of spores using volume-amplified magnetic nanobeads. Small. 2012, 8(14):2174-7.
- 3. Sun S, Ke R, Hughes D, Nilsson M, Andersson DI. Genome-wide detection of spontaneous chromosomal rearrangements in bacteria. PLoS One. 2012, 7(8):e42639.
- 4. Göransson J, Ke R, Nong RY, Howell WM, Karman A, Grawé J, Stenberg J, Granberg M, Elgh M, Herthnek D, Wikström P, Jarvius J, Nilsson M. Rapid identification of bio-molecules applied for detection of biosecurity agents using rolling circle amplification. PLoS One. 2012, 7(2):e31068.
- 5. Raap AK, Jahangir Tafrechi RS, van de Rijke FM, Pyle A, Wählby C, Szuhai K, Ravelli RB, de Coo RF, Rajasimha HK, Nilsson M, Chinnery PF, Samuels DC, Janssen GM. Non-random mtDNA segregation patterns indicate a metastable heteroplasmic segregation unit in m.3243A>G cybrid cells. PLoS One. 2012, 7(12):e52080.
- 6. Nilsson M. Unraveling the transcriptional heterogeneity in human colon cancer: potential new insights regarding pathobiology and treatment. Clin Chem. 2012, 58(6):966-7.
- 7. Mathot L, Falk-Sörqvist E, Moens L, Allen M, Sjöblom T, Nilsson M. Automated genotyping of biobank samples by multiplex amplification of insertion/deletion polymorphisms. PLoS One. 2012, 7(12):e52750.
- 8. Clausson CM, Grundberg I, Weibrecht I, Nilsson M, Söderberg O. Methods for analysis of the cancer microenvironment and their potential for disease prediction, monitoring and personalized treatments. EPMA J. 2012, 3(1):7.
- Beghini A, Corlazzoli F, Del Giacco L, Re M, Lazzaroni F, Brioschi M, Valentini G, Ferrazzi F, Ghilardi A, Righi M, Turrini M, Mignardi M, Cesana C, Bronte V, Nilsson M, Morra E, Cairoli R. Regeneration-associated WNT signaling is activated in longterm reconstituting AC133bright acute myeloid leukemia cells. Neoplasia. 2012, 14(12):1236-48.
- 10. Jang K, Tanaka Y, Wakabayashi J, Ishii R, Sato K, Mawatari K, Nilsson M, Takehiko Kitamori T. Selective cell capture and analysis using shallow antibody-coated microchannels. Biomicrofluidics. 2012, 6, 044117.
- Giandomenico V, Modlin IM, Pontén F, Nilsson M, Landegren U, Bergqvist J, Khan MS, Millar RP, Långström B, Borlak J, Eriksson B, Nielsen B, Baltzer L, Waterton JC, Ahlström H, Öberg K. Improving the diagnosis and management of neuroendocrine tumors: utilizing new advances in biomarker and molecular imaging science. Neuroendocrinology. 2013, 98(1):16-30.
- 12. Weibrecht I, Lundin E, Kiflemariam S, Mignardi M, Grundberg I, Larsson C, Koos B, Nilsson M, Söderberg O. In situ detection of individual mRNA molecules and protein complexes or post-translational modifications using padlock probes combined with the in situ proximity ligation assay. Nat Protoc. 2013, 8(2):355-72.
- 13. Engström A, Zardán Gómez de la Torre T, Strømme M, Nilsson M, Herthnek D. Detection of rifampicin resistance in Mycobacterium tuberculosis by padlock probes and magnetic nanobead-based readout. PLoS One. 2013, 8(4):e62015.
- Ke R, Nong RY, Fredriksson S, Landegren U, Nilsson M. Improving precision of proximity ligation assay by amplified single molecule detection. PLoS One. 2013, 8(7):e69813.

- 15. de Miranda NF, Peng R, Georgiou K, Wu C, Falk Sörqvist E, Berglund M, Chen L, Gao Z, Lagerstedt K, Lisboa S, Roos F, van Wezel T, Teixeira MR, Rosenquist R, Sundström C, Enblad G, Nilsson M, Zeng Y, Kipling D, Pan-Hammarström Q. DNA repair genes are selectively mutated in diffuse large B cell lymphomas. J Exp Med. 2013, 210(9):1729-42.
- 16. Boije H, Ring H, Shirazi Fard S, Grundberg I, Nilsson M, Hallböök F. Alternative splicing of the chromodomain protein Morf411 pre-mRNA has implications on cell differentiation in the developing chicken retina. J Mol Neurosci. 2013, 51(2):615-28.
- 17. Barišić I, Schoenthaler S, Ke R, Nilsson M, Noehammer C, Wiesinger-Mayr H. Multiplex detection of antibiotic resistance genes using padlock probes. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2013, 77(2):118-25.
- Grundberg I, Kiflemariam S, Mignardi M, Imgenberg-Kreuz J, Edlund K, Micke P, Sundström M, Sjöblom T, Botling J, Nilsson M. In situ mutation detection and visualization of intratumor heterogeneity for cancer research and diagnostics. Oncotarget. 2013, 4(12):2407-18.
- 19. Strömberg M, Zardán Gómez de la Torre T, Nilsson M, Svedlindh P, Strømme M. A magnetic nanobead-based bioassay provides sensitive detection of single- and biplex bacterial DNA using a portable AC susceptometer. Biotechnol J. 2014, 9(1):137-45.
- 20. Mansouri L, Sutton LA, Ljungström V, Sörqvist EF, Gunnarsson R, Smedby KE, Juliusson G, Stamatopoulos K, Nilsson M, Rosenquist R. Feasibility of targeted next-generation sequencing of the TP53 and ATM genes in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leukemia. 2014, 28(3):694-6.
- 21. Sassi A, Lazaroski S, Wu G, Haslam SM, Fliegauf M, Mellouli F, Patiroglu T, Unal E, Ozdemir MA, Jouhadi Z, Khadir K, Ben-Khemis L, Ben-Ali M, Ben-Mustapha I, Borchani L, Pfeifer D, Jakob T, Khemiri M, Asplund AC, Gustafsson MO, Lundin KE, Falk-Sörqvist E, Moens LN, Gungor HE, Engelhardt KR, Dziadzio M, Stauss H, Fleckenstein B, Meier R, Prayitno K, Maul-Pavicic A, Schaffer S, Rakhmanov M, Henneke P, Kraus H, Eibel H, Kölsch U, Nadifi S, Nilsson M, Bejaoui M, Schäffer AA, Smith CI, Dell A, Barbouche MR, Grimbacher B. Hypomorphic homozygous mutations in phosphoglucomutase 3 (PGM3) impair immunity and increase serum IgE levels. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014, 133(5):1410-9, 1419.e1-13.
- 22. Russell C, Welch K, Jarvius J, Cai YX, Brucas R, Nikolajeff F, Svedlindh P, Nilsson M. Gold Nanowire Based Electrical DNA Detection Using Rolling Circle Amplification. ACS NANO, 2014, 8(2):1147-1153.
- 23. Kühnemund M, Witters D, Nilsson M, Lammertyn J. Circle-to-circle amplification on a digital microfluidic chip for amplified single molecule detection. Lab Chip. 2014, 14(16):2983-92.
- 24. Kiflemariam S, Mignardi M, Ali MA, Bergh A, Nilsson M, Sjöblom T. In situ sequencing identifies TMPRSS2-ERG fusion transcripts, somatic point mutations and gene expression levels in prostate cancers. J Pathol. 2014, 234(2):253-61.
- 25. Moens LN, Falk-Sörqvist E, Asplund AC, Bernatowska E, Smith CI, Nilsson M. Diagnostics of primary immunodeficiency diseases: a sequencing capture approach. PLoS One. 2014, 9(12):e114901.

#### **Molecular proteomics**

#### Ola Söderberg

My ongoing research and future plans includes both methods development and application of these methods to solve biological and medical problems. These activities are highly interdependent: the need to answer new types of questions is the motivation for methods development, and the availability of novel methods provides opportunities to pursue new scientific challenges.

Although all information about both RNA and proteins is encoded in the DNA, the functional components of a cell are mainly proteins. At any given time point the proteome of each individual cell reflects both genetic and epigenetic information. However, the activity status of proteins is not encoded in the genome. Instead this is regulated by protein-protein interactions and post-translational modifications (PTMs), often as a result of external stimuli mediated by cell-to-cell contacts and binding of secreted proteins.

To deduce the influences of the cellular microenvironment analyses need to be performed of proteins, protein interactions and PTMs at a single cell level *in situ*, thus retaining information of the tissue architecture and positions of all individual cells within this. Targeted analysis utilizing affinity reagents, e.g. antibodies, has been used for decades in both research and for diagnostic purposes. To increase selectivity of affinity reagent based methods, multiple recognition events can be applied to overcome the problem with cross-reactivity, i.e. antibodies that bind to unintended targets. Detection of low abundant molecules requires either sensitive read-out instruments or powerful signal amplification.

Proximity ligation assay (PLA) combines multiple recognitions of affinity reagents with potent signal amplification, utilizing methods for DNA analysis to generate a signal that will be a surrogate marker of the targeted protein, PPI or PTM. The method is based on pairs of proximity-probes (i.e. antibodies conjugated to strands of DNA) to detect the proteins of interest. Only upon proximal binding of these probes can an amplifiable DNA molecule be generated by ligation, which enhance the selectivity of the method even further.

Since the development of *in situ* PLA in 2006 most of our efforts has been related to the use of *in situ* PLA and to further improve the method.

#### **Tumor analysis**

#### Karin Grannas, Linda Andersson, Axel Klaesson & Gaëlle Cane

A tumor does not consist of a homogenous population of cancer cells. Therefore, to understand cancer, the tumor microenvironment and the interplay between the different cell types present in the tumor has to be taken into account, and how this interplay regulates the growth and survival of the cancer cells.

The aim with this project is to use *in situ* PLA for simultaneous analysis of the activity status of multiple signal pathways at a single cell level. This will provide information on what pathways are active in cancer cells, and to what extent this varies depending on positioning within the tumor, and in addition it will reveal how the cancer cells affect the surrounding non-malignant cells in the tumor microenvironment. This knowledge will enable better diagnostics, improved prediction on response to therapy and possibly also act as an incitement to develop novel drugs that can modify the microenvironment to reduce cancer growth and ability to metastasize.

Within the project Karin, Axel and Gaëlle are developing assays to visualize activity status of pathways that are deregulated in colorectal cancers, such as WNT and EGFR pathways. The assays will be used investigate if analysis of signaling pathway activity in tumor tissue sections will provide better diagnostics and predictive power than conventional analysis.

These assays will also be used for high-content drug screening in primary cell cultures of colorectal cancer samples. Linda's part of the project is to develop assays that target signaling pathways in B cells, e.g. antigen binding by the BCR and cognate T cell stimulation via CD40, to monitor their activity status in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia.

## Method development

# Björn Koos, Carl-Magnus Clausson, Karin Grannas, Linda Andersson, Axel Klaesson, Gaëlle Cane

Although *in situ* PLA provides the mean to analyze protein interactions and PTMs, further improvements are required to increase the dynamic range, provide ability for multiplex analysis and for visualization of interactions between different types of biomolecules, e.g. proteins and nucleic acids. Carl-Magnus, Linda are focusing on increasing the performance on *in situ* PLA, by increasing the dynamic range and possibilities to perform parallel analysis, while Karin and Axel test novel designs to enhance efficiency. Björn and Gaëlle are developing methods for detection of RNA and protein-RNA interactions in fixed cells and tissues. In addition to these PLA based developments, we are developing completely new methods for analysis of protein interactions that will be more robust and inexpensive to facilitate automation and development of point-of-care devices for *in vitro* diagnostics.

# Group members during 2014

Ola Söderberg, senior lecturer, group leader Linda Arngården, PhD student Gaëlle Cane, researcher Carl-Magnus Clausson, PhD student Elin Ekberg, adm. assistant Karin Grannas, PhD student Johanna Herö, research engineer Karolina Hirvonen, student Axel Klaesson, PhD student Björn Koos, researcher Erik Ullerås, project coordinator

# **Dissertations during 2014**

Carl-Magnus Clausson, Making Visible the Proximity Between Proteins, March 28, 2014.

# Funding during 2014

EU-FP7 (PRIMES), € 240 000

# Publications 2012-2014

- 1. Clausson CM, Grundberg I, Weibrecht I, Nilsson M, Söderberg O. Methods for analysis of the cancer microenvironment and their potential for disease prediction, monitoring and personalized treatments. EPMA J. 2012, 3(1):7
- 2. Le Jan S, Hayashi M, Kasza Z, Eriksson I, Bishop JR, Weibrecht I, Heldin J, Holmborn K, Jakobsson L, Söderberg O, Spillmann D, Esko JD, Claesson-Welsh L, Kjellén L, Kreuger J. Functional overlap between chondroitin and heparan sulfate proteoglycans

during VEGF-induced sprouting angiogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2012, 32(5):1255-63.

- 3. Pinto R, Carvalho AS, Conze T, Magalhães A, Santos S, Picco G, Burchell J, Taylor-Papadimitriou J, Reis CA, Almeida R, Mandel U, Clausen H, Söderberg O & David L. Identification of new cancer biomarkers based on glycan-mucin pairs using an in situ Proximity Ligation approach. J Cell Mol Med, 2012, 16(7):1474-84.
- 4. Weibrecht I, Gavrilovic M, Lindbom L, Landegren U, Wählby C & Söderberg O. Visualising individual sequence-specific protein-DNA interactions in situ. N Biotechnol, 2012, 29(5):589-98.
- Zieba A, Pardali K, Söderberg O, Lindbom L, Nyström E, Moustakas A, Heldin CH, Landegren U. Intercellular variation in signaling through the TGF-β pathway and its relation to cell density and cell cycle phase. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2012, 11(7):M111.013482.
- 6. Zieba A, Grannas K, Söderberg O, Gullberg M, Nilsson M, Landegren U. Molecular tools for companion diagnostics. N Biotechnol. 2012, 29(6):634-40.
- 7. Dieterich LC, Mellberg S, Langenkamp E, Zhang L, Zieba A, Salomäki H, Teichert M, Huang H, Edqvist PH, Kraus T, Augustin HG, Olofsson T, Larsson E, Söderberg O, Molema G, Pontén F, Georgii-Hemming P, Alafuzoff I, Dimberg A. Transcriptional profiling of human glioblastoma vessels indicates a key role of VEGF-A and TGFβ2 in vascular abnormalization. J Pathol. 2012, 228(3):378-90.
- Gullberg M, Weibrecht I, Clausson CM & Söderberg O. DYNAMIC RANGE METHODS. WO Patent 2012049316, April 20, 2012
- 9. Landegren U, Nong RY, Söderberg O & Weibrecht I. UNFOLDING PROXIMITY PROBES AND METHODS FOR THE USE THEREOF. WO Patent 2012152942, November 16, 2012
- 10. Gullberg M, Söderberg O, Landegren U & Liu Y. MULTIPLEXED PROXIMITY LIGATION ASSAY. WO Patent 2012160083, November 30, 2012
- 11. Gu GJ, Friedman M, Jost C, Johnsson K, Kamali-Moghaddam M, Plückthun A, Landegren U, Söderberg O. Protein tag-mediated conjugation of oligonucleotides to recombinant affinity binders for proximity ligation. N Biotechnol. 2013, 30(2):144-52.
- 12. Figueiredo J, Söderberg O, Simões-Correia J, Grannas K, Suriano G, Seruca R. The importance of E-cadherin binding partners to evaluate the pathogenicity of E-cadherin missense mutations associated to HDGC. Eur J Hum Genet. 2013, 21(3):301-9.
- 13. Weibrecht I, Lundin E, Kiflemariam S, Mignardi M, Grundberg I, Larsson C, Koos B, Nilsson M, Söderberg O. In situ detection of individual mRNA molecules and protein complexes or post-translational modifications using padlock probes combined with the in situ proximity ligation assay. Nat Protoc. 2013, 8(2):355-72.
- Ribeiro AS, Sousa B, Carreto L, Mendes N, Nobre AR, Ricardo S, Albergaria A, Cameselle-Teijeiro JF, Gerhard R, Söderberg O, Seruca R, Santos MA, Schmitt F, Paredes J. P-cadherin functional role is dependent on E-cadherin cellular context: a proof of concept using the breast cancer model. J Pathol. 2013, 229(5):705-18.
- 15. Böhmer SA, Weibrecht I, Söderberg O, Böhmer FD. Association of the protein-tyrosine phosphatase DEP-1 with its substrate FLT3 visualized by in situ proximity ligation assay. PLoS One. 2013, 8(5):e62871.
- Leuchowius KJ, Clausson CM, Grannas K, Erbilgin Y, Botling J, Zieba A, Landegren U, Söderberg O. Parallel visualization of multiple protein complexes in individual cells in tumor tissue. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2013, 12(6):1563-71.

- Sundqvist A, Zieba A, Vasilaki E, Herrera Hidalgo C, Söderberg O, Koinuma D, Miyazono K, Heldin CH, Landegren U, Ten Dijke P, van Dam H. Specific interactions between Smad proteins and AP-1 components determine TGFβ-induced breast cancer cell invasion. Oncogene. 2013, 32(31):3606-15
- Koos B, Andersson L, Clausson CM, Grannas K, Klaesson A, Cane G, Söderberg O. Analysis of Protein Interactions in situ by Proximity Ligation Assays. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. 2014, 377:111-26.
- Dahl M, Maturi V, Lönn P, Papoutsoglou P, Zieba A, Vanlandewijck M, van der Heide LP, Watanabe Y, Söderberg O, Hottiger MO, Heldin CH, Moustakas A. Fine-tuning of Smad protein function by poly(ADP-ribose) polymerases and poly(ADP-ribose) glycohydrolase during transforming growth factor β signaling. PLoS One. 2014, 9(8):e103651.
- Ricardo S, Marcos-Silva L, Pereira D, Pinto R, Almeida R, Söderberg O, Mandel U, Clausen H, Felix A, Lunet N, David L. Detection of glyco-mucin profiles improves specificity of MUC16 and MUC1 biomarkers in ovarian serous tumours. Mol Oncol. 2015 Feb;9(2):503-12. Epub 2014 Oct 22.

